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Item 60) Please reference the testimony of Mark W. Glotfelty, pages 4-6, regarding

“key credit factors the rating agencies will focus.”

a. State the extent to which the list of factors presented here is a
complete and total list. If not, state and describe any other factors the ratings agencies

will likely focus on.

b. State whether the ratings agencies will also focus on leverage
ratios, e.g., net debt/EBITDA. |

C. Provide any documents to which you have access which provide
and describe the ratings agencies’ {e.g., Moody’s, S&P, Fitch) key credit ratings factors

and methodologies for determining credit ratings for:

i Utilities;
i, Electric distribution companies; and
iii. Generation and Transmission companies.

Response)  The key credit factors referenced in my testimony is a summary of the key
credit factors generally reviewed by the rating agencies. For a more cdmplete list of
credit factors please refer to the attached rating criteria reports published by the rating
agencies. The rating agencies will focus on leverage (total equity to total capitalization)

as part of their assessment of credit quality.

Witness) Mark W. Glotfelty

Item 60
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U.S. Electric Generation & Transmission Cooperatives

Summary

This rating methodology provides a detailed explanation of how Moody's assigns ratings to issuers and obligations in
the U.S. electric generation & transmission cooperative sector. Our goal is to help the markets understand the quant-
tative and qualitative risk factors that we consider to be most important for this sector, and to illustrate how these map
to specific rating outcomes. Our objective is for readers to be able to use this report to gauge most ratings of U.S. elec-
tric generation & transmission cooperatives (G&'T co-ops) to within two notches,

Moody's analysis of G&T co-ops focuses on five key rating factors. ‘These key factors ate:

1) Nature of Long-Term Wholesale Power Supply Contracts

2) Rate Flexibility

3) Member Profile

4) Financial Metrics

5) Size

Fach of these rating factors is explained in detail along with 2 total of 22 measurements (or sub-factors) used to

measure the five factors. Important emphasis is given to how company specific results map to Moody's rating catego-
ries.

The highlights of this report include the following:

*  An overview of the industry trends and market risk factors for the electric generation & transmission coop-
erative industry sector

A description of our rating methodology using the five key factors and their 22 measurements
* Tsbles showing Moody's actual application of the rating framework to G&T co-ops
* A summary discussion of our results

Moody’s Investors Service
Global Credit Research




Rhout The Rated Universe

An electric Generation & Transmission cooperative is.a not-for-profit rural electric system whose primary function is
to provide electric power on a wholesale basis to its owners. These owners are comprised of a group of distribution co-
ops and in some instances may also include small G&T co-ops. Each distribution cooperative sells power on 2 retail
basis to its castomers, who are the members that own the distribution co-op.

Moody's currently rates 11 U.S, electric G&T cooperatives, which have approximately $12.5 billion of debt out-

standing. All of these issvers are rated investment grade and currently carry a stable outlook. ‘The senior most ratings
fall between Al and Baal.

Rated Issuers

. . Debt
Electric Generation &Transmission Cooperative Rating Outlook ($'s in millions)
Arkansas Electric Cooperative A2 (a) Stable 580
Associated Electric Cooperative Al Stable 895
Basin Electric Power Cooperative Al Stable 1,523
Buckeye Power Cooperative Al Stable 338
Chugach Electric Association AZ (b) Stable 379
Dairyland Power Cooperative A2 (c} Stable 424
Georgia Transmission Corp. A3 Stable 1,058
Hooster Energy Rural Eiectric Cooperative A3 Stable 778
Oglethorpe Power Corp. ' A3 Stable 3,779
Old Dominion Electric Cooperative : A3 Stable 913
Tri-State Generation & Transmission Assaciation Baal Stable 1,836
Total Adjusted Debt of Rated G&T Co-ops 12,467
Ratings are senior secured unless otherwise noted.,
{a) Secured Facifity Borids ranking junior to RUS security
(b} Senior Unsecured Rating
(¢} issuer Rating

The credit profile of G&'T co-ops has been stabie. Over the past three years, two issuers were upgraded and none
were downgraded. G&T co-ops have conservatively managed their businesses during this period by:

*  using long term supply planning to meet increasing demands for power from their member distribution co-
ops,

* tightly controlling operatng costs, and

* avoiding the diversification trend that had an adverse credit impact for many issuers in the investor owned
udlity sector.

Industry Overview

G&T co-ops represent one of the three main forms of ownership for enterprises involved in the generation and deliv-
ery of electricity. Investor owned utilities (IOUs) constitute a sizeable majority of the U.S. electricity sector, with gov-
ernment owned municipal or public péwer entides representng the second largest segment of the market, and G&T
co-ops being by far the smallest segment. G&T co-ops do not directly compete with each other or with investar
owned uwdlities or government owned entities in a substantial way because cooperatives mainly provide service to their
owner members under long term all requirements power contracts,

The A2 average (senior most) rating for G&T co-ops equals the average rating for municipal or public power
entities, and is two notches higher than the Baal average rating for JOUs). G&T co-ops tend to be significantly
smaller than investor owned utilities but have higher ratings because they are able to raise rates without the regulatory

review required for investor owned utilities, G&'T co-ops also face less competition given their contractual refation-
ship with their member owners.

The following chart compares some of the characteristics that distinguish the risk profiles of these three subsets of
the U.S. power sector.
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Investor-Owned Utilities

G&T Co-ops

Municipal and Public Power

Rate regulated

Most are not rate regulated but their owners
may be

Not rate regulated

Profit 'seekinﬁ;- o&)erated for the benefit of
public sharehotders with obligations to serve
regutated ratepayers

Not-for-profit; operated for the benefit of
their owner members

Operated for public benefit for the region
served

Most are larger; may have multiple entities in
an issuer family ‘

Al are small relative to [QUs

Most are small refative to IOUs

Subject to competition in the wholesale
market; sometimes in the retail market

Littie competition

Little competition

Some history of defaults, usually as a result of
needing rate increases that are too farge to be
acceptable to ratepayers

Some history of defaults; usuatly due to need
for rate increases that are too large to be
acceptable to members

Defaults have been extremely rare

Car file Chapter 11 bankruptcy

Can file Chapter 11 bankruptcy

More impediments to bankruptcy bust may be
able to f!l)e Chapter & - piey Y

Tend to have higher rates compared to
municipal or public power

Rates tend to be comparable to IOUs

Tend to have lower rates than G&T co-ops
and [OUs

Rely extensively on capital markets

Maost borrow from the Rural Utilities Service
and cooperative financial institutions; larger
issuers access the capital markets

Rely on public and private markets for
financing needs; may have access to
government funding if needed

Moody’s Rating Methodology
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Key Bating Issues Gver The Next Decade

Need for Substantially Higher Capital Spending

In order to meet rising electricity demand, many G&'T co-ops intend to purchase generating plants or plan to build
additional peaking and base load generating capacity. The aggregate net property plant and equipment for rated G&T

co-ops is approximately $12 billion with about an addidonal 88 billion of capital expenditures planned over the next
five years. :

Rising Fuel Costs

G&T co-ops have faced significant increases in the cost of fuel and purchased power. The majority of the electricity
generation for G&T co-ops is provided by coal fired generating plants, although in some cases, there is also a signifi-
cant reliance upon natural gas plants, hydro and nuclear power. The average price of delivered steam cosl has
increased by more than 30% over the past several years while the price of natural gas has more than doubled. Even
with more rate flexibility than IOUs, G&T may experience member resistance if fuel cost pressures, when combined
with higher capital spending, results in increases in wholesale rates that could affect the financial flexibility of their
members. Continued ability to pass along higher fuel and other operating costs to member distribution co-ops is
essental for credit quality in this sector.

Larger Rate Increases May Test Members' Willingness To Raise Rates

After a period of rate stability or rate decline throughout the 1980's and 1990's, G&T co-ops are increasing the whole-
sale rates that they charge their members. The impact of higher prices for fuel and purchased power has not been fully
experienced by member co-ops because some purchase contracts have not yet been reset to new market levels.

G&T's will likely impose large rate increases on co-op members when the G&T's power purchase contracts

expire in a period of rising market prices or when a large new generating plant is being constructed. Very large
increases would test the willingness of inembers to pay higher rates,

G&T's who choose to defer increasing rates to their members in the face of sharply higher costs or who are
unable to gain approval from regulators to do so when rate regulation applies will likely experience a deterioraton in
their key credit metrics. Inability to obtain regulatory approval for rate increases has contributed to the bankruptcy of
G&T co-ops in the past. As an alternative to imposing a large rate increase at one time, most G&T co-ops try to pur-
sue a strategy of smaller, more frequent rate increases to be phased in over a period of years.

Rates charged by G&T co-ops need to be regionally competitive with rates charged by other power providers.
Rate competitiveness of G&T co-ops relative to other power providers is important because it affects the willingness
of co-op members to accept rate increases when costs increase. With most other power providers currently facing ris-
ing outlays for fuel costs and capital spending, as well as more expensive insurance and pension benefits, we do not

expect that the rates that G&T co-ops charge their members will be less competitive than those charged by other
~ power providers.

Reliance On Low-Cost Loans From U.S. Government Sponsored Agencies

G&T co-ops rely heavily on low cost loans from the Rural Utlities Service of the U.S. Department of Agriculture
(RUS} and from RUS guaranteed loans provided by the Federal Financing Bank (FFB), a government funding arm.

In addition ta the RUS, G&T" co-ops also rely heavily on loans provided by cooperative financial instieudons such
as the National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation (CFC; Al senfor secured; stable outlook) and
CoBank, and local commercial banking institutions.

The RUS is the single largest provider of debt financing to the sector. Given the history of political support for
the RUS loan program, our ratings reflect our assessment that the probability of systemic withdrawal of such low cost
funding is low.

Some cooperatives have elected to repay 2ll RUS loans in order to obtain more financial flexibility, which results
in 2 greater reliance upon the capital markets as a source of funding. However, the RUS requires that some of its bor-
rowers obtain at least 30% of their financing from other sources. Larger G&T co-ops, such as those in Moody's rated
universe, have sought to increase financial flexibility by accessing the capital markets.
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In This Rating Methodology

Moody's approach to rating G&T co-ops includes the following three steps:

1] Identification Of Key Bating'Factars

Moody's rating comnmittees focus on the following five key rating factors for G&T co-ops:
1) Long-Term Wholesale Power Supply Contracts
a} % Member Load Served
2) Flexibility to Increase Rates As Needed
a) Regulatory Review for Rate Increases
b) Rate Adjustment Mechanisms
¢) Purchased Power as % of Sales
d) New Build Exposure
e) Competitiveness of Rates
£) Rate Shock Exposure
3) Member Profile
2) Demand Growth
b} Diversity of Customer Mix
c) Size
&) Financial Strength
d) Degree of Regulation
4) Financial Metrics
a) Times Interest Earned Rato
b Debt Service Coverage Ratdo
¢} Funds from Operations to Adjusted Debt
&) Funds from Qperations to Interest
e) Equity to Total Capital
- £} Net Operating Margin
5) Size
a) Kilowatt Hour Sales
b) Revenues
¢) Net PP&L
d) Megawatts Owned and Purchased
Measurements of the five key rating factors are quantified and compared across the issuers in the sector.

For each of the five key rating factors, there are one or more metrics (called sub-factors) that determine the Jevel
of the key rating factor. For example, we consider six different financial metrics within Key Factor 4. In total, the rat-
ing methodology incorporates 22 metrics. Step 2 through 4, outlined below, as well as Appendices A through C to this
report, provide details as to how the metrics are calculated and lists the weighting for each individual metric,

2] Measurement Of Key Rating Factors

We present 2 set of metrics that are used to quantify each of the five key factors. Our measurements comprise both
financial statement metrics as well as other metrics that can not be derived directly from financial statement analysis
but which can be approximated with additional research. For example, the metric of funds from operations (FFO)
coverage of interest is quantified from financial statements, Other metrics can be derived from statistica] information
provided by the co-ops in their annual reports, web sites or elsewhere in the public domain.

However, for some factors qualitative judgment or empirical observation is necessary to determine the appropriate
category. Of the total of 22 metrics, 17 are quantitative and 5 are qualitative.

Moody’s Rating Methodology 5



For each of the 22 metrics, we assign a weight based on relative importance.
¢ Collectively, the 17 quantitative sub-factors are assigned a weight of approximately 84%.

—  The percentage of member load served under wholesale power contracts, which is the lone sub-factor
in. Factor 1 (Nature of Long-Term Wholesale Power Supply Contractsy carries the single largest
weighting of all sub-factors (l.e. 15%).

~  Almost half of the quandtative weighting (40%) is derived from the six sub “factors embodied within
Factor 4 (G&T Co-op Inancial Metrics).

~ Three of the six sub-factors in Factor 4 (FFO/Debt; FEO/Interest; and Equity/Total Capitalization)

are assigned weighting of 8%, 8%, and 9%, respectively, while the other three are weighted at 5%
each,

—  The weightings of the four remaining quantifiable sub-factors are assigned weightings within a fairly
narrow range from 2.5% to 3.33% each.

* The remaining 16% is almost evenly distributed between the five qualitative sub-factors.
This results in: ,
Factor 1 (Long-Term Wholesale Power Supply Contracts) accounting for 15% of the overall rating;
Factor 2 (Flexibility To Increase Rates) accounting for 20%;
Factor 3 (Member Profile) accounting for 15%;
Factor 4 (Financial Metrics) accounting for 40%; and
Factor 5 (Size} accounting for 10%

31 Applying The Rating Methodology / Outiier Discussion

The first step in determining an indicated rating is to assign factor ratings to each G&T" co-op for each of the 22 sub-
factors, We then explain how performance on each of the metrics maps to Moody's rating categories, before taking
into account any offsetting factors. For each of the 22 metrics, we describe what we deem to be the appropriate ranges
or other descriptive characteristics for the broad rating categories (i.e. Aa, A, Baa, etc.). These ranges represent our
expectations for each rating category. For example, we identify the range of FFO coverage of interest and debt and the
level of new build exposure appropriate for an A-rated G&T co-op versus a Baa-rated G&T co-op.

We also compare the indicated ratings for the sub-factors to the actual rating for each G&T co-op. A G&T co-op
may perform higher or lower on a specific sub-factor than its actual rating level. After completing this comparison, we
highlight and offer commentary on both positive and negative outliers as part of the outliers and observations section”
that follows each results section. We define positive and negative outliers as those where the indicated rating for a par-
ticular sub-factor is two or more rating categories higher or lower than the G&T co-op's actual rating.
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4, Determining The Final Rating

"I determine the overall rating, we convert each of the 22 assigned factor ratings into a numeric value based on the
following scale:

Aaa Aa A Baa Ba B Caa
1 3 : 6 9 12 . 15 18

We multiply each metric's numeric value by an assigned weight (refer to the table below or Appendix A for
weights), and then do a summation.

Factors ' Sub-factors Weighting
Wholesale Power Contracts % Mernber Load Served 15.00%
Rate Flexibility Reg. Review / Relationship with Reguiators 3.33%
Board Involvement / Rate Adj. Mechanism 3.33%
Purchased Power / Sales (%} 1.33%
New Buiid Capex (% Net PP&E) 3.33%
Rate Competitiveness 3.33%
Rate Shock Exposure 3.33%
Member/owner profile Demand Growth 3.00%
Restdential Sales / Total Sales 3.00%
Members® Consolidated Assets 3.00%
Members' Consolidated Equity / Capitalization 3.00%
Regulatory Status : 3.00%
3-Year Average G&T Financial Metrics TIER 5.00%
DSC _ 5.00%
FFQ / Debt 8.00%
FFG / Interest ‘ 8.00%
Equity / Capitalization 9.00%
. Net Operating Margin 5.00%
G&T Size ‘ MWh saies 2.50%
" Revenues 2.50%
Net PP&E 2:50%
MW Owned and Purchased 2.50%

The total is then mapped to the table below, and an overall alpha-numetic rating is assigned based on where the

score falls in the range. The ocutcome provides good correlation, with indicated ratings falling at or one notch away
from actual ratings.

Indicated Rating | Overall Score
Aaa 1.49 or lower
Aa 1.5t0 4.49
A 450 to 7,49
Baa 7.50t0 10,49
Ba 10.50to 13.49
B 13.5t0 16.49
Caa 16.5 to 18.00

The entire array of scores and mappings for each of the G&T co-ops is shown in Appendix B.

Moody’s recognizes that there are instances in which consolidated financial information may not capture the com-~
plete picture of credit risk. "This can occur for many reasons, the most common of which in this sector includes:

*  changes that will affect financial performance going forward (an example for 1 G&T co-op would be
increased debt for legally mandated environmental spending that is certain to occur but has not yet been
reflected in the financial performance),

* recently completed or pending acquisitions that are not yet reflected in the reported historical data, and
®  henefits associated with strategic reorganization activity.

These instances are identified and explained as part of the overall rating mapping and assessment.

Moody’s Rating Methodology 7



Five Key Rating Factors

FACTOR 1: NATURE OF LONG-TERM WHOLESALE POWER SUPPLY CONTRACTS

Why it Matters

Against a backdrop of increasing spending for capital projects and rising fuel costs, the strength of the wholesale power
contracts and the predictable revenue stream they provide for G&T co-ops remains a primary source of credit support:
Long term wholesale power supply contracts between G&T' co-ops and their members provide G&T co-ops with a
high degree of assurance that costs and capital investment can be recovered from rates charged to customers.

"These contracts typically require the member co-ops to purchase all or virtually all of their supply requirements
from the G&'T co-op and generally stipulate that co-op members must pay their pro-rata portion of all of the G&T
co-op's fixed and variable costs related to the generation, procurement and transmission of their respective energy
needs.

Measurement metrics for this factor are as follows:

*  Percentage of member power supply needs served under the long-term wholesale power contract(s), with
consideration as to whether the contracts are all requirements or substantially all requirements in nature.

Factor Mapping - Factor 1

Sub-Factor
Aaa Aa A Baa 8a B Caa Weighting

Percentage of Member Load Served
unider Whalesale Power Contracts 100% 100% > 80% > 70% < 70% < 60% < 50% 15.00%

Results of Mapping - Factor 1

iF : " Negative Qullier
'G&T Co-op Mapping: Nature of Long-Term Wholesale Power Supply Contracts P T
Current : % of Member =

G&T Co-op : Rating Outlook Loa Served indicated Rating
Arkansas Electric Cooperative A2 (a) Stable i 91% A
Associated Electric Cooperative At Stable 100% Aa

Basin tiectric Power Cooperative ' At Stable 100% Aa
Buckeye Power Cooperative Al Stable _ 100% Aa
Chugach Electric Association A2 (b} Stable 93% A
Datryland Power Cooperative [1) A2 () Stable 90% A
Georgia Transmission A3 Stable 100% Aa
Hooster Energy A3 Stable 100% Aa
Oglethorpe Power Corp. A3 Stable 80% A

Old Dominion Electric Cooperative A3 Stable 100% Aa
Tri-State G&T Assoclation Bawl Stable 1007 [
Ralings are senior secured unless otherwise noted.

{1] Moody's estimated % of member load served

(a) secured facility bonds that rank junior to RUS security

(b} senior unsecured debt rating

(CHssuer Rating

Outliers And Observations

All of the rated G&T co-ops score quite well in Factor 1, as evidenced by indicated ratings of Aa or A. There are no
negative outliers based on this measurement criteria. The lone positive outlier is Tri-State G&T, and the high rating
for this metric helps to offset other metric scores that are weaker than average.

Notwithstanding the solid indicated ratings for Factor 1, we draw attention to the following observations. The
protection afforded by wholesale power supply contracts can be eroded by changes in the contracts over time, or more
suddenly, due to a need for exceptonally large rate increases. One of the weaker scores on this metric is the A indi-
cated rating for Oglethorpe Power Corp. (OPC); and OPC's score is likely to further weaken going forward. OPC
power purchase agreements with LG&E Energy Marketing and Morgan Stanley have been terminated. As a result,
OPC's resources are expected to provide only about 70% of its members' power requirements going forward, drop-
ping from the 90% historical number shown in the chart for Factor 1. This situation results from a conscious decision

8  Moody’s Rating Methodology



by OPC's members to enter into power supply arrangements with six third-party suppliers for their future incremental
growth as permitted under the amended wholesale power supply contracts, extending through 2050. Wholesale
power contracts continue to bind members to pay for OPC's fixed costs associated with its existing capacity. Never-

theless, OPC's lower score on this metric reflects a weaker position than peers that have contracts for 106% of mem-
ber needs.

Chugach Electric Association (CEA) operates as a combined G&T co-op and distribution cooperative. As such,
the 93% of its sales made to customers {see Factor 1 table) includes not only the 46% of energy sales made under
wholesale power contracts, but also the 47% of energy sales made directly to retail customers under the tariff and cer-
tificated service territory in the state of Alaska. Moody's views direct retail revenues to commercial and residential cus-
tomers to be of equal, if not better quality, as wholesale revenues derived from sales to member co-ops.

FACTOR 2: RATE FLEXIBILITY

Why it Matters

Prices for fuels used to generate electricity are unregulated in the U.S. and have been subject to dramatic fluctuation.
G&T co-ops need the flexibility to raise rates in order to cover sharply higher prices for fuels, in addition to rising
operating costs, costs associated with mandated environmental requirements, and capital investment associated with
construction of new plants.
Measurement Metrics for This Factor are as Follows:

o Regulatory Status/Relationship With Regulators

G&T co-ops have more flexibility to increase rates in response to rising costs when regulatory approval is not
required. There are currendy 10 states that have fuli regulatory jurisdiction over the level of rates that G&T co-ops
can charge their members. These states are: Arizona, Arkansas, Alaska, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maine, Mary-
land, Vermont, and Wyoming, There are 2 few other states including Indiana, New Mexico, and Michigan where state
cotnmissions have partial jurisdiction over G&'T co-ops.

The regulatory status/relationship with regulators is an important sub-factor because G&T co-ops that operate in
states that have some form of regulatory authority over their rate setting activities may have more difficulty raising
rates compared to peers who are not directly subject to regulatory control. An unsupportive regulatory jurisdiction is
z credit negative and leaves G&'T co-ops with Jess flexibility 1o raise rates if needed.

In contrast, absence of regulatory control over the rate setting process is a credit positive. Most G&T co-ops are
not subject to rate regulation, and set the rates they charge customers after careful consideration of their underlying
cost structare and expected members’ demand for power. They calculate what level of revenues would be required in
order to meet operating costs, minimum required interest, and debt service coverage covenants in the RUS mortgage
and/or other debt indentures, while also providing a modest cushion of member equity to protect against adverse
events such as sudden increases in costs or operating difficulties with key generating plants,

® Rate Adjustment Mechanisms

The timing of 2 G&T co-op’s ability to increase rates is impacted by a number of rate adjustment mechanisms.

Mechanisms include the activity of the G&T co-op's board of directors in approving rate increases, and the
degree to which rates can automatically adjust to cost increases without requiring action by the Board. Each G&T co-
op's board of directors has a fiduciary responsibility to approve rates at a leve) that ensures compliance with the finan-
cial covenants associated with debt indentures. To the extent that wnexpected events arise, causing concerns about
ability to comply with covenants, the board should be expected to move quickly to adjust rates upward when needed.

Variable cost adjustment mechanisms provide for more automatic changes in rates when costs change and increase
the speed with which rates can be increased when costs increase. The extent to which variable cost adjustment mecha-
nisms are available is especially important where regulatory jurisdiction applies to a G&T co-op.

The existence of variable cost adjustment mechanisms is a credit strength, especially when rate adjustments can be

implemented at frequent intervals. Such mechanisms mitigate liquidity pressures that might otherwise arise when the
cost of fuels exceeds rates in effect at that time.

Moody’s Rating Methodology 9



* Degree Of Reliance On Purchased Power

Most of the power supply needs of G&'T' co-op members are met from generating plants owned by the G&T co- -
ops. Some G&TS rely on market purchases of power to meet a portion of the member needs because their owned

resources are insufficient or periodically unavailable. More recently, they have also been allowed to purchase power
from other wholesale marketers.

Assessing the degree of reliance on purchased power to meet members' demand is important because G&Ts who
purchase large amounts of power from the market to meet member demands face increased price volatility for one of
their largest costs. Relying on such a strategy also heightens the importance of liquidity, risk management policies and
procedures, and counterparty credit assessment.

* New Build Exposure Relative to Existing Asset Base

This factor is important because G&T' co-ops largely finance capital investment with debt and rely upon rate
increases to service the debt. When construction is delayed or runs above budget, the rate increases needed to cover
the increased costs could lead to member resistance. :

¢ Rate Competitiveness

Assessing the rate competitiveness of the G&T co-ops is important because higher costs relative to those of alter-
native providers in the same region, such as other G&T co-ops or investor owned utilities, are likely to lead to member
unrest and resistance to paying higher rates. G&T co-ops strive to keep their fixed costs as low as possible. Distribu-
tion co-op members will only remain comfortable with their G&T co-op supplier to the extent that the cost of power
supplied under the long-term wholesale contracts is competitive to other options. If the G&T co-op’s rates are notice-
ably higher than other providers in its geographic area, member unrest could lead to contract challenges.

Cost competitive G& T co-ops have greater flexibility to raise rates to offset cost increases or to build additional
equity. Favorable characteristics include low or improving cost structure, lower wholesale prices versus peers, and low
distribution member rates versus competitors in the region. Moody's also assesses a G&'T co-op's prospects to realize
foture rate increases in order to offset increasing costs, as compared with others in the region.

Consistent rate data is often not publicly available. Nonetheless, Moody's seeks whatever public information is
available, as well as confidential information on a company by comnpany basis,

¢ Potential For Rate Shock Exposure

Assessing the potential for rate shock exposure is important becanse a large rate increase can lead to member resis-
tance even when the new higher leve! of rates is stll compettive with other providers of power in the region.
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Factor Mapping - Factor 2

Aaa Aa A Baa 8a B Caa Weighting
Regulatory No Rate No Rate Rate Regulated by Rate Regulatedby RateRegulatedby Rate Reguiated RateRegulatedby  3.33%
Review/ Regulation by Regutation by State State State by State State
Retationship State State Commission; Very ~ Commission; Comnmission;  Commission; Very  Commission;
with Regulators ~ Commission;  Commission; No Supportive Moderately Unsupportive Unsupportive  Extremely Harsh
Legislative statute  Jegislative statute  Commission Supportive Commission Commission Commmission
to preclude to preclude Practices; Very Commission Practices;’ Practices; Cften  Practices; Always
regulatory regulatory Good Regulatory Practices; Generally Contentious Contentious
intervéntioninthe interventioninthe  Relationships  Reasonably Good Difficult Repulatory Regulatory
future rate setting  future rate setting Regulatory Regulatoty Relationships Relationships
Process HOCESS Relationships Relationships
Assess Board Exceptionally ~ Proactiveboard  Activeboard in - Reasonablyactive  Inactiveboard;  Inactive board; no Inactiveboarg;no— 3.33%
Involvement in  proactive board thatsupports  supportof imely  board insupport  limited, ifany  ability to adjustfor abilirgjto adjustfor
Setting Rates / that supports management sate filings; of timely sate  ability to adjust for uet cost el cost
Variable Cost management  recommendations  possibilityfor  filings; annual fuel uel cost variability; variability;
Adjustment recommendations for timely ulatory cot adjustment variabHity; uncertainty uncertainty
Mechanisms for timely adjustment of  interventioninthe capabilidyinplace  uncertainty surroundin surroundin
adjustmentof  rates to cover all rate setting under regulatory surrcundin recovery of recovety o
rates to cover ali  costs of service;  process in certain practice; recovery o deferrals deferrals
costs of service; no regulatory instances; reasonably timely deferrals
noregulatory  interventioninthe frequent fuel cost  recovery of any
interventioninthe - rate settin adiustment deferrals
rate setting process; No  capability inplace
1OUESS; legistative statute  under regulatory
Legislative statute 1o preclude practice; timely
to preclude regulatory recovery of any
reguiatory  interventioninthe deferrals
interventioninthe  future rate setting
future rate setting process
process
Purchased <5% <20% < 30% <40% > 40% > 60% > 75% 3.33%
Power/Total
MWh Sales (%)
ew Buiid <5% <25% < 50% <75% 76% - 120% > 120% > 140% 358%
Expostre
{Prospective
5-yr New Build
Capex as % MNet
PP&E}
Rate Better than allon MUch betler than  Better than most Better than some;  Worse than most Worsethan allon Worsethanallon  3.33%
Competitiveness a consistent basis moston a on aconsistent  Worsethansome  on a consistent  a consistent basis  a consistent basis
versus others in congistent basis basis - on a consistent basis
regian ) basis
Patental for Extremely iow  Very ow (e.g. Jess low(eg lessthan  Moderate (e.§. High (e.g. greater  Very high (e.g. Extraordinarily 3.33%
Rate Shock feg lessthan  than20%reliance 30%relianceon  lessthan 40%  thah 40%eliance greater than 40%  high (e,li’. greater
Exposure 10%relianceon  onpurchased  purchased power reliance on on purchased reffanceon  than 60%reliance
purchased power powerandless  and/orlessthan  purchased power  power or greater  purchased power  on purchased
andlessthan 10% than 25% 5-year-  50% 5-year andfor less than than 75% 5-year-  and preater than power and greater
Seyear-newbuild  newbuild capex  newbuild capex 75% S-year | newbuild capex 75% 5-year-  'than 85% 5-year-
capex as aspercentage of  as percentage of  newbuild capex  as percentageof  newbuild capex  newbuild capex
percentage of latest year-end latestyear-end  as percentageof  latestyear-end - as percentage of  as percentage of
fatest year-end Net PP&E Net PP&E latest yearend Net PPAE iatest year-end latest year-end
Net PR&E Net PPAE Net PP&E Net PP&E
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Results of Mapping - Factor 2

Segabive Oatlio

Current Repulatory Bd. lnvolve/ Indicated  NewBuild  Indicated Rate S?taotéak
G&T Co-op . Rating  Outlook tatus Adj. Mech, Rating Exosure Raling  Competitveress  Exposure
Arkansas Flectric Cooperative AZ (a} Stable Baa A Aa 2% Aa Baa Az
Assoclated Electric Cooperative Al Stable Az Aa A 112% A [ ]
Basin Eectric Power Cooperative Al Stable Aa Aa Aa 54% Baa A Baz
Buckeye Power Cooperative Al Stabite Aa Az “ 14% Aa Baa Aa
Chugach Eecric Association A2 (b}  Stable Baa A A 12% Az, A A
Dairytand Power Cooperative [1] AZ(c)  Stable Aa Aa Aa 30% A Baa Baa
Georgia Transmission A3 Stable Aa Aa HAA 48% A A
Hocsier Energy [2] A3 Stable Aa A A 0% Baa Baa
Oglethope Power Comp, A3 Stable Aa A Baa 0% Baa Bad
Old Dominion Electric Cooperative A3 Stable A A : 0% Baa [ B
Tri-State G&T Assoclation Baal suble TR A Baa 133% Baa Ba

Ratings are senfor secured unless otfrerwise noted.

{1} Moody's estimated % of purchased power, newbhuild exposure, rate competitiveness and rate shock exposure
21 Moodvy ‘s estimated purchased power % total safes

(a) secured facility bonds that rank junior to RUS security

(b) senior unsecured debt rating

(clssuer Rating

Outlievs And Observations

“Iri-State is 2 positive outlier for regulatory status since its indicated rating for that sub-factor is substantially higher
than its actual rating. However, this is balanced against an outlier that is weaker than the rating for the magnitade of
new construction. 'Iti-state has the highest level of new build exposure among the rated universe of G&T co-ops.

Buckeye Power is another positive outlier in Factor 2, for purchased power as a percentage of megawatt hour
sales. This status reflects its efficient supply planning strategy through the years, including a fairly recent acquisition
of ownership rights to a 203 megawate capacity entitlement in the Ohio Valley Electric Corporation plant.

The three other positive outliers for Factor 2 are Hoosier, Oglethorpe, and Old Dominion Electric Cooperative
(ODEC) for new build exposure. This reflects the absence of significant new construction at present.

ODEC stands out as a negative outlier for two measured sub-factors: purchased power as a percentage of MWh
sales and rate shock exposure. ODEC's heavy reliance on purchased power and high rate shock exposure add to the
risk that its current dispute with a co-op member could result in that member resisting rate incréases.

Associated Electric Cooperative, Inc. (AECI) is one of two negative outliers for new build exposure, as its antici-
pated capital expenditures over the next five years is 112% of its 2004 year end net property plant and equipment (sec-
ond highest to Tri-State). The potential for large rate increases also results in a negative outlier status for AECI for
rate shock exposure. However, AECI's relatively low rates make it more likely that members will accept significant
expected rate increases over the next several years. -

Tii-State is a negative outlier on new build exposure because it has the highest percentage of new construction of
any rated G&T co-op. Although Tii-State is not a negative outier for rate shock exposure, its Ba indicated rating is
lower than its actual rating for that sub-factor, and reflects a need for rate increases over the next {few years. These rate
increases come on the heels of a series of rate increases already implemented over the past few years. However, con-
cerns about new build exposure and rate shock exposure for Tri-State are balanced somewhat by its being a positive
outlier for regulatory status.
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FACTOR 3: MEMBER PROFILE

Why it Matters

Assessing the member profile of a G&T' co-op is important because the members who own the G&'T co-op are also its
primary source of cash flow. Similar to the way we would assess the counterparty credit risk for an IOU that sells siz-
able amounts of power to another entity, or buys significant amounts of power from a wholesale power producer, we
are concerned about the overall creditworthiness of the members, We consider the level of demand growth that the
_ members expect to experience, the diversity of their retail customer mix, their overall size and financial profile, and
regulatory status. Some members are subject to rate regulation, which is important because if a member is denied
approval for a large rate increase, it may not be able to comply with its contractual obligations to the G&T co-op.

The following sub-factors provide good insight into the members' creditworthiness and ability to meet obliga-
tions to the G&'T' co-op under the long-term wholesale power contract.

Measurement metrics for this factor are as follows:
o Member Expected Demand Growth

Positive growth in member demand can lead to the benefits of larger scale as well as the need for increased invest-
ment, while negative growth in member demand can lead to diminished revenues.

¢ Diversity Of Customer Mix

Assessing the diversity of members’ customers is impormnt in our analysis of G&T co-ops because substantial
- reliance upon any single customer or a smali number of customers (such as large industrial customers) tends to be asso-
ciated with greater variability of revenue. Members who own the G&T co-ops tend to serve large residential customer
bases, with a majority of energy being sold to such customers, although some sales may be to more volatile industrial
and commercial customers. A higher percentage of sales to residential customers is favorable because such sales are
generally more stable and predictable.
¢ Size

We consider the size of member co-ops Important because larger resources usually provide greater ability to
absorb an adverse change, such as the loss of retail customers.

*  Financial Condition ‘ _

Financial condition of the member/owners is important becavse it affects thejr ability to perform under the
wholesale power contracts that members have with their G&T co-op. For the most part, distribution co-ops carry less
business and financial risk than G&T co-ops. The difference in the financial strength is largely attributable o the fact
that the RUS has historically set tighter financial covenants for the distribution co-ops than for the G&T co-ops. In
addition, the distribution co-ops are far less capital intensive than G&'T co-ops who own generation assets, Distribu-
tion co-ops typically maintain higher levels of equity to total capitalization and stronger interest coverage ratios than
G&T co-ops.

*  Regulatory Status/Relationship With Regulators

Nine of the 11 rated G&T co-ops have at least some ownes/members that are subject to rate regulation. This is
important because a member that is denied approval for a large rate increase may not be able to comply with its con-

tractual obligetions to the G&T co-op, potentially causing an inability for the G&T co-op to derive the revenue it
needs for increased costs or debt service,

Moody’s Rating Methodology 13



Factor Mapping - Factor 3

Sub-Factor

Aaa Aa A Baa Ba B Caa Weighting
Demand Growth »6% 4% 3% 2% 1% 0% <0% 3.00%
Residential Sales/Total > B0% > 75% = 50% > 40% < 40% < 20% < 10% 3.00%

Sales (%)

Members' Consolidated >$6.5billion > $4 billion  $3 - $4 bilion > $1 billion < $1 billion < $0.3 billion < $0.2 hillion 3.00%
Assets ($ Billions)

Members' Consotidated >65% > 55% > 50% > 25% > 20% >15% =10% 3.00%
Equity/Capitalization (%) - .
Regulatory status Nonesubject  Nonesubject  Some Rate Some Rate Some Rate Mest Rate All Rate 3.00%
10 rate to rate Regulated by  Regulatedby  Repulatedby  Regulated by  Regulated by
regulation;  regulation; No State State State State State
Legislative egisiative Commission;  Commission;  Commission;  Comwnission;  Commission;
statute to statute to Very Moderately  Unsupportive Very Extrernely
preciude preclude Supportive Supportive Commission  Unsupportive Harsh
regulatory reguiatory Commission  Commission Practices; Commigsion  Commission
intérvention intervention Practices; Practices; Generally Practices; Practices;
inthe future  in the future Very Gooed Reasonably Difficult Cften Always
rate setiing rate setting Regulatory Good Reguiatory. Contentious  Contentious
pracess process Relationships  Regulatory  Relationships  Regulatory Regulatory
Relationships Relationships  Refationships

Results of Mapping - Factor 3

Sales/ Mbrs. Mbrs,
Total Cons, Equity /
Current Demand Tndicated  Sales  Indicated  Assets Indicated  Capitalization  Indicated Reg;ulatory

G&T Co-op fating  Owillook Growth Rig. (%} Rig. ($Billions) Rig. (%} Rig. tatus
Arkansas Electric Cooperative AZ (a) Stable 3% A 46% A $1.8 Baa A45% Baa A
Associated Electric Cooperative Al Stable 2.30% Baa 71% A $3.8 A 51% A Baa
Basin Elecyic Power Cooperative Al Stable 3.30% A 21% B $3.0 A 27% Baa Baa
Buckeye Power Cooperative Al Stable 2.20% Baa 59% A 5135 Baa 44% Baa Aa
Chugach Blectric Association A2{b)  Stable 2% Baa 73% A $0.3 46% Baa Baa
Dairyland Power Cooperative {11~ AZ {¢)  Stable 2% Baa 46% A $3.1 A 28% Baa A
Georgia Hransmission A3 Stable 2% Baa 66% A $5.1 Aa 45% Baa Az
Hoosier Energy 2] A3 Stable 3.40% A 1% A 50.8 57% Aa Baa
Oglethorpe Power Corp. A3 Stable 5.00% Aa 66% A $4.9 Az 46% Baa Aa
Qld Dominion

Electric Cooperative A3 Stable 3.40% A 64% A $1.9 Baa 56% Aa Baa
Tri-State G&T Association Baal Stable 2% Baa 323% ga $2.2 Baa 49% Baa Baa
Ratings are senior secured unlgss otherwise noled.
11] Moody's estimated for all subfactors in Factor 3
121 Moody's estimated for Members' consolidated assets
(a; secured lacility bonds that rank junior 1o RUS security
(b) senior unsecured debt rating
{cHssuer Rating
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Outliers And Qbservations

Indicated ratings for Factor 3 map reasonablf well to the actual ratings for each of the 11 rated G&T co-ops, with no
positive outliers noted and just three negative outliers.

Basin Electric Power Cooperadve’s residential sales as a percentage of total sales to retail customers is a negative
outhier, primarily becanse of the relatively high percentage of sales that Basin makes to non-members due to excéss
generaton capacity. Importantly, off-system sales to non-members have served Basin well through the years and has
enabled Basin to avoid member rate increases that otherwise would have been needed to meet financial covenants.
Like many other G&T co-ops, Basin is facing steady demand growth from its members. As Basin's sales to members

increase and off-system sales decline, the percentage of residential sales is expected to increase, thereby reducing its
outlier status.

Both Chugach and Hoosier are negative outliers for members consolidated assets, which priharily reflects the rel-
atively small size of the two G&TT co-ops. The relatively small size of the G&T co-ops in turn limits their ability to
serve large distribution members,

FACTOR 4: G&T FINANCIAL METRICS

Why it Matters
Financial strength is an important indicator of a G&T co-op's ability to meet its obligations, including debt service.

Among the financial ratios that Moody's considers in its quantitative analysis of G&'T co-ops are the times interest
earned ratio (TIER) and the debt service coverage ratio (DSC). These two ratios have governed RUS loan documen-
* tation for many years. In addition to these, Moody's also analyzes funds from operations (FFO) coverage of interest,
margins for interest {MF]) as defined in certain indentures, as well as FFO as a percentage of debt, These metrics pro-
vide insight regarding the amount and quality of a G&T co-op's cash flow and its ability to service its debt. Moody's
considers historical coverage ratios and also places a significant emphasis on the expected trend for coverage metrics
when assessing the credit risk of G&T co-ops.

Moody's also evaluates the G&'T co-op's equity as 2 percentage of total ad}usted capitalization to see how much
flexibility there is in the balance sheet to absorb unexpected events, and the co-op's net operating margin as a percent-
age of equity to assess the G&T co-op's profitability (noting the not-for~proﬁt status).

‘When measuring the level of equity cushion, G&T co-ops and the RUS have tended to rely on equity expressed
as a percentage of tota] assets. Fowever, Moody's and many investors prefer to measure equity as a percentage of total
capitalization, because it facilitates comparison with JOU capital structures. While some G&T co-ops have large
investment portfolios that considerably augment the bottom line, we consider it important that the G&T co-op be
profitable on an operating basis. G&T co-ops that rely extensively on profits from investment portfolios and diversi-
fied operations to compensate for negative G& T operating margins are viewed negatively.

Measurement metrics for this factor are as follows:

» TIER
* DSC
o  FFO/Debt

*  FFO/Interest

*  Equity/Total Capital

s Net Operating Margin

{See Appendix C for definitions of these ratios)
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Factor Mapping - Factor 4

Aaa Aa A Baa Ba B Caa %’&;ﬁﬁg
TIER > 1.6x > 14x 1.2x - 1.4x Tax- 118 1.1x < 1.0% < 0.5x 5.00%
DsC >1.9% > 1.4% 1.2% - 1.4% 11x - 1.19% 1.1x < 1.0x < 0.5% 5.00%
FFO/Debt >15% 16% - 15% 6% - 9% 3% - 5% < 3% < 2% < 1% 8.00%
FE Interest > 3.25x 2.5% - 3.25x 2.0%- 2.4%x 1.5% - 1.99x < 1.5x% < .2 < 1.0% B8.00%
Equity/Total Capitalization . > 50% 35% - 50% 20% - 35% 5% - 19% < 5% <3% - <1% 9.00%
MNet Operatiﬁg Margin > 40% 30% - A0% > 0% > 5% < 5% < 3% < i% 5.00%

Results of Mapping - Factor 4

Sepaihac i

. i m:m

Equity/ Net
Current Indicated Indicated  FFQ/  Indicated RO/ Indicated %71‘3 indicated  Oper.  Indicated

“G&T Coop Ratig  Cutlook " TR Rig, DSC R Debt Rig, interest  Rlg, Cap. Rlg.  Magin  Rig,
Arkansas Electric :

Cooperalive A2 (al Stable  1.43 Aa 1.47 Aa 8% A 2.70 Az 2% Aa 9.0% A
Associated Electric

Cooperative Al Stable 117 Baa 1.47 Aa 1% Al 267 Aa 22% A 7.3% Baa
Basin Bectric '

Power Cooperative Al Stable 1.3 A $.23 A 5% A 217 A 29% A 17.8% A
Buckeye Power

Cooperative A} Stable 1.9 Aa 123 A 12% Aa 3.6 Aa 45% Aa 10.1% A
Chugach Electric '

Assaciation A2(b}  Stable 137 Baa 180 . Aa 0% Aa 2.69 Az 26% A 141 A
Dairyland Power

Cogperative AZ{c)  Stable 1.2 A 1.37 A %o A 229 A 18% Bax 11.0% A
Geargia Transmission A3 Stable 3.2 A 103 1% Baa 1.1 Baa Yo Baa  36.3% Az
Houvsier Energy A3 Stable . 1.1 Baa 17 Baa 7% A 2.45 A 12% Baa 9.9% A
Oglethorpe Power Corp, A3 Stable 1.1, Baa Lo0 Ba 6% A 1.98 Baa 9% Baa 16.9% A
Cid Dorminion

Electric Cooperative A3 Stable 1.3 A 1.3 A 5% Baz 1,71 Baa 21% A 10.7% A
Tri-State G&F :

Association Baal Swable. 133 A 127 A 6% A 1.727 Bag 4% Baa 19.7% A

Ratings are senigr secured unless otherwise noted.

{a} secured facility bonds that rank junior to RUS security
th) senior unsecured debt rating

{cMssyer Rating

Outliers And Observations
There are no positive outliers, and just two negative outliers for Factor 4.

Both Georgia Transmission Corporation (GTC) and Oglethorpe Power Corporation {(OPC) are negatve outliers
on the DSC, reflecting the decision by their respective boards to manage results as close as possible 1o the minimum
required levels contained in their debt indentures.

FACTOR 5: G&T SIZE

Why it Matters

Size has the lowest weighting of the five key factors because it tends to be less important for entities, such as G&T co-
ops, that are subject to mited competition. However, size sdll matters because larger entities usually have a greater
ability to absorb unexpected shocks due to their greater diversity of generating assets, customers, and fuel sources.

Size is 2 relevant factor in the analysis of G&T co-ops due to the benefits in having a larger pool of assets and a
more divesse source of fuels to run the generation assers. A G&T that has its assets concentrated in one generating
plant could be subject to extreme cost pressures to the extent that it has to buy power on the open market due to an
extended outage at its sole generating plant. Similarly, overdependence on one particular fuel source could materially
raise costs during a period of prolonged price increases for that commodity.

Size can also create economies of scale by enabling a G&T co-op to spread its fixed costs over a larger number of
kilowatt hours of electricity thereby increasing its price competitiveness.
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Measurement metrics for this factor are as follows:
¢ Kilowatt hour sales
e  Revenues
o Net PP&E
*  Megawatis owned and/or purchased

FACTOR MAPPING - FACTOR 5

Lo Sub.Factor
Ana Aa A Baa Ba B Caa Weighting
Megawalt hour sales (Millions of MWhs) > 50 20-30 11-20 5-10 <5 <3 <1 2.50%
Revenues ($ Billions) > 535 billion = $2biflion > 37 bilkion $1$§§'II-' < $0.2 biflion < $0.15 biltion < $0.10 billion 2.50%
Dbillion
Net PP&E ($ in Billions) = $5 biltion $§sgi_il{i_on - »3%tbillon > $04biflion <504 biflion < $0.3 billon < $0.2 billion 2.50%
illion
Maegawatts owned and purchased (MWs) > 6,000 4,000-6,000  >3,000 > 2,060 500- 2,000 300 - 499 < 300 2.50%
Results of Mapping - Factor §

' Megawatt

Current Hour Sales indicated  Revepues  indicated  PPRE(G  Indicated owned &  indicated
G&T Co-op Rating  Outlosk Millions) Rig. (Millions) Rig. Millions) Rig. Purchased Rig.
Askansas Electric Cooperative AZ {a) Stabie 12 A ©§4147 Baa $698.3 Baa 2428 Baa
Associated Electric Cooperative Al Stable 24 Aa . §7976 Biza $1,066.0 A 4,933 Aa
Basin Electric Power Cooperative Al Stable 18 A $915.8 Baa $1,528.6 A 2575 Baa
Buckeye Power Cocperative Al Stable g Baa $33t.2 Baa $554.7 Baa 1,665
Chugach Electric Assoctation A2{b) Swble 3 $201.2 Baa §467.8 Baa 520
Prairyland Power Cooperative AZ(c) Stable 6 Baa 32289 Baa $464.7 Baa 1,160
Georgia Transmission A3 Stable N/A N/A $174.8 $1,104.0 A N/A N/A
Hoosier Energy A3 Sable 10 A $385.3 Baa $649.56 Baa 1,418
Oglethorpe Power Corp. A3 Stable 3 Aa $1,312.8 A $3,658.1 Aa 5,204 Aa
Old Dominion Electric Cooperative Al Stabie 1 A $588.5 Baa $1,101.5 A 675
Tri-State G&T Association Baa?l Stabie 15 A $672.7 Baa $1,540.4 A 3,126 A

Ratings are senior secured unfess otherwise noted,

(aj secured facility bonds that rank junior to RUS security
(b) senior unsecured debt rating

(cilssuer Rating

Qutliers And Observations

Even the largest G&T co-op, Oglethorpe Power Corporation, is considered to be relatively small by electric utility
standards, so it is not surprising that there are no positive outliers in Key Factor 5. Negative outliers are Buckeye

Power, Chugach Electric, Dairyland Power, Georgia Transmission, Hoosier Energy, and Old Dominion, reflecting
sroaller than average size for the rated universe.

In two cases, there are offsetting considerations that merit comment. Chuagach Electric is a negative outlier for
megawatt hours sold and capacity owned and purchased. Chugach Electric is by far the largest power provider in the
state of Alaska and is geographically isolated, which tends to temper concern about its small size. Georgia Transmis-
sion Corporadon (GTC) is 2 pure transmission cooperatve, formed as part of the disaggregation of the former
Oglethorpe Power Corporation. As such, GTC does not sell electricity and its revenues are derived solely from pro-
viding transmission service, which does not carry some of the risks that are involved in generation of electricity.

Other Rating Considerations

1) Liquidity
Liquidity is particularly important for smaller G&T' co-ops that may have less ability to withstand unexpected shocks.

Sharp increases in fuel costs can reduce internally generated cash flow and simultaneously create increased needs to
finance working capital. Moody's considers both internal and highly reliable external sources of liquidity, which can be
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comprised of internally generated cash flow, cash balances available for meeting ongoing obligations, and committed
bank credit facilities,

2) Corporate Governance

QOur Corporate Governance research includes a review of the G&T co-op board structure, composition, and behavior.
Although the large majority of the G& T co-ops are not subject to the regulatons imposed on public companies by the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we find that virtually all of the rated G&T co-ops have guided their board activities to
emulate the requirements of a public company. '

G&T co-ops have grown increasingly sensitive to the benefits of having more board members with strong finan-
cial expertise, particularly as it relates to the audit function, and business acumen. Much of the information about the
board structure and composition is readily available in the annual reports of each G&T co-op or on their respective
public web sites. Typically, there is one representative from each of the distribution members on the G&T board.

G&T co-op management tearns have increased the involvement of their board members in the periodic meetings
they hold with Moody's analysts. We continue to welcome the increased participation of G&T co-op board members,
especially those who play an active role in setting financial policy, including decisions about capital rotation policy,
which is the equivalent of the dividend policy for I0Us, and compensation arrangements for senior management.

3) Legal Structure

Generally speaking, the corporate legal structure of the G&'T' co-op sector is less complex than that of the investor-
owned utility universe. For one thing, maintaining a cooperative structure generally precludes forming a holding
company structure to house diversified operations. We have, however, observed situations whereby smaller distribu-
tion co-op members have merged together to gain more size and scope and to create more cost efficient operations.

4) Diversification

The level of diversified investment by the G&T co-ops contnues to be limited in scale. Basin Electric is the only
G&T co-op that has very large non-power operations, There is not any material debt due to third parties related to
those operations and Basin has not provided support for the diversified businesses. As the basic business of providing
power to members under contract is considered to be low risk, diversification would normally be expected to increase
risk, 2lthough Moody's will evaluate any instances on a case by case basis.

Final Considerations

To illustrate this rating methodology, we have applied the standards discussed throughout this text to the 11 U. S. elec-
tric generation & transmission cooperatives that Moody's currently rates.

To determine an overall rating, we convert each of the 22 assigned sub-factor ratings into a numeric value based
on the following scale:

Aaa Aa A Baa Ba B Caa
1 3 6 g 12 15 8
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APPENDIX A - Sub-factor Criteria

Sub-Factor
Aaa Aa A Baa Ba B Caa Weighting
Percentage of Member Load Served
under Wholeszle Power Contracts 100% 100% > 80% = 70% <70% < 60% < 50% 15.00%
: Sub-Factor
Aaa Aa A Baz Ba B Caa Weighting
Regulatory No Rate No Rate Rate Regulatedby RateRepulatedby RateRegulatecby Rate Regulated  Rate Regulastedby — 3.33%
Review/ Regutation by Regulation by State State State by State Slaze
Relationship State State .Commissior; Very  Cormmission; Commission;  Commission; Very  Commission;
with Regulators  Commission;  Commission; No Supportive Moderately Unsupportive Unsupporive ~  Extremely Harsh
Legislative statte  legistative statute Clommission Suppartive Comimission Comimission Commission
to preclude to preclude Practices; Very Commission Practices; Practices; Often  Practices; Abways
repulatory regulatory Good Regulatory Practices; Generally Contentious Cortentious
interventioninthe interventioninthe  Relationships  Reasonably Good Dhifficutt Regulatory Regulatory
future rate setting  future rate setting Regulatory Regulatory Relationships Relationships
process process Relationships Relationships
Assess Board Exceptionally  Proactive board  Activeboardin  Reasonablyactve Inactiveboard; Inactiveboard; no Inactveboard;no 3.33%
involvementin  proactive board thatsupports  supportof imely  board Insupport imited, i any abi%itg to adjust for aba‘lib{ to adjust for
Setting Rates / that supports management rate filings; of timely rate  ability to adjust for uet cost uel cost
Vaziable Cost management  recommendations  possibility for  fifings; annual fuel uet cost variability; variability;
Adjustment recormmendations for timely regulatory cost adjustrment variabitity; uncertainty uncertaiply
Mechanisms for timely adjustment of  interventioninthe capabifity in place uncertainty surroundin surroundin
adjustmentof  rates to cover ail rate setting under regulatory surroundin recovery of recovery o
rates 1o cover alt  costs of service;  process in certain practice; recovery o deferrals deferrals
costs of service;  no regulatory instances; reasonably timely deferrals
noregulatory  interventioninthe frequent fuel cost  zecovery of any
intervention in the rate settin adjustment deferrals
rate setting process; No  capability in place
process; legislative statute  under regulatory
Legislative statute "to preclude practice; timely
to preclude regulatory recovery of any
regulatory intervention inthe deferrals
interventioninthe future rate setting
future rate setting process
process
Purchaged <5% <20% < 30% <40% > 40% > B0% >75% 3.33%
Power/Total
MwWh Sales {%0}
New Build <5% < 25% < 50% < 75% 76% -120% > 120% > 140% 3.331%
Exposure
{Prospective
_15-yr New Build
Capex as % Net
PP&E)
Rate Better than allon  Much better than  Better than most  Better than some;  Worse than most  Worse thanalion Worsethanallon 3.33%
Competitiveness  a consistent basis most on a onaconsistent  Worsethansome  on aconsistent  a consistent basis  a consistent basis
versus others in consistent basis basis on a consistent basis
region basis
Potertial forRate  Extremely low  Very lowleq. less Lowleg lessthan  Moderate (e.g.  High (eﬁ. greater  Very highleg.  Extraordinarily 3.33%
Shock Exposure (e lessthan  than20%qeliance  30%relianceon  lessthan 40%  than 40%reliance  greater than 4%% high (e.g. preater
10% refianceon on purchased  purchased power reliance on on purchased reliance on  than 50% retiance
purchased power  powerand less  and/or lessthan  purchased power  power or greater  purchased power  on purchased
anclessthan 10%  than 25% 5-year-  50% 3-year- andfor less than  than 75% 5-year-  and greater than power and greater
S-yearnewbuild  newbuild capex newbuild capex 75% 5-year- newbuild capex 75% 5-year-  than 85% S-year-
capex as as percentage of  as percentage of  newbuild capex  as percentageof  newbufld capex  newbuild capex
!percentage of iatest year-end latestyearend  aspercentageof  latestyear-end  as percentage of  as percentage of
atest year-end Net PP&E Net PP&E latest year-end Net PP&E latest year-end latest year-énd
Net PP&E Net PPLE Met PP&E Net PP&E
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‘We multply each metric's numeric value by the assigned weight (as shown in Appendix A), and then do 2 summation.

Wholesale Power Confracts % Member Load Served 15.00%
Rate Flexibility Reg. Review / Relationship with Regulators 3.33%
Board lavolvement / Rate Adj. Mechanism 3.33%
Purchased Power / Sales {%) 3.33%
New Build Capex (% Net PP&E) 3.33%
Rate Competitiveness 3.33%
Rate Shock Exposure 3.33%
Member/owner profile Demand Growth 3.00%
Residential Sales / Total Sales 3.00%
Members' Consolidated Assets 3.60%
Members' Consolidated Equity / Capitalization 3.00%
Regulatory Status . 3.00%
3-Year Average G&T Financial Metrics TIER 5.00%
2sC 5.00%
FFO/ Debt 8.00%
FFO / Interest B.00%
Equity / Capitalization 9.00%
Net Operating Margin ] 5.00%
G&T Size Mwh sales 2.50%
Revenues 2.50%
Net PP&E 2.50%
MW Owned and Purchased 2.50%

The total is then mapped to the table below, and an overall alpha-numeric rating is assigned based on where the
score falls in the range. The outcome provides good correladon, with no outliers,

Indicated Rating Overall Score
- | Aaa 1,49 or fower
Aa 1.5 10 4.49
A 4.50 to 7.49
Baa 75010 10.49
Ba 10,50 to 13.49
B 13.5 © 16.49
Caa 16.5 to 18.00

~ Tor example, if a G&T co-op's sub-factors sum to a score of 7.00, an overall rating of A3 would be assigned. On
* this scale, a lower score indicates a stronger credit profile than 2 higher score. If the G&T co-op's sub-factors sum to
a total score of 9.00, an overall rating of Baa2 would be assigned. The G&T co-op would be considered as having an
average Baa2 rating profile because it falls in the middle of that category range.

Tn this methodology, we cover 11 U.S. electric G&T co-ops. After placing these G&T co-ops through the rating
factor grid we find that

® 5 have indicated ratings that match the actual ratings
® 3 have indicated ratings one-notch above Moody's actual rating, and
* 3 have an indicated rating one-notch below Moody's actual rating,

Based on these results, we believe our methodology proves to be a very effective way to derive ratings for the
G&T co-op sector. Although there are no outliers among the indicated ratings resulting from the mapping at this
time (none of the indicated ratings are two or more notches above or below Moody's actual rating), Moody's notes that
there may be outliers from time to time. Such instances could resuit in the future. For example, this could result from
a pending merger transaction or other events that would put 2 G&T co-op into a state of significant trangition.

Ultimately, Moody's ratings for U.S. electric generation & transmission cooperatives reflect an amalgamation of all the
considerations discussed in this methodology. The methodology presents a representative guide to the analytics underpin-
ning Moody's ratings and should help facilitate constituents to better understand what drives the ratings in this sector.

Refer to Appendix B for a summary table illustrating the weightings and rating outcomes for the companies in this
methodology.

Moody’s Rating Methodology 19



Aaa

Aa

Sub-Factor .

Relationships

Redationships

Relationships

A Baa Ba B Caa Weighting
Demand Growth >6% 4% 3% 2% 1% 0% <0% 3.00%
Residential Sales/Total > B0% > 75% > 50% > 40% < 40% < 20% <10% 3.00%
Sales (%) .
Mermbers' Consolidated >$6.5 bilion > $4billion  $3- $4 billion > $1 billion < $% billion < $0.3 billion < $0.2 billion 3.00%
Assets {$ Billions} .
Members' Consolidated >65% > 55% > 50% > 5% > 20% > 15% >10% 3.00%
Equity/Capialization (%)
Repulatory status Nonesubject Nonesubject  Some Rate Some Rate Some Rate Most Rate All Rate 3.00%
fo rate to rate Regulated by  Regulatedby  Regulatedby  Regulatedby  Regulated by
regulation;  regulation;No State State State State State
Legisiative egisiative Commission;  Commission;  Commission;  Commission;  Commission;
statute to statute to Very Moderately  Unsupportive Very Extremely
preclude preclude Supportive Supportive Commission  Unsupporlive Harsh
regulatory regulatory Commission  Commission Practices; Commission  Commission
intervention intervention Practices; Practices; Generally Praciices; Practices;
inthe future  inthe future  Very Good Reasonably Difficult Often Always
rate setting rate seing Regulatory Good Regulatory Contentious  Contertious
process process Relationships  Regulatory  Relafionships  Regulatory Regulatory

Aaa Aa A Baa Pa 5 Caa 5{5555??;‘,?3'
TIER . > 1.6x R 1.2% - 1.4x 1.ix~ 1.19x 1.0x < 1.0x < (5% 5.00%
DSC >§.9x >1.4x 1.2% - 1.4x 11x- 1.39x 1.1x <1.0x <O.5x 5.00%
FFO/Debt > 35% 16% - 15% 6% - 9% 3% - 5% < 3% < 2% < 1% 8.00%
PFOfinterest 5325¢  2.5x-3.25x 2.0x - 2.49x 15%-1.99 <15 <i2x  <10x 8.00%
Equity/fotal Capitalization > 50% 35% - 50% 20% « 35% 5% - 19% < 5% < 3% < 1% 9.00%
et Operating Margin > 40% 30% - 40% >30% > 5% < 5% < 3% <1% 5.00%

Sub-Faclor
Aaa Aa A Baa Ba B Caa Weighting
Megawatt hour sales (Miilions of MWhs) > 50 20- 50 11-20 5-10 <5 <3 <t 2.50%
Reverstes {$ Billions) > $3.5 billion > $2 biflien > $1 billion $1$t?i$I;' < $0.2 billior < $0.15 billion < $0.10billion 2.50%
R HETe ] .
Net PPEE (§ in Billions) > $5 billion $§Slia)i$|=ion - =51%lon > $04bHBon < $04 billlon < $0.3 billion < $0.2 billion 2.50%
#11:00
Mepawatts cwned and purchased (MWs) > 6,000 4,000-6,000 > 3,000 > 2,000 500 - 2,000 300 - 499 < 300 2.50%

Moody’s Rating Methodology
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The summary table on page 22 shows the results for each of the 11 G&'T co-ops for all 22 sub-factors. We average the
collected criteria, weighting them according to the indicated weightings, and compare them to their actual ratings.

Specifically, we score the indicative letter rating in each sub-factor with a number. For example, we score the
indicative ratings as follows: '

Aaa Aa A Baa . Ba B Caa
i 3 3 5 T3 15 5

‘We multiply each metric's numeric value by an assigned weight, and then do a summation.

The tota} is then mapped to the table below, and an overall rating is assigned based on where the score falls in the
range. The outcome provides good correlation, with no outiers.

Indicated Rating Overali Score
Aga 1.49 or lower
Aa 1.5 to 4.49

A 4.50 to 7.49
Baa ] 7.50 t0 10.49
Ba 10.50 to 13.49
B _ 13.5 to 16.49
Caa 16.5 to 18.00

Moody’s Raf.-’ng Methodology 23



Appendix G

MOODY'S ELECTRIC G&T COOPERATIVE METRIC DEFINITIONS

See Moody's Ratings Methodology: Moeody's Approach to Glokal Standard Adjustrments in the Analysis of Financial State-
ments for Non-Financial Corporations - Part 1, July 2005. The ratios used as a basis for this methodology are three year
averages of calculations using the standard adjustments.

I

24

TIER (Times Intevest Earned Ratzo)
(Adjusted NJIAC + Adjusted Interest + Income Tax) / Adjusted Interest

. DSCR (Debt Service Coverage Ratio)

(Adjusted NIAC + Adjusted Interest + Depreciation & Amortization) / (Adjusted Interest + Principal Pay-
ment)

FFQ / Interest
(Funds from operations + Interest expense)/ Interest expense

FFQ / Debr
Funds from operations / (Short Term Debt + Long Term Debt, gross)

Equity / Total Capitalization

' (Deferred Taxes + Minority Interest + Book Equity) / (Short Term Debt + Long Term Debt, gross + Deferred

"Taxes + Minority Interest + Book Equity)

Net Operating Margin

- Operating Profit/ Net Revenue

Moody's Rating Methodofogy



Appendix D

# of Issuers

Moody's Rated U.S. G&T Cooperatives

Az Mgl

T

As2  Aa3

| Ea— T T Y T T T T T

At A2 A3 Baal Bza2 Baad Bat Ba2 Bad 8t

T

B2 B3 (aal CaaZ Caa3 Ca O
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Related Research

Rating Methodology: _
- Global Reeulated Electric Utilities, March 2005 (91730)

Moodyv's Approach to Global Standard Adjustments in the Analysis of Financial Statements for Non-Financial
Corporations - Part L Tuly 2005 (93570)

To access any of these reparts, click on the entry above. Note that these reféreme: are curvent as of the date of | pub!imﬁm of this report
and that more recent veports may be avaslable. All vesearch may not be available to all clients.
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the U.S. power supply system. Designed as not-for-profit utilities, they
are operated for the benefit of their owner members. Composed of
power supply systems {which own generation and transmission [G&T]
assets) and distribution systems (which provide electricity to the end-
user), the cooperative industry’s primary function is to supply native-
load customers with reliable and competitively priced electric service,

Distribution systems are generally viewed as having less risk than
G&T power supply cooperatives. G&T's by nature are of greater risk,
but the degree is materially less than power suppliers actively
competing in the wholesale energy market, since cooperative power
supply systems rely on long-ierm power sales agreements with
member systems and focus on meeting the electricity needs of more
predictable retail customers.

m Outlook

Fitch Ratings’ outlook for rural electric cooperatives is stable, with
cooperative ratings falling mostly in the ‘A’ category. Fitch presently
has 18 electric cooperative ratings, most of which are power supply
systems (see Fitch-Rated Electric Cooperatives table on page 10).
Fitch’s constructive view reflects the solid working relationship
between most wholesale power suppliers and their member distribution
systems, reduced concern over intense industrywide competition, the
industry’s current access to less expensive Rural Utilities Service
{RUS) funding, an improving outlook for cooperative lender National
Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corp. (CFC), and positive
operating performance for most cooperative systems. Also
incorporated in this rating assessment is the industry’s need for major
new base-load power plants, the need to successfully manage large,
new capital and construction programs in a difficult global labor and
commodity market, environmentai considerations, volatile energy
prices, regulatory risk in certain regions and above-average retail
electric rates in more rura) areas.

® Purpose

This report is designed to provide investors, members of the financial
community and industry representatives with an overview of the
electric cooperative program and Fitch’s current assessment of key
industry rating drivers. While Fitch expects RUS to remain an
important lender to cooperatives, it would not be surprising io see an
increased number of cooperative systems entering the public/private
capital markets to take advantage of more flexible financing strategies
and quicker turnaround time, especially given their pressing need to
fund new base-load generation. Therefore, a fuller understanding of the

www.fitchratings.com
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Approximate Power Supply by Fuel Type
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Qther
Coal 2%
62%
Nuclear

T 15%

Hydroelectric
10%

Gas
11%

Sowurce: Fitch Ratings.

Electric Industry

Other
5%

Nisclear
20%

Cogt
51%

Hy droelectic
7%

Gas
17%

electric cooperative industry and the credit factors
supporting individual coop systems is an essential
tool for debt holders,

B  Electric Cooperatives

Principally through the organizations of systems
under the RUS program in 47 states and U.S.
territories, rural electric  cooperatives  serve
approximately 12% of the nation’s consumers,
compared with approximately 73% for investor-
owned utilities {(IOUs) and 15% for municipal and
government-owned utilities. Cooperative sales of
electricity amount to approximately 10% of total
electric sales, and cooperatives own approximately
5% of energy generation and generating capacity.

Generation is primarily built to meet the native-load
requirements of member distribution systems. G&T
systems supply nearly 43% of the power purchased
by distribution members, up from 41% nearly ‘10
vears “before. Other large electric suppliers to
distribution cooperatives include traditional 10Us,
power marketers, Tennessee Valley Authority, public
government utilities and other power suppliers. The
upward trend in G&T-supplied power is expected to
continue, given the rising demand for power in
developing rural areas and as G&T wholesale
suppliers complete new generating stations.

Electric cooperative power generation by fuel type is
quite diverse, Other significant credit characteristics
of electric cooperatives are that distribution

companies often have defined service territories and-
serve mostly residential and small-commercial users.
Cooperatives generally have been able to opt out of
electric deregulation in applicable states, and G&Ts
have limited merchant or independent power
producer risk.

Cooperatives now serve approximately 17 million
consumers. Typically, consumer growth is higher
than other segments of the electric utility industry,
with many distribution cooperatives growing twice as
fast as the overall electric industry. Several
cooperatives  operate near very high-growth
metropolitan areas, such as Atlanta, Denver, Dallas
and Washington, D.C. Rapid development of
Western U.S. energy supplies is also having a major
positive effect on cooperative electric  demand.
Residential electricity usage (as measured by
kilowatt-hours (kwh)/month) is typically higher in
cooperative areas than 10Us and municipals. This
reflects a higher customer dependence on electricity '
versus other energy sources in the rural service area,
Electric cooperative revenues total approximately
$30 billion, with residential revenues accounting for
approximately 63% of cooperative total revenues,
and commercial and industrial contribute 20% and

 15%, respectively.

Electric power costs represent approximately two-
thirds of a distribution cooperative’s customer bill,
with distribution costs and net margins making up the
remainder. Power costs generally declined during the

Etectric Cooperatives—-An Industry Qutliook and Primer
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1990s. But beginning in 1999, they have climbed due
to increased cost of fuel. Future costs are likely to see
a further rise, due to the need to build new and more
expensive  generation,  higher fuel  costs,
environmental factors and expanded transmission and
distribution facilities, '

W History
‘The electric cooperative movement took hold in 1935

when the Rural Electrification Administration (REA)

was established by President Franklin D. Roosevelt.
At the time, only approximately 11% of the farm
community had access to central station electric
service, compared to the rest of consumers in more
densely populated cities and towns where almost
100% of the population had access to electricity.
Rural electrification became one of the great success
stories of the New Deal,

The Rura} Electrification Act of 1936 gave the REA
the statutory authority to finance the construction and
operation of electric generation, transmission and
distribution  facilities and provide power to
consumers in rural areas. In 1949, REA’s mandate
was expanded to include the authorization to loan
funds for telephone service in rural areas. Congress
was given the power to approve annual
appropriations to fund these capital programs.

By the late 1950s, the rural electric program’s
growing need for funds exceeded the amount
Congress was willing to provide through the
traditional REA loan program, which was
administered by the U.8. Department of Agriculture
(USDA). Under the authority of the REA Act, the
USDA makes direct Joans and loan guarantees to
electric utilities to serve customers in rural areas.
Before 1973, all direct loans were made at a 2%
interest rate, which was subsequently increased to
5%. In time, the loan program grew to include larger
loans, which were at the long-term Treasury rate plus
one-eighth of 1%, REA also guaranteed loans made
through the Federal Financing Bank or by private
lenders at a similar low-cost interest rate. Under
Internal Revenue Service Code, rural electric
cooperatives are exempt from federal income taxes if
at feast 85% of their income is received from
members. Cooperatives that may not meet this
guideline, inciuding a number of G&T systems, are
subject to federal income taxes and have the ability to
take advantage of tax benefits, similar to investor-
owned companies,

M G&T Systems Emerge

With demand for electricity in the cooperatives’
service territories growing rapidly, reflecting
consumers movement away from larger cities to the
surrounding areas, it became clear that alternative
financing sources would be needed to help meet the
funding and development of new generation and
distribution facilities, since it was unlikely that the
federal government would be able to finance the
industry’s total growth requirements. In addition,
hoping to lower operating costs and improve
efficiency, a number of distribution systems decided
to form new G&Ts to supply their longer term power
needs, believing that building large power stations
would be less expensive than constructing many
smaller, less efficient units or continuing to rely on
purchased power from for-profit I10Us,

However, forming new G&Ts would require a .
substantial increase in capital to finance the
generating facilities. Initially, there was resistance for
loans to G&Ts. But under President John F.
Kennedy’s administration, G&T loan policy was
revised to allow for greater federal funds to be spent
on power supply projects. By the-mid 1960s, the
cooperative industry was growing at a rate of
approximately 10% a year, almost 50% faster than
investor-owned companies. Capital requirements
were increasing, and funding needs were staggering.
Following an extended review, a decision was made
to continue the lower cost federal loan funding
program, which primarily benefited distribution
systems but also concluded that an intermediate
financing plan be developed to offer greater
flexibility in loans and a mechanism be established to
provide a way to bring supplemental private capital
into the program. The chosen proposal was a federal
bank for rural electric systems, which would capture
features of the Farm Credit System. In 1969, CFC
was established as a cooperative selfthelp financing
organization. :

M Growth of Supplemental Lenders

CFC and CoBank are the primary supplemental
ienders to the electric cooperative industry. CFC was
designed to provide its distribution members, as well
as power suppliers, a dependable source of market-
based capital and financial products and services.
CFC is owned by its members, which differentiates it
from most other financing companies, CFC has since
taken a leadership role in helping to fund the needs of
the electric and telecommunications cooperative
industry, working closely with the RUS (the 1994

Electric Cooperatives—An industry Quilook and Primer
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successor t0 REA). CoBank (formerly the Bank for
Cooperatives} as well as the public and private
capital markets constitute the other primary funding
sources for the electric cooperative industry. Loans
issued by supplemental lenders must typically be
approved by RUS and are secured on a parity with
other secured lenders, primarity RUS.

RUS is generally the cooperatives’ first financing
option, as it is able to offer members interest rates
that are generally lower than the rates CFC, other
banks and the capital markets are able to offer.
Increasingly, CFC, CoBank and the other lenders
compete for bridge loans in anticipation of long-term
funding from RUS, the portion of a loan that RUS is
not able to provide, loans to members that cannot
borrow from RUS and loans to members that have
elected not to use RUS,

The wholesale power contracts between the G&T and
its distribution systems provide for rate adjustments
to cover the costs of supplying power, although in
certain cases, such adiustments may have to be
approved by regulatory agencies. These agreements
permit the power supply system, subject to approval
by RUS and, in certain circumstances, state public
service commissions or the Federal Energy
Regulatory Commission (FERC), to establish rates
for its members to produce revenues sufficient (with
revenues from all other sources} to meet the costs of
operation and maintenance, pay debt service, and
establish and maintain reasonable reserves.

The board of directors of power supply systems must
review their rates at least annually. Cooperatives that
have power supply arrangements with IOUs and
other suppliers that are not borrowers of RUS usually
have rates subject to outside regulation, Examples of
cooperatives that have chosen to borrow outside of
RUS and from the capital markets include Chugach
Electric Association, Inc., Old Dominion Electric
Cooperative and most recently, Great River Energy
(pending). In these cases, the cooperatives chose to
use other financing options they believed provided
greater flexibility and timeliness.

B Security Features

Debt issued by the G&T cooperatives is typically
secured by a pledge of the power supplier’s assets
and supported by joint and several all-requirements
power supply contracts between the G&T and the
member systerus, under which the members agree to
pay their pro rata share of all operating and fixed

costs. In most cases, the current assets and all future
assets of the entity are pledged as security for the
debt. This pledge of assets is secured by a loan
contract and mortgage. In making these loans, RUS
fakes into account the borrower’s service territory,
the inherent cost of providing service, the disparity in
rates between the borrower and neighboring utilities,
the intensity of competition and the relative amount
of new capital investment required to serve existing
or new loads.

RUS may also approve the use of an indenture
commonly used by utilities engaged in private market
financing, in lieu of a mortgage, as the security
instrument for loans to power supply borrowers, The
terms of each indenture and related loan agreement
are negotiated on a case-by-case basis. Given the
cooperative industry’s growing need for capital, it
appears that more G&T’s will seek indenfures in the
future.

2 Outstanding Debt

As of May 31, 2006, an estimated 898 electric utility
cooperatives, including 829 distribution systems and
69 G&Ts had a total of $48 billion in long-term debt
outstanding. RUS is the dominant lender to the
electric cooperative industry and as of Sept. 30, 2006,
had approximately $32.5 billion of totel outstanding
debt,

As of May 31, 2006, CFC had a total of $16 billion
of long-term exposure to its distribution and power

Rural Utilities Service Loans

1 Generation and Transmission W Distribution
Systems Systems
{$Bil)

*Projected fiscal year. Source: Flich Ratings.
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supply member systems, including $15 billion of
long-term loans and $1 billion of guarantees, 81.6%
of which is to distribution systems. The remaining
borrowings come from CoBank and other lenders.

B Future Borrowing Needs

Over the next 10 years, G&T cooperative capital
requirements are expected to total approximately
$42 billion, with approximately $29 billion of this
amount to fimd new generation capital needs. The
percentage breakdown will go for new electric
generation (68%), with 22% for transmission and
10% for environmental compliance. Historically,
RUS, CFC and CoBank were sufficient to meet the
capital needs of the cooperative industry. In addition,
capital needs of distribution systems will be
substantial in the billions of dollars.

Some power supply systems were able to negotiate
trust indentures with the RUS that allowed them
more financing flexibility than what is usually
permitted by the RUS mortgage. As financing needs
grow, it is expected that G&T cooperatives will need
to go beyond the traditional lenders into the
public/private capital mearkets. While this wouid
result in higher costs for the cooperative program,
Fitch believes the increased funding flexibility is a
valuable tool and should serve the industry well over
the longer term.

& Solid Operating Performance
Qver the past quarter-century, the financial
performance of the electric cooperative industfy has
generally been good. This reflects the cooperative
industry’s primary role as provider of electric service
to retail customers, the risk-adverse nature of most
cooperative boards and the overall stability of its
largely residential and agrarian loads. As nonprofit
organizations, cooperatives are designed by policy to
keep rates as low as possible.

Despite the satisfactory record, the industry had a
rocky period in the latter 1980s when several
problem borrowings occurred, following a boom
period of base-load power plant construction for the
public power industry (municipal electric systems
and rural electric cooperatives). A few G&Ts that
borrowed heavily from the RUS and the public
capital markets assumed overly optimistic energy
growth forecasts supporting the need for major new
coal and muclear facilities. This was just as the
industry was entering a period of reduced energy

demand and higher inflation. This had a pronounced
negative affect on the industry for some time.

At the same time, due to competitive pressures,
certain state public service commissions took a
harder line toward oversight of IOUs and
cooperatives, and some G&T’s found it difficult to
raise wholesale rates and pass along these increased
costs to their members. Some member systems even
attempted to abrogate their power supply agreements,
further undermining investors’ confidence in eleciric
cooperative credits. A few systems sought refuge in
bankruptcy court or through loan forgiveness, and
several others had to restructure their debt, hoping to
reduce the burden of the heavy fixed charges.

While approximately one-third of G&Ts are rate
regulated, nine of the 11 workouts for these troubled
power suppliers occurred in rate-regulated states.
With regard to lenders, RUS was the primary supplier
of loans to most of these affected cooperatives, and it
eventually incurred multibillion dollar write-offs.
Other lenders, such as CFC, were also negatively
affected, but to a much lesser degree. As a result of
this experience, RUS and other lenders substantially
tightened up their lending practices and major losses
have since been minimized. Currently, it appears that
investors once again see the cooperative industry in a
more favorable light, given the positive growth
characteristics of the industry, their stable financial
record and the largely, straightforward business
model that is employed by most electric cooperative
systems.

% Analytical Framework (Past and
Present)

Past Approach

Looking back, the analytical process for G&T
cooperatives focused primarily on the quality of the
long-term, all-requirements contracts between a G&T
and its members and the financial strength of the
supporting distribution systems. A detailed review of
the G&T was often believed to be less significant
than assessing the creditworthiness of the members,

The original corporate structure placed most of the
equity and financial strength at the membership level,
while the G&T was leveraged up to hold costs down.
The G&T was designed to be almost a guasi-holding
company for power supply assets. It assumed the
rating of the G&T would primarily reflect the
financial health of the distribution systems and the
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members’ ability and willingness to make timely
payments of debt service and operating costs to the
G&T, pursuant to the power supply agreements.
Based on the solid equity and coverage levels of the
average distribution member (typically 40% equity
and approximately 2.0 times [x] debt-service
coverage), the initial ratings for most G&T’s tended
to be in the ‘A’ category.

It was understood that the G&T’s primary purpose
was to finance power supply and meet the long-term

electric requirements of its member systems, either
~ through owned generation or power purchase
arrangements.  The  all-requirements  contracts,
extending out approximately 35 years, were felt to
provide sufficient bondholder protection and were
central to the ratings. Initially, many of these
wholesale systems had elements similar to project-
style structures.

Several of these entities initially financed a single or
smali number of power supply projects. These
generating projects were often one- or two-unit base-
load coal or nuclear facilities, in some cases
approximating 1,000 megawatts {mw). Fuel supply
was long-term and sourced to meet the life of the
project’s debt (usually 30 years), with limited re-
openers, thereby limiting operating flexibility, Plants
were often oversized and assumed a fair amount of
shorter term off-system sales, as members’ loads
were projected to grow into the resource.

Legal provisions were simple in design, with fixed-
charge ratio (times interest earned ratio [TIER] and
debt-service coverage [DSC]) generally light, set at
approximately 1.00x-1.10x. Except for certain
renewal and replacement and operating reserves,
there was never any desire to accumulate much
equity at the G&T. Almost all of the equity and credit
strength was provided by the members, who typically
did not upstream monies to the G&T beyond the
minimum legal requirement. This had the potential to
put regulated G&T cooperatives at greater risk should
forecasts prove inaccurate or be affected by poor
public service commissions decisions.

Since high energy prices and fuel volatility were not
felt to be a major concern at the time, there was not a
strong focus on the need for having exira financial
liquidity at the G&T. However, high interest rates
were definitely a probiem, which were exacerbated
by project overruns and inflation, Most systems did
not rely on fuel and power purchase adjustment
clauses to a great degree.

With inexpensive and secure RUS loans available
and the belief that cooperatives would not get into
financial difficulty given RUS oversight, it seemed to
make sense to have G&Ts use higher debt leverage,
minimel equity and low fixed-charge coverage. As
long as a distribution systemn’s equity/total assets was
solid, members’ TIER and DSC were approximately
1.75%-2.00x, and the cooperative’s board structure
and regulatory environment functioned properly, a
low level of financial protection at the G&T level
was deemed acceptable. Rating determinations for
power suppliers were done mostly through
comparisons to other G&T cooperatives and
municipal joint-action agencies.

Problems Arise

This basic model worked well for some time,
However, the surrounding economic landscape
changed, and a number of G&T’s found themselves
getting into financial difficulty through overbuilding,
a slowdown in demand, higher fixed costs and an
inability to pass along these higher costs to their
distribution members. Some distribution cooperatives
even decided to test the legality of the RUS all-
requirements power sales contract, thereby placing
the entire electric cooperative industry in jeopardy.
The most significant being the Shoshone case, where
Shoshone River Power, Inc. tried to end its power

. supply contract with Tri-State Generation &

Transmission Association, Inc. and use a different
power supplier. Following an extended series of court
reviews, the RUS contracts were upheld, and the
financial integrity of the electric cooperative industry
was maintained, putting an end fo these serious legai
Concems.

Most recently, the industry went through other
challenges caused by electric industry restructuring,
members’ desire for increased power supply options,
wiilities moving into less conventional lines of
business and evolving regulatory issues. These raised
further potential concerns about the overall
creditworthiness of the electric cooperative program,

By the mid 1990s, it became clear that the traditional
analytical framework used to evaluate the electric
cooperative industry needed to be modified. The
historical synergistic relationship between G&T
cooperatives and their distribution members was
fraying and subjecting some cooperative utilities and
investors to greater risk.

An example of this was with G&T cooperative
Oglethorpe Power Corporation (OPC), where there
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was serious disagreements among cooperative
members, with a few of the largest systems wanting a
greater say over their future power supply options.
This had the potential to place existing lenders at
risk, while subjecting OPC’s credit rating to a
material downgrade. It also brought into a clearer
focus the need for a newer, more balanced analytical
approach when evalvating G&T and member
distribution systems.

New Modified Approach

The conclusion was that there needed to be solid
financial protection for investors at both the G&T
-and distribution system levels. To rely exclusively on
having virtually 100% of financial protection at the
membership level was deemed too risky and not good
business policy. In addition, cooperative members
were being asked to extend their purchase power
agreements for another 20-30 years to help finance
the next wave of base-load power plants, which could
be problematic.

As a result, the current analytical format has been
modified to incorporate a more balanced approach
between supplier and member systems when
assessing the key credit factors of the utility system.
To maintain a healthy bond rating, it is imperative
that there be a strong working relationship between
the combined utility systems and solid financial ratios
and liquidity at both the G&T and the distribution
system levels, Power supply contracts, while offering
significant credit protection, cannot mitigate all risks
in the current business climate. Fitch recognizes that
some member systems want increased power supply
choice. In concept, Fitch supports this notion, but it
must be done in a prudent way to protect existing
bondholders and insure that the G&T's bond rating
Temains strong.

Regarding financial ratios, Fitch strives to be flexible
in its analytical approach and in how it uses ratio
analysis in the overall credit rating process. In other
words, Fitch evaluates credits on a case-by-case
basis, but it is fair to say that the trend and
consistency in financial performance, desired fiscal
and operating targets and other key metrics, such as
management, price competitiveness and
demographics, all matter, A cohesive board is also
important.

End Result

In the end, the heightened fears associated with
electric deregulation and market restructuring were

bigger than the actual experience, and most G&Ts
and their members were able to successfully resolve
their internal differences, continue as combined
utility systems and maintain their favorable ratings.
To the industry’s credit, cooperative boards
successfully addressed most of these concerns,
refocused their systems on their core business values
and worked aggressively to bolster the financial
strength of the G&Ts, in addition to maintaining
strong operating distribution systems. Part of this
reflects the eventual realization among member
systemns that low-cost alternative or non-G&T power
supply choices were not as plentiful as originally
believed. It is Fitch’s belief that the G&T and
distribution member systems have made major strides
in bolstering their financial ratios and liquidity and
worked through disruptive issues that could have
splintered the industry, while positioning themselves
for future growth requirements.

®  Financial Metrics

To achieve a solid investment-grade rating (‘A’
category) Fitch believes G&T cooperatives should
establish reasonable financial targets, that capture the
appropriate risk profile for the entity. This would
include DSC, TIER and lHquidity ratios. General .
guidelines for G&Ts might be equity of
approximately 20%, TIER and DSC of 1.20x, net
margins as & percentage of operating revenues of
5%-7% and 60-90 days of liquidity. Equity and
interest coverage at the distribution level should
approximtate 40% and 2.00x, respectively.

Net margins and patronage capital are treated as
equity capital and eventually must be returned to the
members in proportion o their patronage or purchase
of electricity. While there is no predetermined time
frame or percentage for the return of patronage
capital, since each cooperative sefs its own policy,
cooperatives that do choose to retain more of these
surplus margins 1o help build equity are often viewed
more favorably by adding to overall financial
flexibility and strength. By having control over these
funds, the monies can be used to help the G&T and
distribution systems build equity more quickly,
establish extra reserves and serve as an additional
positive management tool,

For distribution systems, creditworthiness depends on
credit factors, such as size, demographics, cost of
power, retail rates and other relevant points. The
following are ranges of member system financial
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Distribution Cooperative Annual Key Ratic Trend Analysis

U.S. National Medians 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Times Interest Eamed Ratio (x} 2.20 2.33 2.28 2.30 21 203
Madified Debt-Service Coverage (x) 1.80 1.82 20 2.02 1.98 2.00
Annual Capifal Credits Retired per Total Equlty (%) 2.30 243 245 234 232 2.31
EquityfAssets (%) 420 430 43.0 43.0 44,0 43.0
Blended Interest Rate (%) 4.9 4.6 4.8 5.0 5.5 5.6

Total Operating Revenue/Kiowatt-Hour Sold ($)
Residential Operaling Revenue/Kilowatt-Hour Sold {$) -
Non-Residential Operating Revenue/Kilowatt-Hour Sold (§)
Non-Operating Revenue/Kitowatt-Hour Sold {§)

Total Margins Less Allocations/Kilowatt-Hour Sold (%)
Power Cost/Total Kitowatt-Hour Sold ($)

Power Cost/Revenue (%)

Total Operating ExpensesiiKilowatt-Hour Sold (3)

Total Cost of Electric Service/Kilowatt-Hour Sold {$)
Annual Growth in Kilowatt-Hour Seld (%)

Annual Consumer Growth (%)

Average Consumer/Mile

Source: Fitch Ratings.

83.40 78.83 76.78 74.19 74,29 72.68
88.31 83.39 81.23 78,62 78.08 76,15
7230 6889 67.17 66.18 64.85 63.56

0.57 0.45 0.39 0.42 053 0.66
3.49 3.32 3.46 3.85 3.38 3.24
51.67 4717 45.73 43.28 4254 4181
81.0 53.0 59.0 - 58.0 58.0 59.0
18.42 18.27 17.92 17.23 1742 1641
80.74 75.59 73.38 70.65 7089 69,94
47 2.0 1.1 48 2.1 56
15 18 15 1.5 1.7 20
5.82 5.78 57 5.66 5.64 5.52

ratios that help support a high investment-grade G&T
rating:

Equity to capitalization of 40%—50%.
Days cash/liquidity on hand of 45-75 days.
DSC of 1.75x~2.00x (or greater).

# Important Credit Drivers

Looking forward over the near term, areas of greatest
importance in the rating process for cooperatives will
likely include fuel price wvolatility, capital
expenditures for base-load projects, financial
management, environmental compliance, and
demand and growth patterns. As  previously
mentioned, continued access to reasonably priced
capital will remain highly important in addition to the
industry’s strong political support at the national and
state levels.

Fuel Prices

Volatility in energy prices remains one of the biggest
issues for the electric industry. With unprecedented
demand for energy supplies, transportation
bottlenecks and global supply risk, cooperative
managements must have in place diversified power
supplies, adequate hedging and risk-management
programs, and sufficient liquidity. Fitch believes
timely recover of fuel costs is essential to a utility’s
continued good credit standing.

Most electric cooperatives and municipal systems have
the ability to set their own rates, which is an important
strength. Nevertheless, rate-setting ability does not
necessarily translate into wiliingness 1o raise rates and
timely and full-cost recovery. Over the past several

years, many cooperative and municipal systems have
moved aggressively to deal with the effecis of the
volatile and rising fuel markets (e.g., hedging,
increasing rates, building up cash reserves and
implementing fuel and purchased power adjustment
clauses). Presently, it appears that most cooperatives
are sufficiently well-positioned in this area.

New Base-Load Generation

To meet growth in demand, electric cooperatives will
have to develop and finance new base-load facilities
for an extended period. Facing a dwindling supply of
power reserves and increasing demeand for electricity
in well-situated service areas, the cooperative
industry is exposed to a growing challenge to license,
construct and finance new power projects at
reasonable prices. Given material and labor shortages
and the large number of competing infrastructure
projects simultancously being developed throughout
the nation, there is less margin for error in the
development and pricing of these plants.

On a positive side, the amount of incremental
capacity being added by individual utilities is less of
a concern than when these systems first added new
generation approximately 20 years ago. Clearly, there
was much higher risk then. Also, fuel supply options
are much more diverse, and contracts are more
flexible. However, shouid construction prices
continue to escalate, the amount of risk associated
with new power station development will increase
and be of greater concern to investors.

Financial NManagement
Benefiting from a relatively conservative business
model, along with reasonable financial and Hquidity

Electric Cooperatives—An Industry Quticok and Primer



FitchRatings

KNDW YBUR RISK

Public Finance

ratios, rural electric cooperatives have been able to
maintain credit ratings in the upper tier of the electric
industry. Utility management’s ability to plan for
system capital needs, while incorporating possible
unexpected industry or global events, remains
essential. Given that the not-for-profit business profile
is less complex and more flexible than the for-profit
part of the sector, the expectation is that most
cooperatives should continue to fare well in the future.

Cooperative boards, being well-tenured, are showing
an ability to deal with the changing needs of the
business environment. There seems to be less friction
among member systems, and financial ratios at the
G&T level have improved in recent years. However,
it remains less clear where funding will come from to
meet the industry’s future capital needs, what level of
financial ratios will be appropriate as building
programs ramp up, and what degree of push back, if
any, from customers will be experienced as electric
rates move meaningfully higher to pay for these new
power plants. Despite these challenges, it would
appear that many cooperative managements are
preparing their systems and educating their customers
for the business challenges that lie ahead.

Environmental Considerations

Greater environmental regulations are clearly an
imposing issue for the electric wtility industry, The
financial effect of new environmental restrictions
could be substantial in scope, and compliance costs
for the industry could be particularly onerous for
cooperatives, which are heavily coal-based,
Limitations placed on greenhouse gas emissions will
be important to watch. Presently, most public power
systems seem to be in reasonably good shape in
meeting known air emission requirements, but this
could change, depending on future legisiation
regarding greenhouse gas emission.

Alternative generation {green power) is another area
to watch. Most public power systems have been
exempt from state standards up to this point,
However, many cooperatives and municipals are
already performing as if they will be mandated to
meet future, more stringent requirements. This is a
plus, with cooperatives in Minnesota being a good
example of utilities leading the way in this area,

Growth in Demand
The electric industry has enjoyed steady growth in
recent years, reflecting the nation’s insatiable appetite

for eleciricity-driven products and  services.
Cooperatives have been experiencing an even faster
rate of growth, with some regions experiencing
annual increases in electric demand approaching
double digits. This reflects increased suburban-
development, which is directly benefiting cooperative
service territories, and major new energy projects in
the Western United States and upper Midwest. While
there are benefits to the improved service area
characteristics, there are also risks associated with
this rapid rate of growth,

Rapid growth was one of the major problems that
negatively affected public power 20 years ago. While
Fitch believes the risks are different today, given.
utilities” broader power supply mix, the smaller
increments of new generation added at any one time,
better hedging practices and management’s
awareness of past mistakes, there remains a
heightened degree of risk, particularly to systems that
must meet the very rapid growth needs of large
industrial and commercial loads, which could be
negatively affected should energy prices fall at some
future date,

® Summary _
Overall, the electric cooperative industry has done a
solid job of meeting the needs of its customers, while
maintaining reasonable financial parameters. Future
challenges appear manageable, but volatile fuel
prices will necessitate the wuwse of more
comprehensively designed risk-management and
hedging strategies, while above-average growth
among distribution systems will require power supply
systems to add expensive, new base-load generation
over the next 10 years.

Electric rates will have to rise to pay for these

. additiona! fixed assets, in some cases substantiatly,

eroding the historical competitive price advantage
that some cooperatives have enjoyed versus
neighboring  utilities,  However, given the
cooperatives”  close working relationship with
customers, the industry’s successful extension of
wholesale power contracts and their focus on
providing highly reliable service, Fitch would expect
that the cooperative sector would continue to perform
well, maintain solid investment-grade ratings and
benchmark well against most other seciors in the
energy industry.
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Electric Utility Comparisons Summary

Cooperaltve-Memher-Dwned Utdmes Investor-Owned litiiities {0Us) Govemment-cwned Ut!!iﬂes
‘Mostnot rate‘regulated. - B st Ratesregulateds: < “Notrate-regulatad:: :
Not for—pmf“ t; Operated for the i)eneﬁe of thelr Profit seeking; operated for the bepefitof public  Gperated for public benefit for the region

own members, shareholders with obligations to serve served.
: regulated rate paysrs,
larg ay:h

¥
Subject 1o competition in the wholesale market, -
_sometimes in the retafl market,

Ligtle direct competitio'n.'

Can file for Chapter 1% béﬁknﬁptcg;. ‘ Cah file for Chapter 11 bankmptcy Moré smpedsméhté to bahkruptcy but may be
able 1o file Chapter 9.

Rates fend o be comparable io EOUs ‘Tend to have Jower rales. ﬂ'man_coopa i

" Tendto have higher rates compared m

municipal 6r public powar, - J ' B

Mos{ borrow from Rurat Ut«!mes Semce Rely extensively on capital markets Rely on public markets for ﬁnanmng, may have
National Rural Utilities Cooperative . aceess to local government support.

Finance Corp. and CoBank,
Source: Fitch Ratings,

Fitch-Rated Electric Cooperatives

Variable-
Rate
Debt- Days Exposurel
Service Debtl Cash Days Equity/ Total
Rating Coverage FADS On Liguidity Capitaliza- Capitaliza-
Rated Company Type Rating Qutlook x) {x) Hand OnHand tion {%) tion {%)}
‘AA’ Rated Senior Debt
Associated Electric Conperative Inc. (Mo.} G&T AN Stable 112 6.4 53 166 25 0.0
tAA-* Rated Senior Debt
Basin Electric Power Cooperative (N.£.) G&T '‘AA~" Stable 1.72 &Y 216 232 34 10.0
Geergia Transmission Corp. T ‘AA Stable 112 10 160 701 0 5.0
Pedemales Electdc Cooperative, Ing, (Yexas) Retait  ‘AA- Stable 2.59 4.3 62 | 136 39 0.0
Median 172 57 160 232 34 58
‘A+* Rated Senior Debt
Arkansas Electric Coopsrative Corp. G&t ‘A Stable 1.08 8.7 47 126 45 .0
Buckeye Power, inc, (Ohio) G&T A Stable 1.38 5.7 24 24 35 o0
Median 1.24 5.7 36 h 40 0.0
‘A’ Rated Senior Debt
Brazos Electic Power Cooperative, Inc, {Texas) G&T ‘A Stabie 1.49 10.6 8 a9 17 16.0
Mational Rurat Utiities Cocperative Finance Gorp. (Va.}

- LisecLred Lender ‘A Positive
QOglethorpe Power Corp. (Ga.) G&T Ny Stable 1.09 83 My 370 12 4.0
Cid Dominlon Electric Cooperative (Va.} G&T A Stable 1.54 6.5 27 172 i 1.0
Tri-State Generation & Transmission Assuciation, Inc.

(Cofe) G&T W Negative 107 8.1 56 1 17 1.0
Median 129 a2 47 246 17 12.5
‘A’ Rated Senior Debt
Centrat lowa Power Cooperative G&T ‘A Stabie 1.06 8.8 20 127 19 0.¢
Ghugach Electric Association, Inc. {Alaska) G&T A Stable 1.98 56 18 124 29 17
Golden Spread Eleciric Cooperative, Inc. (Texas) G&T ‘A~ Stable 281 4.0 30 o118 43 1.0
Great River Energy (Minn.) GE&T At Stable 1.30 8.6 64 383 13 16.0
Westem Farmers Electric Cooperative (Okla.) G&T A Stable 1.4 9.0 w0 124 12 20
Median 1.21 a7 25 526 16 1.5
‘BBB+ Rated Senior Debt
Alabama Electdic Cooperative G&T  "BBB+  Stable 115 2.0 52 155 k1 8.0
‘BBB-’ Rated Senior Debt
Verment Electric Cooperative Inc. Retail ‘BBBE- Negative 373 3.2 27 27 39 0.5

FADS — Funds avaiiable for debt service. G&T — Generatich and transmission, T - Transmission. Source: Fitch Ratings.,
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S&P's Rating Methodology For U.S. Power
Cooperatives: Key Business Risks

(Editor's Note: This is the second article in a three-part series that discusses the methodology used to establish credit
ratings for the U.S. electric cooperative sector. This article provides an in-depth look at how we analyze
cooperatives' business risks. The other articles in the series, published Now. 2, 2006, are "S¢»F's Rating
Methodology For U.S. Power Cooperatives: An Overview” and 'S&P's Rating Methodology For U.S. Power
Cooperatives: Key Financial Indicators.") '

The business profile (BP) score is an important element in Standard & Poor's Ratings Services' credit analysis, and
factors significantly into the rating assigned to an electric cooperative. The score is our assessment of the business
risk each company faces. We assign business profile scores to utilities using a 10-point scale, where '1' represents the
jowest risk and '10' the highest risk (see table 1)

Score interpretation
1-2 Excellent

34 Strong

5-8 Satisfactory
7-8 Waak

8-10 Vulaerable

BP scores for generation and transmission {G&T) cooperatives are between *3' and '6' and, for distribution
cooperatives, are between "3 and 'S'. Five, and possibly six, factors are examined when assigning a BP score:

e Regulation,

o Markets,

o Electric operations,

» Nonelectric operations (if any),
o Competitiveness, and

e Management

What is assessed in each of these categories is discussed in detail below, but it is important to note that the emphasis
that is placed on each category, is not uniform. For example, one of the key credit features of cooperatives is their
ability to set their own electric rates. How well a cooperative functions in this role and how much discipline it
demonstrates in implementing rate changes is a critical consideration, and, for this reason, carries more weight than
the analysis of the markets that cooperatives serve, for example.

Regulation

To be consistent with our utilities methodology, Standard & Poor's uses the same names for each category of the
business profile score, but the label "regulation” is somewhat misleading in the context of cooperatives. While for
investor-owned utilities we assess the quality and consistency of the regulatory commissions that oversee the
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ratemaking process, for cooperatives, credit strength often comes from the absence of state or federal ratemaking
oversight. Whether cooperatives are subject to state regulation is a function of whether state regulatory law applies
to electric cooperatives, In Vermont, Alaska, and Michigan, for example, cooperatives are subject to state

regulation. But in most states, the state utility commission has no direct oversight over the rates charged by G&Ts
or its members.

Regarding FERC regulation, as long as G&Ts borrow from the U.S. Department of Agriculture's Rural Utilities
Service {RUS), they are not subject to FERC jurisdiction. Furthermore, while all electric cooperatives that are RUS
borrowers must file rates plans and schedules with the RUS, the RUS's rate-setting authority is limited to insuring

that the rates, as approved, are sufficient to recover costs, including the repayment of RUS debt, a level of oversight
that Standard & Poor's views as benign.

We view cooperatives' ability to set their own rates and recover costs autonomously as favorable for credit quality
because regulators can and have disallowed electric plant and equipment in rate base and exercise significant
authority over what utility costs are collected and over what time period. Unfortunately, regulatory oversight can
and has led to the deterioration of utility credit ratings (and to defaults and bankruptcy), not only in the cooperative
sector but also for several investor-owned utilities. For this reason, if a cooperative does face regulation, all else
being equal, its business profile can be expected 1o receive a weak regulatory score. While Standard & Poor's
assesses the quality of regulation for those cooperatives that face state approval of rates, a positive history may not
provide substantial comfort because the composition and stance of commissions can change over time.

Our analysis of regulation does not begin and end with whether a cooperative is regulated by a state or federal

authority. For those cooperatives that are self-regulated, emphasis is piaced on the quality of self-regulation.
Relevant questions include:

e What is the process for raising rates and how much time does this take?
o Does the cooperative have a fuel and purchased power adjustor and how strong is it?

o Has the cooperative in the past allowed financial performance to lag rather than raise rates charged to members
Or customers?

e Has the cooperative incurred fuel and purchased-power deferrals in the past?

These questions suggest why, even in the absence of state or federal regulation, that this component of the business
profile score is the most important, A cooperative's ability to be its own regulator requires discipline and is the key
factor that determines financial performance. Despite the many adverse events that a cooperative can experience, its
board is ultimately able to control company cash flows by acting to raise rates in a timely manner and in amounts

sufficient to cover its obligations. But, as we emphasize, it is critical that cooperatives demonstrate that they can
effectively use this control.

Markets

The market component of the business profile score captures the underlying strengths and weaknesses of the
customers who provide the cash flows to the cooperative. For distribution cooperatives, this analysis focuses on the

service territory in which the company sells retail electricity, assessing the fundamental characteristics of the
underlying market.
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In the case of G&Ts, this analysis is also performed, but Standard & Poor's also examines the strength of the
members, who are effectively the “market" that pays the G&T's power bills, thus allowing it, in turn, to meet its
financial obligations. G&T member strength is measured by reviewing RUS Form 7s for each member and
evaluating the members' financial metrics, liquidity, and historic performance.

But because the strength of members is clearly linked not only to their own financial polices but also to the
attributes of the local economy they serve, as with distribution cooperative market analysis, Standard & Poor's
"looks through" the members to get a sense of the major features of the local retail electric market. Thus, in
analyzing the underlying market for either a distribution or G&T rating, Standard and Poor's examines:

 The economic base of the communities served, including the make-up the local economy and the region's growth
prospects.

o Sezviée area demographics are also reviewed to identify what the recent population trends are and how the areas
compare with the nation in terms of household income, the level of income transfers, and unemployment
statistics.

o Electric sales data (energy sales, revenue, and peak demand) is also examined to determine how service territory
demographics translate into electric consumption growth over time.

o The portion of energy sales and revenues that members receive from residential, commercial, and industrial
accounts. We consider high levels of residential accounts to be a credit attribute because sizable out migration of
residences does not usually occur, and smaller customers tend to be capable of absorbing rate increases withour
bringing significant political pressure to the rate-setting process.

o The top 10 industrial accounts over all members in 2 G&T provide information about the exposures a G&T may
have if those accounts are concentrated in a single industry. In addition, how much of total sales and revenues
these accounts represent provides a measure of the extent to which the G&T could be left with surplus capacity if
one or more important accounts leaves the area or goes out of business.

While there is no one factor that is most important in markets analysis, generally speaking in the case of a G&T
favorable markets would serve members who all have good liquidity and cash coverage of their own debt service,
Service territory characteristics would exhibit steady growth, with no pattern of population decline, a fairly high
level of residential accounts, and, if industrial accounts constitute a sizable component of revenue, the industries
represented are not cyclical.

As a practical matter, however, although many cooperatives have seen former rural service territories transformed
into prosperous bedroom communities of major metropolitan areas, for the most part electric co-ops serve remote,
sparsely populated areas that often exhibit below-average demographics, have low growth, and feature some level of
industrial concentration. Such atiributes can often be compensated for by the member systems' financial strength.

Electric Operations

Standard & Poor's analysis of a G&1"s operational profile considers four major factors:
o Diversity of the supply portfolio,

o Performance of owned and contracted plant,

o Hedging policies and risk-management strategies, and
® Resource-procurement process.
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Ideal for credit quality is a G&TT that has diverse sources of generation, with no overconcentration in a single asset
or fuel. This can result in vulnerability if unplanned outages or price increases occur if a particular fuel cost rises. In
assessing operational business risk, we examinee not.only the performance of owned units (as measured in terms of
annual capacity factor and equivalent availability factors relative to industry performance over time), but also the
megawatt-hours (MWh) delivered under contract and the terms that exist for counterparties that fail to perform.

Also important to understand is how the G&T manages its attendant exposures to fuels, transport, and other
factors. This entails a review of the G&T's hedging and risk-management policies. We also evaluate the in-house

resources or external expertise that is available to a company to implement and assess the effectiveness of its
policies.

Notably, many G&Ts do have some asset and fuel concentration. Most of G&T's owned generation is coal fired,
and given the scale of operations, with the total capacity of a single G&T's owned plant typically under 2,000 MW,
G&Ts often rely on one or two coal units to supply the majority of member requirements. It is not uncommon to
see, for example, a G&T's coal units provide 50% to 70% of the total power requirements of its members. In these
instances, the historic performance of these units, as well as what plans exist for backup power supply in the event
of a forced outage, becomes especially important.

For a distribution cooperative, operations analysis often begins with assessing the factors outlined above for the
distribution company's wholesale supplier. While the distribution company has no direct control over the supplier's
operational profile, a distribution cooperative's operational profile at the distribution company can easily be
influenced by problems at the wholesale supply level, When analyzing distribution operations, Standard & Poor's
also examines the challenges the company faces in providing retail electric service, which could include issues such as
weather risk, rapid growth, or other difficulties in executing infrastructure plans. Reliability measures for
distribution cooperatives are also assessed. '

Nonglectric Operations

Nonelectric businesses consist of equity interests, subsidiaries, or affiliate companies of a cooperative that are
ancillary and often distinct from the cooperative's primary business of selling wholesale or retail electric power. If

non-electric businesses are substantial, there may be a sixth category of the business profile that captures the risks of
these businesses. '

The cooperative experience with nonelectric businesses has generally not been favorable, and for this reason any
sizable nonelectric operations can be expected to weaken the business profile score. While nonelectzic businesses are
structured differently depending on the cooperative's objectives, the cooperative usually provides performance and
financial guarantees to support its nonelectric business. As a result, losses in these businesses, if they occur, are
botne by the members, often in the form of higher power rates.

While exact numbers are difficult to come by, in our experience nonelectric businesses can be more common at the
distribution cooperative level, with the strategy typically being to capitalize on existing relationships with retail
electric customers by offering additional products and services. In evaluating the credit implication of nonelectric
businesses, we analyze standalone and consolidated financial statements of the cooperative and its ancillary
businesses to determine:
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The size of operations, and plans for expansion,

How much debt the nonelectric company has,

The level of support provided, including guarantees, equity infusions and liquidity support,4)
Historical profitability and future projections, and

o The level of competition for the produce ot service provided.

If Standard & Poor's believes that the operations pose sizable risks to the cooperative, the rating may be adversely
affected even if the nonelectric operations have been profitable because often the fortunes of these riskier operations
can quickly reverse. Such is the case with electricity trading and marketing businesses, which have repeatedly

demonstrated their capacity for resulting in large losses over a short period of time, irrespective of how capably they
were operated in the past.

This is not to suggest that nonelectric business always have adverse consequences on the BP score. If nonelectric

businesses are present but are low risk and small, there may be no significant effect on the rating from these
operations.

Competitiveness

Competitiveness measures the efficiency of the cooperative sector in generating and delivering electricity, as.

compared with other power companies, both now and in the future. Standard & Poor’s assesses competitiveness by
addressing three questions:

e What is the intrinsic cost competitiveness of the rated G&T or distribution cooperative?
e What are the direct or indirect competitive threats the cooperative faces that could threaten sales?

e What is the potential for "rate shock"--defined as a dramatic shift in wholesale or retail rates--over a short period
of time?

The G&T cost structure

For the G&T, Standard & Poor's examines how the wholesale rates it charges members compares with the
unbundled wholesale power prices of investor-owned utilities, public power, other G&Ts, and, if the state has
introduced retail competition, the wholesale power prices. There are several cost advantages that cooperatives have
that typically result in the power generation costs of G&Ts being competitive against neighboring wholesale
providers. First, G&Ts (and distribution cooperatives) have access to low-cost borrowing through the RUS. Second,
the majority of G&Ts own significant coal-fired generation, which historically has been a relatively low-cost and
stable fuel source. Third, because G8Ts are member owned, management's spending decisions are approved by a
board of members whose legitimate self interests to minimize the cost of the generation service they purchase from
the G&T often serve a vital role in cost control.

Forces that can work against the G8T cost structure are mostly economies-of-scale issues. For example, substantial
efficiencies exist between building a 500 MW versus a. 230 MW supercritical pulverized coal unit, but a cooperative
may not be able to build the more efficient unit without partnering with another owner to share in the output.

Because coal has shown itself to be relatively stable and low cost, before the 2005 run-up in natural gas prices and
coal transport costs, it was ROt uncommon to see generation costs charged by G&'Ts to their members in the $40 per
MWh arca. While recently these costs are now averaging closer to the high $40s to low $50 per MWh, generally
G&'Ts continue to have a favorable cost structure, although we note that public power and investor-owned utilities
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with low-cost, well-run nuclear and coal base load are capable of having comparable production costs. Moreover,
the generally high levels of coal in the overall G&T supply mix puts these companies at somewhat greater risk with
respect to increasing environmental standards, including mercury-reduction requirements, carbon capture, and any
new or increased renewable fuel portfolio standards that states impose, (While many G&Ts have added renewable

fuels to their power supply in the past five years, generally the overall portion of renewables to the average G&'T's
total supply portfolio remains modest.)

The distribution cooperative cost structure

When rating distribution cooperatives, Standard & Poor's considers the competitiveness of the power supplied by its
wholesale provider {usually a G&T), but also the all-in retail rates the distribution cooperative charges to
residential, commercial, and industrial customers and compares these resnits with state averages and to neighboring
retail electric supplies and, if present, retail electric providers

It is important to note that distribution cooperatives often rely on their G&T suppliers to produce competitive
generation to offset the fundamentally higher costs that exist to serve rural areas. Distribution cooperatives typically
serve rural and thinly populated service territories that traditionally have 10 or fewer electric meters per line-mile. In
contrast, municipal or investor-owned utilities often have double-digit meters per line mile, which lowers
distribution costs. This reality can and often does produce all-in distribution rates that are higher than state
averages. In this common circumstance, Standard & Poor's does require that to achieve a strong credit rating, retail
rates must be on par with more densely populated systems, but we do look at by how much rates are out of line

with state averages and seek to understand if there are reasons other than density that account for unfavorable
pricing.

Competitive threats

Rate analysis provides Standard & Poor's with a sense of the intrinsic competitiveness of cooperative electric setvice.
Standard & Poor's also looks for actual indications of competitive threats, which could result in load loss for the
cooperative. These threats typically come in three forms:

o Wholesale and/or retail competition exists,
e State law permits competition for large loads, and
s Municipal annexation rules could result in the loss of cooperative service territory.

Most states have moved away from retail competition due to the market problems that emerged in California in

early 2001. And, for the most part, cooperatives do not face sizable threats from large load competition or
annexation,

Potential for rate shock

As part of competitiveness, Standard & Poor's also examines the potential for a G&T to experience a rate shock,
Rate shock universally takes place at the G&T level, although members invariably feel the consequences of that
shock in the form of higher rates. It is important to note that distribution systems themselves typically do not take
on risks capable of producing rate shock. The potential for a G&T to experience rate shock is materiai to the
business profile score because rate shock is a strong predictor of increased default risk, Causes of past rate shock in
the cooperative sector have generally resulted from investment in nuclear plant that either was never brought on line
or was put into service at costs that were multiples of original budgets.

Standard & Poor's starts by carefully examining the company's rate forecast and may perform a scenario analysis to
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determine how much rates could increase over the base forecast under certain conditions. Indicators that may signal
the potential for rate shock include:

o The company's five- and 10-year projections for capital expenditures, which, because the majority are
debt-financed, can be expected to increase rates;

o Planned new generation without an engineering, procurement, and construction contract, which exposes the
cooperative to cost overruns;

o Sizable power purchases, particularly if unhedged; -

‘e Reliance on a single generation unit for the majority of requirements, which exposes the company to the potential
for large replacement power costs;

o Risky nonelectric operations that could incur large losses

Management

As a practice, Standard & Poor's does not publicly comment on its view of management, but it is a factor in a
cooperative's business profile score. Issues that we consider include management's approach to sustaining credit
quality, the board policies in effect that require certain financial targets be met, the veracity of an entity's forecasts,
and the seriousness with which it regards its risk-management policies. Standard & Poor's also values the extent to
which management is able to articulate its own credit strengths, as well as its willingness to volunteer is own
perceptions of future chalienges.

It is important to note that in evaluating management, we assess not only the executive team, but also the
capabilities of the board, as it is the board that must vote on all major decisions. Within this context, we try to
assess over time the degree of harmony between the G&T and its board. Tensions can sometimes develop between
management's goals to sustain credit metrics and member desires to manage to slim margins to insure that power
costs are kept fow. On occasion, related conflicts can arise over the allocation of costs (most commonly in large
systems that have a significant number of members), the voting rights of members of different sizes, or investment in
new generation. {Similarly, for distribution cooperatives, a beard of trustees typically exists that is often elected, one
from each subregion of the distsibution service area and similar dynamics may be at work.)

Finally, given the lack of public disclosure and scrutiny of company operations, governance can be an important
consideration in the business profile score. Some cooperatives, for example, may have chief executive officers who
serve as the focal point of leadership both in the company and the local community, often serving in this role for
decades. In these instances, succession planning is critical, as is insuring that checks and balances are in place that
minimize potential conflicts of interest or other governance concerns.

Rated Cooperatives
Table 2
Ra

G&T Cogperative State  Rating as of Oct, 20, 2006

Alabama Electric Cooperative Ala. BBB+/Stabla/--
Arkansas Electric Cooperative Corp. Ark. AA-/Stable/--
Associated Electric Cooperative Inc. Mo. AA/Stable/-
Standard & Poor’s RatingsDirect | November 2, 2006 8

Standard & Poar's. Al rights reserved. No reprint or dissemination withou? S&Ps permssion. See Terms of Use/Disclalmer on the last page.




S¢rP's Rating Methodology For U.S. Power Cooperatives: Key Business Risks

Table 2

‘Rated G&T Gooperatives {cont,

TND. Ad/Stble/

Basin Electric Power Cooperative

Brazos Etectric Power Cooperative Inc Texas  A-/Stable/-
Buckeye Power Inc. Chio A+/Stable/--
Central Electric Power Ceoperative S.C. AA/Stable/--
Central lowa Power Cooperative fowa AfStable/--
Chugsch Electric Asscc, Alaska  -A-/Stable/-
Dairyland Power Cooperative Wis. A/Stable/--
Georgia Transmission Corp. Ga. AA-/Stable/A-1+
Great River Energy ‘ Minn.  BB8/Stabie/-
Hoosier Energy Rural Electric Co-op Ins. ind. A-f\Watch Neg/-
Oglethorpe Power Corp. Ga. A/Stable/A-1
0Did Deminion Electric Cooperative Va, A/Stable/--
Seminole Elestric Cooperative Fia. A-/Stable/--
Tri-State Generation & Transmissior Assoc.  Col. AfStable/~
Wabash Valiey Power Assoc. ind. BBB+/Negative/--
Wastern Farmers' Electric Cooperative Dkla. BBB+/Stable/--

Table 3
‘Rated US. Coope hut
Total cooperative distribution systems™

opera

Rated by Standard & Poor's 4

System State Rating Date Assigned
Brunswick Electric Membership Corp. NC. A-fStabla/-- Jan, 5, 2008

Diverse Power Inc. Ga. A/Stable/-- Jan. 4, 2092

Guadaiupe Valley Electric Cooperative lnc.  Texas Ax/Stable/-- Sept. 75, 1898, Oct. 2008
Snappiag Shoals Electric Membership Corp.  Ga. At/Negative/~  Aug. 21, 2601

Vermont Electric Cooperative Inc. Vit. BBB-/Negative/- Jul. 21,1987

*Source; National Rurat Electric Coaperative Association. Y Ratings as of Cct. 28, 20086.

Related Articles

The other articles in this series are " S&P's Rating Methodology For U.S. Power Cooperatives: An Overview" and "
S&P's Rating Methodology For U.S. Power Cooperatives: Key Financial Indicators," published Nov. 2.
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S&P's Rating Methodology For U.S. Power
Cooperatives: Key Financial Indicators

(Editor's Note: This is the third article in a three-part series that discusses the metbodology we use to establish credit
ratings for the U.S. electric cooperative sector. The article describes bow Standard & Poor's corporate rating
methodology bas been adapted to date for the electric cooperative sector. It is subject to change based on decisions
by Standard <& Poor's Analytical Policy Board, the Industrial Ratings department, or the Utilities and Project
Finance practice, which is responsible for maintaining ratings on the sector.)

Financial analysis is an essential tool of credit analysis, but it is hardly the only one. In Standard & Poor's Ratings
Services' view, corporate credit quality is determined by considering both the financial risk profile and the business
risk profile of a company, relying on both qualitative and guantitative assessment.

This article explains how Standard & Poor's evaluates the financial profiles of U.S. electric cooperatives using a
methodology similar to that of investor-owned utilities, but with some key differences. After providing an overview
of the financial characteristics of cooperatives, this article describes each of the four elements of a cooperative's
financial risk profile and provides examples and formulas of useful financial indicators.

Overview Of Cooperative Financial Characteristics

Electric cooperatives are membership organizations that generally set their own rates to cover their costs and to
provide some finarcial cushion to meet creditor covenants or the expectations associated with a rargeted level of
credit quality: Although cooperatives may pay dividends to their members, they do not seek to maximize profits and
instead, typically set their rates to be as low as possible.

Electric cooperatives are typically classified as being either a "generation and transmission® (G&T) cooperative or a
"distribution” cooperative. Distribution cooperatives own and operate their own distribution systems and have a
membership base that consists of individual ratepayers. In turn, distribution cooperatives make up the membership
of their respective G&T cooperatives, which own and operate G&T assets.

The most salient feature of most cooperative financial profiles is the considerable financial fexibility that comes '
with their ability to set their own rates (see table 1). Together with having a captive membership under long-term
power supply contracts, rate-setting ability greatly enhances the credit profiles of cooperatives, allowing them to
achieve relatively strong investment grade ratings despite much weaker financial profiles relative to their
investor-owned utility peers.

Tahle 1
‘Regulation And Rate Autoriomy Among Rated Cooperatives by Type
Regulation
Percentage of co-ops by category {%) Internal Exiernal Rate autonomy
G&T co-ops . 84 16 85
Distribution co-ops 80 20 80
Totai a3 i7 a2
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Tahle 1
Regulatwn Aﬂd Rate Autmmmy Among Rated Coaperatwes hy ?ype (cont)

*Reguiation is classified being as either external (state or feﬁaral) or Internal {self-reguiation). YRate aumnamv refers o8 ut;iliy 5 abn;ty o eﬁectsvely sez |ts own rates,
regerdless of raguiatory aversight.

Cash flow measures vary among cooperatives, but are generally weaker than those of investor-owned utilities. This
is largely due to the fact that cooperatives set their rates to cover costs, plus a margin tied to a type of
earnings-to-interest coverage target. Since there is often a wide discrepancy between earnings and actual cash flow,

achievement of accrual-based targets does not necessarily assure that operating cash flows will be sufficient to cover
financing charges.

Cooperatives' capital structures generally vary according to the type of service they offer. The balance sheets of
G&T cooperatives are often heavily levered (see table 2), reflecting the permissive debt leverage covenants of the
sector's traditional lenders, especiaily the Rural Utility Service (RUS). The equity layers at G&T cooperatives vary
widely, from as much as 46% of capitalization to as little as 6%, but tend be [ow, averaging about 19% across the
rated sector, especially relative to similarly rated investor-owned utilities.

‘Table 2
ob Loverays Modians/Averagss By Socor”

Debt leverage--total debt/total debt + equity {%)

Rating
AA A BBB
Industrial companies (excluding utilities)* 8.3 375 425
Utility companies§ 538 881 766
Generation & transmission cooperativess ' 720 8.2 875

*Three-year (2002 to 2004) medians, adiusted for operating leases, WThree-year (2002 10 2004} medians, adjusted for purchased power and operating leases. § Five-year
{2001 to 2005) averages, not adjusted for purchased power or operating leases. Note: G&T averages are based on prefiminary calculations and for iifustration purpases

only.
The capital structures of distribution cooperatives often are usually stronger than those of G&T cooperatives,
although this is mainly due to the fact that most of their debt is off-balance-sheet, residing at their respective
generation and transmission cooperatives of which they are members.

Capital market access is nascent among electric cooperatives because most remain dependent on the concessionary
lending afforded to them by the traditional lenders to the sector—the RUS of the U.S. Department of Agricuiture,
National Rura] Utilities Cooperative Finance Corp. (CFC), and CoBank Agricultural Credit Bank. RUS offers
attractive taxable debt financing through the U.S. Federal Financing Bank, but requires that its loans be secured
either through a first-mortgage agreement or a bond indenture. RUS mortgages allow the other two traditional '
lenders to the sector, CFC and CoBank, to make secured loans that are pari passu with RUS financing. These lenders
may structure loans with terms up to 30 years or more. Long-term loans typically feature amortizing debt structures.

A small number of G&T cooperatives no longer rely on the RUS for long-term financing and instead issue secured
and unsecured debt through the private placement market. A number have also been able to issue tax-exempt debt
through industrial development bond cap allocation of their respective states. Outside of such offerings, cooperatives

do not usualiy have access to the tax-exempt debt markets and must instead issue taxable bonds when accessmg the
capital markets,
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The Financial Risk Profile: Aspects And Relevant Ratios

Electric cooperatives are unique in that they share characteristics with both investor-owned utilities, which are
universally regulated in the U.S., and public power utilities, including municipal and government-owned utilities, of
which nearly all set their own rates. Despite the differences between electric cooperatives and investor-owned
utilities, Standard & Poor's approach to financial analysis is remarkably similar. In both cases, Standard & Poor's

evaluates a utility's financial condition through the concept of a "financial risk profile” and evaluates this financial
profile according to the following considerations: ‘ ‘

Cash flow adequacy,

Capital structure,

Financial flexibility and liquidity, and
¢ Financial policy.

Assessing each of the above factors entails bath quantitative and qualitative analysis. Below is a discussion of those

aspects of the financial profile in which financial analysis--including financial ratio analysis--plays an important role,
as well as the financial ratios involved in their assessment.

Cash flow adequacy

Cash flow adequacy refers to 2 utility's ability to service financing and other obligations through the cash flow it
generates through normal operations. Although margins and cash flow coverage measures are typically shim for
cooperatives (especially relative to similarly rated investor-owned utilities), cash flow adequacy is still an important

consideration in assessing financial strength for all cooperatives and perhaps the most important aspect of the
financial profile for cooperatives that cannot set their own rates.

Standard & Poor's relies on several measures 1o evaluate cash flow protection for cooperatives:

e Debt service coverage: defined as net revenues, calculated on a cash basis, divided by the sum of scheduled cash
principal and interest payments;

o Fixed charge coverage: similar to debt service coverage, but adding to both the numerator and denominator an
adjustment for fixed financing charges and purchased power charges in addition to debt service;

e Funds from operations (FFO)interest coverage: a commeonly used ratio in corporate utility ratings that measures
the coverage of net accrual interest by cash from operations, less changes in working capital, plus net cash interest
payments.

e Cash from operations {CFO)/interest coverage: similar to FFO/interest coverage, except that changes in working
capital are included, CFO is an entity's net opérating cash flow from ongoing operations; and

o Internal funding ratio: this ratio measures the degree to which an entity funds its capital outlays through
internally generated funds, as opposed to external financing. Defined as net cash flow (FFO less dividends)
divided by capital expenditures.

Capital structure

Capital structure encompasses an array of considerations regarding the capital and debt structure of a rated entity.
Considerations include debt leverage, off-balance-sheet obligations, refinancing risk and other types of interest rate
risk. Like earnings protection, capital structure tends to be less material to intrinsic credit quality, but can be
important to credit market access and financial policy; debt leverage covenants are still common among cooperative
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mortgage agreement and bond indentures. Debt leverage can also serve as a useful consideration in differentiating
the degree of conservatism among cooperatives across the secror.

Assuming covenant compliance is not a coricern, Standard & Poor's may take a flexible view toward certain aspects
of capital structure, such as debt leverage, particularly for those cooperatives that exhibit the quintessential credit
~ strengths that characterize the most highly rated in the sector:

o Demonstrated ability and willingness to adjust rates to provide sufficient cash flow coverage and liguidity;
Strong business profiles;

Favorable member contract provisions; and

A large and diverse membership base that exhibits strong credit characteristics.

For cooperatives that do not meet these criteria, capital structure can become a more significant aspect of the
financial profile.

In evaluating a cooperative's capital structure, Standard & Poor's considers the following ratios:

o Debt to total capitalization: This ratio divides total on-balance-sheet debt by the sum of equity and total debt.
Commonly used as a measure of "debt leverage”;

¢ Debt to net plant: Calculates total debt as a percentage of depreciated net plant, property, and equipment. A ratio
of 100% or above indicates that the par value of cutstanding debt exceeds the book value of physical assets;

o Debt per kilowatt (kW) peak demand, kW installed capacity or customer meter: These debt measures provide
comparability with other systems with respect to operational attributes, versus financial ones;

o Net variable debt to total debt: Measures the degree of floating interest rate exposure in a cooperative's debt
structure. Defined as the percentage of total debt with a floating interest rate, adjusting for floating rate debt that
is hedged. Inchudes short-term debt, but may adjust for seasonal balances.

Financial flexibility and liquidity
Financial flexibility and Hquidity together capture a utility's ability to respond to adverse events so as to protect its
capacity to meet financial obligations in a timely manner.

Liguidity. ,
Liquidity is an entity’s ability to quickly convert assets into cash. Assessing liquidity adequacy involves comparing

internal and external sources of liquidity against potential uses of cash. Standard & Poor's key liguidity
considerations are:

o Cash and short-term investments,

o Credit line availability (takes into account credit line expiration dates; loan covenants such as material adverse
change clauses; and compliance with those covenanss),

Projected operating cash flows that are highly predictable,

Projected changes in working capital,

Capital market activities,

Debt maturities, including short-term deby,
o Capital budget: maintenance and growth capital expenditures, and
o Member dividends.

Although liguidity analysis cannot be boiled down to simple ratio analysis, one traditional measure for both public

www.standardandpoors.com/ratingsdirect ' 5

. Standard & Poor's. All rights reserved. N reprint or dissemination without S&Ps permission. See Terms of Use/Disclaimer on the last page. ‘ A0S | I0DEARARS



Se&rP’s Rating Methodology For U.S. Power Cooperatives: Key Financial Indicators

power and cooperative utilities has been "days cash on hand.” For electric cooperatives, we have modified this

measure to include both unrestricted cash and undrawn bank line capacity, divided by operating expenses minus
depreciation.

For cooperatives with significant commodity market activity (including buying for native load requirements or
selfing surplus generation), Standard & Poor's may request completion of a simplified version of its liquidity
adequacy survey, which involves calculation of two other liquidity measures:

o Credit event Hquidity adequacy: Defined as primary liquidity {cash, plus committed bank line capacity) under a
severe ratings downgrade (typically 'BB'), and

e Market and credit event liquidity adequacy: Defined as primary liquidity under a severe ratings downggade and a
severe price movement {e.g,, 20% in year I, 15% in year 2). '

Financial flexibility.

Financial flexibility describes the sufficiency and diversity of financial resources available, including both those that
are immediately available as well as any cash flows that can be generated, reallocated, or curtailed to improve an
entity's financial position.

Financial flexibility is the most important consideration in assessing the financial profile of cooperatives that
establish theit own rates and have relatively strong business profiles and contractual protections. For cooperatives

- whose rates are externally regulated or suffer from other deficiencies, financial flexibility may be superseded by
other considerations.

Rate setting is the primary form of financial flexibility for most rated cooperatives, given that most set their own
rates, or for those under FERC regulation, effectively enjoy rate-setting autonomy due to FERC's flexible formulary
rate structure. Power and fuel cost trackers can boost financial flexibility even further by automating recovery of

commodity costs. The more frequent the adjustments, the less regulatory lag. The downside is that members may be
upset by rate volatility.

Rate setting flexibility is gauged in several ways:

o Demonstrated willingness to raise rates to preserve credit quality,
o What is the maximum percentage rate increase members could reasonably support?,
o The strength of the member revenue stream,

o Is the revenue stream large, such that even small rate increases could generate large amounts of incremental cash
flow?,

o Competitive position relative to peers, and
o How does the cooperative’s member rates compare?

Access to capital is another element to financial flexibility. Electric cooperatives, which are usually nonprofit
membership organizations, cannot issue common o preferred stock, leaving debt financing as their sole source of

external funding. In ganging credit market access, Standard 8 Poor's examines a number of qualitative factors,
including:

o The flexibility of loan covenants to permit debt financing,

o The consistency of appetite among a cooperative's existing lender base as well as other prospective lenders or
fixed-income nvestors for cooperative paper,
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o Familiarity among fixed-income investors with the prospective borrower, and
¢ Reputation among fixed-income investors,

Access to short term credit is especially important for all electric cooperatives, including the majority that continues
to rely on RUS for long-term financing. Standard & Poor's evaluates the adequacy of committed bank lines to meet
a cooperative's short-term capital needs, particularly if its traditional lenders are not forthcoming with anticipated
financing or if credit market conditions suddenly worsen for those already accessing externai financing in the public
or public placement debt markets. Only committed credit facilities are considered in assessing financial flexibility
because there is no assurance that uncommitted facilities will be available in the event of financial distress.

Financial flexibility can also be provided through a cooperative's ability to:

_0‘ Adjust dividend payments to member to support the cooperative's financial position, although in many cases
capital credit rotations are either relatively small in relation to debt service requirements,

o Alter the scale and uming of its capital program, and

e Secure alternate sources of external funding, such as contributions in aid of construction or developer fees.

Financial policy

Financial policy is an important aspect of financial profile evaluation for all cooperatives, Because cash flow
measures are relatively weak as a result of rates being cost-based, electric cooperatives' financial policies provide
insight into the most important and subjective aspect of cooperatives--namely, their willingness to adjust rates to
support their financial position, or alternatively, "rate-setting responsiveness.” Cooperatives that adjust rates in
response to significant deviation of financial results from internal financial policies or loan covenant requirements
will be viewed more favorably than those that either decline to enforce financial policies or to adopt them at all,
Financial policy can be discussed in terms of internal financial policies and loan covenants.

Internal policies.

Internal financial policies are those that the cooperative establishes for itself, either through formal adoption by the
board or through demonstrated practice by management. Standard & Poor's compares internal policies with loan
covenants, and with actual financial performance to gauge both the degree of financial conservatism of management
and management's responsiveness in adjusting rates to preserve the utility's financial condition and ability to meet
its obligations. Financial targets can address earnings or cash flow coverage, debt leverage and member dividends.
Although sizing of bank lines and cash reserves are not commonly set by formal targets, Standard & Poor's looks
for managements to explain how they determine their liquidity requirements. We also evaluate financial hedging

policies to gauge the degree of conservatism and discipline in hedging open positions and maintaining effective
management controls.

Loan covenants.

In evaluating loan covenants, Standard & Poor's assesses the extent to which that they establish minimum
thresholds for financial performance or condition, as well as provide flexibility afforded to cooperatives to cure
covenant violations by adjusting member rates, Where permissive loan covenants offer little or no bondholder
protection, ratings will not be necessarily affected as long as a cooperative's financial profile remains consistent with
its rating. If financial deterioration occurs and management neither acts nor is required to imiplement some remedy,
then rating actions may be more severe than if such bondholder protections had been in place and enforced.
Conversely, loan covenants that are both stringent and inflexible can pose a credit concern. Inability to cure
covenant violations weakens the efficacy of the credit strength most responsible for the sector’s relatively strong
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ratings--the ability to set rates.

Eamings protection.

Standard & Poor's considers earnings protection measures for coo?erauves primarily in the context as fmancxal
policy rather than as a meaningful indicator of financial performance. Earnings protection measures can provide a
way to benchmark a cooperative's financial policy against actual performance as well as determine its ability to
access additional credit from the traditional lenders to the sector. Nearly all of the traditional lenders to the
sector—-the RUS, CFC, and CoBank--use earnings protection measures in their mortgage agreements with
cooperatives. They are also used in bond indentures of cooperatives that do not rely on RUS financing. Examples of
such measures include: debt service coverage (accrual accounting based); the TIER ratio, and margins for interest
ratio. Each ratio measures some form of adjusted earnings relative to financing charges, offering a perspective of
financial performance from an accrual accounting standpoint.

Ratio Adjustments

We base our financial analysis primarily on cash-based metrics, aithough we also monitor the accrual-based ratios
upon which a cooperative's financial covenants are based. Standard & Poor's makes analytical adjustments to the
financial statements as well as certain financial ratios used in financial statement analysis. In some cases, these

adjustments are consistent with those made for corporate and investor-owned utilities, but many more cases, they
are unigue to the cooperative sector.

Standard & Poor's adjusts its financial ratios for cooperatives to eliminate the effects of noncash adjustments. Such
adjustments may include those involving regulatory accounting (such as deferral and amortization of power
expenses), and capitalization of costs. Standard & Poor's adjusted financial ratios may exclude the effects of
materially defeased lease obligations such as those commonly referred to as "burned-out lease transactions," or
*BOLTs", although unadjusted ratios may also be considered to the extent these obligations are especially large or
result in a significant mismatch of cash flows.

In contrast to its approach to corporate and investor-owned utility ratings, Standard & Poor’s currently does not
adjust its cooperative financial ratios to reflect the presence of off-balance-sheet obligations such as operating leases,
defeased leases, asset-retirement obligations, projected benefit obligations {in excess of actual benefit obligations), or
purchased-power obligations. '

Instead, Standard & Poor's relies on fixed-charge coverage--a cash flow coverage metric commonly used in financial

statement analysis for public power utilities—to capture the adequacy of cash flows relative to the servicing
requirements of off-balance-sheet obligations.

Standard & Poor’s does not impute off-balance-sheet debt or refated interest with respect to purchased power
obligations, as it does with corporate utilities, due to the extremely high degree of cértainty concerning cost recovery
for cooperatives that set their own rates, However, Standard & Poor's may track such obligations internally for
purpose of comparing relative debt burdens among cooperatives. For cooperatives that are regulated, Standard &
Poor's may impute a purchased power debt equivalent, which is determined by calculating the present value of
future minimum puschased power payments, discounted at the utility's average cost of debt,
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Key Financial Ratio Formulas For Electric Cooperatives
Table 3

'i(ey Fmancial Ratm Purmu!as Far Electrac Conperatwes

Debt Service Coverage
Numerator The sum of funds from operations {FFOY, cash interest paid inet), capitalized interest, other FFO adjustments,
and other interest adjustments
Dencminator The sum of cash interest expense (net), capitalized interest, other interest adjustments, principal payment
ohiigations, and other principal adjustments
Fixed Charge Coverage
Numerator The sum of funds from cperations [FFO}, cash interest paid {net), capitalized interest, other FFO adjustments,
other interest adjustments, proparty tax and transfer payments, operating lease payments, and minimunm
purchase power payments
Deneminator The sura of cash interest paid (net}, capitalized interest, other interest adjustments, principal payment
obligations, other principal adjustments, property tax and transfer payments, operating lease payments, and
misimurm purchase power dayments
FF0 Interest Coverage
MNumerator The sum of funds from operations (FFQ), cash interest pakl {net), capitalizad interest, other FFO adjustments
: and other interest adjustments
Denominator The sum of accrual interest expense (net), capitalized interest, and other interest adjustments
Net Cash Flow {NCF)/Capital Expenditures
Numerator The sum of funds from cperations {FF0} and other FFC adiustments; less member dividends
Denominator Capital expenditure (net)
Total DebifTotal Capital
Numerator The sum of netes payable, current maturities, current capitalized leage obligations, long term debt, and
capitalized lease obligations; plus other debt adjustments, if any
Denominator The sum of notes payable, current maturities, cusrent capitalized tease obligations, long term debt,

capitalized lease obligations, misority interest, and members equity; pus other debt adjustments, if any

Deht/Net Plant Preperty and Equipment

Numerator The sum of noigs payable, current maturities, current capitalized lease obligations, long term debt, and
capitalized lease obligations; plus other debt adjustments, if any
Denominator Net plant, property & equipment (PPRE)
Days Cash {incl. bank lines)
Numerator 365 mutdplied by the sum of unrestricted cash & marketable securities and undrawn capacity on committed
bank lines
Dencminator Operating expense, less depreciation

Rated Cooperatives

‘Table 4
“Rated G&T Covperatives G L
G&T Cooperative State Rating as of Oct, 20, 2006
Alabama Electric Cooperative Ala. BEB+/Stable/--
Arkansas Electric Cooperative Corp. Ark. AA-/Stable/--
Associated Elestric Cooperative Inc. Mo.. An/Stable/--
Basin Electric Power Cooperative N.D. A+/Stable/--
www.standardandpoors.com/ratingsdirect 9
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Tahle §

‘Rated G&T Cooperatives {cont): = .~ . -
Brazos Elgctric Power Cooperative tnc Texas A/S‘é&b!e/w
Buckeye Power Inc. Chio Ax+/Stable/--
Central Electric Power Cooperative SL. AA/Stabie/-
Central lowa Power Cocperative lowa AfStable/--
Chugach Electric Assoc. Alaska  A-/Stable/-
Dairyland Power Cooperative . Wis AfStabie/--
Georgia Transmission Corp. Ga. AA-/Stabie/A-1+
Gireat River Energy Minn.  BBB/Steble/--
Hoosier Energy Rurat Electric Co-op lac. ind. A-/Watgh Neg/~
Ogiethorpe Power Cosp. Ga. A/Stahle/A
0ld Dominion Electric Cooperative Va, A/Stabie/-
Seminoie Electric Cooperative Fla. A-fStable/--
Tri-State Generation & Transmission Assos.  Col A/Stable/--
Wabash Valley Power Assoc. _ ind. BBB+/Negative/--
Western Farmers’ Electric Cooperative Okla. BEB+/Stable/--

Tahle §

" Hated U:S. Cooperative Distiibution Systems
Total cooperative distribution systems™ 864 S
Rated by Stardard & Poot's 4
System State Rating] Date Assigned
Brunswick Electric Membership Cerp. N.C. A-/Stabie/-- Jan. 5, 2006
Diverse Power Inc. Ga. A/Stable/-- Jan, 4, 2002
Guadalupe Vatley Efectric Cooperative Inc.  Texas A+/Stable/-- Sept. 25, 1998, Oct, 2006
Snapping Shoals Electric Membership Com.  Ga, As/Negative/-  Aug. 21, 2001
Vermont Electric Cooperative Inc. VL. BBB-MNegative/~ Jul. 21, 1897

*Source: National Rurai Electric Coaperative Association. JRatings as of Qct. 20, 2008.

Related Articles

The othet articles in the series are " S&P's Rating Methodology For U.S. Power Cooperatives: An Overview" and "
S&P's Rating Methodology For U.S. Power Cooperatives: Key Business Risks," published Nov. 2.
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S&P's Rating Methodology For U.S. Power
Cooperatives: An Overview

(Editor's Note: This is the first article in a three-part series that discusses the methodology we use to establish credit
ratings for the U.S. electric cooperative sector. The article describes how Standard & Poor’s corporate rating
methodology has been adapted to date for the electric cooperative sector. It is subject to change based on decisions
by Standard & Poor's Analytical Policy Board, the Industrial Ratings department, or the Utilities and Project
Finance practice, which is responsible for wmaintaining ratings on the sector. The other articles in the series,
published Nov. 2, 2006, are "S¢¢P's Rating Methodology For U.S. Power Cooperatives: Key Business Risks® and
"S&rP's Rating Methodology For U.S. Power Cooperatives: Key Financial Indicators.”)

Electric cooperatives are private, nonprofit electric utilities that are owned by its distribution members. The
cooperative model was largely born out of the need to electrify rural America in the 1930s after it became apparent
that investor-owned wtilities could not profitably serve sparsely populated and typically agricultural areas of the U.S,

There are about 66 electric generation and transmission (G&T} cooperatives in the U.S. and 8§64 distribution
cooperatives, according to the National Rural Electric Cooperative Association. Collectively, cooperatives serve
about 13% of U.S. electric customers, provide about 11% of total electricity sales, and own about 4% of
operational power plant capacity in the U.S. Standard & Poor's maintains ratings on 21 U.S, electric cooperatives,
representing about $16 billion in total debt. Despite being the smallest of the three utility ownership classes in terms
of aggregate customer base or capitalization, U.S. rural electric cooperatives exhibit some of the highest customer
growth rates and account for a sizable proportion of base load generation projects planned or in construction.

Unlike investor-owned utilities, cooperatives’ operations are not vertically integrated. The G&T function is
separated from the distribution function, which is carried out by a two separate, but interrelated, companies. G&T
cooperatives supply wholesale power from owned and contracted resources to their members, who are typically
distribution cooperatives at cost-based rates under long-term power supply agreements.

In turn, distribution cooperatives' membership consists of their respective G&T cooperatives, taking title to the
wholesale power produced by the G&T and delivering it to the retail consumers in the area that the distribution
company is licensed to serve. Distribution cooperatives own and operate their own distribution systems and their
membership consists of individual ratepayers, i.e., residential, commercial, and industrial customers.

Membership in G&T cooperatives is universally governed by long-term power supply contracts with the distribution
cooperative members. Distribution cooperatives do not typically guarantee their contractual obligations to their
respective G&T cooperatives nor do they typically guarantee G&T cooperatives' debt obligations.

As not-for-profit membership organizations, cooperatives resemble public power utilities in that their rates are
cost-based and typically set to only cover operating and financing costs, to fund a portion of capital costs, and to
provide a small measure of financial cushion to meet lender/creditor requirements or the expectations associated
with a targeted level of credit quality. Although cooperatives ray pay dividends to their members, they do not seek
to maximize profits.

Despite being the smallest of the three utility ownership classes (see table 1) in terms of aggregate customer base or
capitalization, U.S. rural electric cooperatives exhibit some of the highest customer growth rates and account for a
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sizable proportion of base load generation projects that are in the planning stage or under construction.

Table 1 .
PercentageOfUSElemﬂﬂlW saies BVTYPE Bf'ﬂﬂlﬁ" e e e

(%) 1994 2004 Absolute change 18-year compound anpusl g’r&mh rate

Investor-owned 758 645 (6.3} (0.4}
Publicly cwned 144 174 3 24
Cooperatives 78 HA 34 42
Federal power agencies 2.1 2 (R . 0
Total 100 100 ‘

What Is A Credit Rating?

A credit rating is a letter grade {see table 2) that reflects Standard & Poor's opinion of the ability and willingness of
an entity to meet its debt and other obligations on time and in full, Credit ratings within the cooperative sector are
typically issuer credit ratings, but publicly issued debt may be assigned a separate rating.

Table 2
Standari & PoorsRaingSoale

Investment grade

AAA Exremely strong

AA Very strong

A Strong

BEB Adegquate

Speculative grade

BB . Vulnerable to aonpayment
B More vuinerable, but retains capacity to meet obligations
cce Vulnerahle

ce Highly vulnerable

D Default

The Number Of Rated Cooperatives Is Increasing

Standard & Poor's has assigned ratings to the power cooperative sector since the 1990s. We have rated 28
cooperatives and maintain active ratings on about 19 cooperatives, of which five are distribution cooperatives. (Not
all credit ratings Standard & Poor's has assigned are public.) Although the number of cooperatives we rate is still
relatively small, their presence in both the electricity and fixed-income investment markets is increasing. As a result,
the number of cooperatives rated by Standard & Poor's has been relfatively modest but has grown in recent years.

There are a number of reasons for this. Most cooperatives do not issue public debt, relying instead on a federal loan
program operated by the U.S. Department of Agriculture's Rural Utilities Service (RUS). Lines of credit and other
debt financing, including construction loans, are usually provided by the National Rural Utilities Cooperative
Finance Corp. (CFC}, a member-owned financial institution and by CoBank, a bank that is part of the farm credit
system. As a result, credit ratings have not always been critical to access debt financing.

www standardandpoors.com/ratingsdirect 3
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A second reason is that G&Ts tend to own and operate the G&T assets sufficient to deliver all the energy needs of
© its rural distribution members, and as a result of this independence, little interaction with third parties has been

. required. Supplemental power or related services were often met through power purchase agreements with
neighboring utilities, with long-standing relationships and knowledge of the local cooperative's business practices
often replacing the need for a rating,.

Circumstances changed in the late 1990s, when in many parts of the U.S. wholesale and retail competition began
and regional transmission organizations (RTO) developed. These efforts have generally resulted in cooperatives
being pulled into the broader energy market. For cooperatives that are RTO members, credit ratings may substitute
for lower collateral requirements. The advent of independent power suppliers has given cooperatives more incentives
to competitively solicit any supplemental power or related needs, and counterparties awarded contracts may request
a rating, rather than relying solely on financial statements.

A small number of G&T cooperatives no longer rely on the RUS for long-term financing and instead issue secured
and unsecured debt through the private placement market. About a dozen or so have flexible indentures that allow
them to issue secured debt under a trust indenture, and thus can issue debt outside of RUS. And, some cooperatives
have been able to issue tax-exempt debt through industrial development bond cap allocation of their respective
states. Qutside of such offerings, cooperatives cannot usually access the tax-exempt debt markets and must instead
issue taxable bonds when accessing the capital markets

Finally, while in genera! the all-requirements model continues to dominate in the cooperative sector, some
distribution cooperatives are seeking to diversify their power supplies by sourcing their load growth elsewhere,
which can necessitate a rating for the distribution company.

Credit Ratings Of U.S. Cooperatives Are All Investment Grade

Standard 8 Poor's public G&T ratings range from 'AA' to 'BBB' (see table 3}). We have assigned five distribution
cooperative ratings (see table 4); all are in the "A' category.

Table 3

‘Rated B&T Cooperatives .~ L
G&T Cooperative State Rating as of Oct, 20, 2006
Alabama Efectric Cooperative Ala. BBB+/Stable/--

Arkansas Electric Cooperative Corp. Ark. AA-/Stable/--
Assceiated Fiectric Cooperative Inc. Mo. AA/Stable/--
Basin Electric Power Cooperative N A+/Stabig/-
Brazos Electric Power Cooperative inc Texas A-/Stable/--
Buckeye Power Inc. Ohio A+/Stable/-
Central Eiectric Power Cooperative S.C. AA/Stable/-
Central lowa Power Cooperative lowa AfStabla/-
Chiugach Eiectric Asso, Alaska  A-/Stable/-
Dairytand Power Cooperative Wis. AfStabie/-
Georgia Trensmission Corp. Ga. AA-/Stable/A-1+
Great River Energy Minn.  BBB/Stable/--

Hoosier £nergy Rural Electric Co-op inc. Ind. - A-/Watch Neg/-
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Table 3

Rated G&T Cooperatives (cont.) -
Cglethorpe Power Corp. Ga. A/Stable/A-1
{0ld Domirion Electric Cooperative Va. A/Stable/-
Seminote Electric Cooperative Fla. A-{Stablef--

Tri-State Generation & Transmission Assoc.  Col, AfStable/-

Wabash Valley Power Assoe. ind. BBB+/Negative/--

Westarn Farmers' Electsic Cooperative Okia. BBB+/Stable/--

Table 4

‘Rated U.S. Caoperative Disttibution Systems

Total cooperative distribution systems™ 864

Rated by Standard & Poot's 4

System State Rating¥ Bate Assigned
Brunswick Electric Membership Corp. NL. A-/Stable/- Jan. 5, 2008
Diverse Power Iric. Ga. A/Stabie/ Jan. 4, 2602
Guadalupe Vailey Electric Cooperative Inc.  Texas As/Stable/-- Sept, 25, 1998, Oct. 2008
Snapping Shoals Electric Membership fomp.  Ga. A+/Negative/--  Aug. 21, 2001
Vermont Electric Cooperative Inc. Vt. 88B-/Negative/-- Jul, 21, 1897

*Source: National Rural Electric Cooperative Association. §Ratings as of Oct, 20, 2608.

Cooperatives often exhibit relatively weak financial profiles, reflecting slim cash coverage rations and a typically
heavily levered balance sheet.(1) However, several factors provide strong credit support that allows cooperatives to
achieve refatively strong investment-grade ratings despite much weaker financial profiles relative to their
investor-owned utility peers. The most important factors are:

o The all-requirements contracts between a G&T and its members, which provides the G&T with a captive -
customer base of long-term wholesale customers who are obligated to pay its costs, including debt service.
(Similarly, from a distribution cooperative's perspective, the G&T is a reliable, competitive, and long-term
not-for-profit provider);

o The generally unfettered ability of G&Ts and most distribution members to set rates that are not subject to
review by either a state regniatory commission or the FERC;

o The tendency of G&Ts to build, own, and operate their own generation, which often results in self-sufficiency of
power requirements, less exposure to counterparty credit risk, and the need to make substantial purchases, which
expose the cooperative to sometimes volatile power prices;

e Cost advantages, such as access to government lending, which, along with other factors, typically results in
competitive generation rates that assist in perpetuating sustainable business relationships between G&T
cooperatives and their members;

e The tendency for most G&Ts to focus on their core operations, that of generating and transmitting powet, rather
than pursue multiple unrelated businesses that often carry additional business risks.

‘What Is The Ratings Process?

The rating process for first-time issuers is discussed in detail in the Standard & Poor's "Corporate Ratings Criteria
2006" published March 9, 2006 on RatingsDirect, under the first section, Standard & Poor's Role in the Financial

www.standardandpoors.com/ratingsdirect
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Markets.

Standard & Poor's Rating Methodology For Cooperatives

While extensive qualitative and quantitative analysis takes place to determine both the initial rating and to refresh
this rating with regular surveillance, it is important to note that Standard & Poor's ratings are not based on a
formula approach. As we have noted repeatedly in our published commentaries about our ratings process, the
ratings process is as much an art as science,

We use the same methodology to rate all electric utilities, including cooperatives. While credit ratings are most
frequently associated with financial analysis and the attendant ratios that we calculate to assess a company's
financial performance, it is critical to realize that our ratings analysis starts with assessing a company's business and
competitive profile. {This analysis is captured when we assign a business profile score to each rated company,
including cooperatives.)

Once a cooperative's business profile is determined, we use financial analysis to determine a cooperative's financial
risk profile. The combination of business and financial risk analysis forms the basis of the credit rating assigned to a
cooperative,

Details on the establishment of a business profile and the financial ratios Standard & Poor's uses to rate
cooperatives are discussed in "S&P’s Rating Methodology For U.S. Power Cooperatives: Key Business Risks" and
"S&P's Rating Methodology For U.S. Power Cooperatives: Key Financial Indicators," published Nov. 2, 2006 on
RatingsDirect.

Related Articles
The other articles in the series, published Nov. 2, 2006, are " S&P's Rating Methodology For U.S. Power

Cooperatives: Key Business Risks" and " S&P's Rating Methodology For U.S. Power Cooperatives: Key Financial
Indicators”.

Notes

{1} Cooperatives’ capital structures generally vary by type. However, the balance sheets of G&T cooperatives are
often heavily levered, reflecting the permissive debt leverage covenants of the sector's traditional lenders,
Distribution cooperatives' capital structures often are much stronger than those of G&'T cooperatives, although this
is mainy due to the fact that most of their debt is off-balance-sheet, residing at their respective G&T cooperative.
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U.S. Public Finance Report Card:
Low Risk Profiles Support Sound Electric
Cooperative Credit Quality

Cooperative utilities' rating stability is expected to continue because they are able to maintain a strong alignment of

revenues and expenses. This latitude transiated into limited rating and outlook revisions in 2007. Despite narrow
cash coverage margins, high leverage and shallow service area demographics, cooperatives achieve sound credit
quality because of these and other attributes:

e Autonomous rate-setting authority provides ratemaking flexibility that can shield the financial performance of
cooperative utilities from the delays in rate proceedings and potitical vagaries that rate-regulated utilities
sometimes encounter;

e Long-term energy requirements contracts between generation and transmission (G&T) cooperatives and their

member distribution cooperatives contribute to stable and predictable revenue streams by generally mirroring or

exceeding the life of debt obligations;

o Cooperative utilities exhibit high revenue stream integrity because they are mainly monopolists and significant
regulatory and operational barriers stand in the path of potential competitors;

o Principally residential customer bases dominate cooperative utilities’ revenue streams and tend to provide more
stability than industrial loads;

o An absence of incentives to place capital at risk through investments in non-electric, competitive businesses; and
¢ Benefits derived from low-cost, amortizing loans available from the federal government and cooperative lending

institutions.

Analyzing The Ratings

Ratingé assigned to cooperative utilities are universally within the investment grade spectrum and predominantly
have stable outlooks. (See Charts 1 and 2) About 75% of the G&T cooperatives are rated 'A-' or higher. Most are

in the 'A’ rating category, with limited ratings in the "AA' and 'BBB’ rating categories. The lowest G&'T cooperative
ratings are a sound 'BBB+'. Distribution cooperatives' ratings are also mainly in the 'A' category. This tight dispersal

of ratings reflects operational and financial profiles and business strategies that have insulated these utilities from
some of the extreme cost and market volatility that plagued investor-owned and competitive energy companies in
past years.

Standard & Poor’s RatingsDirect | November 26, 2007
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Only a single cooperative had a rating change in 2007. Great River Energy {BBB+/Stable) was raised one notch in
June based on management's commitment to more credit supportive financial policies and the wtility's reduced
exposure to competitive businesses following a discontinuation of energy trading activities. The ratings' outlooks of
three cooperatives, Wabash Valley (BBB+/Stable), Associated Electric (AA/Stable) and Vermont Electric
(BBB-/Stable) were revised to stable from negative in March June, and November respectively, based on rate
increases adopted to counter weakening financial margins. Hoosier Energy’s {A-/Stable) rating was removed from
CreditWatch with negative implications and assigned a stable outlook in July based on rate increases, Two
cooperatives, Seminole Electric (A-/Negative) and Arkansas Electric (AA-/Negative), were assigned negative outlooks
in April and May, respectively, to reflect financial pressures associated with debt added or to be added to finance
capital projects. To date, no cooperative utility's rating was lowered in 2007.

While rating stability remains the norm, the prospects for raised ratings are becoming increasingly remote. The
financial challenges presented by large capital needs and the specter of tighter emissions regulation and attendant
higher operating costs represent impediments to improving credit quality and are reflected in the absence of positive
ratings outlooks for the cooperative utilities.

Cooperative, as well as other utilities, need substantial amounts of baseload capacity following a long hiatus since
the last round of numerous baseload capacity additions. The U.S. fieet of generation is aging and the North
American Electric Reliability Corporation recently reported that electricity demand is forecast to grow considerably
faster than capacity additions. '
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Cooperative utilities are projecting multi-billion dollar capital needs over the next five years, which will place
considerable upward pressures on retail rates if financial margins are to be preserved. Credit ratings of cooperatives
‘that exhibit narrow margins can be impaired by modest erosion of financial protections as debt is added and
operating costs increase. Some of the cooperatives with large capital needs include Associated Electric, which is
projecting more than $2 billion of capital projects within five years; Basin Electric is forecasting capital spending
exceeding $3 billion over five years; and Brazos Electric has identified nearly $2 billion of capital needs during this
time. Some utilities will double and even triple debt balances as they finance and pursue capital needs.

There are additional factors that are placing downward pressure on financial margins. Increasing operating costs are
expected as regulation of carbon gases and other emissions progresses. The exposure to emissions-refated costs can
be particularly pronounced for cooperative utilities because many are highly dependent on coal, For example, Basin
Electric relies on coal for more than 90% of electric production. However, its members supplement Basin's coal
production with Western Area Power Administration hydroelectric allocations, which reduces their dependence on
coal. Associated Electric sources 72% of its electricity from coal-fired resources and two-thirds of Tri-State
Generation and Transmission's electricity is generated with coal. These numbers stand in contrast with a national
average of 49% of all electricity produced from coal.

Pressures on financial margins can also be found among utilities that are highly dependent on natural gas, a fuel
with a lower carbon footprint than coal. We anticipate increased dependence on natural gas, particularly as
coal-fired generation becomes more repugnant ir the eyes of regulators that must approve power plant development.
In'cre_ased demand can drive up natural gas prices.

Although some of the cost issues presented by these challenges are substantial, cooperative utilities are nevertheless
well equipped to respond and preserve credit quality. The most important tool available to cooperative utilities is the
autonomous ratemaking authority most cooperatives possess. Many cooperatives can implement a timely response
to rising costs to preserve financial margins. However, this financial tool can only effectively preserve credit quality
if customers have the financial capacity to absorb rate increases and management is willing to ask customers to

shoulder these burdens.

Associated Electric provides a salient example of the strength of autonomous ratemaking to shore up credit quality.
As noted, Associated is pursuing a sizable capital program. Growing native load necessitates capacity additions that
are adding debt and eroding the utility's capacity surplus that has been used to yield power-marketing revenues.

To counter erosion of financial margins, Associated Electric's board adopted a substantial rate increase excéeding
25% to take effect in early 2008. This rate adjustment should translate into strong debt service coverage. The
commitment to credit quality inherent in this board action was the catalyst for reinstating the utility's stable rating
outlook. It is this ability to maintain a strong alignment of revenues and expenses that we expect to continue to
serve a key driver of strong ratings among cooperative utilities,

Click on this link to see other articles in " Special Report: From Carbon To Green: What Does It Mean For Credits?"

Click on this link to go to the Special Report Archive.
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Table 1 |
U.S. Electric Power Cooperatives

Issuer Credit Rating* /
Senior Secured Debt

Company

Bating®

Analyst

~ Comments

Alabama Electric
Cooperative Ing,

BBB+ / Stable

Jutith Waite

Alabama Electric Cooperative {AEC) supplies power to members under
all-requirements contracts expiring in 2035, Discussions are underway to extend the
contracts to 2059 to allow AEC to plan for future load growth. Management expects
about a 1,500 MW generation deficit over the next 20 years. Future capacity wiil
includa peaking units, a base load plant and transmission. By mid-2008, a $300 mitlion
invastment will bring the Lowman plant, which supplies about 38% cf the members’

. current electricity neads, in compliance with current environmental reguiations.

Although debt service coverage continues 1o be thin, AEC's financial profile is stable.
A rate increase in 2006 as well as a fusl clause that allows direct pass-through of
fluctuating fuel costs facilitates cost recovery.

Arkansas Electric
Cooperative Corp.

AA- / Negative

Judith Waite

Debt service coverage remains weak following the acquisition of the 150 MW
Wrightsville generating piant, which will replace an expired purchased power coptract
in 2009. The plant was purchased out of bankruptey at an extremely low cost. A $12.6
million rate increase in 2005 has helped maintain debt service coverags at just under
1.2x, and coverage is expected to be back around 2x i 2009 when the plant replaces
the purchased pewer contract. The negative cutlook, however, indicates that if the
coverage level does not improve, the rating will be fowered.

Assooiated Efectric
Cooperative Inc.,
MO

AA/ Stable

David Bodek

Associated Electric Cooperative Inc.'s board’s recent adopticn of 2 25.3% rate
increase, 1o take effect in the second quarter of 2008, on top of rate increases of 8%
in 2006 and 4.6% in 2007, should praserve credit quality by tempering the financial
impact of sizabie capital needs exceeding $2 bitlion aver 2007-2012. The capital
progeam will fargely be driven by the addition of new coal generation capacity and the
instailation of envirenmental controls at existing generation units. As a heavily
coal-dependent utility, Associated is exposed o potentially higher costs as the
regulation of carbon and other emissions progresses.

Basin Etectric
Power Cooperative,
ND

A+/Stable

David Bodek

This cooperative exhibits sound financial metrics, but must stay on top of the financia
pressures created by very strong growth that requires substantial generating capacity
additions. Debt balances are expectad to triple over about six years, placing upward
prassure on revenue requirements, If growth prospects do rot materialize, the utility
can be left with surplus capacity that is exposed to competitive wholesale markets.
Such risks are tempered by a pian 1o stagger generating capacity additions. Basia's

 Bakota Gasification Company subsidiary produces synthetic natural gas and benefits

from prevailing, high natural gas prices. Dakota Gasification's financial successes
help provide Basin's electric customers with favorable rates, but could also put
pressure on rates were its financial performance to falter in a low natural gas price
environment. As a heavily coal-dependent utility, Basin is exposed to potentially
higher costs as the regulation of carbon and other emissions progresses.

Brazos Etectric
Power Cooperative
Inc., TX

A-/Stabig

Theodaore
Chapman

Texas' largest G&T cooperative is entering the sarly phases of adding significant
gengration capacity, in the form of a 225 MW undivided ownership interest and 150
MW purchase power agreement in the Sandy Creek coal plant near Brazes' Waco
headquarters, as well as plans for additional intermediate and peaking capacity, alt by
2012, Debt financing of the bulk of 2 $1.9 biltion five-year capital program will add to
outstanding debt-of about $1.0 bitlion. Even with the addition of Sandy Creek's
coal-fired capacity, Brazos remains highly dependent on owned and contracted
gas-fired energy which accounts for a majority of today's energy sales. Brazos' solid
financial profile, strong risk management strategies and monthly pass-through
methanism have assisted it in managing this exposure.

Brunswick Electric
Membership Corp.,
NG

A-/Stable

Judith Waite

BEMC's primaty challenge continues to be to manage strong growth in its service
tersitory. BEMC serves the southeastern most countiss of North Caroling, and has
experienced 3%-4% annual customer growth over the past 10 years, BEMC has made
significant investments in the distribution system and is currently in an $89 miltion
upgrade and expansion program that wilt be completed in 2008, About 80% of the
spending will be for new customer connections, but almost 30% will be for
distribution and transmission system improvements. To maintain debt service
coverage above 2x, BEMC's board voted in December 2008 to raise the base facilities
chargs to $17 per month from $15.50 per month, which shifted more of BEMC's cost
rpcovery into a fixed-rate structure. While BEMC's margins remain exposed to
weather and occupancy of new homes, the increase provides about $1.7 million in
stable, incremental margin that supports credit quality.
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Tahle 1.

1.8, Efectric Power {ooperatives(cont.) : AT RIS SRR o

Buckeye Power Inc., A#/Stable Jeffrey Buckeye’s powar supply is dominated by coa! fired generation from its ownership of

OH Panger two Cardinal Station units. Asset concentration concems are mitigated by AEP's
agreement fo backstop these units as weli as the recent purchase of entitiements to
output of multiple facilities owned by Ohio Valiey Electric Conperative (OVEE). Since
2001, debt has more than doubled to $6392 million, fargely driven by emissions
controts additions, Further emissicns related profects will bring debt up to $1.1 billion
by 2011. The financial profite has been preserved through rate adjustments, a
movement o lower cost high-sulfur coal that can now be burned because of the
“addition of serubbers, and margins earned from off-system sales. These trends should

continue, :
“Central Electric AL/Stabla David Bodek  -This cooperative is highly rated to reflect the low business risk of coordinating the
Power Conperative power supply and transmission needs of its member distribution cocperatives. This
Inc. business risk profile offsets narrow financial margins. Power is procured from South

Carolina Public Service Authority doing business as Santee Cooper. Central works
with Santee Ceoper in planning long-term generation resource development, Saluda
River Etectric Ceoperative wiil be added to Central’s load by 2009, The addition should
increase load by about 25%.

Central lowa Power A/ Stable Peter Murphy  Central lowa Power Cooperative {CIPCG) benefits from a diverse generation portfolic

Cooperative that includes coal and nuclear baseload resources, natural gas peaking capasity and
renewable energy resources. CIPCC added a 9% share in the sew 790 MW coal-fired
Waiter Scott Unit #4 (f k.a. Council Bluffs) as scheduled in advance of 2007's summer
peak season. The new unit benefits members through reduced refiance on power
purshases, a reduced power cost adjustment and better than anticipated financial
performance. Additiona! capacity needs and the cost of financing capacity additions
must be managed to preserve financial marging, The utility is targeting a 100 mW
interest in beseload coal by 2013, with an expected high sost of $3.060 per KW,

Chugach Electric A- /Stable Peter Murphy . Chugach serves abut 54,000 retail members, and with other contract wholesale sales,

Assaciation, AK is the dominant electricity provider and generator in the state of Afaska. Chugach's
finangial performance remains soiid. Chugach expects to end the year with a margin
for interest ratio slightly below expectations at 1.28, and a debt leverage ratio of
about 7G%. Contributing to the budget variance are increased maintenance costs and
reduced surplus sales due 1o transmission problems that have been corrected.
Chugach is faced with several unique challenges, including the authority of the
Regutatory Commission of Alaska {ACA), over both retail and whotesale contract rates.
However, the RCA permits Chugach to pass fuel cost increases to customers through
a rate surcharge, insulating Chugack from some commodity price risk. Chugach
expects to refinance two large non-amortizing principal payments maturing in 2011
and 2017 with 15 to 30 year debt. Additionally, Chugach’s capital plan includes
pay-as-you-go funding of transmission and distributior: projects, and a possible
debt-financed acquisition of natural gas-fired generation capasity, needed by 2012,
Chugach has entered phase one of a public process examining varieus scenarios of
combination or merger with Anchorage Municipal Light and Power [MLP), which
serves an adiacent territory centered in the city of Anchorage. The impact on
Chugach's credit qualityof any chosen course of action will be assessed when specific
facts emerge.

Dairyland Power A/Stabie Jeffrey All but one of the 25 members of Dairyland Power Cooperative (DPC} have excecuted

Cooperative, Wi Panger contract extensions, but they are not uniform and expire between 2035 and 2055,
which creates a measure of uncestainty as the capital program proceeds. DPC remains
exposed to cost pressures felated to the trensportation of coal, as demonstrated by a
93% raif rate increase in 2006. The environmental retrofit of DPC's bassload coal
plants, transmission projects and its 30% participation in Wisconsin Public Service's
Weston 4 project are expected to add more than $585 million of debt by 2012, above
today's $724 million of debt and result in increased fixed costs, placing upward
pressure on member rates. Management is expected to adjust rates to preserve
financial marging as debt is added. The Westen project is baing built under an EPC
contract, is on budget, and is expected to commence operations in Juae Z008. DPC
cantinues to study adding gas-fired combustion turbings to come on ling in 2011, and
wind and biomass capacity that would boost its renewable portfolio to 20% by 2025
in conformity with Wisconsin's mandates.
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Tabie 1

U.S. Elsctric Power Cooperatives{cont.)

Diversa Power Ing., AStable

Judith Waite

Diverse Power is increasingly reliant on a portfolio of contracts and power-trading
attivities to supplement its interest in Oglethorpe Power's generation. Contracts and
market activity expose Diverse to speculative-grade power suppliers, including the
risk of counterparty defaulzs. Market activities are conducted through the Cobb
scheduding group within Oglethorpe’s membarship. The Cobb group employs
appropriate risk-management policies to tamper market exposures. Oglethorpe’s
members have an optien to own up to 30% of two proposed nuclear units at Plant
Vogtle, and a decision regarding participation in new nuclear capacity wili be made
within the next sight months. Residential customers account for about 80% of totat
energy use, afe increasing electricity demand by about 4% per year, so additional
supply witl be needed even befare the nuciear optior is available.

' Georgia AA-/Stable/A-1+
Transmission Corp.
{BTC)

Judith Waite

G1C is facing a five-year, $34% miflion capital expenditure program. These large
investrent plans create an exposure to cost overruns due t¢ rapid escalation in the
cost of labor and materials. While we continue to view GTC as a strong company with
a low risk prefife because of the exclusively "wires” business, there is some risk that
GTC's financial profile may weaken further, with debt service coverage slipping to

less than 1.7x until sates are raised to recover the cost of expansion.

Great River Energy,  BBB+/ Stable
MN

David Bodek

The ratings on this fast growing, coal-dependent cooperative were upgraded to reflect
declining leverage and the recently adopted non-binding commitments to target 1.20x
debt service coverage (DSC} and budget to meet net margins targets exclusive of -
margins derived from competitive, non-electric businesses. The principal non-giectric
investment is a 48% interest in the Bive Flint Ethancl plant that commenced
operations in February 2007. The raised rating afso reflests GRE's November 2006 exit
fram its energy trading and marketing business, The upward potential of the revised
ratings is limited because of both sizabe generation investment needs necessitated

- by load growth and an affinity for Investments in competitive, non-electric businesses.

Guadalupe Valley  A+/Stable
Electric Power
Cooperative Inc., TX

Theodore
Chapman

Fhis distribution cooperative provides retail electricity services to about 81,000
customers in & 12-county area in south central Texas. An absence of on balance sheet
generation franslates into sound equity and debt service coverage. The LCRA contract
is & take and pay requirements contract, expiring in 2016, Between 90% and 100% of
power is sourced from the Lower Colorado River Authority [A/Stable/A-14) and the
balance s prosured under short-ferm contracts. Distribution needs as the system
grows are driving the capitat program which will be one-third debt-financed. The
utility’s 56% load factor is refiective of industrial concentrations among customers,
including steel mills. Residentiat customer growth contributes to capital needs, but
should help balance the customer profile.

Hoosier Energy A-/Stable
Rural Etectrie
Cooperative Inc.

Jeffray
Panger

In July 2007, HEREC's issuer credit rating was removed from CreditWatch with
negative implications, affirmed at 'A-' and assigned a stable outlook. The rating
activity resulted from Hoosier's recent action to increase member rates {10%) to cover
higher operating costs as well as accelerate the recovery of the member revenue
under-coflections from priot years. Strong cash How measures and improved plant
operations were alse considerations. Hooster is exposed to asset concentration due to
its dependence on its Merom coal station, which supplies about 63% of its power,
and Ratts plant (17%). These units experienced substantial forced outages in recent
years, but, as indicated by the stable outlock, we anticipate that the utility has
identified and rescived operational issues.

Oglethorpe Power  A/Stable/A-1
Com., GA

Judith Waite

We continue to moniter the cost implications of increasing wholesale rates for
Dglethorpe's members, as well as any changes in the risk profile of the co-op's
mermbership that result from their power supply arrangements for a portion of load
gbove Oglethorpe entitlements. Members continue to be responsible for fixed
payments of all existing power generation facilities owned by Gglethorpe, and af!
members have extended their wholesale supply contracts with (glethorpe to 2050,
allowing Oglethorpe to issue debt to finance new assets with debt that matches the
assets’ axpected lives. Targeted debt service coverage is in the range of 1.1x 1o 1.2x.

Old Dominion AfStable
Eectric
Cooperative, VA

David Bodek

This G&T is subject to FERC rate regulation and its membars are subject to state rate
regulztion. Regulatory uncertainties and credit concemns are mitigated by the presence
of pass-through mechanisms. A high proportion of residential customers benefits the
utility. Risks associated with the potential depariure of the cooperative's largest
member, Northern Virginia Electric Cooperative, are tempered by the ability to lay off
a portion of substantial power purchases that supplement owned resources.
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U.S. Public Finance Report Card: Low Risk Profiles Support Sound Electric Cooperative Credit Quality

Table 1

U.S. Electric Power Cooperativesfcont) .

San Migue! Electric  A-/Stable
Caoperative, TX

Theodore .
Chapman

This singe-asset cooperative owns and operates the 411 MW lignite-fired San
Miguel piant for the henefit of its two G&T off takers, Scuth Texas Electric
Cooperative and Brazos Electric Cooperative. This plant is an important resource for
these utifities, but is only one of several in their portfolios. STEC and Brazos share
gutput and costs in equat shares under long-term contracts expiring in Jure 2020,
Even with an average heat rate of nearly 12,000 BTU/AWh, ali-in costs were a
reasonable $34.35/MWh. The plant exhibits sound operations. About $14 million of
additicnal peliution control improvements are anticipated by 2010, on top of the 36.8
miilion recently invested to help comply with CAIR and CAMR. These amounts are
reasorable versus approximately $170 million of outstanding long-term debt.

Seminote Electric | A-/Negative

Cooperative, FL

Jeffrey
Panger

The outiook or: Serninole’s "A-' rating was revised to negative in April 2007, based on
expactations of weakening cash flow and increased debt levels associated with &
need for substantial financing for new generaticn. Although additional coal capacity
was contempiated, recent reguiatory actions in Flarida will likely preciude coal
additions. Pencing appeals of the Florida Department of Environmental Pretection
decision, Seminole is making interim arrangements for purchases of capacity and
energy for 2012 and 2013, and is evaluating the potential for a 1,500 MW CCGT in
Noarthem Florida, Further clouding Semincle’s operating profite is the Aprit 2007
catastrophic failure of the steam turbine and generator unit at the 810 MW Midulla
Generating Station. Seminale’s total load is about 4,100 MW. The steam unit is not
expected back in sarvice until May 2088, Ali but one of 10 members extended their
requirements contracts through 2045. The tenth member plans to leave Seminole by
2014, Credit concerns typicatly associated with the loss of 2 targe customer are
tempiered by substential foad growth that will absorh the departing member's capacity
entitlement.

Snappirg Shoais
Elgctric
Membership Corp.,
GA

A+/Negative/--

Judith Waite

Snapping Shoal's ability to successfully procure about 30% of its energy requiremants
through an affiliation with seven other Oglethorpe menbers continues to be & credit
focus, as is the waakening of Snapping Shoal's financial profile. In 2005, several
low-cost power supply contracts expired. The contracts were held by Oglethorpe
Power, which supplies about 70% of Snapping Shoals” electricity reguirements. At the
same time, the distribution cooperative was hit with shasply-higher fuel and
purchased power costs. As a result, debt service coverage shpped to around 3.2x,
which is weak for the current rating.

South Texas Electric  A-/Stable
Cooperative, TX

Theodore
Chapman

This small but growing cooperative with a peak of about 460 MW serves in
southeastern Texas. Resousses include an interest in S&n Migusl Blectrie
Cooperative’s lignite piant as well as gas-fired resources. Additions! baseload
resources will be required by 2612, which will necessitate additional debt. Capital
expenditures are expected to total $508 mitfion over the next five years, including the
conversion by 2008 of one of Its gas-fired plants to a combined cycle facility. The
short tenor of some new members' contracts also presents a challenge as the utility
seeks to add debt without corresponding Jong-term commitments from its off-takers.
Cusrent contract maturities corresponds with outstanding debt.

Sguare Butte A-/Stable
Fiectric Cooperative

Peter Murphy

Square Butte owns a single lignite-fired mine-mouth generating station. About
one-third of output is soid under a long-term contract to a generation and
transmission cooperative, Minnkota Power, for resale to its 11 members in Minnesota
and North Dakota. The balance is soid to Minnescta Power and Light under a
long-term contract, The contracts provide revenue predictability. Costs of meeting
emissions controls should be moderate and only require modest rate adjustments in
support of sound, but thin debt service coverage,

Tei-State A/Stable
Generation &

Trangmission

Association, CO

David Bodek

-Although Tri-State's finangial metrics have eraded because of increased market

power purchases needed to meet growing energy demand and replace reduced
hydroelectric availability, the outlook remains stable to reflect a commitment to credit
quality implicit in the series of recent rate adjustments and the plan to strengthen
bt service coverage incrementally In coming years. Future credit guality will Binge
on Tri-State's adhering to the debt service coverage milestones established by its
board. Deviations will negatively influence the ratings. The effort 1o achieve financial
targets may be more difficult because Kansas' recent denial of permits for plapned
coal capacity could force migration to costlier naturat gas. Whether electricity is
dervied from self-built generation or market purchases, exposure to natural gas price
volatility heightens credit risk because Ti-State lacks an automatic rate adjustment
mechanisin for captaring shanges in fuel and purchased power costs.
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U.S. Public Finance Report Card: Low Risk Profiles Support Sound Electric Cooperative Credit Quality

Table 1

.:_U_,'_S. :Eletitri(j:'LPév‘ier-ﬁEQuper_ati#es(i:bnt.) . S ) 2 o
Vermont Electric BBB-/Stable/- Judith Waite  The primary credit concem associated with Viermont Electric Power's [VEC) rating is
Cooperative inc. the authofity of the Vermont Public Service Board (VPSB) to set ratas for the

cooperative’s customers, and those rates do not include a fuel adjustment clause.
Moreover, VEC is under a rate freeze through 2008. However, the YP3SB approved a
7.15% rate increase in Jan. 2007, which was in addition to the 14.35% increase
approved in December 2005. I response to the improved financial metrics, the rating
outfook was revised to stable. We'li look 16 the next rate case filing in October 2008
for an indication of continued regulatory support. Electric utilities in Vermont are now
aliowed to pursue alternative reguiation plans which may include & fuel cost
adjustment. If implemented, this would help mitigate VEC's exposure to volatile prices
associated with spot market purchases and any index-priced fong-term, base Ioad

contracts.
Wabash Vallay BBB+ / Stabie Peter Murphy  Wabash Vailey has defarred recogrition of expenses in the past three years, however,
Power Assaciation, the level of deferrals is declining and deferrals have consistently been amortized in
IN ~ the ensuing fiscal year, In 2605 and 2606, deferrals totalled $58 million and $29

million, respectively. The current year's deferral is 2 modest $5 million Performance
issues at Wabash's integrated coal gasification plant near Terre Haute, Ind., caused
regative budget variances and power cost defarrals. Satisfactory performance of the
280 MW plant is critical to Wabash's financial standing. A recently adopted 5.5% rate
increase to teke effect in 2008 sheuld help the utitity avoid future deferrals. Typically,
deferred balances are fully amortized in the following fisca! year. Wabash is adding
cre member, Citizens Electric to its existing 28 members, however, three members
have given Wabash the required 10-year notice to terminate their contracts. The
potential net foss is about 10% of Wabash's current load, after accounting for the
newest member's addition to load. Members who have provided notice of termination
may rescind such notice i a favorable power supply situation is not obtained. The loss
of three members does not threaten credit quatity at this time, due to the partial
off-set provided by Citizens, and the long 10-year time frame before sales reductions

0CCU,.
Westam Farmers BBB+ / Stable David Bodek  This fast-growing utility'’s service territory and its financial performance ase exposed
Eigctric to weather and ecenortic volatitity. In recent yeass, however, the utility has produced
Cooperative, 0K sound debt service coverage. Moreover, cash reserves provide a cushion against

these exposures as wetl as generation asset concentration. Capital needs present
opesational and financial challenges. Substantial transmission and distribation
investment needs as well as needs for new generation capacity will place upward
pressure on rates as debt triples aver five years. Two distribution members out of 20,
representing about 5% of energy sales, are resisting extending their wholesale
supply sontracts, which could have implications for future financings. Also, there is
uncertainty as to how generation resource needs will be addressed foliowing the loss
of an anticipated partner in a proposed coal-fired facility.

*Ratings are as of Nov. 26, 2007

Tahle 2
‘Contact information -~ T T

Analyst Location Phone E-mail

David Bodek, Directar New York (1)212-438-7968 david_bodek@stancardandpoors.com
Theodore Chapman, Director Dallas {1)214-871-1401 theodore_chapman@standardandpoors.com
Pater Murphy, Director New York (1) 212-438-2065 peter, musphy@standardandpoors.com
Jeffrey Panger, Director New York (1) 212-438-2078  jeff_panger@standardandpoors.com
Judith Waite, Director New York (1) 212-438-7677 judith_waite@standardandpoors.com
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 61) To the extent differences exist between the TIER calculations contained in
the testimony, and the TIER calculations likely to be utilized by potential creditors or

credit rating agencies (e.g., use of “adjustments” to earnings), identify those differences.

Response)  The TIER calculations cited in my testimony are substantially the same as

those calculated by the rating agencies.

Witness) Mark W. Glotfelty

Item 61
Page 1 of 1
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 62) Please reference the testimony of Mark W. Glotfelty. Provide the formula
calculation by which the TIER is calculated for purposes of this testimony.

a. State the extent to which this formula is identical to that which
would be utilized by:
i Big Rivers’ potential creditors in the loan covenants; and
ii. Credit rating agencies.

Response)  The formula calculations for TIER in Mr. Glotfelty’s testimony is the
Standard RUS Mortgage TIER Calculation. See PSC ltem 13.

a. () Big Rivers cannot foresee what TIER calculation will be

used by potential creditors;
b. (ii)  Identical. See AG Item 61.

Witness) Mark W, Glotfelty
C. William Blackburn

Item 62
Page 1 of 1
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 63) Please reference the testimony of David A. Spainhoward, page 6, line 4 at
“Big Rivers is developing a more comprehensive and more global environmental

compliance plan...”

a. List each additional environmental compliance program or issue

which this “more comprehensive and more global” plan will likely address; and

b. Provide broad gauge cost estimates (capital and expense,
separately) for each such program or issue in a. above, and the points in time (fiscal year)

in which those costs would be estimated to occur.

Response)  a. Big Rivers does not anticipate changing iis environmental
surcharge mechanism or the three programs therein. This more comprehensive plan does
not change, add to, or contradict the environmental compliance plan filed with the
Application or the three programs described to be included in the environmental
surcharge mechanism. See also subpart b, below.

b. No additional programs are anticipated 1o be added to the

environmental surcharge filed with the application.

Witness) David A. Spainhoward

Item 63
Page 1 of 1
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 64) Please reference the testimony of David A. Spainhoward, page 13, line 4
at “Big Rivers projects that it will realize $14.487 million in revenues from the sale of
excess 2008 SO, allowances, with this amount declining to $4.065 million for 2012 SO,

allowances.”

a. Provide workpapers and associated supporting documents to

support these estimations.

b. Please state the extent to which the estimated declining revenues

can be characterized by Big Rivers as “best case”, “worst case” or “base case.

Response)  a. The reference above is to testimony filed as Exhibit 2 in PSC Case
No. 2007-00460. Please see attached work papers and supporting documents regarding

Big Rivers estimated revenues from SO, allowances.

1) The most recent SO, allowance price forecast by Global

: Insights,_ Inc.;

2) A summary spreadsheet of annual SO, allowance prices,

EPA allowance allocations, BREC system SO, emissions, etc.;

3 See PSC Ttem 22(a) for Big Rivers’ production cost model
output report.

b. The estimated declining revenues are characterized as base case.

Witness) C. William Blackburn
David A. Spainhoward

Item 64
Page 1 of 1
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Price Qutlook for Coal Delivered to BREC Plants

This report provides a forecast of delivered coal prices to the various BREC plants and describes
the rationale behind their trends. The report also contains projections of SO2 and NOx prices.

Supply

The Illinois Basin, the source of coals for BREC, is in a state of transition. After having lost over
one-third of its production since 1990, registering a 52 million ton decline down to about 89
million tons, output has begun to improve. Production reached over 95 million in 2006.

There are great expectations for the Illinois Basin, as described in more depth in the “Demand”
section, and much of this is based on the attractiveness of this relatively low cost, high sulfur coal
that can be used by the large number of power plants adding scrubbers. Yet the transition to
achieve much higher output is not occurring without problems. Even though production is about
5.6% above last year’s pace through the end of September, there are some clouds on the horizon
caused principally by the persistence of some very high stockpile levels that is affecting the entire
Us.

Another problem at present is that the Illinois Basin suppliers must demonstrate their ability to
produce to potential buyers, a problem that leads them into production before the buyers are ready
to commit. This, along with the weather, has led to a glut in the marketplace and contributed to
the stockpile problem.

The needed expansion is occurring. For example, in spite of repeated difficulties (including two
roof falls), NRP’s Pond Creek mine had produced about a half million tons through the first half
of this year and is scheduled to mine 7 million tons annually beginning in 2008. A delay in
installing a longwall there may slow first quarter production next year, but the mine will become
a major contributor to the region. Alliance Resource Partners, in acquiring some needed reserves
from Consol, has been able to extend the useful life of these key mines for another decade. ARP
has also just broken ground on River View, a mine designed to produce 3-.4.5 million tons per
year in 2009,

Global Insight expects this new expansion to aid the productivity picture in the Hllinois Basin. Just
as has occurred throughout the remainder of the US, productivity declines have been in evidence
since the year 2000, following two decades of very strong growth. Productivity continues to
decline (falling over 3% in 2006), reflecting problems of mine startups, labor shortages, and
insufficient capital investment over 1999-2003. We anticipate limited productivity improvement
until 2010, when the labor workforce situation should have greatly improved and the influx of
capital into new/upgraded mining equipment begins to take hold. From 2010-2025, annual
average productivity gains of 1.8% are expected.

Demand

Much of the support for even keeping Illinois Basin coal production from falling worse than it did
was the expansion of low-to-mid sulfur coal output in the Basin, particularly in Indiana.
Nevertheless, the return of high sulfur coal demand is based heavily on the promulgation of final
CAIR regulations, cutting in half the SO2 allowances of the two-thirds of the nation’s coal-fired
units located in the CAIR area of the East and Midwest. Supplementing this has been the
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emergence of state and regional laws much more stringent than that proposed by the federal
government, particularly with regard to mercury. Wisconsin and Illinois have already passed such
laws, as have some 20 other states, For power companies burning bituminous coal, the use of
scrubbers for the kind of mercury reduction levels being contemplated (70-95%) is nearly
mandatory, exclusive 6f their need for SO2 reduction.

The impact of this development on demand was highlighted by statements by Dayton Power and
Light at a conference in late September. The new FGD at their Killen station, plus their planned
FGD installations at Stuart, highlight their move away from low sulfur Central Appalachian coal
and creates competition among Northern Appalachian, Hlinois Basin, and mid-sulfur Central
Appalachian coals. DPL ruled out PRB coal on grounds of excessive transportation rates. In
depicting this situation, DPL is providing the blueprint for increased competition at scrubbed
plants that will be repeated over and over again in the coming years.

A number of FGD installations have already occurred in the Illinois Basin market area, including
at some of BREC’s plants. Moreover, a large number of FGD installations are anticipated over
the next three years in regions that are reachable by Illinois Basin producers, specifically the
Midwest and South, In total, Global Insight anticipates just short of 70GW of retrofit scrubbing to
occur before 20190. '

Pricing

Coal prices for the Illinois Basin high sulfur coal used in most of the BREC plants are forecasted
to remain in the $29-31.50/ton range over the next several years (in nominal doliars), then decline
gradually from about $30/ton in 2010 (in real 2006 $/ton) to about $25/ton by 2025.

There is some softness in the Illinois Basin market now, caused in part by several of the items we
have previously discussed. High stockpiles are depressing the normal volume of spot purchases,
and the surge in FGD installations has not quite yet arrived, even though some of the production
has. As a result, prices for a 3% sulfur/11,000 BTU coal are ranning in the $27-$29 area
currently.

Global Insight is anticipating a moderate rise in real prices as the full impact of FGD installations
is felt in terms of higher Illinois Basin coal demand. Much of this is premised on the enormous
amount of investment that has had to have been made in not only new mines, but in existing
mines that have needed considerable refurbishment. Over the longer term, we expect to see price
moidest real dollar price declines as this investment reaps productivity gains that help reduce
production costs and, ultimately, prices.

Delivered Coal Prices

The tables for each of the plants are inchuded in the Appendix.
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SO2 Prices

The Short-term S0O2 Outlook
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After holding steady at about $550/ton for much of the summer, SO2 prices took a dive in mid-
August and actually fell below $500/ton for a few days (reaching a summer low of $475 on
August 22, Prices recovered to the $500 point before closing the month of August at $510.
Allowances continued from there with a slow and steady climb through the month of September,
though, returning to the $550 price point where they had held for much of the summer.
Allowances officially closed the month of September at $557.50 on September 28™ and finished
on October 3™ at $560/ton.

Trading volume has remained relatively low, despite a late flurry of activity to end the month,
similar to what we have witnessed through much of the year. The potential impact of federal CO2
regulation continues to loom over the SO2 market. Global Insight is forecasting that uncertainty
leading to price paralysis will continue to dictate the SO2 market for the next year, until the
American presidential election in November 2008. The outcome of that election should give
much-needed guidance to the industry on the issue of CO2 regulation, based on our assumption
that nothing will be signed into law in the remaining term of the Bush presidency.

Additionally, it is worth noting that SO2 vintages for 2010 and beyond (at which time the Clean
Air Interstate Rule will take effect, forcing emitters to surrender two allowances for every ton of
SO2 emitted) are firming up at approximately half the value of current vintages. We believe that
this could be an indication that the market expects court challenges of the CAIR allowance
devalnation to fail.
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Holding Steady...

There remains considerable short-term downward pressure on the market due to the success of
emission reductions and the resulting dampening of demand for allowances. With SO2 emissions
already having fallen below the cap in 2006 and data showing the industry on pace to repeat that
feat in 2007, it is unlikely that there will be a late-year surge on allowances for compliance
purposes that might otherwise drive up prices. In fact, the market is finding resistance each time it
goes as high as $550/ton in recent months, with sellers rushing in to sell off allowances and
capitalize on any upward trend.

It is noteworthy that these lower emissions are occurring against the backdrop of coal-fired
electricity generation up 1.5% and coal consumption by the power sector up 1.7%. In our view,
these lower emissions are due to two factors. First, while DOE data suggests Powder River Basin
production is flat on the year (versus year-to-date 2006), more of the ultra-low sulfur coal from
this region appears to be going into the boilers this year instead of being used to replenish
stockpiles. Secondly, the continued trend towards installation of additional FGD capacity is also
removing potential compliance-buyers from the market on an on-going basis and further limiting
demand.

That said, Global Insight expects that the market could see a slight bump in demand for
allowances during the fourth quarier as some generators may seek to build their portfolio of
allowances to meet future compliance requirements. The relatively low price point, in the $500-
575/ton range, should continue to prove attractive to generators already looking ahead to CAIR’s
2010 requirements, Additionally, preliminary third quarter emissions figures should be released
near the end of October, and could help guide the market through the remainder of the calendar
year, :

Implications of Breaking News...

It is also worth noting a late entry into the SO2 market, actually reported on October 1%, Emission
allowance broker Evolution Markets has announced that it is auctioning nearly 250,000 vintage
2015-2036 SO2 allowances. It plans to make available for auction 11,181 allowances/year
beginning with an open auction that ends at 3pm Eastern time on October 18,

This auction tests our outlook with regard to how both naturals and specuiators are viewing the
market. We previously noted that the prices for future vintages for 2010 and beyond are relatively
flat on a $/ton basis. Rather than being based on a more sophisticated view of the market, we
suspect those prices---effectively mimicking the current SO2 price--- reflect more the indecision
and lack of direction of today’s market. Given the uncertainties facing the future of SO2
allowance use (e.g., the magnitude of any future CO2 requirements, the outcome of the court
challenge to the CAIR SO2 program, and the environmental agenda of the next President, to
name a few), purchasers of these allowances are going to have to incorporate a high risk factor
into their calculations in determining a price.

SEFTEMBER 2007 GLOBAL INSIGHT, INC. PAGE 4



But...Could Higher Prices Be Around the Corner?

SOZ PRICES IN THE PAST YEA:

$750.00 $/ton S02 from Qcteber 1st, 2006 through October srd, 2007

$700.00

$6508.00 4

$600.00 +-

$550.00 |g-¢-4

$500.00 1

$450.00

$400.00

$350.00 |—Jeptember. February-March Septembet
2006 . 2007

BRI . e e e s e i s s R s e s o

&
.
Q"b

© s007

The marginal cost for scrubber installation continues to outpace the market price for SO2
allowances. As CAIR approaches, we expect that the cost of installing FGD capacity will only
increase, as generators seek to remove SO2 emissions from older and smaller units. It is unlikely
that emitters who are spending upwards of $800/ton for SO2 removal will continue to sell off
allowances at the steep discount of $500-600/ton. Global Insight still predicts that a tipping point
will ultimately be reached in the marginal cost of scrubbing that will begin to influence the SO2
allowances market, driving prices higher as we near CAIR’s implementation in 2010.

Short-Term SO2 Projections

Short-term downward price pressure is likely to prevail through the remainder of 2007 for the
reasons enumerated above. With natural gas prices up slightly month-to-month, we have revised
downward our projection from a month ago that noticeable quantities of coal-fired capacity could
be backed out in the fourth quarter by natural gas. We had been anticipating prices possibly
falling below $5 in the fall, but events that have unfolded that now suggest prices remaining
closer to the $6 mark, too high to bump even marginal coal units in the dispatch order.

Our long-term projections remain focused on our belief that market fundamentals will drive
prices higher through 2008 and 2009 as we approach the implementation of CAIR in 2010. After
CAIR is implemented, prices should begin to begin to moderate as the market shifis towards
scrubbing its way to compliance once again. A challenge facing the industry early next decade
will be over the issue of whether to continue retrofitting older plants at considerable cost with
FGD units, or to accelerate the retirement of these plants, likely replacing them with advanced
coal (or even nuclear) generating technologies.
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Where We See SOZ Prices Going...

Nominal $/Ton 502
151,700

51500 N History Forecast

b A

$1,100 -

/
$900 - ) .
$700 e N'. \ ‘ W _
$500 - \'/\\

T ed
$300
$100 e e e e B o s e T P i e L M e e Bl s
L - - T "R N~ I (R SR SR - MU TN S o B S - N T O L T N
8 &F = a §d 5 § 05 0 3 S §F &8 06 8 ¥R B SO & FF B D
g2 3 g=2g=2=2382g=832g=2g=2F3g2g=3=343g2
o [3Y)
) ) ) A )
= = = o =
T g o o 49
i ¥ ) hl "3

The Long-Term SO, Outiook

S0, Background

8502 Pricing: 1993 - 2003
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Prior to examining what lies ahead, we believe it useful to briefly describe what has occurred in
the SO2 program thus far.

¢ The First Decade (1993-2003): The first decade of trading within the SO2 cap-and-trade

program resulted in wild fluctuations in SO2 allowance prices. The SO2 market was thinly traded
when the program began and, as such, small transactions were often able to drive the market. As
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the industry became familiar with the program and the new requirements of the Acid Rain
Program, market participation and liquidity increased. By the late 1990s, however, the Clinton
Administration's push to step up enforcement of New Source Review put downward pressure on
S02 allowance prices as the industry expected a wave of new FGD units to be installed, resulting
in expected lower demand for allowances. With the election of President Bush in 2000 and his
subsequent move to relax New Source Review enforcement, however, the market responded
again to NSR politics and prices increased as a result.

S02 PRICES in the PAST 4 1/2Z YEARS

Nominal $/ton $S0O2
800

N & &

¢ The Surge (2004-2005): The SO2 market surged dramatically from 2004 into 2005, rising
from approximately $200/ton to $1,600/ton. A number of factors drove this price surge. First, the
industry took a wait and see approach after the Bush Administration announced the Clean Air
Interstate Rule (CAIR). Until the specifics of CAIR were finalized, companies tended to hold
onto their allowances, not knowing how stringent the newly promulgated SO2 standards would
be. This led to illiquidity in the market and put upward pressure on the price of SO2 allowances.
Second, the market was responding to increased coal costs. Coal prices had soared due to
increased costs of production, materials, labor, and transport. Third, the marginal cost of
installing FGD units was increasing for many of the same reasons that coal prices were rising.
Fourth, the market saw a surge in speculative investing by 3rd party investment firms. These
factors taken together drove the surge in SO2 allowance prices.

¢ The Plunge (2006): While SO2 allowances were almost certainly under-valued at $200/ton
before the surge of 2004/2005, the allowances were also significantly over-valued at $1,600/ton
by the end of 2005. As a result, prices plummeted through 2006 and industry recognition of the
overvaluation of the allowances was a significant reason why. The cost of allowances at the
height of the surge far surpassed the marginal cost of scrubbing per ton of SO2 removal and fell
to what most believe is a more sustainable level. Liquidity also returned to the market in 2006 as
industry became more comfortable with the coming requirements of the Clean Air Interstate Rule,
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In terms of what comes next, the Clean Air Interstate Rule (CAIR) takes effect for SO2 in 2010
with Phase I of the program. Twenty-eight states in the central and eastern United States will be
regulated by CAIR's provisions while the remaining western states will still be regulated by the
Acid Rain Program's cap-and-trade program. The new requirements are designed to reduce SO2
emissions in the regulated area by 45% over 2003 levels. Phase II of CAIR will take effect for
SO2 reduction in 2015 and envisions a total reduction in SO2Z emissions of 57% from 2003 levels.

 Of particular interest to the SO2 allowance market, CAIR contains a provision whereby SO2
vintage allowances from 2009 and years previous can be surrendered on a 1:1 ratio to meet CAIR
requirements, There is a depreciation formula, however, that will take effect beginning with 2010
vintage allowances. During Phase T of CAIR (2010-2014), allowances will only be surrendered at
a 2:1 ratio. During Phase II (2015-), allowances will be surrendered at a 2.85:1 ratio. It should be-
noted that EPA’s ability to devalue these allowances has been challenged by a number of power
companies and is under review by the courts.

Current & Planned FGD Installations
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As a result of this allowance depreciation formula, there is a surge in FGD installations coming
before the end of the decade. Once CAIR was finalized in 2005, power companies began
accelerating plans to install FGD units across their fleets. As a result, the total coal-fired capacity
that is expected to be scrubbed is expected to rise from the approximately 100GW that is
scrubbed today to 180GW or more by the start of CAIR in 2010, This strategy will allow industry
sources to accumulate as many pre-CAIR vintage allowances as possible so that they will be able
to surrender them at a 1:1 ratio to meet CAIR’s requirements.

There are some other factors to consider when looking at the future of the SO2 market. First,
technology is continuing to improve and FGI) units capable of 99% removal efficiency are now
readily available. Second, some states are taking action which may accelerate SO2 reductions
beyond CAIR's requirements. The Ozone Transport Commission in the northeastern United
States has been considering a proposal called CAIR+ which would accelerate reduction on a
compressed schedule with Phase 1 coming in 2008 and Phase II in 2012. Third, the future of
mercury and greenhouse gas regulations could also have a large impact on SO2? markets.
Depending on the outcome of pending litigation (which could force a command and control
regulation system of mercury, requiring the installation of maximum available control
technology), and the degree to which states continue to pass regulations more stringent than the
Clean Air Mercury Rule, efforts to control mercury could force industry to accelerate the
installation of FGD units capable of removing mercury as a co-benefit. The emerging GHG
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markets and expected future regulation could force the otherwise premature closure of some older
plants that are too costly to regulate for CO2 emissions.

The Long-Term Outlook

The Global Insight long-term SO2 forecast is driven by four major trends, as explained below.

¢ A rebuilt bank by 2010 allows a “wait and see” approach: Our estimate is that the high
volume of FGDs in operation prior to 2010 will create a large bank of SO2 allowances as CAIR
begins. The impact of this bank---probably reaching 10-12 million tons that can be used on a 1:1
basis for reducing emissions---will be, in our view, to create a “wait and see” approach in the
marketplace over the 2010-2014 period. By this, we mean that power companies will rely on the
bank and not need to take any dramatic steps at this point (such as another surge in FGD
construction), preferring instead to evaluate the dynamic changes occurring across the
environmental markets in NOx, mercury and GHG to see, among other things, how these
developments will affect the SO2 market.

¢ Yet other issues will encourage continued FGD installations at existing plants: The pressure
to scrub will not necessarily subside, for reasons outside the realm of SO2 strategy. First, beyond
the incremental 67GW we foresee placed into operation before 2010, there is still another 41GW
of previously announced FGD installations that are still in the pipeline to occur between 2010-
2015. These, of course, are not cast in concrete and some could be deferred, but once announced,
these installations begin to develop their own momentum. Second, compliance with the
significant number of state mercury programs (20) that have taken a more stringent approach
(than the federal government’s CAMR program) will undoubtedly convince many comparnies to
skip the very expensive step of relying solely on activated carbon injection and decide to install a
scrubber (assuming they would eventually do so anyway) sooner rather than later as a mercury
conirol strategy. Third, in a number of instances, state regulatory authorities have required that
companies planning to construct new coal-fired generation install FGDs on one or more existing
plants as a quid pro quo, even when the companies had no intention or need to build scrubbers at
that particular time. One examples of this is the installation of FGDs on existing units at latan and
LaCygne as part of the agreement with Kansas City Power & Light’s construction of a new unit
at Jatan. There are other examples of states using their regulatory authority (e.g., Illinois, New
Jersey and Georgia) to impose stringent mercury requirements and then inject flexibility into their
application on the condition power companies install FGDs. Third, in the West, the CAVR
program aimed at reducing regional haze will force the installation of scrubbers on units that
largely burn very low sulfur coals and that otherwise would not require FGDs to comply with
SO2 mandates. The upshot of these developments is that even when there is no pronounced need
emanating from the SO2 market to install FGDs, scrubbers will continue to be constructed for
other reasons, further enhancing the position of the SO2 bank. A regional breakout- of the new
FGD installations is provided below.
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¢ Technology developments will lead to greater scrubbing: One of the major developments
foreseen by Global Insight affecting SO2 markets is the emergence of integrated pollution control
systems. Specifically, we are referring to systems that combine at {east SO2 and NOx removal,
and now more frequently also include mercury reduction, as part of a high efficiency system that
employs what are currently separate pollutant removal units to interrelate their activities so as to
optimize reductions across emissions. Such a system, Powerspan, has been tested at FirstEnergy’s
Burger station and was selected in November 2006 by AMP-Ohio for its new unit. This is simply
one example, and more integrated systems will soon be coming into the marketplace. Ideally,
these units will be less expensive than their counterparts where each pollution control technology
is procured separately. Their impact on the SOZ market will be felt in two ways. Due to the multi-
pollutant nature of these units, companies will be reducing SO2 even though their major focus of
reduction may instead be directed at NOx and/or mercury. Second, due to the high removal
efficiencies that can be achieved with integrated systems (e.g., 99% for SO?2), installation of these
units may result in higher emission reductions than might have occurred if a company were
simply targeting a general reduction in SO2.
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BASE CASE LONG-TERM F_ORECAST
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¢ Do we ever reach the high cost units? Many observers forecast a perpetually rising cost of
SO2 allowances over the long-term, for two reasons. First, the theory of the rising marginal cost
of scrubbing is based on the fact that retrofits of the low cost, “low hanging fruit” have already
been achieved and that each subsequent round of FGD installations will encounter more difficult
and costly units to install, effectively raising the cost-per-ton of 802 removed. Second, in this
viewpoint, the retrofitting of smaller, older, more costly units occurs indefinitely because CAIR is
viewed by these observers largely in a vacuum, untouched by other regulations/legislation. Global
Insight’s contention is that in approximately 2015, we will begin to see a transition from
retrofitting these units to replacing their capacity (and then some) with new, state-of-the-art coal-
fired generating units. This impetus for the retirement of these older units will be come from
numerous sources, ranging from the economically imposing task of having to retrofit these aged
units with controls for SO2/NOx/mercury to the need for greater energy efficiency in the coal
fleet at large in light of pressures to reduce CO2. Consequently, we never reach the point of
expending the capital to replace these older units that would so significantly drive up the SO2
allowance price to the $1,200/ton SO2 removed area so many have predicted.

Our forecast begins Phase I of CAIR with SO2 prices of approximately $852/ton, but then stalls
as the program commences with a large bank of allowances in tow. It is our perception at this
point that the market will go into the “wait and see” mode described earlier and rely on the bank
as power companies strategize while assessing the likely outcome of other environmental
programs (CO2 and mercury) and their possible impact on the SO2 market. The price wanes
during this period, driven by the downward pressure of the large bank and concern caused by the
uncertainty of whether other environmental air programs might preempt the scrubbing issue,
sending SO2 prices into a downward spiral.

This situation continues until about the middle of the decade (2015), when the bank is reduced to
a sufficiently low level as to prompt higher SO2 prices, possibly on the back of some additional
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FGD installations (and the higher marginal costs they experience). At about this time frame,
however, we at Global Insight conclude that the cumulative impact of other pollution control
programs will lead to the retirement of significant coal-fired capacity and its replacement by
much more efficient, scrubbed (for all pollutants) generation. This will send SO2 prices into a
tailspin over the 2015-2020 period, as the growing supply of allowances begins to dwarf the
rapidly declining demand, driving down their value.
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NOx Prices

The Short-Term NOx Outlook

NOx PRICES OVER THE PAST YEAR
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After the month of August saw NOx prices flat for much of the month near $500/ton, allowances
spiked late in the month on news that NOx emissions for the year were up 8% year-to-year to an
August-high of $750/ton. NOx (2007 vintage) allowances entered September down some at
$625/ton before spiking again to $750/ton a week into the month. Prices have calmed some since,
however, and have held in the $600-650 range for the latter half of the month. It has been a fairly
wild NOx market over the last six weeks, something which we believe was triggered almost
exclusively by the now-known-to-be-mistaken report that appeared to indicate an increase in NOx
emissions year-to-year. Prices ran up to $750 on news of the increase, before falling rapidly down
todtheir late September levels nearer $600 and then making their way back up to $725 on October
3",

Last month, we discussed EPA’s preliminary results for first half 2007 NOx emissions data. At
the time, EPA reported that emissions had spiked 8% over the previous year, and the price for
current year vintage allowances rose dramatically as a result. Global Insight was skeptical of this
increase in last month’s forecast and it is now acknowledged that a reporting error was at the root
of the data. The Worthington Plant, a natural-gas fired peaking plant in Indiana, had reported
6,924 tons of emissions, compared with less than 1 ton emitted through the same period in 2006.
The plant actually emitted 2.12 tons. This correction accounted for most of the reported increase
and, afterwards, upward price pressure on the market has since been relieved.
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While current year vintage allowances still have not fallen back to the $500/ton price point where
they held prior to EPA’s reporting error, Global Insight believes that $600-$800/ton price could
end up being a more sustainable price range in the seasonal market. We believe that the marginal
cost of operating SCRs is in the $600-700/ton range and that, as such, allowances were
significantly undervalued earlier in the summer when they traded at $500/ton and below. This
false alarm on the year-to-year figures could have served as a catalyst for the small, but
significant, market correction that will hold prices closer to the range we are suggesting.

Demand-side fundamentals, however, are not likely to drive prices higher in the short-term as
seasonal NOx emissions are still on track to fall well below the cap for 2007. In fact, even had the
8% increase in emissions proved reliable, emissions would still have been on pace to fall below
the cap. In short, the NOx market is not likely to see a significant run on allowances for
compliance reasons. In addition to many naturals not needing to use their entire 2007 allocations
for compliance, many generators have sizeable banks from which to draw allowances creating a
significant oversupply of the market.

Once again, we also would be remiss if not making mention of the current status of potential
changes to EPA’s ozone rule. EPA held its final public hearing on the new rule in the month of
September but will continue to take written comment until October 9™, A final rule is still on
track for March 2008 with SIPs due in 2013. It is expected that EPA will tighten the ozone rule—
the only real question is matter of how much-—and that it will provide additional downward price
pressure to the NOx market by forcing the installation of SCRs on additional units, and thus
lowering demand for allowances.

Seasonal NOx: Price Forecast

A relatively tepid market was rocked for a few weeks by a false report on 2007 emissions being
higher than a year ago. We expect the market to return to being relatively flat in the short-term,
with significant downward pressure from the oversupply of the market keeping a lid on prices.
Vintage 2009 allowance markets (the first year of CAIR for NOx) and beyond remain illiquid, but
we expect activity to increase as we move through 2008. The same as with the SO2 market, we
do expect that there could be a slight surge in demand for allowances as we approach CAIR if
market prices remain low as generators attempt to build their portfolios ahead of the stricter
standards.
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SIP CALL PRICING: 20017-2006
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The Annual CAIR Market

Global Insight continues to assess the early stages of the formation of the Annual NOx market.
We have commented here in previous months on the significant overvaluation of the first annual
NOx trades, with prices reaching as high as $7,100/ton earlier in the summer. September has seen
some sanity enter the annual market, as prices have tempered significantly, closing today at
$3,725/ton, almost half of its high a few weeks earlier.

We expect that the price will continue to fall significantly over the next 15 months, leading mnto
the start of CAIR’s annual NOx program in 2009. Our current forecast calls for annual NOx
prices in 2009 in the $2,800/ton range. Given the enormous volatility of new phases in the history
of the NOx market dating back to the late 1990’s, it is not yet clear where exactly the market will
ultimately take the price in the short-term, but we anticipate it will certainly be lower than it is
today. It is worth noting, however, that a premium for the annual program does seem warranted
on account of some industry concerns about the reliability of operating SCR units for twelve
months on-end. That said, we expect this premium will erode over time as SCRs prove their
reliability on an annual basis. A few states {Connecticut, New York, New Hampshire, and
Massachusetts) currently enforce annual NOx limits and in those states, there have actually been
no reliability issues reported so far.

EPA was expected to allocate 2009 annual allowances to generators by September 30", a date
which has come and gone. EPA is citing a need to spend more time reviewing and approving SIPs
as the reason for the delay. Once allowances are actually populated to accounts, we expect current
illiquidity issues to dissipate and market activity to increase as generators have a better handle on
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precisely ‘what assets they have to work with. This should help to apply significant dbwﬁward
pressure to the annual market through the fourth quarter of 2007 and into 2008,

The Long-Term NOx Outlook

NOx Background

As was the case in reviewing SO2 markets, we will begin with a brief recap of NOx regulation to
date. |

Ozone Transport Commission (OTC): The price of NOx allowances in the OTC’s trading
program in the late 1990s faced volatility similar to that seen in the SO2 markets. When trading
began in 1997, prices were in the $1,500-2,000/ton range but quickly spiked to over $7,000/ton in
1999 during the first year of OTC compliance. As industry adjusted to the new market, however,
prices retreated and hovered around the $1,000/ton mark until 2003. NOx prices then spiked
again in 2003 1o nearly $7,500/ton. The reasons for this ‘include: the new, tighter standard for
NOx reduction introduced that year; uncertainty over the impact of the NOx SIP Call program
which was to take effect a year later; and rising coal costs due to increases in the price of fuel,
labor, and materials. '

NOx SIP Call: The Northeast’s OTC trading program was superseded in 2004 by the NOx SIP
Call. The SIP Call expanded the number of regulated states to 22 eastern states and the District of
Columbia. Like the OTC program preceding it though, the SIP Call only regulates NOx during
the so-called “summer ozone season” from May-to-Septembet.

The price of NOx allowances in the SIP Call trading program has behaved much differently than
in the OTC. Allowances began trading for the SIP Call in 2001 at $6,300/ton but have fallen
steadily since and now trade at approximately $1,000/ton. While the fall in prices has not been
without any volatility, the decline has been steady and without any significant spikes in the
market.

The reasons for this are varied but well understood:

Program Design: More so than with the SO2 trading program, the NOx SIP Call is a much more
tightly designed program with more stringent standards. The 0.15#NOx/mmBtu emissions rate
that the SIP Call cap requires is very closely linked with the capabilities of current NOx removal
technology. That is, the cap is set at such a level to correspond to the existing technology that
emitters have been installing control technologies at a rapid pace on a substantial portion of the
affected units. As a result, a large bank has accumulated that industry has, for the most part, not
needed to draw down in-order to come into compliance. In addition, the EPA created a system
called Progressive Flow Control (PFC) to further discourage an over-reliance by industry on the
existing bank of allowances to meet standards. PEC restricts the value of banked allowances used
for compliance if the bank exceeds 10% of the value of that year’s total allocation.

Technology: The overwhelming success of NOx removal technologies has also contributed to the
steady decline in NOx allowance prices since the SIP Call markets began trading in 2001. Low-
NOx burners and other primary measures (such as overfire air and fuel re-burn methods) installed
on boilers over the last decade have largely exceeded expectations and are now capable of
removing 25-40% of NOx during the combustion process before the SCR units even atiempt to
remove NOx from the flue gas in the stack. Additionally, the SCR units themselves have
performed incredibly well and have proved very reliable. SCRs are now capable of removal
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efficiencies close to 90% in most cases; however, the efficiency of some units is now being
throttled back closerto 75% when used in conjunction with high-sulfur coals because of the issue
of ammonia slip and formation of sulfur trioxide (SO3). The combination of low-NOx burners
with SCR units is now capable of readily achieving the 0. IS#NOx/mthu standard currently
required by the SIP Call program.

The steady decline in the price of NOx allowances in the SIP Call program is a testament to how
successfully the program is working. The well designed trading program coupled with reliable
and efficient control technologies has driven the market this decade:.

The Clean Air Interstate Rule (CAIR) takes effect for NOx in 2009 with Phase I of the program.
Twenty-eight states in the central and eastern United States will be regulated by CAIR’s
provisions. Unlike the OTC and the SIP Call, though, CAIR will create two markets for NOx
reduction - one for seasonal “summer ozone” reductions, and the other for annual reductions. The
seasonal program will impose a cap of 0.58 million tons in 2009, followed by a Phase II
requirement in 2015 of 0.48 million tons. The annual program will impose a cap of 1.5 million
tons in 2009, followed by a Phase II requirement in 2015 of 1.3 million tons. The Phase 1
requirements for both programs are equivalent to a 0.15#NOx/mmBtu erission rate, while the
Phase Il requirements are equivalent to a 0.125#NOx/mmBtu rate.

The banked allowances from the SIP Call will carry over into CAIR’s new seasonal NOx trading
program. The states will be allocated allowances that are based on fuel adjusted average heat
input values, using fuel adjustment factors of 1.0 for coal, 0.6 for oil, and 0.4 for gas.
Additionally, there will be no progressive flow control provisions under CAIR. There will,

however, be a one-time compliance supplement pool (CSP) during the first year of the program to
~ assist states transitioning to a NOX cap-and-trade program for the first time.

There are some other factors to consider when looking at the future of the NOx market. First,
technology is continuing to improve and we expect units to be capable of achieving
0.01#NOx/mmBtu by 2015. Second, some states are taking actions which may accelerate NOx
reductions beyond CAIR’s requirements. The Ozone Transport Commission in the northeastern
United States is considering a proposal called CAIR+ which would accelerate reduction on a
compressed schedule with Phase I coming in 2008 and Phase I in 2012, Third, the emerging
GHG markets and expected future regulation of CO2 could force the closure of some older plants
that are too costly to regulate for CO2 emissions, potentially having a big impact on the NOx
market.

The L.ong-Term Outlook (CAIR)

As noted previously, one of the most dramatic features of the NOx rules under CAIR is the
creation of two markets, covering ammual and seasonal emissions. We expect these two markets to
operate very differently, as described below.

The Annual Market should bear the heavy lifiing in terms of where power companies allocate
their NOx control costs. This occurs because the annual market covers the entire timeframe that

must be regulated (i.e., the calendar year), rather than just the shorter May-September seasonal
period.

Prices will likely begin at very high levels this year: A great deal of speculation has collected

around the idea of a $3,000/ton range for the 2009 vintage, but we have been forecasting closer to
$3,600. This seems to be borne out by recent quotes of $3,200 to buy that have been countered
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with $4,000 to sell, reinforcing our view, although no sales have been made to date. We see the
price commanding this magnitude due to several factors, including (1) the arrival of a significant
number of new entries into the program for the first time and (2) the absence of any bank leading
into the program. As such, we anticipate most companies will first want to build their own bank
for internal comfort, and only later contemplate selling allowances in any significant volumes.
The CSPs (Compliance Supplement Pool) will mitigate this issue to some extent (although at
“least two states will likely not utilize their CSPs), but not enough to forestall the two issues we
have raised.

The price will rapidly fall, however, as the program matures: In this instance, we identify three
reasons why this will occur. First, the size of the bank is likely to rise quickly, due to the high
price of the program at the outset (which will serve as an incentive to overcomply rather than rely
on the market) and to the demonstrated success of both primary and secondary technologies in
the SIP Call program. Second, the expansion of the NOx program from a seasonal to a full
calendar year means, that for economic valuation, the capital costs of a company’s NOx reduction
program are annualized rather than spread out only over the five months of the seasonal program.
In other words, the annual cost of a piece of equipment is noticeably reduced when it is divided
by 12 meonths, rather than just 5 months. Finally, we expect substantial technology gains to be
made during this period, including improved removal efficiency from units operating on high
sulfur coals (that often backed off to 70-78% removal due to the SO3 problem), continued
efficiency gains in the use of primary equipment, and the emergence of multi-pollutant integrated
technologies that will both lower costs and raise removal efficiency.

NOx PRICE OUTLOOK: ANNUAL MARKET
Real 2007%/ton NOX
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Prices will continue to fall, in spite of the more stringent standard introduced in 2015: The
2015 adjustment to 0.1254#NO0x (from 0.15#NOx) is not expected to introduce any major pricing
adjustments. While that may appear counterintuitive, it is in our view attributable to two inter-
related factors. First, as noted above, the costs for NOx reduction will continue to fall, not only
due to improving technology but also due to the increasing penetration of integrated pollution
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control systems. It is, very simply put, a situation where the technology will simply outrun the
standard. Second, as a continuing theme in our forecasts, the accelerated retirement of the older,
higher cost units will decrease demand for NOx allowances by the 2015 time frame, leading to a
rising bank of annual NOx allowances that depress pricing.

The Seasonal Market poses some very interesting questions as to how prices should be
established. We at Global Insight have debated three different hypothetical outcomes to how
prices might ultimately be reflected. First, we theorized that since all costs were already allocated
to the annual market, the cost for the seasonal market was essentially zero, so any price above
that would be acceptable, Second, at the other extreme, we considered the argument that even if
the full costs were already allocated to the annual market, the value of a seasonal allowance
would be the fully loaded cost of creating a new allowance during the ozone season, perhaps
reflected in the marginal cost of adding an SCR tfo a unit with only primary equipment. Finally,
we settled on a middle ground where the cost would be reflected in the sum of the variable cost of
operating an SCR plus a profit margin that varied based on market conditions. This floor is
established because a lower price could serve as an incentive for a company to shut off its SCR
for a part of the ozone season and take advantage of the lower cost allowance market.

Superimposed on our thinking regarding the seasonal market is the realization that the NOx bank
will apply strong downward pressure on the price due to its enormous magnitude. With the
current bank already sitting at about 200,000 tons at the end of the 2006 season and CAIR
removing any semblance of constraint by eliminating the PFC (Progressive Flow Control)
requirement, the bank should simply continue to expand to huge proportions in the post-2009
period.
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Forecasts of Delivered Coal Prices: Coleman

COLEMAN 3-4% S, 11000 BTU

$/ton

20067
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025

Real 2006 $/ton

2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025

Mine-Mouth
Price

$29.05
$31.86
$34.17
$34,72
$34.70
$34.69
$34.94
$35.28
$35.64
$36.05
$36.,40
$36.81
$37.23
$37.65
$38.01
$38.43
$38.83
$39,30
$39.72

$28,35
$30.50
$32.06
$31.90
$31.21
$30.56
$30.18
$29.90
$29.64
$29.44
$29.18
$28.97
$28.77
$28.57
$28.33
$28.12
$27.90
$27.73
$27.52

Truck
Transport Cost

$9.12
$9.02
$8.69
$9.00
$9.30
$9.55
$9.77
$9.88
$10.01

$10.17

$10.23
$10.33
$10.50
$10.57
$10.68
$10.86
$10.90
$11.07
$11.27

$8.90
$8.63
$8.16
$8.27
£8,36
$8.41
$8.44
$8.37
'$8.32
$8.31
$8.20
$8.13
$8.11
$8.02
$7.96
$7.94
$7.83
$7.81
$7.81

Delivered
Price

$38.17
$40.88
$42,86
$43.71
$44.00
$44.25
$44.71
$45.15
$45.64
$46.23
$46.64
$47.13
$47.73
$48.21
$48.69
$46.29
$49.73
$50.37
$50.99

$37.25
$39.13
$40.22
$40.16
$39.57
$38.98
$38.62
$38.27
$37.96
$37.75
$37.38
$37.09
$36.88
$36.59
$36.28
$36.07
$35.73
$35.54
$35.33

Mine-Mouth
Price

$29.05
$31.86
$34.17
$34.72
$34.70
$34,69
$34.94
$35,28
$35.64
$36.05
$36.40
$36.81
$37.23
$37.65
$38.01
$38.43
$38.83
$39.30
$39.72

$28.35
$30.50
$32.06
$31.90
$31.21
$30.56
$30.18
$29.90
$29.64
$29.44
$29.18

$28.97 .

$28.77
$28.57
$28.33
$28.12
$27:90
$27.73
$27.52

Barge
Transport Cost

$5.52
$5.50
$5.37
$5.54
$5.71
$5,85
$5.98
$6.06
$6.15
$6.28
$6.35
$6.44
$6.57
$6.65
$6.74
$6.86
$6.92
$7.02
$7.13

$5.39
$5.26
$5.04
$5.09
$5.13
$5.15
$5.16
$5.14
$5.12
$5.12
$5.09
$5.07
$5.07
$5.04
$5.02
$5.02
$4.98
$4.95
$4.94

Detivered
Price

$34.57
$37.36
$39.54
$40.26
$40.41
$40.54
$40.92
$41.34
$41.79
$42.33
$42.75
$43.25
$43.80
$44.29
$44.75
$45.30
$45.75
$46.32
$46.85

$33.74
$35.76
$37.10
$36.99
$36.34
$35.71
$35.34
$35.03
$34.76
$34.56
$34.27
$34.04
$33.84
$33.61
$33.35
$33.15
$32.87
$32.68
$32.46

SEPTEMBER 2007

GLOBAL INSIGHT, INC,

PAGE 20




Forecasts of Delivered Coal Prices: Green

GREEN 3.3% S, 10500 BTU
Mine-Mouth Truck Delivered Mine-Mouth Barge Delivered
Price Transport Cost Price Price Transport Cost Price
$/ton
2007 $27.73 $4.79 $32.52 $27.73 $3.41 $31.14
2008 $30.4% $4.74 %$35.15 $30.41 $3.41 $33.82
2009 $32.61 $4.57 $37.18 $32.61 $3.35 $35.96
2010 $33.14 $4.72 $37.86 $33.14 $3.44 $36.58
2011 $33.12 $4.88 $38.01 $33.12 $3.54 $36.66
2012 $33.12 $5.02 $38,13 $33.12 $3.62 $36.74
2013 $33.35 $5.13 $38.48 $33.35 $3.70 "$37.05
2014 $33.67 $5.19 $38.86 $33.67 $3.74 $37.42
2015 $34,02 $5.26 $39.27 $34.02 $3.80 $37.82
2016 $34.41 $5.34 $39.76 $34.41 $3.86 $38.28
2017 $34.75 $5.37 $40.12 $34.75 $3.90 $38.65
2018 $35.13 $5.42 $40.56 %$35.13 $3.95 $36.08
2019 $35.54 $5.51 $41.05 $35.54 $4.02 $39.55
2020 $35.94 $5.55 $41.49 $35.94 $4.06 $40.00
2021 $36.28 $5.61 $41.89 $36.28 $4.13% $40.40
2022 $36.69 $5.70 $42.39 $36.69 $4.18 $40.87
2023 $37.06 $5.72 $42.79 $37.06 $4.22. $41.28
2024 $37.51 $5.81 $43.32 $37.51 $4.26 $41.77
2025 $37.91 $5.92 $43.83 $37.91 $4.31 $42.22
Real 2006 $/ton
2007 $27.06 $4.67 $31.74 $27.06 $3.33 $30.39
2008 $29.11 $4.53 $33.64 $29.11 $3.26 $32.37
2009 $30.60 $4.28 $34.89 $30.60 $3.14 $33.74
2010 $30.45 $4.34 $34.79 $30.45 $3.16 $33.61
2011 $29.79 $4.39 $34.18 $29.79 $3.18 $32.97
2012 $29.17 $4.42 $33.59 $29.17 $3.19 $32.36
2013 $28.81 $4.43 $33.24 $28.81 $3.19 £32.00
2014 $28.54 %4.40 $32.93 $28.54 $3.17 $31.71
2015 $28.29 $4.37 $32.67 $28.25 $3.16 $31.45
2016 $28.10 $4.36 %$32.46 $28.10 $3.15 $31.25
2017 $27.86 $4.31 $32.16 $27.86 $3.13 $30.98
2018 $27.65 $4.27 $31.92 $27.65 $3.11 $30.76
2019 $27.46 $4.26 $31.72 $27.46 $3.10 $30.57
2020 $27.27 $4.21 $31.48 $27.27 $3.08 $30.35
2021 $27.04 $4.18 $31.22 $27.04 $3.06 $30.10
2022 $26.85 $4.17 $31.02 $26.85 $3.06 $29.90
2023 $26.63 $4.11 $30.74 $26.63 $3.03 $29.66
2024 $26.47 $4.10 ©$30.57 $26.47 $3.01 $29.47
2025 $26.27 $4.10 $30.37 $26.27 £2.99 $29.25
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Forecasts of Delivered Coal Prices: Henderson

HENDERSON 3-4% S, 11000 BTU

Mine~Mouth Truck Delivered Mine-Mouth Barge Delivered
Price Transport Cost Price Price Transport Cost Price
$/ton
2007 $29.05 $4.79 $33.84 $28.05 $3.41 $32.47
2008 $31.86 $4.74 $36.60 $31.86 $3.41 $35.27
2009 $34.17 $4.57 $38.73 $34.17 $3.35 $37.51
2010 $34.72 $4.72 $39.44 $34.72 $3.44 $38.16
2011 $34.70 $4.88 $39.5% $34.70 $3.54 $38.24
2012 $34.69 $5.02 $39.71 . $34.69 $3.62 $38.32
2013 $34.94 $5.13 $40.07 $34.94 $3.70 $38.63
2014 $35.28 $5.19 $40.46 $35.28 $3.74 $39.02
2015 $35.64 $5.26 $40.89 $35.64 $3.80 $39.44
2016 $36.05 £5.34 $41,40 $36.05 $3.86 $39.91
2017 4$36.40 $5,37 $41.78 $36.40 $3.90 $40.31
2018 $36.81 $5.42 $42.23 $36.81 $3.95 $40.76
2019 $37.23 $5.51 $42.74 $37.23 $4.02 $41.25
2020 $37.65 $5.55 $43.20 $37.65 $4.06 $41.71
2021 $38.01 $5.61 $43.62 $38.01 $4.11 $42.12
2022 $38.43 $5.70 $44.14 $38.43 $4.18 $42.61
2023 $38.83 $5.72 $44,55 $38.83 $4.22 $43.04
2024 $39.30 $5.81 $45.11 $39.30 $4.26 $43.56
2025 $39.72 $5.92 $45.64 $39.72 $4.31 $44.03
Real 2006 $/ton
2007 $28.35 $4.67 $33.02 $28.35 $3.33 $31.68
2008 $30.50 $4.53 $35.03 $30.50 $3.26 $33.75
2609 $32.06 $4.28 $36.34 $32.06 $3.14 $35.20
2010 $31.90 $4.34 $36.24 $31.90 $3.16 $35.06
2011 $31.21 $4.39 $35.60 $31.21 $3.18 $34.39
2012 $30.56 $4.42 $34.98 $30.56 $3.19 $33.75
2013 $30.18 $4.43 $34.61 $30.18 $3.19 $33.37
2014 $29.90 $4.40 $34.29 $25.90 $3.17 $33.07
2015 $25.64 $4.37 $34.01 $29.64 $3.16 $32.80
2016 $29.44 $4.36 $33.80 $29.44 $3.15 $32.59
2017 $29.18 $4.31 $33.49 $20.18 $3.13 $32.31
2018 $28.97 $4.27 $33.23 428,97 $3.11 $32.07
2019 $2B.77 $4.26 $33.03 $28.77 $3.10 $31.87
2020 $28.57 $4,21 $32.78 $28.57 $3.08 $31.65
2021 $28.33 $4.18 $32.50 $28.33 $3.06 $31.39
2022 $28.12 $4.17 $32.30 %2812 $3.06 $3:1.18
2023 $27.90 $4.11 $32.01 $27.90 $3.03 $30.93
2024 $27.73 $4.10 $31.83 $27.73 $3.01 $30.73
2025 $27.52 $4.10 $31.62 $27.52 $2.99 $30.50
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Forecasts of Delivered Coal Prices: Reid

REID <2.7% S, 11000 BTU
Mine-Mouth Truck Delivered Mine-Mouth Barge Delivered
Price Transport Cost Price Price Transport Cost Price
$/ton
2007 $33.27 $5.35 $38.62 $33.27 $5.80 $39.07
2008 $37.60 $5.29 $42.89 $37.60 $5.77 $43.36
2009 $40.15 $5.10 $45.25 $40.15 $5.62 $45.77
2010 $40.62 $5.28 $45.90 $40.62 $5.80 %$46.42
2011 -%40.56 $5.46 $46.01 $40.56 $5.97 $46.53
2012 $40.50 $5.60 $48,10 $40.50 $6.12 $46.62
2013 $40.74 $5.73 $46.47 $40.74 $6.26 $47.00
2014 $41.09 $5.79 $46.88 $41.09 $6.33 $47.42
2015 $41.46 $5.87 $47.33 $41.46 $6.42 $47.88
2016 $41.90 $£5.97 $47.87 $41.90 $6.53 $48.43
2017 $42.26 $6.00 $48.26 $42.26 $6.58 $48.84
2018 $42.68 $6.06 $48.74 $42.68 $6.66 $49.34
2019 $43.12 $6.16 $49.28 $43.12 $6.77 $49.89
2020 $43.56 $6.20 $49.76 $43.56 $£6.83 $50.39
2021 $43.93 $6.26 $50.19 $43.93 $6.91 $50.84
2022 $44.37 $6.37 $50.74 $44.37 $7.02 $51.39
2023 ¢44,77 $6.39 $51.17 $44.77 $7.07 $51.84
2024 $45.26 $6.49 $51.76 $45,26 $7.16 $52.42
2025 $45.69 $6.61 $52.31 $45.69 $7.26 $52.96
Real 2006 $/ton
2007 $32.46 $5.22 $37.68 $32.46 $5.66 $38.12
2008 $35.98 $5.06 $41.05 $35,98 $5.52 $41.50
2009 $37.67 $4.79 $42.45 $37.67 $5.28 $42.95
2010 $37.32 $4.85 $42.17 $37.32 $5.33 $42.65
2011 $36.48 $4.91 $41.38 $36.48 $5.37 $41.85
2012 $35.68 $4.94 $40.61 $35.68 $5.39 $41.07
2013 $35.19 $4.95 $40.14 $35.19 $5.40 $40.59
2014 $34.82 $4.91 $39,73 $34.82 $5.37 $40.19
2015 $34.49 $4.88 $39.37 $34.49 $5.34 $39.83
2016 $34.21 $4.87 $39.09 $34.21 $5.33 $39.54
2017 $33.88 $4.81 $38.69 $33.88 $5.28 $39.15
2018 $33.59 $4.77 $38.36 $33.59 $5.24 $38.83
2019 $33.32 $4.76 $38.08 $33.32 $£5.23 £38.55
2020 $33.06 $4,70 $37.76 $33.06 $5.18 $38.24
2021 $32.74 $4.67 $37.40 $32.74 $5.15 $37.88
2022 $32.47 $4.66 $37.13 $32.47 $5.14 $37.61
2023 $32.17 $4.59 $36.76 $32.17 $5.08 $37.25
2024 $31.94 $4.58 $36.52 $31.94 $5.05 $36.99
2025 $31.66 $4.58 $36.24 $31.66 $5.03 $36.69
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Forecasts of Delivered Coal Prices: Wilson

WILSON 3.3% 8§, 10700 BTU

Mina-Mouth Truck Delivered Mine-Mouth Barge Delivered
Price Transport Cost Price Price Transport Cost Price
$/ton
2007 %$28.26 $6.59 $34.85 $28.26 $3.53 $31.79
2008. $30.99 $6.52 $37.51 _ $30.99 $3.52 $34.51
2009 $33.23 $6.28 $39.52 $33.23 $3.46 $36.69
20610 $33.77 $6.50 $40.27 $33.77 $3.56 $37.33
2011 $33.76 $6.72 $40.47 $33.76 $3.66 $37.41
2012 $33.75 $6.90 $40.65 $33.75 $3.74 $37.49
2013 $33.98 $7.06 $41.05 $33.98 $3.82 $37.81
2014 $34.32 $7.14 $41.45 $34.32 $3.87 $38.19
2015 $34.67 $7.23 $41.90 $34.67 $3.93 $38.59
2016 $35.07 $7.35 $42.42 $35.07 $4.00 $38.07
2017 $35.41 $7.30 $42.80 $35.41 $4.04 $39.45
2018 $35.80 $7.46 $43.26 $35.80 $4.09 $39.89
2019 $36.21 $7.58 $43.80 $36.21 $4,16 $40.37
2020 $36.62 $7.63 $44.26 $36.62 $4.20 $40.82
2021 $36.97 $7.72 $44.69 $36.97 $4.26 $41.23
2022 $37.3% $7.84 © $45.23 $37.3% $4,33 $41.72
2023 $37.77 $7.88 $45.64 $37.77 $4.37 $42.13
2024 $38.23 $8.00 $46.22 $38.23 $4.41 $42.64
2025 $38.63 $8.14 $46.78 $38.63 $4.47 $43.10

Real 2006 $/ton

2007 $27.58 $6.43 $34.01 $27.58 $3.44 $31.02
2008 $29.66 $6.24 $35.90 $29.66 $3.37 $33.03
2609 $31.18 $5.50 $37.08 $31.18 $3.25 $34.43
2010 $31.03 $5.97 $37.00 $31.03 $3.27 . $34.30
2011 $30.36 $6.04 $36.40 $30.36  $3.29 $33.65
2012 $29.73 $6.08 $35.81 $29.73 $3.30 $33.03
2013 $29.35 $6.10 $35.45 $29.35 $3.30 $32.66
2014 $29.08 $6.05 $35.13 $29.08 $3.28 $32.36
2015 $28.83 $6.01 $34.85 $28.83 $3.27 $32.10
2016 $28.64 $6.00 $34.64 $28.64 $3.26- $31.90
2017 $28.39 $5,93 $34.31 $28.39 $3.24 $31,62
2018 $28.18 $5.87 $34.05 $28.18 $3.22 $31.39
2019 $27.99 5,86 $33.85 $27.99 $3.21 $31.20
2020 $27.79 $5,79 $33.58 $27.79 $3,19 $30.98
2021 $27.55 $5.75 $33.30 $27.55 $3.17 $30.73
2022 $27.36 $5.74 $33.10 $27.36 $3.17 $30.52
2023 $27.14 $5.66 $32.80 $27.14 $3.14 $30.28
2024 $26.97 $5.64 $32.61 $26.97 $3.11 $30.09
2025 $26.77 $5.64 $32.41 $26,77 $3.10 $29.,86
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SO2 Allowarice Price Forecast

SO2 ALLOWANCE PRICE FORECAST

Nominal % Reai 2006 %
Year $/Ton Change $/Ton Change

1992 $320 $430 _

1993 $187 -41.72% $245 -43.03%
1994 $164 -12.20% $210 -14.02%
1995 $133 -19.08% $167 -20.71%
1996 $84 -36.86% $103 -38.02%
1897 $09 18.43% $120 16.49%
1998 $157 58.90% $189 57.15%
1999 $194 23.53% $231 21.77%
2000 $141 -27.37% $164 -28.92%
2001 $186 31.51% $210 28.43%
2002 $153 ~17.62% $170 -19.04%
2003 $174 13.88% $190 11.52%
2004 $438 151.30% $464 144.36%
2005 $806 106.96% $933 100.86%
2006 $731 -19.35% $731 -21.63%
2007 $549 -24.92% $536 -26.74%
2008 $778 49.75% $745 39.04%
2009 $853 9.63% $800 7.48%
2010 $881 3.30% $800 1.15%
2011 $818 -7.12% $736 -9.08%
2012 $792 -3.27% $697 -5.26%
2013 $747 -5.61% $645 -7.45%
2014 §787 5.29% $667 3.31%!
2015 $907 16.27% $754 13.13%
2016 $750 -16.28% $620 ~17.81%
2017 $618 -1B.54% $496 -20.03%
2018 $357 -42.27% $281 -43.33%
2019 $146 -59.04% $113 -59.78%
2020 $137 -6.43% $104 -8.11%
2021 $134 -1.70% $100 -3.47%
2022 $111 ~17.25% $81 -18.75%
2023 $105 -6.00% $75 -7.69%
2024 $102 -2.41% $72 -4.17%
2025 $98 -4.06% $68 -5.80%

NOTE: The price depicts the cost of reducing one ton of emissions.
Under CAIR, 2 allowances generated after 2009 will be needed

to reduce one ton of emissions, and in 2015 the ratio will rise to 2.86:1
As a result, reducing a ton of emissions in 2013 would take one
pre-2010 allowance priced at $728 (nominal $), or two 2010-2012
allowances priced at $364 each.
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NOx Allowance Price Forecast

NOx ALLOWANCE PRICE FORECAST (ANNUAL)

‘Nominal % Real 2006 %
Year $/Ton Change ' $/Ton Change

2007 $6,840 $6,674

2008 $£3,482 -49.09% $3,333 -50.07%
2009 $2,847 -18.22% $2,672 ~19.83%
2010 $2,409 -15.41% $2,213 -17.17%
2011 $2,155 -10.54% © $1,938 -12.43%
2012 $1,985 ~7.88% $1,749 -9, 77%
2013 $1,900 -4,29% $1,641 ~6.16%
2014 $1,909 0.49% $1,618 -1.40%
2015 $1,869 -2.08% $1,555 -3.90%
2016 $1,748 -6.47% $1,428 -8.18%
2017 $1,625 -7.03% $1,303 -8.73%
2018 $1,569 - -3.50% $1,234 -5.26%
2019 $1,510 -3.71% $1,167 -5.45%
2020 $1,521 0.68% $1,154 -1.13%
2021 $1,523 0.17% $1,135 -1.64%
2022 $1,525 0.15% $1,116 -1.65%
2023 $1,527 0.13% $1,098 -1.67%
2024 $1,529 0.12% $1,079 © -1.69%
2025 $1,531 0.11% $1,061 -1.70%

NOTE: Prices for 2007-2008 are for pre-CAIR trading; prices for 2008-2
are for the actual time period covered by CAIR
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Emissions & Allowance Summary
M~winal doliars

2008 2008 2010 2011 2012
S02 Price forecast § 778 % 853 § 441 % 409 % 396
year beginning 502 atiowance inventory 0.000 0.000 14,000 14.000 14.000
Total SO2 tons emitted x1000 14.849 20077 21.157 20.054 20.575
yearly SO2 allowances surrendered back to EPA 14.849 20077 . 42314 40.107 41.150
yearly allocation of SO2 allowances from EPA 34.991 52.487 - 52.487 52.487 52.487
yearly SO2 atlowances x1000 excess/{short) gross of Cify 20.142 32.410 10.173 12.380 11.337
Excess H-182 Allowances Back to City (capacity take) 1.622 2228 0.957 1.048 1.071
yearly $O2 aliowances x1000 sold/{purchased) net of City 18.620 30.182 8218 11.332 10.266
year ending $02 allowance inventory 0.000 14.000 14.000 14.000 14,000

S02 aliowances Sales/{purchases) net of City $14,486,360 $25,745246 $4,064,2566 $4,634,788 $4,065,336
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Forecasts of Delivered Coal Prices: Coleman

COLEMAN 3-4% S, 11000 BTU

Mine-Mouth Truck Delivered Mine-Mouth Barge Delivered
Price Transport Cost Price Price Transport Cost Price
$/ton
2007 ~ $29.05 $9.12 $38.17 $29.05 $5.52 $34.57
2008 $31.86 $9.02 $40.88 $31.86 $5.50 $37.36
2009 $34.17 $8.69 $42.86 $34.17 $5.37 $39.54
2010 $34.72 $9.00 $43.71 $£34.72 $5.54 $40.26
2011 $34.70 $9.30 $44.00 $34.70 $5.71 $40.41
2012 $34.69 $9.55 $44.25 $34.69 $5.85 $40.54
2013 $34.94 $9.77 $44,71 $34.94 $5.98 $40.52
2014 $35.28 $9.88 $45.15 $35.28 $6.06 $41.34
2015 $35.64 $10.0t $45.64 $35.64 $6.15 $41.79
2016 $36.05 $10.17 $46,23 $36.05 $6.28 $42.33
2017 $36.40 $10.23 $46.64 $36.40 $6.35 $42.75
- 2018 $36.81 $10.33 $47.13 $36.81 $6.44 $43.25
2019 $37.23 $10.50 $47.73 $37.23 $6.57 $43.80
2020 $37.65 $10.57 $48.21 $37.65 $6.65 $44.29
2021 $38.01 $10.68 $48.69 $38.01 $6.74 $44.75
2022 $38.43 $10.86 $49.29 $38.43 $6.86 $45.30
2023 $38.83 $10.90 $49.73 $38.83 $6.92 $45.75
2024 $39.30 $11.07 $50.37 $39.30 $7.02 $46.32
2025 $39.72 $11.27 $50.99 £39.72 $7.13 $46.85
Real 2006 $/ton
2007 $28.35 $8.50 $37.25 $28.35 $5.39 $33.74
2008 $30.50 $8.63 $39.13 $30.50 $5.26 - $35.76
2009 $32.06 $8.16 $40.22 - $32.06 $5.04 $37.10
2010 $31.90 $8.27 $40.16 $31.90 $5.09 $36.99
2011 $31.21 $8.36 $39.57 $31.21 $5.13 $36,34
2012 $30.56 $8.41 $38,98 $30.56 $5.15 $35.71
2013 $30.18 $8.44 $38.62 $30.18 $5.16 $35.34
2014 $29.90 $8.37 $38.27 $29.90 $5.14 $35.03
2015 $29.64 $8.32 $37.96 $29.64 $5.12 $34.76
2016 $29.44 $8.31 $37.75 $29.44 $5.12 $34.56
2017 $29.18 $8.20 $37.38 $29.18 $5.09 $34.27
2018 $28.97 $8.13 $37.09 $28.97 $5.07 $34.04
2015 $28.77 $8.11 $36.88 $28.77 $5.07 $33.84
2020 $28.57 $8.02 $36.59 $28.57 $5.04 $33.61
2021 $28.33 $7.96 $36.28 $28.33 $5.02 $33.35
2022 $28.12 $7.94 $36.07 $28.12 $5.02 $33.15
2023 $27.90 $7.83 $35.73 $27.90 $4.98 $32.87
2024 $27.73 $7.81 $35.54 $27.73 $4,95 $32.68
2025 $27.52 $7.81 $35.33 $27.52 $4.94 $32.46
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Forecasts of Delivered Coal Prices: Green

GREEN 3.3% S, 10500 BTU
Mine-Mouth Truck belivered Mine-Mouth Barge Delivered
Price Transport Cost Price Price Transport Cost Price
%$/ton
2007 $27.73 $4.79 $32.52 $27.73 $3.41 $31.14
2008 $30.41 $4.74 $35.15 $30.41 $3.41 $33.82
2009 $32.61 $4.57 $37.18 $32.61 $3.35 $35.96
2010 $33,14 $4.72 $37.86 $33.14 $3.44 $36.58
2011 $33.12 $4.88 $38.01 $33.12 $3.54 $36.66
2012 $33.12 $5.02 $38.13 $33.12 $3.62 $36.74
2013 £33.35 $5.13 $38.48 $33.35 $3.70 $37.05
2014 $33.67 $5.19 $38.86 $33.67 $3.74 $37.42
2015 $34.02 $5.26 $39.27 $34.02 $3.80 $37.82
2016 $34.41 $5.34 $39.76 $34.41 $3.86 $38.28
2017 $34.75 $£5.37 $40.12 $34,75 $3.90 $38.65
2018 $35.13 $5.42 $40.56 $35.13 $3.95 $39.08
2019 $35.54 $5,51 $41.05 $35.54 $4.62 $39.55
2020 $35.94 $5.55 $41.49 £35.94 $4.06 $40.00
2021 $36.28 $5.61 $41.89 $36.28 $4.11 $40.40
2022 $36.69 $5.70 $42.39 $36.69 $4.18 $40.87
2023 $37.06 $5.72 $42.79 $37.06 $4.22 $41.28
2024 $37.51 $5.81 $43.32 $37.51 $4.26 $41.77
2025 £37.91 $5.92 $43.83 $37.91 $4.31 $42.22
Real 2006 $/ton
2007 $27.06 $4.67 $31.74 $27.06 $3,33 $30.39
2008 £29.11. $4.53 $33.64 $29.11 $3.26 $32.37
2009 %$30.60 4.28 $34.89 $30.60 $3.14 $33.74
2010 $30.45 $4.34 $34.79 $30.45 $3.16 $33.61
2011 $29.79 $4.39 $34.18 $29.79 $3.18 $32.97
2012 $29.17 $4.42 $33.59 $29.17 $3.19 $32.36
2013 $28.81 %$4.43 $33.24 $28.81 $3.19 $32.00
2014 $28.54 $4.40 ©$32.93 $28.54 $3.17 $31.71
2015 $28.29 $4.37 $32.67 $28.29 $3.16 $31.45%
2016 $28.10 $4.36 $32.46 $28.10 $3.15 $31.25
2017 $27.86 $4.31 $32.16 $27.86 $3.13 $30.98
2018 $27.65 $4,27 $31.92 $27.65 $3.11 $£30.76
2019 $27.46 $4.26 $31.72 $27.46 $3.10 $30.57
2020 $27.27 $4.21 $31.48 $27.27 $3.08 $30.35
2021 $27.04 $4.18 $31.22 $27.04 $3.06 $30.10
2022 $26.85 $4.17 $31.062 $26.85 $3.06 $26.90
2023 $26.63 $4.11 $30.74 $26.63 $3.03 $29.66
2024 $26.47 $4.10 $30.57 $26.47 $3.01 $29.47
2025 $26.27 $4.10 $30.37 $26.27 $2.99 $28.25
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Forecasts of Delivered Coal Prices: Henderson

HENDERSON 3-4% S, 11000 BTU

Mine-Maouth Truck Delivered Mine-Mouth Barge Delivered
Price Transport Cost Price Price Transport Cost Price
/ton
20607 $29.05 $4.79 $33.84 $29.05 $3.41 $32.47
2008 | $31.86 $4.74 $36.60 $31.86 $3.41 $35.27
2009 $34.17 $4.57 $38.73 $34.17 $3.35 $37.51
2010 $34.72 $4.72 $39.44 $34.72 $3.44 $38.16
2011 $34.70 $4.88 $39.59 $34.70 $3.54 $38.24
2012 $34.69 $5.02 $39.71 $34.69 "$3.62 $38.32
2013 $34,94 $5.13 $40.07 $34.94 $3.70 $38.63
2014 $35.28 $5.19 - $40.46 $35.28 $3.74 $39.02
2015 $35.64 $5.26 $40.89 $35.64 $3.80 $39.44
2016 $36.05 $5.34 $41.40 $36.05 $3.86 $39.91
2017 $36.,40 $5.37 $41.78 $36.40 $3.20 $40.31
2018 $36.81 $5.42 $42.23 $36.81 $3.95 $40.76
2019 $37.23 $5.51 $42.74 $37.23 $4.02 $41.25
2020 $37.65 $5.55 $43.20 $37.65 $4.06 $41.71
2021 $38.01 $5.61 $43.62 $38.01 $4.11 $42.12
2022 $38.43 $5.70 $44.14 $38.43 $4.18 - $42.61
2023 $38.83 $5.72 $44.55 $38.83 $4.22 $43.04
2024 $39.30 $5.81 $45.11 $39.30 $4.26 $43.56
2025 $35.72 $5.92 $45.64 $39.72 $4.31 $44.03
Real 2006 $/ton
2007 $28.35 $4.67 $33.02 $28.35 $3.33 $31.68 .
2008 $30.50 $4.53 $35.03 $30.50 $3.26 $33.75
2009 $32.06 $4.28 $36.34 $32.06 $3.14 $35.20
2010 $31.90 $4.34 $36.24 $31.90 $3.16 $35.06
2011 $31.21 $4.39 $35.60 $31.21 $3.18 $34.39
20612 $30.56 $4.42 $34.98 $30.56 $3.19 $33.75
2013 $30.18 $4.43 $34.61 $30.18 $3.19 $33.37
2014 $29.90 $4.40 $34.29 $29.90 $3.17 $33.07
2015 $29.64 $4.37 $34.01 $29.64 $3.16 $32.80
2016 $29.44 $4.36 $33.80 $29.44 $£3.15 $32.59
2017 $29.18 $4.31 $33.49 $29.18 $3.13 $32.31
2018 $28.97 $4.27 $33.23 $28.97 $3.11 $32.07
2019 $28.77 $4.26 $33.03 $28.77 $3.10 $31.87
2020 $28.57 $4.21 $32.78 $28.57 $3.08 $31.65
2021 $28.33 $4.18 $32.50 $28.33 $3.06 $31.39
2022 $28.12 $4.17 $32.30 $28,12 $3.06 $31.18
2023 $27.90 $4.11 $32.01 $27.90 $3.03 $30.93
2024 $27.73 $4.10 $31.83 $27.73 $3.01 $30.73
2025 $27.52 $4.10 $31.62 $27.52 $2.99 $30.50
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Forecasts of Delivered Coal Prices: Reid

REID <2.7% S, 11000 BTU
Mine-Mouth Truck Delivered Mine-Mouth Barge Delivered
Price Transport Cost Price Price Transport Cost Price
&/ton
2007 $33.27 $5.35 $38.62 $33.27 $5.80 $39.07
2008 $37.60 $5.29 $42.89 $37.60 $5.77 $43.36
2009 $40.15 $5.10 $45.25 $40.1% $5.62 $45.77
2010 $40.62 $5.28 $45,90 $40.62 $5.80 $46.42
2011 %$40.56 $5.46 $46.01 $40.56 $5.97 $46.53
2012 $40.50 $5.60 $46.10 $40.50 $6.12 $46.62
2013 $40.74 . $5.73 $46.47 $40.74 $6.26 $47.00
2014 $41.09 $5.79 $46.88 $41.00 $6.33 $47.42
2015 $41.46 $5.87 $47.33 $41.46 $6.42 $47.88
2016 $41.90 $5.97 $47.87 $41.90 $6.53 $48.43
2017 $42.26 $6.00 $48.26 $42.26 $6.58 $48.84
2018 $42.68 $6.06 $48.74 $42.68 $6.66 $49.34
2019 $43.12 $6.16 $49.28 $43.12 $6.77 $45.89
2020 $43.56 $6.20 $49.76 $43.56 $6.83 $50.39
2021 $43.93 $6.26 $50.19 $43.93 $6.91 $50.84
2022 $44.37 $6.37 $50.74 $44.37 $7.02 $51.39
2023 $44.77 $6.39 $51.17 $44.77 $7.07 $51.84
2024 $45.26 £6.49 $51.76 $45.26 $7.16 $52.42
2025 $45.69 $6.61 $52.31 $45.69 $7.26 $52.96
Reat 2006 $/ton
2007 $32.46 $5.22 $37.68 $32.46 $£5.66 $38.12
2008 $35.98 $5.06 $41.05 $35.98 $5.52 $41.50
2009 $37.67 $4.79 $42.45 $37.57 $5.28 $42.95
2010 $37.32 $4.85 $42.17 $37.32 $5.33 $42.65
2011 $36.48 $4.91 %$41.38 $36.48 $5.37 $41.85
2012 $35.68 $4.94 $40.61 $35.68 $5.39 $41.07
2013 $35.19 $4.95 $40,14 $35.19 $5.40 $40.59
2014 $34.82 $4.91 $39.73 $34.82 $5.37 $40.19
2015 $34.49 $4.88 $39.37 $34.49 $5.34 $39.83
2016 $34.21 %4,87 - $39.09° $34.21 $5.33 $30.54
2017 $33.88 $4.81 $38.69 $33.88 $5.28 $39.15
2018 $33.59 $4.77 $3B.36 $33.59 $5.24 $38.83
2019 $33.32 $4.76 $38.08 $33.32 $5.23 $38.55
2020 $33.06 $4.70 $37.76 $33.06 $5.18 $38.24
2021 $32.74 $4.67 $37.40 $32.74 $5.15 $37.88
2022 $32.47 $4.66 $37.13 $32.47 £5.14 $37.61
2023 $32.17 $4.59 $36.76 $32.17 $5.08 $37.25
2024 $31.94 $4.58 $36.52 $31.94 $5.05 $36.99
2025 $31.66 $4.58 $36.24 $31.66 $5.03 $36.69
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Forecasts of Delivered Coal Prices: Wilson

WILSON 3.3% S, 10700 BTU

Mine-Mouth Truck Delivered Mine-Mouth Barge beliverad
Price Transport Cost, Price Price Transport Cost Price
$/ton
2067 $28.26 $6.59 $34.85 $28.26 $3.53 $31,79
2008 $30.99 $6.52 $37.51 $30.99 $3.52 $34.,51
2009 433,23 $6.28 $39.,52 $33.23 $3.46 $36.69
2010 $33.77 $6.50 $40.27 $33.77 $3.56 $37.33
2011 $33.76 $6.72 $40.47 $33.76 $3.66 $37.41
2012 $33.75 $6.90 $40.65 $33.75 $3,74 $37.49
2013 $33.98 $7.06 $41.05 $33.98 $3.82 $37.81
2014 $34.32 $7.14 $41.45 $34.32 $3.87 $38.19
2015 $34.67 $7.23 $41.90 $34.67 $3.93 $38.59
2016 $35.07 $7.35 $42.42 $35.07 $4.00° $39.07
2017 $35.41 $7.39 $42.80 $35.41 $4.04 $398.45
2018 $35.80 $7.46 $43.26 $35.80 $4.09 $39.89
2019 $36.2% $7.58 $43.80 $36.21 $4.16 $40.37
2020 $36.62 $7.63 $44.26 $36.62 $4.20 $40.82
2021 $36.97 $7.72 $44.69 - $36.97 $4.26 $41.23
2022 $37.39 $7.84 $45.23 $37.39 $4.33 $41.72
2023 $37.77 $7.88 $45.64 $37.77 $4.37 $42.13
2024 $38.23 $8.00 $46.22 $38.23 $4.41 $42.64
2025 $38.63 $8.14 $46.78 $38.63 $4.47 $43.10
Real 2006 $/ton
2007 $27.58 $6.43 $34.01 $27.58 $3.44 $31.02
2008 $29.66 $6.24 $35.90 $29.66 $3.37 $33.03
2009 $31.18 $5.90 $37.08 $31.18 $3.25 $34.43
2010 $31.03 $5.97 $37.00 $31.03 $3.27 $34.30
2011 $30.36 $6.04 - $36.40 $30.36 $3.29 $33.65
2012 $29.73 £6.08 $35.81 $29.73 $3.30 $33.03
2013 $29.35 $6.10 $35.45 $29.35 $3.30 $32.66
2014 $29.08 $6.05 $35.13 $29.08 $3.28 $32.36
2015 $28.83 $6.01 $34.85 $28.83 $3.27 $32.10
2016 $28.64 $6,00 $34.64 $28.64 $3.26 $31.90
2017 $28.39 $5.93 $34.31 $28.39 $3.24 $31.62
2018 $28.18 $5.87 $34.05 $28.18 $£3.22 $31.39
2019 $27.99 $5.86 $33.85 $27.99 $3.21 $31.20
2020 $27.79 $5.79 $33.58 $27.79 $3.19 $30.98
2021 $27.55 $5.75 $33.30 $27.55 $3.17 $30.73
2022 $27.36 $5.74 $33.10 $27.36 $3.17 $30.52
2023 $27.14 $5.66 $32.80 $27.14 $3,14 $30.28
2024 $26.97 $5.64 $32.61 $26.97 $3.11 $30.09
2025 $26.77 $5.64 $32.41 $26.77 $3.10 $25.86
SERPTEMBER 2007 GLOBAL INSIGHT, INC. PAGE 24




SO02 Allowance Price Forecast

S02 ALLOWANCE PRICE FORECAST

Nominal % Real 2006 %
Year $/Ton Change $/Ton " Change

1992 $320 $430

1993 $187 -41.72% $245 -43.03%
1994 $164 -12.20% $210 -14.02%
1995 $133 -19.08% $167 -20.71%
1996 $84 -36.86% $103 -38.02%
1997 $99 18.43% $120 16.49%
1998 $157 58.90% $189 57.15%
1999 $194 23.53% $231 21.77%
2000 $i141 -27.37% $164 -28.92%
2001 $186 31.51% 210 28.43%
2002 $153 -17.62% 8170 -19.04%
2003 $174 13.88% $190 11.52%
2004 $438 151.30% $464 144.36%
2005 $906 106.96% $933 100.86%
2006 $731 -19.35% £731 -21.63%
2007 $549 -24.92% $536 -26.74%
2008 $778 41.75% $745 39.04%
2009 $853 9.63% $800 7.48%
2010 $881 3.30% $809 1.15%
2011 818 -7.12% $736 -9.08%
2012 $792 -3.27% $697 -5.26%
2013 $747 -5.61% $645 -7.45%
2014 $787 5.29% $667 3.31%
2015 $907 15.27% $754 13.13%
2016 $759 -16.28% $620 -17.81%,
2017 $618 -18.54% $496 -20.03%
2018 8357 -42.27% $281 -43.33%
2019 $146 -69.04% $113 -59.78%
2020 $137 -6.43% $104 -8.11%
2021 $134 1.70% $100 -347%
2022 $111 -17.25% $81 -18.75%
2023 $105 -6.00% $75 -7.69%
2024 $102 -2.41% $72 -4.17%
2025 $98 -4,06% $68 -5.80%

NOTE: The price depicts the cost of reducing one ton of emissions,
Under CAIR, 2 allowances generated after 2009 will be needed

to reduce one ton of emissions, and in 2015 the ratio will rise to 2.86:1
As a result, reducing a ton of emissions in 2013 would take one
pre-2010 allowance priced at $728 (nominal $), or two 2010-2012
allowances priced at $364 each.
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NOXx Allowance Price Forecast

NOx ALLOWANCE PRICE FORECAST (ANNUAL)

Nominal % Real 2006 %
Year $/Ton Change $/Ton Change

2007 $6,840 $6,674 _

2008 £3,482 -49.09% $3,333 -50.07%
2009 $2,847 -18.22% $2,672 -19.83%
2010 $2,409 -15.41% $2,213 -17.17%
2011 $2,155 -10.54% $1,938 -12.43%
2012 $1,985 -7.88% $1,749 -9.77%
2013 $1,900 -4,29% $1,641 -6.16%
2014 41,909 0.49% $1,618 -1.40%
2015 $1,869 -2.08% $1,555 -3.90%
2016 $1,748 -6.47% $1,428 -8.18%
2017 $1,625 -7.03% $1,303 -8.73%
2018 $1,569 -3,50% $1,234 -5.26%
2019 $1,510 -3.71% $1,167 -5.45%
2020 $1,521 0.68% $1,154 -1.13%
2021 $1,523 0.17% $1,135 -1.64%
2022 $1,525 0.15% $1,116 -1.65%
2023 $1,527 0.13% $1,098 -1.67%
2024 $1,529 0.12% $1,079 -1.69%
2025 $1,531 0.11% $1,061 -1.70%

NOTE: Prices for 2007-2008 are for pre-CAIR trading; prices for 2009-2

are for the actual time period covered by CAIR
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 65) Please reference the testimony of David A. Spainhoward, page 16, lines 7-
12, regarding purchase of NO, allowances. Provide work papers and associated

supporting documents to support these estimates net costs.
Response)  Please see Big Rivers’ response to the Attorney General’s Initial Request
Item 64. The work papers and supporting documents for the NOx allowances are

attached hereto.

Wiiness) David A. Spainhoward

item 65
Page 1 of 1
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 66) Please reference the testimony of William Steven Seelye, page 4, line 22.
Provide each purchase power rate charged by E.ON to Big Rivers or any of its members,

by year, since 1998,

Response)  The purchased power rates charged to Big Rivers under the current

transaction are as follows:

Year Amount
1998 18.917
1999 18.917
2000 18.917
2001 18.917
2002 19.117
2003 19.217
2004 19317
2005 19417
2006 19.517
2007 19.717
2008 20.017

Witnesé) C. William Blackburn

William Steven Seelye

[tem 66
Page 1 of 1
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

ftem 67) Please reference the testimony of Michael H. Core, page 7, where it states
the higher rates paid by the Smelters under the new agreement “will add approximately
$327 million in present value.,.” Provide documents and detailed supporting workpapers
(in electronic spreadsheet format with formuias intact) that show the derivation and

calculations to reach this $327 million figure.

Response)  The number is arrived at by calculating the amount of payments from the
Smelters that exceed what would be collected from Big Rivers’ large industrial tariff at a
98% load factor. In the attached spread sheet, the Smelters pay at least 25 cents over the
large industrial tariff, the cost of the 1.24 TIER and surcharges that flow back 1o the

Members to offset some of their fuel costs.

Witness) Michael H. Core

Item 67
Page 1 of 1
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
- PSC CASE NO. 2007-060455

February 14, 2008

Item 68) Please reference the testimony of Michael H. Core, page 11, where it
states “At closing, Big Rivers will become one of the financially strongest generation and
transmission cooperatives in the United States.” Please provide documents which

support this statement.
Reéponse) Please see the response of C. William Blackburn to question AG Item 20.

Witness) Michael H. Core

Item 68
Page 1 of 1
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 69) Please reference the testimony of Michael H. Core, page 14, where it
references “a number of indemnities.” To the extent not previously provided, please list

each of these indemnities.

‘Response)  Please see Big Rivers’ response to the Commission Staff, Item 1.o.

Witness) Michael H. Core

Item 69
Page 1 of 1
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 70) Please reference the testimony of Mark A. Bailey, page 11, regarding
support services agreements with WEKC. Are the prices to Big Rivers for services under

these agreements entirely fixed for the 18 month duration?

a. If not, identify the services for which prices are not fixed, and the
materiality of those non-fixed prices to the cost of services for a fiscal year in their

entirety under the support agreements.

b. To the extent not previously provided, provide a table showing
services under the service agreements, cost/price of each service, and whether or not the

pricing of those services to Big Rivers is fixed in nature.

c. Provide documents which show estimated costs to Big Rivers
from:
i The Generation Dispatch Support Services Agreement; and
ii. The IT Support Services Agreement.
d. Provide documents which show where these costs are included and

addressed in the financial model (Exhibit 8).

Response)  (a- ¢) Article IV of the Generation Dispatch Services Agreement
addresses Compensation. As such, there are no fixed fees, but rather “actual costs
incurred by LEM”. Those fees may include out-of-pocket expenses, labor costs and
benefit costs for 6 employees to perform the services required under the agreement. As
part of its evaluation of a permanent Generation Dispatch solution, APM has made a
proposal to Big Rivers to perform the services for approximately $270,000 per year. Big
Rivers has modeled for the first full year $211,193. Big Rivers will incur costs undes the
Generation Dispatch Services agreement for a maximum of 18 months, but may

terminate the agreement earlier once it is ready to implement the permanent solution.

Item 70
Page 1 of 2
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Big Rivers will pay a fixed fee not to exceed $1,500,000 for the Information Technology
Support Services Agreement (section 1.2 (a)). In addition, Big Rivers will pay a monthly
fee for services it utilizes according to the attached Exhibit A of the Apreement (specified
in section 1.2(b)). Section 1.3 of the Agreement calls for payment of additional fees if
royalties or other payments are paid to third parties by WKEC to obtain consents. Should
Big Rivers request other data services not listed or anticipated, Big Rivers has agreed to
pay actual labor rates of the WKEC personnel performing the work as specified in section
4.3,

(d) The Generation Dispatch Services costs are included in the
Income Statement of the Financial Model, Exhibit 8. More specifically, they are included
in the Proforma Tab, line 188, “Fixed Production O&M”. The IT Support Services costs
are included on line 191, “A&G”.

Witness) Mark A. Bailey

Item 70
Page 2 of 2



EXHIBIT A -- PROCESSES AND SERVICES

Procese | Service

Application or Supplier

Transition
Support
Duration

Comments

Monthiy Fee

Payroll:

$ 884417

Time Entry

Payroli Processing

Employee Payments

Tax/Deduction Payments

VOLTS

PeopleSoft Payroll

PeopleSoft Payroll

PeopleSoft Payroli

18 Months

18 Months

18 Months

18 Months

System provided
by WKEC;
business process
performed by Big
Rivers

System provided
by WKEC,
business process
performed by Big
Rivers

System provided
by WKEC;
business process
performed by Big
Rivers

System provided
by WKEC,
business process
nerformed by Big
Rivers

Human Resource
Management

$ 425026

Maintain Employee
Records

PeopleSoft HR

18 Months

System provided
by WKEC,
business process
performed by Big
Rivers

[ Employee Benefits

$ 1521.96 |

Maintain Employee
Benefits

PeopleSoft Benefits

18 Months

System provided
by WKEC;
business process
performed by Big
Rivers

Supply Chain /
Procurement

Requisitions

Purchase Order
Generation

Oracle Applications

Oracle Applications,
Optio

18 Months

18 Months

a1 7

System provided
by WKEC;
buginess process
performed by Big
Rivers

System provided
by WKEC;
husiness process
performed by Big
Rivers

$ 10816.11




Receiving

Warehouse reorders

AP Processing
{excluding 1099s)

AP Payments

AP Weekly and Monthiy
Reporiing

Oracle Applications

Oracle Applications

Oracie Applications,

Filenat

Oracle Applications

QOracle Applications

18 Months

18 Months

18 Months

18 Months

18 Months

System provided
by WKEC;
business protess
performed by Big
Rivers

System provided
by WKEC;
business process
performed by Big
Rivers

System provided
by WKEC;
business process
performed by Big
Rivers

System provided
by WKEC;
business process
performed by Big
Rivers

System provided
by WKEC;
businass process
performed by Big
Rivers

Financials
Capital Expendifures -
Financials

% 06B87.78 |

Budgeting

Authorization

CWiP

Forecasting

Montnly closing of
projects

Oracle Applications

Oracle Applications

COracle Applications

Oracle Applications

Oracle Applications

A-2

18 Months

18 Months

18 Months

18 Months

18 Months

78

System provided
by WKEC,
business process
performed by Big
Rivers

System provided
by WKEC;
husiness process
performed by Big
Rivers

System provided
by WKEC;
business process
performed by Big
Rivers

System provided
by WKEC,
business process
performed by Big
Rivers

System provided
by WKEC,
business process
performed by Big
Rivers




Monthly reporting

1.8 Ni‘_o_nths‘_ |

System provided
by WKEC,;

business process
performed by Big
Rlvers

(ORI Xen5s . Finartials {7~ ©

Oracle Applications

Budgeting Qracle Applications 18 Months
Project creation Oracle Applications 18 Months
Project monitoring Oracle Applications 18 Months
Forecasting Oracle Applications 18 Months
Reporting/Variance Oracle Applications,

Analysis 18 Months

[ Month endiCIssing. &

Discoverer, Noetix Views

Burdens

Mass Aliccations

interfaces with Sub

ledgers

Journal Entries

Oracle Applications

Oracle Applications

Oracle Applications

QOracle Applications

A-3

18 Months

18 Months

18 Months

18 Months

/9

IE Sys’tem 'pmvsded

by WKEC,
business process
performed by Big
Rivers

System provided
by WKEC;
business process
performed by Big
Rivers

System provided
by WKEC,
business process
performed by Big
Rivers

Systern provided
by WKEC;
business process
performed by Big
Rivers

System provided
by WKEC;
business process
performed by Big
Rlvers

‘System provnded “

by WKEC;
business process
performed by Big
Rivers

System provided
by WKEC;
business process
performed by Big
Rivers

System provided
by WKEC,
husiness process
performed by Big
Rivers

System provided
by WKEC,
business process
performed by Big
Rivers




Financial Statement

Systermn provided
by WKEC;

business process
performed by Big

Preparation QOracie Applications 18 Months Rivers
System provided
by WKEC;
business process
Management Report Qracie Applications, performed by Big
Preparation Discoverer 18 Months Rivers
System provided
by WKEC;
business process
performed by Big
Reconciliations Qracle Applications 18 Moenths Rivers
| Tax Returns
System provided
by WKEC:
business process
Monthly Sales and Use performed by Big
Tax Qracle Applications 18 Months Rivers
Systemn provided
by WKEC;
business process
Quarterly Fue! Tax performed by Big
Returns Oracle Applications 18 Months Rivers
System provided
by WKEC;
New & Expanded business process
industry Certificates on performed by Big
Capital Oracle Applicaticns 18 Months Rivers
| Petty Cash Funds
Systern provided
by WKEC;
business process
perdformed by Big
Plant Custodians Cracle Applications 18 Months Rivers
System provided
by WKEC;
business process
performed by Big
Periodic Audits of Funds | Oracle Applications 18 Months Rivers
Power Plant Work
Management 3 663313
System provided
Computerized by WKEC;
Maintenenance business process
Planning and tracking of | Management System performed by Big
equipment mainfenance i {MRO) 18 Months Rivers
Sysiem provided
Computerized by WKEC;
Scheduling work Maintenenance business process
activities including Management System performed by Big
planned maint. (MR 18 Months Rivers
<O




System provided

by WKEC,
business process
Custom application verformed by Big
I1&E Calibrations integrated with Maximo 18 Months Rivers
|_Help Desk (IT) 1§ 243597 |
WKEC Heip Desk
will work with Big
Rivers Help Desk
Work management for 1T to facilitate incident
incidents/regquests WHKEC 18 Months reporting.
| Telecommunications - 1% 45,565.00 |
WKEC will provide
network transport
Fiber Connectivity — for connectivity to
Network Transport to the hosted
Louisville WKEC 18 Months Systems via Citrix.
Network Adfiinistration 1o o R
Suppoit. $73.799:63
Service inciudes
support fees for
routers and
switches. BREC
will not have
administrative
Network Administration access to routers
Support Cisco 18 Months and switches,
Management of
router, swiiches,
and network
infrastructure. Can
be transitioned to
BREC during 18
Network Management WKEC 18 Months months.
Lstandard;t\ietwmk I T o
Access ‘ %0
BREC will take
over file and print
File and Print management upon
Management Windows Server 2003 30 days

S_‘gtaﬁéﬁi?,tij_ Nétfwcjrk
Access (30 days service)

closing.

A-5



Network Authenification

Internet Access

intranet

WKEC

Peaki0 Internet Service
Provider

WKEC

30 days

30 days

30 days

Personal
Computers will be
configured to
access BREC's
network within
thirty days after
close date.
Personal
Computers will not
authenticate to
WHKEC after this
period, WKEC
Personal user-ID
domain accounts
will be disabled
upon closing.
Personal
Computers will be
configured to
access BREC's
internat service
within thirty days
after ciose date.
Intranet and
Internet access
through WKEC
network wili cease
on closing date.
Personal
Computers will
need to be rebuilt
by BREC within
thirty days after the
ciose date.
intranet and
internet access
through WKEC will
cease on closing
date,

Office Productivity -
Windows Environment

- $23.010

Windows Environment &
Office Automation Tools

Microsolt Windows,
Office Professional

30 days

Personal
Computers to be
rebuilt by BREC
within thirty days
after the close
date. MS
Licensing rights will
be transferred.

| Secure Environment

$161

A-6
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Anti-Virus Protection

Personal Firewsll
Protection (Laptops
Only)

Windows Updates

Trend Micro

1SS Desktop Protector

Microsoft SUS

30 days

30 days

30 days

Anti-Virus software
will need to he
procured and
instalied on
personal
computers,
Personal
Computers will
need to be rebuilt
by BREC within
thirty days after the
close date.

Personal firewall
software shouid be
procured and
instalied for Laptop
computers. PC
workstations will
need to be rebuilt
by BREC within
thirty days after the
close date.
Security updates
from WKEC to PC
workstations will
end on closing
date,

| Safety Tagging

$ 145600

Track equipment
isolated for repair or
replacemant

OSHA compliance for
lock out/tag out

Hold Card System

Hold Card System

30 days

30 days

Systam provided
by WKEE;
business process
performed by Big
Rivers

System provided
by WKEC;
business process
performed by Big
Rivers

Telecommunications (30
days service)

$22, 309

Cellular Phone
Management Services

Corporate Voice Service

Cingular, Verizon, Nextel

WKEC

30 days

30 days

BREC will convert
cellular services fo
BREC agreement
within 30 days of
close.

Phone service to
facilities via WKEC
retwork will be
terrninated 30 days
after the close
date.




Long Distance, Calling

BREC will select a
long-distance
service provider
within 30 days after

Cards, 800 Service ATET 30 days close date.
BREC will select a
local telephone
carrier within 30
days after close
Local Teiephone Access | Bell South 30 days date.
BREC wili assume
volce mali support
within 30 days of
Voice Malil Communite’ 30 days close,
Telecommunications
Relocation{30 days
service) $26,000
Telecommunication
WKE SOAPER Building equipment will
Close and Equipment Joint WKEC and BREC move to BREC
Relocations Telecomm 30 days headguarers
Total First Month $ 146,290
Total Months 2 thru 138 $ 73,354

Legend

Process Category
Services-Category

Services Category

Services
Example #1
| Process Payrotl ]
Service Time Entry
Service Payroll Processing
Service Empicyee Paymenis
Service Tax/Deduction Payments
Example #2
Process Financials

Capital Expenditures -
Financials

Service
Service
Service
Service

Service
Service

Budgeting
Authorization
CWiP

Forecasting
Monthly closing of
projects

Monthiy reporting

Services Calegory

O&M Expense -
Financials

A-8




Service Budgeting

Service Project creation

Service Project monitoring

Service Forecasting
Reporting/Variance

Service Anailysis

| Services Category Month-end Closing

Service Burdens

Service Mass Allocations
interfaces with Sub

Service ledgers

Service Journal Entries
Financial Statement

Service Preparation
Management Report

Service Preparation

Service Reconciliations

| Services Category

Tax Returns

Monthly Sales and

Servige Use Tax
Quarterly Fuel Tax
Service Returns
New & Expanded
Industry Certificates
Service on Capital
L Services Category Pefty Cash Funds
Service Plant Custodians
Periodic Audits of
Service Funds

<3S
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 71) Please identify each and every non-recurring expenditure for Big Rivers
associated with this transaction in excess of $250,000 to a single vendor, e.g., Black and

Veatch, Hill & Associates, etc., by purpose and amount.

a. Provide documents which show where these costs are included and
addressed in the financial model (Exhibit 8).

Response)  The Financial Model does not contain any non-recurring expenses related
to closing this transaction, with the exception of expenses related to debt refinancing. The
Financial Model, page 7 of 37, line 195, shows the interest expense and financing fees.
The reimbursement agreements between Big Rivers and E.ON, and Big Rivers, E.ON and

the Smelters have previously been filed in the case.

Under the most recent agreement with E.ON, Big Rivers is responsible for 25% of
expenditures up to $22,000,000. At Closing, E.ON will reimburse Big Rivers for its 25%
share of these non-recurring expenditures. Big Rivers is currently expensing into its
income statement its 25% share of non-recurring expenditures and will credit into its
income statement the reimbursement from E.ON at closing. All non-recurring
expenditures related to this Unwind Transaction will be considered expenses prior to
closing. Therefore, Big Rivers did not include any of these related expenses in the

Financial Model.

Witness) C. William Blackburn

Item 71
Page 1 of |
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 72} Regarding Fuel Procurement Policies and Procedures, describe how these

policies and procedures impacted financial model inputs and assumptions.

Response)  The Financial Model inputs and assumptions for fuel are built around the
individual characteristics of each generation station, The model is driven by the current
WKEC fuel contracts and the fuel cost projections provided to Big Rivers by Global
Insight.

The Fuel Procurement Policies and Procedures are designed to establish the principles
that govern the procurement of fuel, reagent, and associated transportation. The policy
and procedures outline the organization, responsibility, methods of solicitation, internal
controls, award recommendation, records management, projections, supplier
qualifications, and general agreement enforcement. After the Unwind Transaction is

completed, Big Rivers will be operating under these policies and procedures.

Witness) Mark A. Bailey
C. William Blackburn

Item 72
Page 1 of |
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 73) Regarding Smelters’ review of Big Rivers’ annual capital and operating
budgets, explain why it is necessary for the Smelters to conduct an annual review of Big

Rivers’ budgets.

Response)  Big Rivers, its Members and the Smelters agreed to a coordination
working group because it is important that good communications continue among Big
Rivers, its Members and the Smelters for the successful operation of Big Rivers after the
Unwind. Given that the Smelters purchase approximately 60% of the MWh used by Big
Rivers” Members, and given the fact that the Smelters take the risk of the first dollars to
maintain a 1.24 TIER in the bandwidth, it is reasonable for the Smelters to have an
opportunity to review and comment on Big Rivers’ budget, as a supplement to the input

Big Rivers” management traditionally gets from its Board of Directors and Members.

Witness) Mark A. Bailey

Item 73
Page 1 of |
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 74) Provide documents which show the extent to which the Smelters concur in

Big Rivers financial projections provided in this Application as Exhibit §.

Response)  The Smelters have not provided Big Rivers any documents which
show the extent to which the Smelters concur or have differing views on Big
Rivers’ financial projections provided in this Application as Exhibit 8. Because
the Smelters are willing to move forward with the transaction, it is assumed the
Smelter management and consultants believe the financial projections in Exhibit 8

are reasonable and acceptable.

Witness) C. William Blackburn

Item 74
Page 1 of 1
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 75) Provide documents which show the extent to which the Smelters have

differing views on Big Rivers financial projections provided in this Application as
Exhibit 8.

Response)  See response to AG Item question 74.

Witness) C. William Blackburn

Ttem 75
Page 1 of 1
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 76) Regarding Base Monthly Energy Charges to the smelters, provide a
detailed pro forma calculation of a monthly bill to a smelter, assuming the new
agreements, for a) December 2007 and b) June 2007, to demonstrate the “complexity” of
the calculation of these charges. Also, provide actual billed amounts for these months
based on the existing agreements. Finally, indicate the extent to which the smelter

concurs in the pro forma calculations.

Response)  Attached are the actual billed amounts to the Smelters for the months of
June 2007 and December 2007 based on the existing agreements between the Smelters

and Kenergy.

See the January 30, 2008 Errata Filing that shows a detailed pro forma calculation of a
monthly bill to a Smelter, assuming the new agreements for 2009. It is not possible to

provide actual billed amounts for these months based on the existing agreements.

Witness) C. William Blackburn
Robert S. Mudge

Item 76
Page 1 of 1



WMaonth Ending 8/20/67
Fo: Alcan

Subsiation: Alvan Alumdnurn

INVQICE

RENERGY CORP, 2.0, BOX 18, HENDERSON, KY 42429

Service from B/407 thry /30067

TIME DAY METER it KW Demand
granii GEMRAGT 366,869 1000 386,658
TOTAL KWH USED - JUNE 248614828

A, BLECTRIC POWER SUPPLIED BY KENERGY PURCHASED FROM LGLE ENEREY MARKETING INC.

Energy
Take or Pay

Tier 2 Bnetay
Base  Energy

Adiusiment

Suppiemental

Adjustment

Tier 3 Energy & Demand
Interruptibla
Backup

USAGE {(KWH)

RATE

TOTAL

34,227,600

130,183,200

777,427

1,789,307

Transission Credit for TIER 3 Backup Priced @ Minimum
Anciliary Service Credit for TIER 3 Backup Prived @ Minlmunm

Adjustmaent - Prior Month Billing

TOTAL KYWH - JUNE
Cugtomar Charge

Purchasad from LG&E Energy Marketing Inc - June

166,871,334

0031248 5
- 3

&y &2

GLRM8s 3§
DO23565 3
0016185 §
0016185 3

$

[eRE g

E -
$0.07561587

1,089,253 83

1,069,253 80 Subiot

3.015,683.83

A2579.42

3,098 275,25 Subtotsl

137 089.30
(556.18)
{471 46}

13606166 Sublosal

2,614.00

T8 4,236.200.80 Total

Pay to: The Bank of New Yok
ABA. 621000018

For Greditto GLA, 2110865
For Final Credit to; 417508

Bank Cut-Offls 380 pm

Account Name, LEM & Henderson & Alean
Deteils of Payment, Teresa Law, telaphone (502)560-8207, 417508

8

4,238,202.80

B, ELECTRIC POWER SUPPLIED BY KENERGY PURCHASED FROM BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC (set aftached)

Biock A Power 72 MW - (BREC)
Biock A Power - Buy-Thru Price
Biack A Power BREC Cost - June
Block B Power 34 MW (SIPC}
Biook C Power 12 MW (FORTIS)
Administrative Fees

MISG - Pass-Through Charges
Tier 3 Trangmission

Ancilfary Semvices Charges
Latter of Gradit Fees

USAGE (KWH) RATE TOTAL
265808318 § 00B23SE F 140354954
2AABO000  BO.0B324878 § 1.548330.14

247662 0§ 0.IDOOS § 24,178.08
2726000 § 0048645 §  1,1287232.27
8,640,000  § 0087045 5 67820880

- 5 3,136.80

$ (22,292 843

$ 55,645.16

43,987 22

3 1,555.83

82 B35 007 § 475667180

Page 1 6i2




Pay o Bank Name:
Account Name:

Oid National Bank
Kenergy Lockhox

Due 7120007 1,107,222.83

§
Account Number: 103088518 Due TI25/07 ¥ 8.BBETILES |
Routing Number 868300012 § 479884148
Pay to: Bank Name: U.B. Bank
Hendersan, KY
Account Name: Kanergy ¢ 3,730,352
Ancourt Number: 145803863326
Routing Number: 042100175
C.ADJUSTMENT FOR LINE LDSBSES
USAGE (KWH) RATE TUTAL
Mieterad KWWH 249,614,820
KWHinA &S 249 BBT 338
. [252615) 2000045 & {11.36)
Payto: Bank Name: U5, Bank t
Hendarson, KY ;
Acoount Name: Kenergy § {11.4 b“}{
Agoount Number 145803863326
Routing Mumbsi: (342100178

0. BUMMARY OF WIRE TRANSFERS DUE:

Bank of New York - LG&E

et National Bank
U, Bank

Arnouni Bue 7/20/67
Amount Bue 72507
Totat Electric Power Costs

Fage 2012

$ 423820286
§ 479554148
$ 3718.98
YT
5 18722282
3 7.9238.540.41



Month Ending 6/36/07
Toi Century Aluminum

Supsstatton: National Soulhwire Alusinum

INVGICE

RENERGY CORP., P.O. BOX 18, HENDERSON, RY 4242¢

Bervice from /1407 thru 8/30/87

TIME DAY Meter Mualt KW Dermand
10:00 BeI7I0Y? 492 646 1060 483,486
TOTAL WWH USED - JUNE 347,748,418

A, ELECTRIC POWER SUPPLIED BY KENERGY PURCHASED FROM LGAE ENEREBY MARKETING INC,

Tier 1 Energy
Energy
Take or Pay

Tier 2 Enamy
Base  Energy

Adjustiment

Supplamenial

Adjustmeni

Tier 3 Energy & Demang
Base Energy - 80 MYWH Energy Sales
Energy - 28 MWH Energy Sales
literruptible
Baokup

Tier 3 Transmisston Damand

Transmission Credit for Tier 2 Backup Priced at Minimun
Anciltary Service Credit for Tier 3 Backup Priced st Minimum

TOTAL KWH - JUNE

Customer Gharge

Purchased from LGRE Energy Marketing Ing - June

USAGE (KW RATE TOTAL
26,107,200 $ 0031245 $ 81571948
- § L S
3 B15.719.46 Subictal
213,081,200 $ 002316858 § 4836257865
- $  OL2316% & -
3,718,864 5 0018185 % 80,191.43
A % .
5 4000 44008 Sublotal
. & . 5 -
- 3 - g -
. $ . & .
3,108,347 S 007410435 3 230,342.04
% w
& (800,843
- (778.62)

246 025,711

5 59883408 Subtotal

kS 2.814.00

& 5,045.446 92 Total

Pay to: The Bank of New York
ABA 021000018
Far Grei to GLA: 211085
For Final Gredit o, 417508

Acoount Marne: LEM & Green River & Southwire LB

Bank Cut-Off is 3:30 p.m,

Deisils of Pavment, Teress Law, lelephone {B021566-6007, 417508

§ B.045440.82

B. ELECTRIC POWER SUPPLIED 8Y KENERGY PURCHASED FROM BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC {vee altached)

otk A Power 85 MW (BREC)
Block A Power Buy-Thru Price -.June
Biook A Power BREC Cost - Juna
Biock B Power 41 MW (S1PC)
Block € Power 13 MW (BRED)
Bilock [ Power 15 MW
Admimistrative Fees

THR 3 Transmission

Ancillary Service Charges

MIEO Pass-Through CTharges
Letter of Cradit Fees

USAGE (KWH) RATE TOTAL
31,046,882 5 UO5S23B5 & 1,625440.04
25520000 §0.08308733 §  1,B65,337.80

285319 § 0100045 & 28,544.74
27413000 $ 0049645 1,360,218.3%
$360000 § 006745 5 B27 54120
4385000 $  0.044045 § 18318733

5 387730
§  109,401.46
$ 5871832
& (26760.28)
g 1,841 68
TTi02,010,001 5 EEGABOS 40
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Pay to: Bank Name Oid National Bank Due 7120107 $1,355,616.44
Acoount Name: Kanergy Lovkbox Due TIREIOT $4,604,688.81
Account Nurmnber: TU30E540 $8,840,214.85
Routing Mumber: BE300012
Pay to: Bank Namg .8, Bank
Hendlarson, KY
Accaunt Name: Kenergy L 4.596.45
Account Number: 145603883326
Rouiing Number: 4230M75
G, ADHISTMENT FOR LINE LOSSES
USAGE {(KINH) RATE TOTAL
Meterad KVWH 347 738,410
KW s A& B | BABOnE 712 _— .
(297.3072) §  0,000045 % {12.38)
Fay to) Bank Nams U.8. Bank
Henderson, KY
Aceount Name: Kanergy % {13.38}
Account Number: 145803883326
Routing Number: 042100178
D INVOICE SUVIMARY
SUMMARY OF WIRE TRANSFERS DUE;
The Bank of New York §  B,043,446.92
Sid National Bank §  BB40,214.85
LLE. Bank & 4,877.57
J§ A41.BBR 23894
Amount Bue 772007 § 1335081544
Arnount Due 725047 $ 10,B52,825.50

Total Electric Power Gosis
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INVOICE
KENERGY CORP,, P, O, BOX 18, HENDERSON, KY 42420

Wionth Ending 12/2947

To: Alcan

Substation: Alesn Aluminm Service from 121707 thre 1243107
TViE DAY METER Ml KW Demand
17:00 1218807 356.65¢ 1046 356,064

TOTAL KWH USED - DECEMBER 258,380,830

A, BLECTRIC POWER SUPPLIED BY HENERGY PURGHASED FROM LGEE ENERGY MARKETING INC.

USAGE {IKWH) RATE TOTAL
Tler 1 Eneray
Energy 35,362,320 3 0031245 & 110488589
Adiystment - November 47,530 Q031248 3§ b ABEDT
$ 1,106,360/ Subigtal
Tier 2. Energy
Base  Energy 124 522,840 § 0023185 8 311621486
Adjusiment - Novenber 180,810 $ 0023185 § 4.188.48
Bupplemenial 1,862,585 § 0018185 § 31,764,44
Agjustment - Novembar (428,340} $ 0018185 3 (3,685 64)
5 A48 ATA20 Sustotat
Tier 3 Eneray & Demand
Interrusile - § - 3 -
Backup 2443175 $0.07749377 % 188,330.84
Transmission Credit for TIER 3 Backup Priced @ Mindmum & {326,685}
Anciltary Service Credit for THER § Backup Priced @ Minimum % {(297.14)
5 188,707 02 Subloial
TOTAL ) - DECEMBER 174,280,720
Customer Charge $ 2,814.00
Durchased from LOAE Bnergy Marketing Inc - December "I AR TR 08 Total

Fay ol The Bank of New York
ABA; 021000018
For Credit to GLA: 211065 & 444617598
For Final Credit to: 417508
Ageount Najne: LEM & Henderson & Alcan
Oetails of Pavinent; Teresa Law, telaphone (S02)568-6807, 417508
Bopk Cul-Offis 230 b,

B, ELECTRIC POWER SUPPLIED BY KEMERGY PURCHASED FROM BIG RIWERS ELECTRIC {see attached)

USAGE (W) HATE TOTAL
Biook A Power 72 MW - (BREC) 50,841,108 § 0052385 0§ 26670217
Block A Power BREC Cost - December 244,882 § 0108730 % 2580471
Bleck B Power 34 MW (8IFC) 25,330,000 § 0049645 & 1,257.507.85
Block © Fower 12 MW (FORTIS) 5,940,000 5005408714 & 424 8§74 48
Power Factor Corraciion 5 88820
Adimiristrative Fees $ 3.427.00
MISE - Pass-Through Charges % 6512881
Tier 3 Transmifssion & 46,623.47
Anciilary Swervices Charges B 55.906,11
Letter of Credit Feges &
85,456,000 s

|
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Pay to: Bank Name:
Accotnt Name:

Ol Nations! Bank

Kenergy Lockbox Bue 172108

e T

1.324027.814

Acoount Number: 103089518 Drue 125108 4,326,590 88
Routing Number: 88300012 5 485051858
Pay o Bank Name: U8, Bank
Henderson, KY
Ascount Name: Kehergy $ 354852
Acoount Number: 145803863326
Rouiing Nuimher: 042100175
C. ADJUSTUENT FOR LINE LOSBES
USAGE (KUWH) RATE TOTAL
Meterad IKWH 250,380,650
KWriin A& B 286,746,720
"""""" £385,000) HLO004E & {19,475
[Pay o] Bank Name: LLS. Bank
Henderson, KY
Atvount Nams: Kanergy g {16.47)
Account Number: 145803863328
Routing Number: 042100175
0. SUMMARY OF WIRE TRANSFERS DUE:
Bank of New York - LO&E 4 4£,446,175.38
Gl National Bank % 4,650,818.69
.8, Bank 3 3,829.08
350087378
Amount Due /2008 5 H324,027.81
Ammount Due 1/25/08 § 7,776,585
Total Electric Power Costs $ 8 108,623.72

s
o
w0y
Gr
T
a
n
faN]

s




Month Encing 123467
To: Century Aluminum

Substation: Natlonal Southwire Aluminum

TOTAL BWH USED - DECEMBER

TIME
§:30

INVOICE
KENERGY CORP,, P, C. BOX 13, HENDERSON, KY 42420

DAY
12r0eft

Meter

454,558

Fervice from 1207 thre 1273007

H
1808

KW Dematd

484,558

398,528,828

A ELECTRIC POWER SUPPLIED BY KENERGY PURCHASED FROM LGAE ENERGY MARKETING INC.

Energy
Adjugtment - November

Base Energy
Adiuistmerit - November
Supplemental

Adjustment - Novernber

Tier 3 Eneray & Demand
Base Energy - 60 MWH Energy Sades
Enesgy - 25 MYWWH Energy Sales
Inferruptible
Baokup

Trangmission Credit for Tier 3 Backup Priced at Minirum
Ancitiary Service Cradit for Tier 3 Backup Priced at Minimum

TOTAL KWH - DECEMBER

Customer Charge

USAGE {KWH) RATE TOTAL
26,977 440 § 0.031245 & 542,810.12
36280 $ 0031245 % 148204
3 B4AD4308 Sublotsl
220,194,240 b 0.023163 & 5.100,788.58
295 560 % 0023165 % 685581
4,128,182 § s.oig1es B 65,830.81
(3322207 % 0.076185 g B3vesl
§_5169,109.32 subtota
3 - % -
% &
3,948,170 § 00754814 & 297 801.82
¥ (556.58)
S _[498.30)

255 247,032

PRV Huthh . S

Purchased from LG&E Energy Marketing Inc - Decamber

$ 261400
$  6,312671437 7ot

Payio. The Banik of New York
ABA; 021000018
For Gredif fo GLA; 211065
For Final Gradit to; 417509

Ascount Name, LEM & Green River & Souihwie LB

nt_Taresa Law, telephong (5025666007, 417808
2340 1

§  B312,614.31

8. ELECTRIC POWER SUPPLIED BY KENERGY PURCHASED FROM BIG RIVERS ELBUTRIC (see attached)

Black A Power 85 MW (BREG)

Blook & Power BRECG Cost - December
Block 8 Fower 41 MW {SIPC

Black C Power 13 MW (BREC)

Block U Power 15 MW

Administrative Fees

TIER 3 Transmission

Ancillary Service Charges

RMIBO Pass-Through Charges

Lettar of Credit Fees

USAGE (KWH) RATE TOTAL
80137892 % 0.052355 §  3,148,519.54
29108 § 010573952 § 30,570.14
30.504,000  § 0.048048 5  1,594371.08
9872000  § 0055071 § 53264672
4151,000 % 0.044045 § 18283050

§ 481760

$ 10871600

§ 7308200

§ 78,538 28

S S e A9
B4 TR U 7373616
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Pay o) Bank Name
Acoount Name:

Okt National Bank
Kenargy Lockbox

Due 172108
faue TI2B08

§1.504,587.08

Meterad KWH
KWH in 8 & B

Accuunt Number: 103088540 $5,669,022.25
Routing Number:, 88300012
Pay o Bank Name {18, Bank
Henderson, KY
Agoount Name: Kenergy § 4,713,583
Account Number: 145803663328
Routing Number: 042100175
G, ADJUSTMENT FOR LINE LOSSES
LSAGE (W) RATE TOTAL
356,838,820
360,007,032
{382,212 3 0000045 & (18,30}
Fay to: Bank Name: .5, Bank
Henderson, KY
Accourt Name: Kenergy § (18.30)
Account Numbser; 145803863326
Routing Number; 042100178
I, INVOICE SUMMARY
SUMMARY OF WIHE TRANSFERS DUE:
The Bank of New York $  6,312,814.31
Gld Nationat Bank %  5,4669,022.23
.8, Bank % £.587.63
B 11,886,354,17

Amount Due 121008
Ammount Due 12508
Total Electric Powar Gosts

Page 2of2
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO, 2007-00455

February 14, 2008

Item 77) Provide an analysis which shows the proportion of cost necessary to
ensure achievement of 1.24 TIER that is borne by the Smelters if TIER in 2010 prior to

imposition of TIER adjustment charges is:

a. 1.20,
b, 1.16, and
c. 1.0.

Response)  Please see below the scenarios requested, plus cost borne by the Smelters
in the filed Financial Model, for which TIER in 2012 prior to imposition of TIER
adjustment charges would be 0.94x. (Please note that in each of these cases, the Smetters

would bear 100% of the incremental cost.)

a. 1.20x — Smelters pay $4.2m

Before After
Adjust,
1 TWh
2  Members
3 Smelters
4 Revenues/ MWh
5 Revenues
6  Members 131.9 131.9
7 Smelters 301.9 306.0
8  Other 78.2 78.2
9 Total 512.0 516.1
10 Expenses 524.4 524.4
11 Economic Res./ MIRSM 24.2 24.2
12 Net income 11.8 15.9
13 Adjustment * - (1.7}
14 Total 11.8 14.2
15
16 interest & Related 58.9 58.9
17 TIER 1.20 1.24

* Per Smelter Agreements

Item 77
Page 1 of 4
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

b.  1.10x — Smeliers pay $10.1m

Before After
Adiust. Adjust.
TWh
Members
Smelters
Revenues/ MWh
Revenues
Members 131.9 131.9
Smelters 301.9 311.8
Other 72.3 72.3
Totat 506.1 516.1
Expenses 524.4 b24.4
Economic Res./ MRSM 24.2 242
Net income 5.9 15.9
Adjustment * {1.7)
Total 59 14.2
Interest & Related 58.9 58.8
TIER 1.10 1.24

* Per Smelter Agreements

Item 77
Page 2 of 4
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

c. 1.0x — Smelters pay $15.9m

Before After
Adjust. Adiust,

TWh

Members

Smelters
Revenues/ MWh
Revenues

Members 131.9 131.9

Smeiters 301.9 317.8

Other 65.4 G66.4

Total 500.2 516.1
Expenses 524.4 524.4
Economic Res./ MRSM 24.2 24,2
Net income 0.0 15.9
Adjustment * - {1.7}
Totaj 0.0 14.2
interest & Related 58.9 58.8
TIER 1.60 1.24
* Per Smelter Agreementis

Item 77

Page 3 of 4



BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 '

February 14, 2008

d. 0.94x (Filed Case) — Smelters pay $19.3m

Before . After
Adjust Adjust.

1 TWh

2  Members

3 Smeliers

4 Revenues!/ MWh

5 Revenues

6 Members 131. 131.9

7 Smelters 301. 321.2

8 Other 630 ¢ 63.0

9  Total 496.8 516.1

10 Expenses 524.4 ° 524 .4

11 Economic Res./ MRSM 24.2 24.2

12 NetIncome (3.4 15.9

13 Adjustment” - (1.0

14 Total (3.4)° 14.2

16 ;

16 interest & Related 58.9 58.9

i7 TIER 0.94 1.24

* Per Smelter Agreements

Witness) Robert S. Mudge

Item 77
Page 4 of 4
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Htem 77) Provide an analysis which shows the proportion of cost necessary to
ensure achievement of 1.24 TIER that is borne by the Smelters if TIER in 2010 prior to

imposition of TIER adjustment charges is:

a. 1.20,
b. 1.10, and
c. 1.0.

Response)  Please see below the scenarios requested, plus cost borne by the Smelters
in the filed Financial Model, for which TIER in 2012 prior to imposition of TIER
adjustment charges would be 0.94%. (Please note that in each of these cases, the Smelters

would bear 100% of the incremental cost.)

a. 1.20x - Smelters pay $4.2m

Before After
Adjust Adijust
1 TWh.
2 Members
3 Smelters
4 Revenues/ MiWh
5 Revenues
6  Members 131.9 131.9
7  Smelters 301.9 308.0
8 Other 78.2 78.2
9  Toial 512.0 516.1
10 Expenses 524.4 524.4
11 Economic Res./ MRSM 24.2 242
12 Net income 118 15.9
13 Adjustment * - {1.7)
14 Total 11, 14.2
15
16 Interest & Related 58.9 58.9
17 TIER 1.20 1.24

* Per Smelter Agreements

Item 77
Page 1 of' 4
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASENO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

b. 1.10x — Smelters pay $10.1m

Before After
Adjust, Adjust.
TWh
Members
Smelters
Revenues/ MWh
Revenues
Members 131.9 131.9
Smeliers 301.9 311.9
Ohher 72.3 72.3
Totai 506.1 516.1
Expenses 524.4 524.4
Economic Res./ MRSM 24.2 242
Net income 5.9 15.9
Adjustment * - (1.7)
Total 59 14.2
interest & Related 58.9
TIER 1.24

* Per Smelter Agreements

Item 77
Page 2 of 4
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RBIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

c. 1.0x — Smelters pay $15.9m

Before After
Adjust, Adjust,

TWh

Members

Smelters
Revenues/ MWh
Revenues

Members 131.9 131.9

Smetters 301.9 317.8

Other 66.4 66.4

Total 500.2 516.1
Expenses 524 .4 524.4
Economic Res./ MRSM 24.2 24.2
Net Income 0.0 15.8
Adjustment ™ - (1.7)
Total 0.0 14.2
Interest & Related 58.9 58.9
TIER 1.00 1.24
* Per Smelter Agreements

tem 77

Page 3 of 4
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION'S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 '

February 14, 2008

d. 0.94x (Filed Case) — Smelters pay $19.3m

Refore After
Adjust Adjust.

1 TWh

2 Members

3 Smellers

4 Revenues/ MWh

5 Revenues

6 Members 131.9 ¢ 131.9

7 Smelters 301.9 321.2

g8  Other : 63.0

9 Total 496.8 | 518.1

10 Expenses 524.4 ; 524.4

11 Eeonomic Res./ MRSM 24.2 24.2

12 Netincome (3.4): 15.9

13 Adjustment ™ - (1.7)

14 Total (3.4) 14.2

15 :

16 Interest & Related 58.9 58.9

17 TIER 0.94 1.24

* Per Smekler Agreements

Witness) Robert S. Mudge

ftem 77
Page 4 of 4
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

ftem 78) Clearly state all application terms, conditions and circumstances under

which a Smelter would be allowed to terminate its retail agreement with Kenergy after

the agreement becomes effective, but prior to the scheduled termination date of
December 31, 2023,

Response) A Smelter is permitted to terminate its retail agreement following
the commencement of service thereunder in two circumstances: (1) the
termination and cessation of all aluminum smelting operations at its smelting
facilities, and (2) following the occurrence of an event of default by Kenergy (or,
derivatively, Big Rivers) in the performance of its obligations under that

agreement.

Cessation of Smelting Activities. Several conditions exist to a Smelter’s ability to

terminate its retail agreement as a result of the termination and cessation of all
aluminum smelting operations at its smelting facilities. These conditions are (1)
at least one year’s prior notice must be given; (2) no termination may be effective
prior to December 31, 2010; (3) no termination may be effective prior to
December 31, 2011 if the Transmission Upgrade (as defined in the wholesale
agreement) is not completed and the other Smelter has issued a notice of
termination; and (4) the president of the parent of the Smelter must deliver a
certificate including a representation and warranty that it has made a business
judgment in good faith to terminate and cease all aluminum smelting at the
smelting facilities and has no current intention of re-commencing smeliing

operations at such facilities,

Event of Default. Each Smelter also may terminate its retail agreement upon the

occurrence of an event of default by Kenergy, or, derivatively, by Big Rivers (an
“Event of Default”™). Events of Default may occur as a result of (1) the failure by a

party to make any payment in accordance with the agreement within

Item 78
Page 1 of 2
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

three business days following the non-performing party’s receipt of written notice
of the non-performing party’s default in its payment obligation; (2} the failure of a
party to perform any other material duty imposed on it by the agreement within 30
days following the non-performing party’s receipt of written notice of the non-
performing party’s breach of its duty hereunder; (3) any attempt by a party to
transfer an interest in the agreement other than as permitted thereunder; (4) the
occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default or the failure, inability or
refusal of Kenergy to cure a breach or default by Kenergy under the related
wholesale agreement which gives rise to a termination of such wholesale
agreement, or any termination by Kenergy of such wholesale agreement in breach
or default thereof; and (5) insolvency events relating to a party (See Sections 7.3.2

and 14.1 of the retail agreements).

Witness) C. William Blackburn

Item 78
Page 2 of 2
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 79) Clearly state all applicable terms, conditions and circumstances under
which a Smelter would be allowed to terminate its retail agreement with Kenergy prior to

KPSC action on the Application in this matter.

Respuonse)  There are three relevant time periods that must be examined: (1)
the current period, (2) the period after execution but prior to the issuance of an
order by the Commission, and (3) the period following such an order but prior to

the “BEffective Date,” i.e., the commencement of service under the agreements.

Current Status. As described in the application, the smelter agreements have not
yet been executed and therefore are not yet binding on them. While Big Rivers
believes they are in substantially final form and the Smelters have advised Big
Rivers that management has recommended approval of the agreements, the

Smelters are seeking corporate parent approvals to enter into the agreements.

Post-Execution and Pre-Order Period. Following the execution of the smelter

agreements and prior to an order of the Commission, the Smelters have additional
rights to terminate the retail agreements. First, a Smelter may terminate its retail
agreement upon receipt of notice from E.On or Big Rivers that either party does
not intend to consummate the Unwind Transaction (See Section 7.2.2 of the retail
agreements). Second, a Smelter may terminate its retail agreement if 1t determines
in good faith, that Big Rivers’ operations cannot produce during the first five
years of service under the agreements the charges projected in Big Rivers’
financial model and filed with the Commission in the application (See Section
7.2.4(a) of the retail agreements). Third, a Smelter may terminate its retail
agreement if it determines in good faith, that there has been a material adverse
change in its production faciljties or a material change in economic or business
factors external to the terms of the proposed transaction, that would have a
material adverse financial effect on it if the transaction is consummated (See

Section 7.2.4{b) of the retail agreements). Fourth, a Smelter may terminate its

Item 79
Page 1 of 3
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION'S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

retail agreement if Big Rivers terminates the related wholesale agreement with

Kenergy (See Section 7.2.5 of the retail agreements).

A Smelter’s right to terminate its retail agreement pursuant to the Second and
Third methods described above may be exercised until 24 hours after receipt of
documentation and supporting calculations setting forth the estimated interest cost
and terms and conditions of the final financing plan arranged by Big Rivers in
connection with the Unwind, such that it can determine whether such financing
plan could materially affect the calculation of the TIER Adjustment included in
the Commission filing. If the actual interest cost would be more than 15 basis
points in excess of such estimate or other terms or conditions are materially
different than those estimated, however, Kenergy shall notify the Smelter or cause
the Smelter to be notified of such changes in the interest cost or other terms and
conditions, and the Smelter would have an additional right to terminate the
smelter agreements for 24 hours after notice of the new estimated interest cost or
terms or conditions. The deadline for the exercise of any right to terminate the
retail agreements in the Second and Third methods is extended, if applicable, to
the expiration of the right of the Smelters to terminate the agreements as a result

of an order of the Commission (described below),

Post-Order and Pre-Effective Date Period. Following an order of the Commission

but prior to the Effective Date, the Smelters have further rights to terminate the
agreements. First, the Smelter Agreements will contain a date by which the
parties must satisfy or waive the conditions to closing and consumrmate the
transaction or the agreements may be terminated. Because the agreements have
not yet been executed, this date has not yet been determined. Second, if the
Commission issues an order on any of the filings by Big Rivers or others seeking
necessary approvais for the Unwind Transaction and the New Transaction that
disapproves or changes the pricing or other material terms of the Smelter

Agreements or Big Rivers' ability to recover costs from the Smelters or the

Item 79
Page 2 of 3
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

members’ other ratepayers (Other than as contemplated), the smelter agreements
may be terminated no later than three business days after the first to occur of: (1}
the last date on which a petition for re-hearing may be filed if such a petition has
not been filed, (2) the date on which the Commission issues an order denying the
request for re-hearing for any petition for re-hearing that may have been filed
during the allowed period, and (3) if a rehearing occurs, following the date on

which an order on rehearing is issued (See Section 7.2.3 of the retail agreements).

In addition, the Smelter Agreements may be terminated if the wholesale
agreements are terminated (as described above) or following the closing of the
smelting facilities or the occurrence of an Event of Default as described in the

response to AG Item 78.

Witness) C. William Blackburn

Item 79
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

1tem 80) Please reference the testimony of Paul W. Thompson, page. 3. Provide all
documents which relate to, analyze data, and support “LEC’s lease and power purchase
and sale bid proposal” to the Bankruptcy Court in February 1997, including documents
prepared internally by E.ON or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates, or prepared by outside

consultants, investment bankers, etc.
Response)  See E.ON response.

Witness) E.ON .S.

Item 80
- Pagelofl






[N =T N« AR Y L

WWWWMNNNMNNNMNHMWHHMHHHM
WM*—‘Q\OOO*JO\MJ&UJNWO\OOO\JO\M#WNPJQ

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST-
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Ttem 81)  Please reference the testimony of Paul W. Thompson, page. 3. Provide

“LEC’s lease and power purchase and sale bid proposal.”
Response)  See E.ON response.

Witness) E.ON U.S.

Item 81
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item §2) Please reference the testimony of Paul W. Thompson, page. 7. To the
extent not previously provided, provide the “November 2005 Letter of Intent,”

Response)  See E.ON response.

Witness) E.ON U.S.

Ttem 82
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 83) Please reference the testimony of Paul W. Thompson, page. 13, regarding
“WKEC has agreed to pay to the smelter customers, collectively, at the closing a sum of
money in immediately available funds.” State the amount of that sum of money.

Response)  See E.ON response.

Witness) E.ON U.S.

Item 83
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 84) Please state when E.ON anticipates it will receive the requested tax rulings
from IRS and Kentucky Revenue Cabinet.

Response)  See E.ON response.

Witness) E.ONU.S.

Item 84
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO, 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 85) Provide the complete joint application and supporting documentation for
the parties’ waiver from the Federal Trade Commission under the Hart-Scott-Rodino
Antitrust Improvements Act (“HSR Filing™). If the filing has not yet been made, please
state when it is anticipated the HSR filing will be made.

a. If the HSR filing has not yet been made, provide each document

that is being considered for inclusion when the filing is made.

Response)  Please refer to the PSC item 1.c.(3) and (4). See also E.ON response.

Witness) C. William Blackburn
E.ON

Item 85
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 86) Identify and provide the filings before the Federal Energy Regulatory

Commission necessitated by this proposed transaction.

Response)  Please refer to PSC item 1.¢.(2). See E.ON’s response.

Witness) David A. Spainhoward
E.ONU.S.

Item 86
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 87) Please reference the testimony of Paul W, Thompson; page 18, regarding
“By terminating its commitments now, E. ON-U.S. will bring financial certainty to what
would otherwise be an uneconomic set of contracts that could expose the Company to

uncertain and unfavorable financial results through 2023.”

4. Provide the estimated present value of these unfavorable financial

results through 2023 (or any shorter period evaluated by the Company).

b. State specifically each and every fact or circumstance that makes

9% 48

the “set of contracts™ “uneconomic,”

c. For each and every fact or circumstance that makes the set of

contracts uneconomic, quantify its contribution to “unfavorable financial results.”
Response)  See E.ON’s response.

Witness)  E.ON U.S.

Item 87
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 88) Provide any and all internal E.ON documents which address the subject of
the existing agreements which are the subject of the “Unwind Transaction” and
“Termination Transaction”, including any financial analyses and strategic analyses.

Response)  See E.ON’s response.

Witness) E.ONU.S.

Item 88
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 89) Provide any and all documents created for E.ON, or at its direction, which
address the subject of the existing agreements which are the subject of the “Unwind
Transaction” and “Termination Transaction”, including any financial analyses and

strategic analyses.
Response)  See E.ON’s response.

Witness) E.ON U.S.

Iter 89
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Hem 90) Provide E.ON’s strategic plan for generation assts and operations in
Kentucky, or at any necessary higher level (geographic or business) if such a plan does
not exist for Kentucky.

Response)  See E.ON’s response.

Witness) E.ON U.S.

Item 90
Page 1 of 1
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008 P

Item 91) Provide any and all documents and materials considered by E.ON senior

management and Board of Directors (or its equivalent) in acting to:

a. Initiate discussions with Big Rivers on the subjects of the Unwind

and Lease Agreement Termination transactions; and,

b. Approve and authorize the proposed transactions before the

Commission in this matter.

Response)  See E.ON’s response.

Witness) E.ONU.S.

Item 91
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 92) Please reference Exhibit 8, the Unwind Financial Model dated as of
December 22, 2007, regarding the 10% rate increase projected for 2017. Does the
company believe this increase is a reasonable assumption based on past Commission

decisions? If so, why?

Response)  While the Financial Model is a projection into the future, the PSC
certainly is not bound by any future rate projections. The 10 percent projected rate
increase in 2017 is based upon increasing cost. Big Rivers believes that any utility that
has prudently monitored its business, and incurred only expenses that are justifiable, is
entitled to rates that are fair, just and reasonable. Big Rivers does not believe that it is the
magnitude of the rate adjustments but the justification for the increase that will determine

the outcome of any future rate adjustment request.

Witness) C. William Blackburn

Item 92
Page 1 of 1
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL'S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 93) Please reference Exhibit 8, the Unwind Financial Model dated as of
December 22, 2007, regarding the “Inputs” tab worksheet.

a, Column C is labeled “source”, and contains reference to various

things including .x1s spreadsheet files.

i To the extent not previously provided, provide copies of

each indicated “source” item; and,

ii. Provide machine readable working electronic file copies of

each referenced .xls file, with working formulas.

b. Columns D, E, and F contain numeric inputs that in some cases
(e.g., rows 146-199, 308-324, etc) do not have referenced sources. Provide documents
which support these inputs.

Response)  Please see PSC Item 22(a) and (b).

Witness) Robert S. Mudge

Item 93
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A BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 94} State each material fact which prevents E.ON from electing to continue its
present mode of operation, including provision of power to Big Rivers under the existing
Lease Agreement and Purchase Power Agreement.

Response)  See E.ON’s response.

Witness) E.ON U.S.

Item 94
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS '
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
" February 14, 2008

Item 95) State each material fact and purpose which incents or otherwise motivates
E.ON to seek the Unwind Transaction and Lease Agreement termination which is the
subject of this proceeding. Discuss each such listed material fact and purpose.

Response)  Please see E.ON’s response.

Witness) E.ONUS.

Item 95
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 96) Provide any available and current market and industry research on
aluminum commodity markets and aluminum smelting that have been reviewed and
considered by E.ON.

Response)  Please see E.ON’s response.

Witness) E.ON U.S.

ftem 96
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 97) Identify and provide any filings before the Securities & Exchange

Commission (SEC) which reference this proposed transaction.
Response)  Please see E.ON’s response.

Witness)  E.ON U.S.

Item 97
Page | of 1






BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008
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Item 98) Please provide the most recent 10-K filings with the SEC, to the extent
they exist for:

a. E.ON

b. LG&E

c. LEC

d. WKEC

e. LEM, and

f. Any other subsidiaries or affiliates involved in the Lease

Agreement or Power Purchase Agreement.

Response)

Witness)

See E.ON’s response.

E.ONU.S.

Item 98
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 99) Provide the amount and date of any asset book value write downs or other
valuation write downs since 1997, which exceed $500k, and pertain to Lease Agreement
facilities.

Response)  See E.ON’s response.

Witness) E.ON U.S.

Iterm 99
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 100) Provide E.ON/LEM current view of oﬁerating budgets (cost and revenues,

multt year forward looking) for facilities operated under the Lease Agreement.

a. Calculate and state the extent to which unit costs of power
produced by the leased facilities are projected increase or decrease under this operating
budget view.

Response)  See E.ON’s response.

Witness) E.ONU.S.

Item. 100
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WO =~ Oy o n B N

ST P SR VU TR UC TR N6 TN NG SR NG T NG N N SR N U N B NG S N T 8 B R e e ol S e g
P S T N - S B O O N R S N =T~ T - - N = R

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NQ. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 101) Provide E.ON/LEM current capital budget (multi year, forward looking)

for facilities operated under the Lease Agreement.

a. Calcuiate and state the extent to which unit costs of power
produced by the leased facilities are projected increase or decrease under this capital
budget view.

Response)  See E.ON’s response.

Witness) E.ON U.S.

lItem 101
Page 1 of 1
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO, 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 102} Provide documents which show the prices of power provided to Big
Rivers by E.ON under the relevant purchase power agreements versus the cost of
producing that power, for the years 2005 to current.

Response)  See E.ON’s response.

Witness) ~ E.ON US.

Item 102
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 103) Provide all reports or presentations prepared by investment banking

advisors for E.ON pertaining to the Unwind Transaction/Lease Agreement termination.
Response)  See E.ON’s response.

Witness) E.ON U.S.

Ttem 103
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 104) = Provide all E.ON management reports and analyses prepared internally
pertaining to the Unwind Transaction/Lease Agreement termination which is the subject
of this application.

Response)  See E.ON’s response.

Witness) E.ONU.S.

Item 104
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITTAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 105) Please reference the application at page 11, paragraph 21. Explain in
detail why the transactions with Big Rivers “had not proven to be advantageous to E.ON
U.Ss.”

Response)  See E.ON’s response.

Witness) E.ONUS.

Item 105
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 106) Explain in detail why the Joint Applicants chose not to include the
Attorney General, who represents consumers in matters before the Commission, in the

unwind transaction presently filed.

Response)  The Attorney General was not included in the Unwind Transaction
negotiations because he is not a party to any agreement being terminated, is not a party to
any agreement proposed to be entered into as part of the Unwind Transaction and is not
otherwise assuming or being relieved of any rights or duties in connection with the
Unwind Transaction. Big Rivers viewed the role and interest of the Attorney General to
be participation in the review of transactions presented to the Commission by a utility, as
described in KRS 367.150, not participation in negotiating the transaction ftself. Big
Rivers and E.ON did promptly meet with the Attorney General when the Unwind |
Transaction was made public to describe the transaction to him. See also E.ON’s

response.

Witness) Michael H. Core

Item 106
Page 1 of 1
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Ytem 107)  Please reference the Application at page 17, paragraph 33. Describe the

negotiations to date with Henderson. In the description include dates, people involved,

and all matters discussed.

Response)  Please see attached schedule. Big Rivers anticipates that the negotiations
with Henderson will be concluded and the consent will be filed with the Commission

promptly after completion.

Witness) David A. Spainhoward

Item 107
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SCHEDULE OF MEETINGS

WITH HENDERSON MUNICIPAL POWER & LIGHT

Date Attendees Matters Discussed
1/31/06 | Mike Core, David Spainhoward, Mike HMP&L’s issues regarding
Thompson, C.B. West, Gary Quick, Wayne | unwind
Thompson, Jim Miller
4/10/06 | David Spainhoward, Mike Thompson, Gary HMP&1.’s issues regarding -
Quick, Wayne Thompson, C.B. West, Jim Miller | unwind -
6/14/06 | C.B. West, Jim Miller, David Spainhoward, HMP&L’s issues regarding
[City Manager], [HMP&L Board Member], unwind
Tim Dowdy, David Sinclair, Ralph Bowling,
Rob Toerne, Robert Michel, Pat Northam,
Wayne Thompson
1/12/07 | Mike Thompson, David Spainhoward, HMP&L.’s issues regarding
Gary Quick, Wayne Thompson, C.B. West, unwind
John Meinders, Jim Miller
2/21/07 | Mike Thompson, David Spainhoward, HMP&L’s issues regarding
' Gary Quick, Wayne Thompson, C.B. West, unwind
John Meinders ,
4/16/07 | C.B. West, Gary Quick, Wayne Thompson, HMP&L’s issues regarding
David Sinclair, Tim Dowdy, Bob Berry, unwind
Jeff Vandiver, Rob Toerne, Ralph Bowling,
Joe Ternes, Mike Thompson, Jim Miller .
4/20/07 | David Spainhoward and Gary Quick HMP&L’s issues regarding
unwind
4/27/07 | Mike Thompson, Jeff Meadow, David Crockett HMP&L’s NERC
Compliance
5/17/07 C. B. West, Wayne Thompson, Gary Quick, Jim Outstandiﬁg WKE Issue List
Miller, Mike Thompson, David Spainhoward, '
David Sinclair, Rob Toerne, Tim Dowdy, Bob
Berry
6/18/07 HMP&L’s issues regarding

No recall of who was present

unwind




Date

Attendees

Matters Discussed

7/13/07

Chairman Bill Smith, Gary Quick, Wayne Post-Closing Fuel Quality
Thompson, Mike Thompson, Jim Miller, David Discussions
Spainhoward
10/24/07 | C.B. West, Pat Northam, Gary Quick, Jim Miller, | HMP&L’s issues regardiﬁg
Tim Dowdy, Wayne Thompson, David unwind
Spainhoward, Mike Thompson; Robert Michel
11/6/07 | Gary Quick, Wayne Thompson, C.B. West, Bill | HMP&L'’s issues regarding |
' Blackburn, David Spainhoward, David Crockett, | unwind
| Mike Thompson, Jim Miller
11/20/07 | Bill Blackburn, David Crockett, Wayne HMP&L’s issues regardin
Thompson, Mike Thompson, C.B. West, unwind :
Gary Quick, David Spainhoward, Jim Miller
12/5/07 | Robert Ferdon, C.B. West, Patrick Northam, Conference call regarding
David Sinclair, Tim Dowdy, David Spainhoward, | terms of the proposed
Jim Miller release
12/06/07 | Mike Core , Gary Quick HMP&L’s issues regarding
unwind
12/06/07 | Gary Quick, Wayne Thompson, Mike Core, Mark | HMP&L s issues regarding
+/- Bailey, David Spainhoward, Bill Blackburn unwind
12/11/07 | Mark Bailey, Mike Core, Gary Quick, Chairman | HMP&L’s issues regarding
' Bill Smith, Board Member Scott Miller unwind
12/14/07 | Mike Thompson, Wayne. Thompson Model Inputs
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 108) Please reference the Application at page 17, paragraph 33e. Explain what

the Joint Applicants mean when they state that the negotiations are “on-going”.

Response)  Big Rivers assumes the Attorney General refers to page 20, paragtaph 37e.
The term “on-going” as it relates to negotiations with Henderson means the negotiations
have not been completed. Big Rivers anticipates that the negotiations with Henderson
will be concluded and the consent will be filed with the Commission promptly after

completion.

Witness) C. William Blackburn

Item 108
Page 1 of 1
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 109) Please reference the Application at page 20, paragraph 37d. Explain
why Big Rivers believes it is prudent to continue with the transaction when it has yet to
complete the due diligence of the generating facilities?

Response)  Big Rivers’ due diligence of the generating facilities has been and will
continue to be performed up until the time of Transaction Closing due to the fact that
there are a number of provisions in the Termination Agreement that must be satisfied
before the Closing can occur. For example, please see page 67 of 622 (ff) - No Forced

Qutage at Generating Plants. Big Rivers is not required to Close should a unit be out of

service due to a scheduled outage unless it is satisfied the unit will meet the criteria set
forth in that section. Another example is listed in Section (dd) on page 66 of 622 —

Condition of Generating Plants. - Big Rivers is not required to Close unless, in its sole

reasonable judgment, the units are in good condition and state of repair, ordinary wear

and tear excepted, consistent with Prudent Utility Practice.

See also response to Commission Staff Question 51.

Witness) Mark A. Bailey

itern 109
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 110) Does Big Rivers agree that the heart of the ability for an electric company

to exist is to have reliable generation?

a. If s0, then why would Big Rivers agree to resume control over the
generators unless due diligence has been completed to clearly show that the generators

are reliable?

Response)  Reliable generation will be important to Big Rivers in order to meet its

load requirements and serve its Members.

a. Please see Big Rivers’ response to Attorney General’s initial
request, Item 109 and Staff Request Item 51. Big Rivers believes there are sufficient
closing conditions contained in the Termination Agreement to enable it to refuse to close
should it find the generating units are not in reliable condition at that time, The
Termination Agreement does not require Big Rivers to close the Unwind Transaction
unless Big Rivers has completed its due diligence with satisfactory results as provided in
the Termination Agreement. Satisfaction of other conditions to closing, while pursuing
an acquiror’s due diligence on the assets to be acquired, is common in arrangements for

the transfer of control of assets such as the generating facilities.

Witness) Mark A. Bailey

Item 110
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 111) Why is the agreement so time sensitive with the financing that additional

time for regulatory review will presumably jeopardize the transaction?

Response)  The effort to negotiate and implement the Unwind Transaction has been

‘ongoing for more than four years. Both financing and regulatory approvals are sensitive

because the parties need to proceed on parallel paths to effect a timely closing. The need
to obtain multiple approvals makes a “one step at a time™ approach impractical. The

financing is being scheduled to meet the closing date requirements.

Witness) Michael H. Core

ftem 111
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455

February 14, 2008

Item 112) The 2005 Annual Report to Members (Exhibit 4) states at page 2 “The
signing of the [Letter of Intent] begins a process to seek all the necessary approvals for an
unwind by early 2007”. Explain why despite this goal Joint Applicants filed an arguably
incomplete filing between Christmas and New Years Eve, 2007,

Response)  The 2005 Annual Report was prepared in early 2006, and the quoted
statement represents Big Rivers’ best estimate of the schedule for the Unwind. What was
unknown at that time was the delay that would be caused by negotiations with a Big
Rivers creditor in the 2000 defeased sale leaseback. This delay along with the
complexity of the transaction and other matters caused the change in the timing to file

with the PSC. The Big Rivers filing in this matter was and is, complete,

Witness) Michael H. Core

Item 112
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 113) Please reference the Application at page 21, paragraph 39. Has the
“outstanding issue with Kenergy been resolved™?

Regardless of the answer, please describe the issue.

a.

b. If it has been resolved, please describe the resolution.

C. If it has not been resolved, explain Why. |
d. If it has not been resolved, please explain why it is prudent for

the transaction to be considered by the Commission.

Response)  No.

_ a. The issue involves questions about patronage capital at the retail
level.
b. NA
C. The parties have not yet reached agreement, but are meeting within

the next week in an attempt to do so.
d. The parties expect to have a timely resolution of the issue, with
little or no change to the Smelter Agreements that have been filed.

Witness) C. William Blackburn

Item 113
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 114) Please reference the Application at page 31, paragraph 57. Describe in
detail what financial, technical, and managerial capabilities Big Rivers will have that are
materially different than when it went into bankruptcy.

Response)  Big Rivers will be materially different than when it was in bankruptcy.
Financially Big Rivers will be in significantly better shape than at the time of its
bankruptey. First, it will have much lower debt as a result of debt being paid down post
bankruptcy and of the further debt reduction resulting from the Unwind Transaction. The
Unwind Transaction will result in equity moving from a negative 13.6% to a positive
24.4% with cash of $125 million and lines of credit totaling another $100 million. This
provides $225 million in liquidity and a cushion for unanticipated costs. Big Rivers will
also have an indenture that will facilitate access to more lenders providing flexibility to

achieve the best interest rates,

Second, the financial, technical, and managerial capabilities of Big Rivers were not the |
reason for the bankruptcy. Rather, at the time of the bankruptcy, Big Rivers had
burdensome coal contracts, and the wholesale power market had not yet fully developed.
Big Rivers will not'assume long-term, burdensome coal contracts, whose prices are out of
line with market prices, like those it had when it filed for reorganization. Technically,
Big Rivers and the entire utility industry have undergone significant chénges over the
past ten years resulting in and from RTOs, structured wholesale power markets and

efficiency improvements.

Big Rivers is also a member of ACES Power Marketing, a joint effort by 15 G&Ts and
one distribution cooperative, and that has broadened Big Rivers' knowledge and access to
other technologies regarding risk management, wholesale power markets, fuels, power
production models and other pertinent types of information. Big Rivers has determined
its organizational structure will have a total of 632 positions. . This number is nearly 200
less than when it entered bankruptcy. Big Rivers' managerial capabilities will be in good
hands after the closing of the Unwind Transaction. The description of Mark Bailey and

Item 114
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- BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 |

February 14, 2008

his senior staff is included in his testimony, Exhibit 5, as Exhibit MAB-1. All permanent
senior staff positions following the Unwind closing will be filled by individuals that were
not senior staff at Big Rivers at the time of the filing of bankruptcy. In addition, the
Board and management of Big Rivers have established a new department of Enterprise
Risk Management that will focus risk identification, evaluation and mitigation of risks.
This department will provide on-going réports to the Board and Members with regard to
enterprise risk management. We believe these efforts will facilitate the health of the

company and allow it to maintain its financial viability.

Witness) Michael H. Core

liem 114
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 115) In regard to each materially different difference, explain in detail why Big

Rivers believes it will allow the company to remain viable on an on-going basis.
Response)  See response to AG initial request, Item 114.

Witness) Michael H. Core

Item 115
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S .
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

ftem 116) For each year 2008-2013, please provide the computed rate of return on
rate base inherent in the financial model projections (Exhibit 8).

Response)  As an electric cooperative, Big Rivers has not historically prepared a
calculation of return on rate base for submission to the Kentucky Public Service
Commission or other purposes.

For reference, we have prepared an indicative calculation of return on rate base inherent

in the financial model projections, defined as follows:

1. Net margins + financing related expense
divided by
2. Net plant in service (approximate Rate Base)

The calculation for the years 2008 through 2023 is provided on the attached table.

Witness) Robert S. Mudge
C. William Blackburn

Item 116
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ATTACHMENT TO AG ITEM 116
2008 2009 = 2010 2011 2012 2013

Approximate Rate Base ($M, Beqinning of Period)

Total Utility Plant in Service 1,878 1,924 2,001 2060 2117 2,172
Accumulated Depreciation & Amortization 870 894 931 970 1,015 1,061
Net Plant : 1,008 1,030 1,069 1,090 1,102 1,110
Return on Rate Base ($M, unless otherwise indicated)
Net Margin : 11 16 13 16 16 16
Pius Finance Related Expense:
Interest Expense (Incl. Financing Fees and mmm:coﬂc::m Costs) 31 46 46 45 44 43
Net Sale-Leaseback (2) {2) (2) (2) (2) (2)
Total _ - 40 60 56 58 58 57

% 6.0% 5.8% 53%  5.3% 5.2% 5.1%
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S _
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
- FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 117) Assuming the 2008 capital structure projected in the financial model
(Exhibit 8), please provide Big Rivers’ current weighted average cost of capital, showing

computations and the cost attributed to each source of capital.

Response)  The attached schedule shows the cost of capital computation for the 12
months ended December 31, 2008 based on the Financial Model (Exhibit 8). The
Financial Model does not provide the detail needed to calculate cost of capital by source

{generation, transmission and general plant).

Witness) C. William Blackburn

Item 117
Page 1 of 1
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 118)  Please reference the testimony of Burns E. Mercer, page 4, regarding
“absent the rate path offered by Big Rivers through the capacity restored to it by the
Unwind Transaction there would be a higher chance that the Smelters could discontinue
operations”, Please explain in detail why E.ON/LEM would not be able to offer the
smelters the same or similar “rate path” under the current status and structure, including

the Lease Transaction and Purchase Power Agreements.
Response)  See E.ON response.

Witness) E.ONU.S.

Item 118
Page 1 of 1
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 119) Provide all correspondence to and from Jack Gaines/JDG Consulting

pertaining to the negotiations surrounding the Unwind Transaction:

Response)  In all negotiations surrounding the Unwind Transaction, Jack Gaines/JDG |
Consulting represents the interests of Big Rivers’ distribution cooperative members,
whose interests are indépendent of Big Rivers’ intérests. Communications between Big
Rivers and Jack Gaines/JDG Consulting pertaining to the negotiations between Big
Rivers and its Members are privileged, and as such, Big Rivers objects to this request.
Big Rivers further objects on the grounds that the request is overly broad, unduly
burdensome, and irrelevant, Notwithstanding the foregoing objection, attached are

documents provided by Jack Gaines in response to this request.

Wiiness) Burns E. Mercer

Counsel

Item 119
Page 1 of 1
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Barbara Harwood

From: Burns Mercer Ebmercer@mcrecc.com]
Sent: Tuesday, September 11, 2007 1.32 PM
To: Jack D, Gaines

Subject: RE: Billing Load Factors

Got it!

From: Jack D. Gaines [maiito:jgaines@jdg-fic.com]
Sent: Tuesday, September 11, 2007 2:25 PM

To: Burns Mercer -

Subject: FW: Billing Load Factors

Please confirm receipt.

From: Jack D. Gaines [malito;jgaines@jdg-lic.com]
Sent: Tuesday, September 11, 2007 2:01 PM

To: 'Burnie Mercer"; 'Sandy Novick'; 'Kelly Nuckols'
Subject: Billing Load Factors

The attached shows the rolling twelve month “billing” load factors for each member and BREC (rural systems).
Billing load factor measures the relationship between annual kWh and the sum of the billing demands for the same
year Billing load factor is meaningful when evaluating your average cost of power per kWh:.

The file also has a comparison of billing and annual load factors by each member. The calculations are rolling
fwelve months beginning 12/31/98 and ending 8/31/07. The BREC rural system weighted average over the entire
period is 62.73%, The averages over the entire period by member are:

JP T B2.82%
Kenergy £3.29%
Meade 61.16%

The history shows that the billing load factors fluctuate over time. It is primarily weather driven. The billing load

factors were off in 2006 and the effect was exaggerated because 2006 followed two good years. Billing load factor is
moving back up in 2007,

The newly approved load forecast is being used for the unwind production cost and financial models. For reference,
it projects a 80.17% rural billing load factor. The history would indicate that 60.17% is low. In fact, 61.25% was the
lowest over the 10 year period for the combined rural system.

Although i think the billing load factor from the new forecast is on the low side, the important thing for now is that
both the status quo and the unwind reflect the same load factor and they do. Nevertheless, | have asked Bob for a

revenue sensitivity using the historic average of 82.73% and | will let you know what the effect is when 1 get it from
him.

Jack D. Gaines
President

JDG Consulting, LLC
770-392-9971
770-392-0971 (fax)
770-335-3299 (celh)
jgaines@idg-llc.com

2/12/12008
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Barbara Harwood

From: Sandy Novick [snovick@kenergycorp.com]
Sent: Friday, December 14, 2007 12:20 PM

To: Jack D, Gaines

Ce: Burns Mercer

Subject: RE: Call

Jack: Here all day. Name a time. Sandy

From: Jack D. Gaines [mailto:jgaines@idg-lic.com)
Sent: Friday, December 14, 2007 12:09 PM

To: 'Burns Mercer'; "Sandy Novick’; 'Kelly Nuckols'
Subject: Call

Are you available for a call this afternoon? | know Kelly has some conflict but we need to gettogethereven if it is
not at the same times.

Jack D, Gaines
President

JDG Consulting, LLC
770-382-0971
770-392-9971 (fax)
770-335-3299 (cell)
jgaines@jdg-lic.com

2/12/20608
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Barbara Harwood

From: Sandy Novick [snovick@kenergycorp.c:bm‘]
Sent:  Friday, August 24, 2007 7:01 AM

To: Jack D. Gaines; Burns Mercer; Kelly Nuckols
Subject: RE: Call

© Jack: | am tied up with an employee meeting untit 10:30 EDT. Sandy

From: Jack D. Gaines [mailto:jgaines@jdg-lic.com]

Sent: Thursday, August 23, 2007 4:30 PM

To: 'Burnie Mercer'; snovick@kenergycorp.com; 'Kelly Nuckols'
Subject: Call

I'm available for a conference call tornorrow i you want to talk any time before 10:30 EDT. I'l be out next Monday
and Tuesday.

Jack D. Gaines
Pregident

JDG Consuilting, L1C
770-392-9971
770-392-0971 (fax)
770-335-3289 (cell)

jgaines@idg-lic.com

2/12/2008
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Barbara Harwood

From: Kelly Nuckols [Kelly. Nuckols@jpenergy.com] '

Sent:  Thursday, August 23, 2007 6:27 PM

To: Jack D. Gaines; Burns Mercer; snovick@kenergycorp.com
Subject: RE: Call

| have call scheduled with CFC on rate case 9:00 CDT

= |

From: Jack D, Gaines [mailto:jgaines@jdg-lic.com]

Sent: Thursday, August 23, 2007 4:30 PM

To: 'Burnie Mercer'; snovick@kenergycorp.com; Kelly Nuckols
Subject: Call

i'm available for a conference call tororrow if you want to talk any time before 10:30 EDT. I'lt be out next Monday
and Tuesday.

Jack D. Gaines
President

JDG Consulting, LLC
770-382-9971
770-392-9971 (fax)
770-335-3289 {cel)
jgaines@idg-lic.com

2/12/2008
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Barbara Harwood

From: Burns Mercer [omercer@mcrecc.com]

Sent:  Friday, August 24, 2007 10:07 AM

To: Jack D. Gaines; Sandy Novick; Kelly Nuckols
Subject: RE: Call

OK.

From: Jack D. Gaines [mailto:igaines@jdg-lic.com]
Senf: Friday, August 24, 2007 10:40 AM

To: 'Sandy Novick'; Burns Mercer; 'Kelly Nuckols'
Subject: RE: Cali

I am tied up on another conference call untit noon and then have to attend a meeting. | will have some time
Monday morning and will try to call each of you but we may not be able to do it as a conference call.

Jack

From: Sandy Novick [mailto:snovick@kenergycorp.comj
Sent: Friday, August 24, 2007 8:01 AM

To: Jack D. Gaines'; 'Burnie Mercer'; 'Kelly Nuckols'
Subject: RE: Call

Jack: | am tied up with an employee meeting until 10:30 EDT. Sandy

From: Jack D. Gaines [maiito:jgaines@jdg-ilc.com]

Sent: Thursday, August 23, 2007 4:30 PM ‘
To: 'Burnie Mercer'; snovick@kenergycorp.com; 'Kelly Nuckols'
Subject: Call

I'm available for a conference call tomorrow if you want to talk any time before 10:30 EDT. 1'll be out next Monday
and Tuesday.

Jack D, Gaines
President

JDG Consuliing, LLC
770-392-8871
770-392-9971 (fax)
770-335-3299 (cell)
jgaines@jdg-lic.com

2/12/2008
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Barbara Harwood

From: Séndy Novick [snovick@kenergycorp.com] -

Sent:  Tuesday, December 04, 2007 7:14 AM

To: Jack D. Gaines

Cc: Deabbie Hayden; Burns Mercer,; kelly. nuckols@JPEnergy com
Subject: RE: Latest Financial Run

Jack; | am available until 9:30am or from 11:00am until 2:00pm. Sandy

From: Jack D, Gaines [mailto:jgaines@jdg-lic.com]
Sent: Monday, December 03, 2007 6:25 PM

To: 'Burns Mercer'; 'Sandy Nov:ck’ 'Kelly Nuckols'
Subject: RE: Latest Financial Run

All,

I began to question myself about the conclusion that the Economic Reserve would last § years including base rate
increasas given the higher costs of the new model. So, | went back and rechecked the pro forma and found that |
had miscalculated. Based on the new model with higher costs the Reserve would only be sufficient to keep rates
at the current level through the first part of 2012, or about four years. '

We can discuss this more when we talk. Please iet.us know your availability for Wednesday.

Jack

All,

Mark Bailey suggested | contact you to discuss the use of the Economic Reserve. There has been no change in
how we plan fo use it since we last discussed it. However, as a modeling tactic it is longer being applied to offset
to future base rate increases, the first of which is modeled for 2011. That is because the tariffs to be filed will only
attach it to offset the FAC and ES as a matter of practicality and regulatory constraint. Its use against base rate
increases is and has been something that would be addressed as pari of the first rate case. Nevertheless, the last
madel | saw continued to show that there is sufficient reserve to keep the rates at their current level through 2012
and a few months of 2013 if we ask the PSC o let us use it {o offset base rates as well. Again, that is something
that we would review in three years when the rate case is filed. in the meantime, it will be used fo keep rates at

current levels through 2010 by offsetting FAC and ES net of the credits for the smelter surcharges and the rebate
if any.

[ spoke to Nib today about the various tariff filings you will need to make. Perhaps we can arrange a call later this
week to discuss the tariffs and the new financial model in more detail. Tomotrow is bad for me. Wednesday
morning works,

Thanks
Jack

2/12/2008
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Barbara Harwood

From: Burns Mercer [bmercer@mcrecc.com]

Sent:  Tuesday, December 04, 2007 8:04 AM

To: Jack D. Gaines; Sandy Novick; Kelly Nuckols
Subject: RE: Latest Financial Run

I'm available Wednesday morning.

From: Jack D. Gaines [mailto:jgaines@idg-lic.com]
Sent: Monday, December 03, 2007 7:25 PM

To: Burns Mercer; 'Sandy Novick'; 'Kelly Nuckols'
Subject: RE: Latest Financial Run

Al,

| began to question myself about the conclusion that the Economic Reserve would last 5 years including base rate
increases given the higher costs of the new model. So, | went back and rechecked the pro forma and found that |
had miscalculated. Based on the new mode] with higher costs the Reserve would only be sufficient fo keep rates
at the current level through the first part of 2012, or about four years.

We can discuss this more when we talk. Please let us know your availability for Wednesday.

Jack

All,

Mark Bailey suggested | contact you fo discuss the use of the Economic Reserve. There has been no change in
how we plan to use it since we last discussed it. However, as a modeling tactic it is longer being applied to offset
to future base rate increases, the first of which is modeled for 2011. That is because the tariffs to be filed will only
attach it fo offset the FAC and ES as a matter of practicality and regulatory constraint. lts use against base rate
increases is and has been something that would be addressed as part of the first rate case, Nevertheless, the last
modet | saw continued to show that there is sufficient reserve to keep the rates at their current level through 2012
and a few months of 2013 if we ask the PSC to let us use it to offsét base rates as well. Again, that is something
that we would review in three years when the rate case is filed. In the meantime, it will be used to keep rates at
current levels through 2010 by offsetting FAC and ES net of the credits for the smelter surcharges and the rebate
if any.

| spoke 1o Nib today about the various tariff filings you will need to make. Perhaps we can arrange a call later this
week to discuss the tariffs and the new financial redel in more detail. Tomorrow is bad for me. Wednesday
morning works. :

Thanks

Jack

2/12/2008
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Barbara Harwood

From: Burns Mercer [bmercer@mcrecc.com]
Sent:  Wednesday, August 15, 2007 7:36 AM
To: Jack D. Gaines; Kelly Nuckols

Ce: sthompson@kenergycorp.com
Subject: RE: Meeting

| need to start the conference call @ 8:00 ¢ b if that's OK.

From: Jack D. Gaines [mailto:jgaines@jdg-lic.com]
Sent; Tuesday, August 14, 2007 5:41 PM

To: Burns Mercer; 'Kelly Nuckols'

Cc: sthompson@kenergycorp.com

Subject: Meeting

All,

I had plans to be in Henderson next Wednesday but that meeting was cancelled. Burnie and | thought that since |
already had it planned | could come on up and we could get together in Henderson to discuss the status of the
unwind now that new numbers are available for review. We thought 9:00 a.m. would be a good time but | am
flexible. Steve, would you forward to Sandy since | don't have his e-mail address.

Also, I understand that you will be getting the board presentation fomorrow. Would we have time for a conference
call Thursday morning in advance of the Board meeting? Please let me know.

Thanks

Jack D. Gaines
Presldent

JDG Consulting, LLC
770-302-9971
770-392-9971 (fax)
770-335-3299 {cell)
igaines@jdg-llc.com

2/12/2008
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Wednesday 22, | have meeting with vendors on our AM! project. What was purpose of meeting?

Barbéra Harwood
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From: Kelly Nuckols [Kelly.Nuckols@jpenergy.com
Sent:  Wednesday, August 15, 2007 8:41 AM

To: Jack D. Gaines; Burns Mercer

Cce: sthompson@kenergycorp.com

Subject: RE: Meeting

On telephone conference Thursday 16™, anytime before 10:30. | have meeting with industrial prospects. And

then need to drive to Henderson.

|

I

&

Erom: Jack D. Gaines [mailto:jgaines@idg-lic.com]
Sent: Tuesday, August 14, 2007 4:41 PM

To: 'Burnie Mercer'; Kelly Nuckols

Cc: sthompson@kenergycorp.com

Subject: Meeling

All,

! had plans to be in Henderson next Wednesday but that meeting was cancelled. Burnie and 1 thought that since | already
had it planned | could come on up and we could get together in Henderson to discuss the status of the unwind now that
new numbers are available for review. We thought 9:00 a.m. wo_uld be a good time but | am flexible, Steve, would you

forward fo Sandy since ! don't have his e-mail address.

Also, | understand that you will be getting the board presentation fomorrow. Would we have time for a conference call

Thursday morning in advance of the Board meeting? Please let me know.

Thanks

Jack D. Gaineg
President

JDG Consutling, LLC
770-392-9971
770-392-9971 (fax)
770-335-3299 (cell)
lgaines@jdg-lic.com

2/12/2008
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Barbara Harwood .

From:
Sent;
To:

Jack D. Gaines [jgaines@jdg-llc.com]
Friday, August 27, 2004 9:58 AM
Burns Mercer; Kelly Nuckols (Nuckols, Kelly); Mark Baiiey

Subject: FW. The Core Project

| siight editorial change is found in the second item 1. below.

From: Jack D. Gaines [mailto:jgaines@jdg-lic.com]

sent: Friday, August 27, 2004 9:54 AM

To: Burns Mercer; Kelly Nuckols {Nuckols, Kelly); Mark Bailey
" ‘Subject: The Core Project

Gentlemen:

As you know, Burns and | participated in the strategy meetings in Louisville that began on Tuesday and end
today. However, we both had to leave the yesterday. | would to report that the meetings were very productive and
helped tremendously to bring me up to date. Many issues were discussed and several variations of the financial
models and production models were run based on input provided by everyone including Burns and me. We were
especially concerned with producing results that will be meaningful to your directors. To that end, the
presentations are expected to be based on the following:

1

2.

A “Status Quo” forecast that produces a base line cash flow that is realistic from a planning
standpoint. The "Status Quo” will necessarily include rate increases.

A set of "Unwind” cases that are based on the "Status Quo” rate forecast that will produce present
valies of Unwind versus Status Quo at different LGEE Payment levels beginning with the $180
million offer. These will tell us the economic value of the deal.

A set of “Unwind” cases that are based on reduced rate forecasts that will produce minimum Unwind
financial criteria (i.e. TIER, DSC, cash balances) at different LG&E Payment levels beginning with the
$180 million offer. These will tell us the expected effect on rates of the deal.

For each of the above, a 2023 balance sheet to provide an indication of on-going financial stability
and rate trends.

The presentation is expected to be simplified to show:

L

The net after financing, after tax PV differences for each item 2 case. That would be the Unwind
Cases PV minus the Status Quo PV, If the value Is positive then that Unwind deal is financially
better than the Status Quo. '

Comparative rate forecasts both in the aggregate and year by year. | envision a graph for the
latter.

An itemized list of all maintenance and capital improvements planned and built into the Unwind
assumptions as well as those that would be part of the Status Quo. This list would be o show that
BREC has contemplated the cost of addressing plant reliability.

Finally, & comparative list of tangible and intangible risks/rewards of Unwind versus Status Quo
that are not readily quantifiable. | believe that this list may well be the uitimate driver behind the
decision if the financials are close as opposed to definitively pro or con. it may even be that this
list comes down in favor of the deal even if the financials are negative. Or the reverse may be
true. We will have to see.

The Working Group will reconvene in Loulswlle next Tuesday through Thursday. However { witl be at Kenergy on
Wednesday, Therefore, | will join the group on Thursday.

Burns has also asked that | be present at the meeting with the boards on the 16™_| plan to have Mike Leverett
visit BREC on the 15% to go aver the production cost model and stay through the 16™ so that everyone can meet

him as well,

2/12/2008
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That covers it for now. If you have any questions, please call me.

Jack D. Gaines
President

JDG Consulting, LLC
770-392-8871
770-302-0971 {fax)
770-335-3299 (cell)
igaines@jdg-lic.com

2/12/2008
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Barbara Harwood

From: Burns Mercer [bmercer@mcrecc.comj

Sent:  Friday, August 31, 2007 8:38 AM

To: - Jack D. Gaines; Kelly Nuckols; Sandy Novick
Subject: RE: Unwind

| agree time is getting critical. I'll plan to be there.

From: Jack D. Gaines [mailto:jgaines@jdg-lic.com]
Sent: Friday, August 31, 2007 9:34 AM

To: Burns Mercer; "Kelly Nuckols'; 'Sandy Novick'
Subject: Unwind

All,

Negotiations with the Smelters to try to improve the economics of the deal will be held next Wednesday and
Thursday (if necessary) in Louisville at the Marriott. Time is now critical. | suggest we plan to meet in Louisville
Thursday morning at 10:00 a.m. at which time | hope we will have as close to a final set of numbers needed to
evaluate the deal and agree on a mamber pesition. We will meet at the Marriott or the Hyatt across the street from
the Marriott.

Thanks |

Jack D. Gaines
President

JDG Consulting, LLC
770-392-9971
770-392-9971 (fax)
770-335-3299 {cell)
igaines@jdg-fic.com

2/1212008
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- FW: 12/11 (Tuesday) Board Call material

Barbara Harwood

Page 1ofl

From: Jack D. Gaines [jgaines@jdg-lic.com]
Sent: Wednesday, December 12, 2007 6:54 AM
To: Burns Mercer

Subject: FW: 12/11 (Tuesday) Board CéEE material
Attachments: Unwind Summary Data 12 10 07.xs

~~~~~ Original Message-----.

From: Mike Core [mailto:mcore@higrivers.com]

Sent: Monday, December 10, 2007 4:38 PM

To: jgaines@jdg-ilc.com; 'Lyon, Carl’; 'Jim Miller'; Bill Denton; James

Sills; Larry Elder; Lee Bearden; Paul Edd Butler; Wayne Elliott; Bill
Blackburn; David Crockett; David Spainhoward; jhaner@bigrivers.coop; ‘Mark

Bailey'; 'Mark Hite'; Travis Housley; 'Burns Mercer'; 'Kelly Nuckols'; Sandy
Novick :

Subject: 12/11 (Tuesday) Board Call material

To All:

Attached is a spread sheet that shows the changes in the financial model to
be filed with the commission. We will review this with the board on Tuesday
evening at 6:30 p.m. (central time). Please use the BREC call in number.

Mike

2/12/2008
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Barbara Harwood

From: Jack D. Gaines [jgaines@jdg-llc.com]
Sent: Wednesday, August 28, 2007 7,56 PM

To: Burns Mercer; Sandy Novick; Kelly Nuckols
Subject: Call |

1 finally caught up with Russell. There isn't much to report. It was a civilized discussion, He began by saying that

the “negotiations” had taken a bad turn. | said it wasn’t the negotiations but the economics that had turned bad.
He agreed. :

As expected he wanted to be sure that the members consider the possibility that the Smelters are able to get
BREC’s output above its other native load at a rate at or near the large industrial rate. My impression is that he
does not consider them getting 850 MW at average cost as being any more likely than we consider it. He
emphasized the 2023 concern whereas we would get the plants back to find them of in bad shape and of litlle
value, He wanted to be sure that possibility was being considered.

He wanted to know what is driving the members’ thinking. Is it rates, risk, or something else? He wanted to know
if Meade and JP considered saving the Smelters of high importance relative to other factors. | did not volunteer
much other than to affirm that we are aware of and considering all of the issues he mentioned. | did remind him
that when approving the deal the forecasts showed rates in the unwind expected to be comparable or a litile less
than the current deal. Now, the economics have caused the forecasted rates to be higher which is a tough sale. |
said the members would be considering the most recent model and will be interested in seeing the effects of the

smelters contract reduced to 600 MW. Russell seemed fo thing the change to 600 MW couid be beneficial 1o both
parties.

He also wanted to know if the CEO’s would be making the final decisions or if it was the local boards. | told him
that you were doing your jobs and the boards would do theirs (not in those words).

Regarding the new model, it is improved and reducing smetter demand to 600 MW has a lot of appeal.. We need
to discuss it ASAP but it would be betier to do so after we find out how the Smelters react. We have a call with
them tomorrow.

Pl contact you after that call.

Jack D. Gaines
President

JDG Consulting, LLC
770-392-9971
770-392-9971 (fax)
770-335-3299 (cell)
jgaines@idg-lic.com

2/12/2008


http://jgi&%ernd&!lc.com

Page 1 of 1

Barbara Harwood

From: Mark Bailey [mbailey@bigrivers.com]
Sent: Monday, December 03, 2007 4:29 PM
To: Jack D. Gaines

Cc: mcore@bigrivers.com; Burns Mercer
Subject: Latest Financial Run

Hi Jack,

While on a member CEQ call earlier this affernoon to discuss a variety of matiers, the CEC's inquired
whether/when they would get to see the latest Financial model output. | indicated the lastest one was sent to the
smelters last Wednesday and that our representatives met with them Thursday and Friday to discuss. | told them
you had the latest information. You may want to consider sharing that information with them and perhaps
scheduling a call or meeting to discuss,

During that call, we told the CEO's you would be getting with them to discuss how they wanted to use the
Economic Reserve.

Thanks, Mark

2/12/2008
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Barbara Harwood

From: Jack D. Gaines [igaines@)jdg-lic.com]
Sent: Friday, October 26, 2007 1:24 PM
To: Burns Mercer.

Subject: Presentation

Attachments: Meade Presentation 10_11_07 JG.ppt

Jack D. Gaines
President

JDG Consuiting, LLC
770-302-9971
770-392-9971 (fax)
770-335-3299 (cell)
jgaines@jdg-llc.com

2/12/2008
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Barbara Harwood

From: Jack D. Gaines [jgaines@jdg-lic.com]
Sent: - Saturday, danuary 18, 2008 9:44 AM

To: Burns Mercer; Kelly Nuckols; Sandy Navick
Cc: ~ Frank King, Steve Thompson

Subject: Public Notice

Attachments: Exhibit CWB-8 Revenue Comparision.xls; Retail Factors for Public Notice.xis
All,

The attached "Retail Factors for Public Notice” file provides the annualized retail factors based on the wholesale
factors used by Bill Blackburn (Exhibit CWB-8) for the BREC Public Notice. Per Steve's observation and Nib's
suggestion we should calculate the individual effects of the Riders by class and show the combined sum. A
suggested template is shown on the Retail Factors for Public Notice file.

i do not have the data necessary to make the calculations. To be consistent you may want to use the 12 months
ending October 2007 as BREC did but | don't think it would matter if you used another 12 months. it may be
easier for JP o use the data from their rate case.

| suggest using the BREC table as shown for the direct served industrials. Each is shown separately.

There is one minor technicality to mention. The BREC calculations show a 2008 Rebate. That is accurate from an
accrual standpoint but not from a rate application standpoint. In any case the swing is absorbed by the MRSM so

the result is still a zero but in application there won't be a Rebate billing effect until the second year assuming the
first year produces a Rebate.

You can complete the calculations or send the data to me.

Thanks
Jack

Jack D. Gaines
President :
JDG Consulting, LLC
770-362-9871
770-382-9971 (fax)
770-335-3299 (cell)
igaines@ijdg-lic.com

2/12/2008
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Barbara Harwood

From: Jack D. Gaines [jgaines@jdg-lic.com]
Sent:  Friday, January 18, 2008 1:49 PM

To: Kelly Nuckois; Burns Mercer; Sandy Novick
Subject: Public Notice

FYl,
Steve Thompson pointed out that a strict interpretation of the regulations means that the effect of each new tariff
must be shown individually. Hence, we would show by class for example,

FAC +§16-
us -5 4
ES +§2
Rebate -$ 1
MRSM -$13

USCF §$-0-

Nib has suggested we proceed this way. I'll be working on a format to keep it as simple as possible.

Jack D. Gaines
President

JDG Consulting, LLC
770-392-9971
770-392-8971 (fax)
770-335-3289 (cell)
jgaines@jdg-fic.com

2/12/2008
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Barbara Harwood

From: Jack I, Gaines [jgaines@jdg-ilc.com]
Sent: Sunday, January 27, 2008 9:39 AM
To: Karen Brown

Cc: Burns Mercer

Subject: Public Notice

Attachments: Meade US_draft_1_08_08.doc; Meade ES__draﬁ__1__08m08;doc; Meade
FAC draft_1_08_08.doc; Meade MRSM _draft_1_08_08.doc; Meade
Rebate_draft_1_08 08.doc, Meade URCF _draft_1_15_08.doc; Public_Notice-1 Meade.xls;

Kenergy F’roposed Rate - No. 45. dog; Kenergy Proposed Rate - No. 43 doc; Kenergy
Proposed Rate - No. 44.doc

Karen,

Please see the attached Public Notice-1 spreadsheet. In compiling the data did you use the RUS “classes” from
the Form 77 If so, what 1 really need is the data by tariff and | should have used that terminology to be clearer.

Can you send the kWh and the revenue (| need revenue to calculate the percent increase of each rider) broken
out as foliows?

C Rate 1 .
Rate 2
Rate 3
Rate 3A
Rate 5
Rate 6

Also, didn’t Meade change rates in 20077 if so, we would technically need to adjust the revenue for each class to
reflect the annualized revenue under current rates. Please call me if you have any questions.

i am attaching the 8 riders and the 3 Small Power Production and QF Tariffs. | have intentionally not specifically
identified Rate 13 in the riders but it Is captured by the broader description of Saction 2 applicability. No 43 and 44

will replace your 8 TRF and 9 TRF, respectively. No. 45 is new to Meade and | suppose would become 10 TRF
but that is for you to decide.

Thanks
Jack

2/12/2008
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Barbara Harwood

From: Jack D. Gaines [jgaines@jdg-lic.com]
Sent: Friday, December 14, 2007 10:03 AM
To: ~ Sandy Novick; Kelly Nuckols '

Cc: Burns Mercer, mbailey@bigrivers.com
Subject: Rate Comparison

Attachments: Rate Comparison.ppt

Sandy and Kelly,

The attached may be helpful to your board. it shows how the “big jump” moves forward one year and is a litle
higher. But, it also shows how the Status compares with its own “big jump” and how the use of reserve is now

modeled to “feather” in the big jump. The only thing missing is an update of the status guo rate comparison that
would correspond to the current unwind.

Jack D. Gaines
President

JDG Consulfing, LLC
770-302-9971
770-382-9971 {fax)
770-335-3299 (cell)

2/12/2008
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Barbara Harwood

From: Jack D. Gaines jjgaines@jdg-lic.com]
Sent:  Monday, January 07, 2008 2:54 PM
To: Sandy Novick; Burns Mercer; Kelly Nuckols

Ce: sthompson@kenergycorp.com; Nib King,; fking@dkgnlaw.com
Subject: Rebate

All,

Steve has suggested and | agree that the Rebate should be a straight per kKWh rate like the Member Discount
Adjustment. I'll redraft it and send it as well as the other riders with some editing to you shortly.

The base rate revenue allocation approach originated with BREC where they are using revenue to allocate the :
rebate between the three rural systems and the large industrials similar to how they allocate the Member Discount
Adjustment. However, as Steve pointed out, the Members are applying the Member Discount Adjustment as a per

kWh credit across all non-tedicated delivery point classes. Hence, we should apply the Rebate in the same
manner.

Jack D. Gaines
President

JDG Consulting, LLC
770-392-9971
770-302-9971 (fax)
770-335-3299 {cell)
igaines@idg-lc.com

271272008
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Barbara Harwood

From: Jack D. Gaines [jgaines@jdg-lic.com]

Sent: Monday, January 07, 2008 4:27 PM

To: Burns Mercer; Kelly Nuckols; Sandy Novick

Ce: sthompson@kenergycorp.com; Nib King; fking@dkgnlaw.com
Subject: Revisions

Attachments: Meade Riders.ZIP; JPE Riders.ZIP; Kenergy Riders.Z!ls

Per discussions with Steve I've changed the formats of each rider primarily to make clear that the wholesale
dollars and over and under dolars are from the second preceding month. Note, however, that the Environmental
Surcharge over and under is a six month amortization. | believe this to be a statutory requirement.

The rebate is now a per kwh rate calculation as previously mentioned.

Please look these over carefully as | could have missed something with so many.

Thanks

Jack D, Gaines
President

JDG Copsulting, LLC
770-392-9871
770-392-9971 (fax)
770-335-3299 (cel)
igaines@jdg-lic.com

2/12/2008
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Barbara Harwood

From: Jack D. Gaines [jgaines@]dg-lic.com]
Sent: Friday, January 11, 2008 12:57 PM
To: Burns Mercer; Kelly Nuckols; Sandy Novick

Cc: sthompson@kenergycorp.com, Nib King; fking@dkgnlaw.com
Subject: Riders )

All,

We would fike to have a conference call Monday at 12:00 CST, 10:00 a.m. PST. We want to reach agreement

- regarding the "Composite” rider and how fo reflect the riders on the customers’ bills. We can also discuss the plan
for filing and public notice.

Steve is reviewing a 24 month sample calculation schedule that | just completed. As hoped, it shows that by

basing all five riders on the same month of data the retail factor will net out to zero. If this proves accurate it would
make the Composite Factor less meaningful.

'l forward the calculations to you after Steve | hear from Steve.

We'll use the BREC call in number. 877-287-0283 (Access Code 609834)

Jack D. Gaines
President

JOG Consulting, LLC
770-392-9871
770-382-9971 (fax)
770-335-3289 (cell}
igaines@®ida-lic.com

2/12/2008
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Barbara Harwood

From: Jack D. Gaines [jgaines@jdg-tic.com]

Sent: Tuesday, January 08, 2008 1:40 PM

To: Burns Mercer; Kelly Ndc:kofs; Sandy Novick

Ce: sthompson@kenergycorp.com; Nib King; fking@dkgnlaw.com
Subject: Riders '

Attachments: Meade Riders.ZIP; JPE Riders.ZIP; Kenergy Riders.ZiP

All,

I have tried to i'ncorporate many of the suggested changes. More importantly, 1 checked to see if we could request
. a one month over and under for the ES as opposed to the six month method. The short answer is yes and the ES
has been modified accordingly.

{'ve added some language to the Rebate Adjustment that is intended to be explanatory but could be confusing.
Please review it and comment. There is one open issue with the Rebate Adjustment, As you know, BREC will pay
the rebate in fump sum including the amounts paid for individual industrial accounts. The rural load rebates will be
credited over 12 months per the formula. The industrial rebates could be passed through in lump sum
immediately which would be the simplest. Right now the tariff says 1 month, or lump sum. Let me know if this is
not what you want. One problem would be what to do with a rebate that exceeds the amount of the bill. For
example, an industrial customer who is going out of business may have a very small or no bill to which the rebate
would apply. How would you want to handle that situation?

One last point is that titles and some of the terminoiogy are intended to match Big Rivers' tariffs. That is why, for
example, the Environmental Surcharge has an “ES” in the title but “ES” is not used in the formula.

Again, please review carefully.
Thanks

Jack D. Gaines
President

JDG Consulting, LLC
770-392-8971
770-392-9971 (fax)
770-335-3299 (cell)
jgaines@idg-llc.com

2/12/2008
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Barbara Harwood

From: Paula Mitcheflt {pmitchel?@bigrivers com
Sent:  Friday, September 07, 2007 10:55 AM

To: Bill Denton; Jim Sills; John Myers; Larry Elder; Lee Bearden; Paul Edd Butler; Burns Mercer,; Kelly
Nuckols; Sandy Novick

Cc: cliyon@orrick.com; rmudge@crai.com; Jack D. Games. Jim Milier; Bill Biackburn; David Crockett;
. David Spainhoward; James Haner; Mark Bailey, Mark Hite; Travis Housley

Subject: Special Board of Directors Meeting

Due to a scheduling conflict, the special board meeting will have to be held on Thursday
morning, September 20, probably around 10 a.m., CDT.

Mike has talked with Bill Denton and it was determmed that we do need to move the
meeting to Thursday.

An official notice will be sent early next week.

Paula Mitehell

Executive Assistant

Blg Rivers Electrie Corp.

phone: 270/227-2561

e-mail: pmitchell@bigrivers.com.

2/12/2008
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Barbara Harwood

From: Jack D. Gaines [jgaines@)jdg-lic.com]

Sent:  Friday, August 27, 2004 9:54 AM

To: Burns Mercer; Kelly Nuckols (Nuckols, Kelly); Mark Bailey
Subject: The Core Project

Gentlemen:

As you know, Burns and | participated in the strategy meetings in Louisville that began on Tuesday and end today.
However, we both had to leave the yesterday. | would to report that the meetings were very productive and helped
tremendously to bring me up to date. Many issues were discussed and several variations of the financial models and
production models were run based on input provided by everyone including Burns and me. We were especially

concerned with producing results that will be meaningful to your directors. To that end, the presentations are expected to
be based on the following:

1. A “Status Quo” forecast that produces a base fine cash flow that is realistic from a pianmng standpoint. The
“Status Quo” will necessarily include rate increases.

2. Aset of “Unwind” cases that are based on the "Status Quo” rate forecast that will produce present values of
Unwind versus Status Quo at different LG&E Payment levels beginning with the $180 million offer. These will
tell us the economic value of the deal.

3. A set of "Unwind” cases that are based on reduced rate forecasts that will produce minimum Unwind
financial criteria (f.e. TIER, DSC, cash balances) at different LG&E Payment levels beginning with the $180
million offer. These will tell us the expected effect on rates of the deal.

4. For each of the above, a 2023 balance sheet to provide an indication of on-going financial stability and rate
trends.

The presentation is expected to be simplified fo show: -

1. The net after financing, after tax PV differences for each item 2 case. That would be the Unwind Cases
PV minus the Status Quo PV. If the value is positive then that deal is financially better.

2. Comparative rate forecasts both in the aggregate and year by year. | envision a graph for the latter.

3 An itemized list of all maintenance and capital improvements planned and built into the Unwind

assumptions as well as those that would be part of the Status Quo. This list would be fo show that BREC
has contempiated the cost of addressing plant reliability.

4, Finally, a comparative list of fangible and intangible risks/rewards of Unwind versus Status Quo that are
not readily quantifiable, 1 believe that this list may well be the ultimate driver behind the decision if the
financials are close as opposed fo definitively pro or con, it may even be that this list comes down in
favor of the deal even if the financials are negative. Or the reverse may be true. We will have to see.

The Working Group will reconvene in Louisville next Tuesday through Thursday. However, | will be at Kenergy on
Wednesday, Therefore, | wili join the group on Thursday.

Burns has also asked that | be present at the meeting with the boards oh the 16" § plan to have Mike Leverett visit
BREC on the 15! to go over the production cost model and stay through the 16™ so that everyone can meet him as well.

That covers it for now. If you have any questions, please call me.

Jack D. Gaines
President

JDG Consulting, 1.LC
770-392-9971
770-392-9871 {fax)
7’7‘0 3358 3299 (ceff}

- 2/12/2008
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Barbara Harwood

From: Jack D. Gaines ligaines@jdg-lic.com}

Sent: Friday, December 21, 2007 2:18 PM
To: Burns Mercer; Kelly Nuckols; Sandy Novick
Ce: Nib King; sthompson@kenetgycorp.com

Subject: Unwind

Attachments: US_drafi_12_10_07.doc; ES_drafi_12_10_07.doc; FAC_draft_12_10_07.doc;
MRSM_draft_12_10_07.doc; Rebate_draft_12_10_07.doc; Unwind
Riders_draft_12_11_07.doc

1 just received word that the Smelters are on board with the latest model update. Sandy, Steve and Nib may not
be aware that BREC agreed {o go back to the depreciation methodofogy reflected in the September model for the
years 2011 — 2016. They also are using the current rates for 2008 -2010 which result in slightly less depreciation
expense in those years. The net effect is lower rates for all but less recovery the plant value from the Smelters
within the finite period of the deal. In fact, the change ih depreciation gets back the previously lost year of the
Fconomic Reserve and rates through 2016 that are essentially the same as they were in the September model.
Overall, | consider this a positive change to the model but caution that the ultimate determination of the
depreciation rates will be made in conjunction with the 2010 rate case for rates effective in 2011.

Attached are the tariff riders that | have drafted. Note that there are six instead of five. The additional rider,
Unwind Rider (US), is intended to supersede the other five so long as the BERC net bill is zero for the five
wholesale riders. In other words, while the Economic Reserve is fully offsetting the FAC, ES, and US (net of the
rebate) then UR would kick in and supersede the retail FAC, ES, US, and MRSM by setting the whole thing to
zero. We have a few accounting questions to clear up regarding the rebate but otherwise feel good about this
approach. The riders are written for Kenergy and | will be making changes as needed for JP and Meade. We'll
stay consistent with the Section 1 for non-direct serves and Section 2 for Direct Serves even though Meade does
not currently have any. | have the JP rates (proposed and existing) and the Meade rates.

BREC is attempting to file by the 28™. We can probably delay a little. In any event, I'li send a draft 6f my testimony
next Wednesday. Also, has everyone filed their respective notices of intent?

Jack D. Gaines
President

JDG Consulting, LLC
770-392-9971
770-382-9971 (fax)
770-335-3299 (cell)
jgaines@ido-lic.com

2/12/2008
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Barbara Harwood

From: Jack D. Gaines ﬁgaines@jdg—itc.bcm}
Sent:  Thursday, August 30, 2007 2:11 PM

To: Burns Mercer; Sandy Novick; Kelly Nuckols
Subject: Unwind

All, -

The call with the Smelters today was uneventful. There is a meéting in Louisville with them next Tuesday and

Wednesday. We should try to get together if possible. I'll call each of you tomorrow morning to discuss
afternatives. I'm on my way out at the moment.

Jack D. Gaines
President

JDG Consulting, LLC
770-392-9971 ‘
770-392-9971 (fax)
770-335-3200 (cell)
jgaines@idg-ilc.com

2/12/2008
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Barbara Harwood

From: Jack D. Gaines ligaines@jdg-fic.com]
Sent:  Friday, August 31, 2007 8,34 AM

To: Burns Mercer; Kelly Nuckols; Sandy Novick
Subject: Unwind o ' |

All,

Negotiations with the Smelters to try to improve the economics of the deal will be held next Wednesday and
Thursday (if necessary) in Louisville at the Marriott. Time is now ¢ritical, | suggest we plan to meet in Louisville
Thursday morning at 10:00 a.m. at which time | hope we will have as close to a final set of numbers needed to

evaluate the deal and agree on a member position. We will meet at the Marriolt or the Hyatt across the street from-
the Marriott,

Thanks

Jack D. Gaines
President

JDG Consulting, LLC
770-392-9971
770-392-8971 (fax)
770-335-3299 (cell) -

2/12/2008
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
ADMINISTRATIVE CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 120) Please reference the testimony of Burns E, Mercer, page 7. Provide the
financial analysis which demonstrates “in return for a greater potential risk of fuel and
environmental cost increases, the members believe they have helped Big Rivers secure a

financially stable future that ultimately will be of a greater value to the Members”.

Response)  No quantitative financial analyses other than those run by Big Rivers have
been made by the Members. The analyses made by Big Rivers were received by the
Members, and the Members had input into the assumptions and methodologies used by
the analyses either directly or through their consultant, Jack Gaines. The financial
analyses prepared by Big Rivers set forth the risks and expected costs of the Unwind, and
those were considered in comparison with the risks and expected costs of the existing
deal. The conclusion reached by the Members was that the Unwind, in spite of the fuel
and environmental costs risks, has a greater potential value as compared to the existing

arrangement.

Witness) Burns E. Mercer

Item 120
Page | of |
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 121) Please reference the testimony of Burns E. Mercer, page 7, regarding “Big

Rivers is entitled to strictly limited amounts of energy...”

a. State this “strictly limited amount of energy” to Big Rivers, and
quantify its downstream impact of “strictly limited amounts of energy? For each of the
retail cooperatives;

b. Provide projected energy needs of the retail cooperatives for the
next five years;

c. Show the difference between the “strictly limited amount of

energy” and the projected energy needs of the retail cooperatives.

Response)
LEM LEM LEM
bemand Energy Cooperative Energy
Less
Year Available Available Energy Needs
MW MWH MWH
2008 597 5,244,648 3,375,398 1,868,650
2009 597 5,229,720 3,430,733 1,798,987
2010 587 5,225,720 3,477,341 | 1,752,379
2011 717 6,280,920 3,530,346 2,750,574
2012 800 7,027,200 3,579,072 3,448,128

As can be seen above, strictly from an-energy analysis, there is more than
enough energy to supply all of the member cooperatives needs. Please note
that the term "strictly limited amounts of energy” in the original response was
fimited to the LEM contract only. Big Rivers has another contract from which
energy is available, and energy is also available from the market,

Witness) Burns E. Mercer

Item 121
Page 1 of 1
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 122) Please reference the testimony of Burns E. Mercer, page 9, regarding “fuel

and environmental costs will fluctuate up or down depending on actual costs”.

a. Provide documents which show the variation in fuel costs, by type
of fuel, that has been experienced by E.ON since the inception of the Lease Transaction;
and,

b. Provide documents which show the extent to which environmental

costs are expected to fluctuate downward.
Response)  a. See E.ON response.

b. The statement was made only to demonstrate that the
environmental costs will fluctuate based on actual costs. Should environmental costs go
down (e.g., the price of allowances is higher than forecasted when sold) those costs will

be reflected in the environmental surcharge.

Witness)  E.ONUS.

Burns E. Mercer

Item 122
Page 1 of |
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S .
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 123)  Please reference the testimony of Burns E. Mercer, page 10, regarding
“[Big Rivers’ Members] still will be enjoying lower rates than other suppliers make
available to their customers”. Provide documents which demonstrate the truth of this

contention.

Response)  See the attached table. For additional support, see the January 8, 2008
issue of Kentucky Energy Watch published by the Governor’s Office of Energy Policy.

It can be found at www.energy . ky.gov.

Witness) ‘Michael H. Core

Item 123
Page 1 of 1



COMPARISON OF RESIDENTIAL ELECTRIC BiLLS AS OF 01/01/07

PURSUANT
: TC MIVIMUM  kWh Base FAC Environ Mo. Bili for
COMPANY Utit 1.D. CASE NO. BILL INCL.. Bill Charge Surcharge 1,000 kWh
INVESTOR OWNED _

AMERICAN ELEC PWR 300 2005-00341 5.86 0 . $65.88 $3.54 $0.26 $69.68

KENTUCKY UTILITIES : 400 2004-00485 5.00 0 $52.20 $7.81 $2.18 $62.18

LG&E 500 2004-00466 5.00 0 $64.55 $1.53 $0.92 $67.00

DUKE KENTUCKY 800 1695-00312 4,50 0 $77.74 * * 877.74

RURAL ELECTRIC

Small - Less than 20,000 Customers

BIG SANDY 1000 2005-00125 7.00 0 $68.63 $2.24 $4.12 $74.99

GRAYSON 1800 2004-00474 7.98 0 $78.55 $2.15 $4.29 $84.99

SHELBY ENERGY 3000 2004-00481 7.18 0 $74.06 $8.85 $4.50 $87.41

Medium - 24,000-30,000 Customers

CLARK ENERGY 1200 2004-00470 5.35 0 $73.18 $1.49 $3.97 $78.64

CUMBERLAND ELECTRIC 1300 2005-00187 5.00 0 $69.47 $1.97 $4.25 $75.69

FARMERS 1500 2004-00472 698 50 $65.10 $5.47 $4.02 $74.59

FLEMING-MASON ENERGY 1600 2004-00473 6.28 0 $67.22 $4.90 $4.63 $78.75

INTER-COUNTY ENERGY 2200 2004-00475 555 0 $71.88 $2.33 $4.17 $78.38

JACKSON PURCHASE R 2400 1997-00224 7.00 0 $64.29 * * $64.29

LICKING VALLEY 2500 2004-00477 7.00 0 $72.44 $7.40 $3.70 $83.54

MEADE COUNTY 2600 2002-00391 8.00 0 $64.19 * * $64.19

NOLIN 2700 2004-00478 5.00 0 $67.71 $8.20 $4.26 $80.17

TAYLOR COUNTY 3200 2004-00483 6.92 0 $68.31 $2.59 $4.20 $75.10

Large - 30,000 Customers and above :

BLUE GRASS ENERGY 2000200 2004-00469 5.30 o $65.58 $4.35 $4.03 $73.96
BGE-Fox Creek District 2004-00469 5.39 30 $68.12 $4.35 $4.18 $76.65
HARRISON Elec customers 2000 2004-00469 8.86 0 $75.14 $4.35 $4.61 $84.10

JACKSON ENERGY 2300 2004-00476 8.25 0 $77.81 $8.11 $4.19 $90.11

KENERGY 2000100 2004-00446 7.91 0 $64.68 * * $64.68

OCWEN ELECTRIC 2800 2004-00479 5.50 0 $72.75 $3.14 $4.74 $80.63

SALT RIVER ELECTRIC 2900 2004-00480 7.70 0 $68.85 $9.30  $4.10 $80.26

SOUTH KENTUCKY 3100 2005-00450 8.00 0 §72.45 $1.56 $4.40 $78.41

This schedule includes only the major components of a monthly residential electric bill as of January 1, 2007. Additional credits and/or charges may apply.
-* Does not particinate in fuel adjustment clause or environmenta! surcharge mechanism,
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 124)  Provide the current credit ratings for the three Distribution Cooperatives
that are Big Rivers” Members.

Response)  None of Big Rivers’ three Member distribution cooperatives have sought
or received an investment credit rating. These cooperatives are borrowers from the RUS,
along with CoBank and the National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation
(CFC). The cooperatives do not require credit rating for distribution cooperatives as part

of their loan approval process.

Witness) - Burns E. Mercer

Item 124
Page 1 of 1
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 125) Provide the current credit ratings for E.ON U.S. Parties.
Response)  See E.ON response,

Witness) E.ON U.S.

Item 125
Page 1 of |
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’'S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 126) Provide the most current SFAS No. 144 impairment review pertaining to
the Big Rivers generation facilities.

Response)  See Big Rivers’ Application, Tab 41, 2006 Annual Report, page 27. See
E.ON’s response.

Witness) C. William Blackburn
E.ONUS.

Item 126
Page 1 of 1
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Item 127) Provide reference Exhibit 37/Independent Auditors” Annual Opinion
states at page 10, paragraph VII that “WKEC will make required capital improvements to
the facilities to comply with a new law or change to existing law (“Incremental Capital

Costs™)...” Provide the current view and estimation of such “Incremental Capital Costs"

for:
a. The next five years; and
b. The next ten years, by type/function of capital cost.
Response)  a. Over the next five years (2008-2012) the following “Incfemental

Capital Costs” are anticipated:

1. Catalyst replacement for the selective reduction (SCR)
systems at the Wilson and HMP&L Station Two stations (approx. $5.9 million);

2. Stack monitors for mercury emissions for Wilson,
Coleman, Green, Reid, and HMP&L Station Two stations (approx. $3.2 million);

3. SOs-abatement equipment at Wilson Station (approx. $0.5
million);

4, Boilers® tube corrosion protection installed on Coleman
Station units resulting from NO reduction equipment installed in response to SIP Call

(approx. $6.45 million).

b. Over the succeeding five years (2013-2017) Big Rivers presently
has no “Incremental Capital Costs” planned. However, Big Rivers will be monitoring
changes in environmental regulations and will modify its environmental compliance plan

accordingly.

Witness) David A. Spainhoward

Item 127
Page 1 of 1
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Ttem 128) - Provide a document which extends the “Statement of Cash Flows”
contained on page 5 of Exhibit 37 to include 2007 and 2008 on a pro forma basis as
necessary, assuming current operations continue per current structure of agreements.

Response)  See response to AG Item 3.

Witness) Robert S. Mudge

Item 128
Page 1 of |
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S

RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST

ftem 129)

FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

Provide copies of the three Distribution Cooperatives financial annual

reports for 2005 to present.

Response)

Witness)

See attached. Jackson Purchase’s 2007 Annual Report is not yet final.

Burns E. Mercer

Item 129
Page 1 of 1
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ALAN M. ZUMSTEIN
CERTIFIED PURLIC ACCOUNTANT

MEMBER
1632 CHETFORD DRIVE + AMERICAN INSTITUTEOQF CPA S
LEXINGTON, KENTUCKY 40509 » INDIANA SOCIETY OF CPA'S
(859) 264-7147 -« KENTUCKY SOCIETY OF CPA'S -
independent Auditor's Report - AICPA DIVISION FOR FIRMS
« TENNESSEE STATE BOARD OF
To the Board of Directors ACCOUNTANCY

Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation

I have audited the balance sheet of Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation, as of December 31,
2006, and the related statements income and patronage capital and cash flows for the year then
ended These financial statements are the responsibility of Jackson Purchase's management My
respousibiiity 15 to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit The
financial statements of Jackson Purchase as of December 31, 2005, were audited by other auditors
whose report dated February 2, 2006, expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements

I conducted my audit 1n accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 1n the Umted
States of America, the standards applicable to financial audits contained i Government Auditing
Standards 1ssued by the Comptroller General of the United States and 7 CFR Part 1773, Policy
on Audits of Rural Utilittes Service (RUS) Borrowers  Those standards require that I plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
from material misstatement An aucit includes examinng on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures 1n the financial statements  An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and signmificant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation [ believe that my audit provides a reasonable basis
for my opinion

In my opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fauly, i all material respects,
the financial posttion of Jackson Purchase as of December 31, 2006, and the results of operations
and cash flows for the year then ended, 1n conformity with accounting principtes generally
accepted 1n the Umited States of America

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, I have also 1ssued a report dated February 1,
2007, on my consderation of Jackson Purchase's internal control over financial reporting and my
tests of 1ts compliance with certain provisions of laws, reguiations, contracts and grant agreements
and other matters The purpose of that report 1s to describe the scope of my testing of mternal
control over financial reporting and comphiance and the results of that testing, and not to provide
an opinion on the mternal control over financial reporting or on compliance  That report 15 an
integral part of an audit performed 1n accordance with Government Auditing Standards and
should be considered 1n assessing the results of my audit

AL Zostes

Alan M Zumstem
Pebruary 1, 2007



ALAN M. ZUMSTEIN
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT

MEMBER
1032 CHETFORD DRIVE ‘ + AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CPA'S
LEXINGTON, KENTUCKY 40509 « INDIANA SOCIETY OF CPA'S
{859) 264-7147 ' « KENTUCKY SOCIETY OFCPA’S
= AICPA DIVISION FOR FIRMS
To the Board of Direciors » TENNESSEE STATE BOARD OF
Yackson Purchase Energy Corporation ACCOUNTANCY

e A ek by

I have audited the financial statements of Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2006, and have 1ssued my report thereon dated February 1, 2007 1
conducted my audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and the standards
apphicable to financial audits contained 1n Government Auditing Standards, 1ssued by the
Comptroller General of the United States

Comphance

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Jackson Purchase's financial statements
are free of material misstatement, I performed tests of 1ts comphance with certamn provisions of
laws, regulations, contracts and grants, noncomphance with which could have a direct and matenal
effect on the determination of financial statement amounts However, providing an opmion on
comphance with those provisions was not an objective of my audit and, accordingly, 1 do not
express such an opunon  The results of my tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or

other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards

internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planmng and performing my audit, I considered Jackson Purchase's internal control over
financial reporting 1n order to determme my auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing

my opinion on the financial statements and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over
financial reporting My consideration of the internal contro} over financial reporting would not
necessanly disclose all matters in the mternal control over financial reporting that maght be
material weaknesses A matenal weakness i a condition 1n which the design or operation of one
or more of the internal control components does not reduce to a relatively low leve] the risk that
misstatements caused by error or fraud in amounts that would be material in relation to the financial
statements being audited may occur and not be detected within a imely period by employees m
the normal course of performung their assigned functions I noted no matters mvolving the
mnternal control over financial reporting and 1ts operation that { consider to be material weaknesses

This report s mtended solely for the information and use of the audit committee, management, the
Rural Utilities Service and supplemental lenders, and 1s not itended to be and should not be used
by anyone other than those specified parties

AL 2t

Alan M Zumstemn
February |, 2007




Jackson Purchase Energy

Balance Sheets, December 31, 2006 and 2005

Assets

Electric Plant, at original cost
In service
Under construction

Less accumulated depreciation

Investments i Associated Organizations

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivaients
Accounts recervable, less allowance for
2006 of $157,214 and 2005 of $147,4485
Accrued unbilled revenue
Material and supplies, at average cost
Other current assets

Deferred charges
Total

Members' Eguities and Liabiligjes

Members' Equities
Memberships
Patronage capital

Long Term Debt
Accumulated Postretirement Benefits

Current Liabihties
Current portion of long term debt
Accounts payable
Consumer deposits
Accrued expenses

Consumer Advances for Construction

Total

2006 -

$105,262,626

3,204,054

108,466,680
31,714,276

76,752,404

2,037,879

3,665,763

2,301,010
1,668,277
1,183,096

466,211

9,284,357
1,291,215

$89.365,855

$208,695
34,235,714

34,444,409
46,718 372

_86LIT

2,000,000
3,140,559
1,251,047

756,807

7,148,413
193,534

982,365,835

2003

$98,969,450
2,858,480
101,827,930
29,579,797
72,248,133

2,001,351

988,618

2,122,726
2,064,940
2,191,946

497,023

7,865,253
1,489,863

_ 883,604,600

$225,625
34,343,254

34,568,879
41 726,917

781.235

1,815,545
2,854,620
987,371
713,464
6,371,000

156,569

583,604,600

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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Statements of Revenue and Patronage Capital

for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

2006 2005
Operating Revenues $37,396,373 $37,928,066
Operating Expenses
Cost of power 23,655,944 23,854,261
Ihstribution - operations 1,761,777 1,358,619
Distribution - maintenance 3,413,939 3,003,616
Consumer accounts 1,088,682 1,114,604
Consumer service and information 277,667 284,078
Admmstrative and general 1,992,235 1,786,632
Depreciation, excluding $325,332 1n 2006 and
$395,452 i 2005 charged to clearing accounts 3,235,100 3,131,797
Taxes 41,657 40,996
(Other deductions 15,995 20,236
35,482,996 34,594 819
Operating Margins before Interest Charges 1,913,377 3,333,227
Interest Charges :
Long-term debt 2,660,517 2,211,585
Other mterest 66,911 75,330
2,727,428 2,286 9135
Operating Margins after Interest Charges (814,051) 1,046,312
Patronage Capstal from Associated
Organizations 113,228 107,99
Nonoperating Margins, principaily interest 593,283 433,143
Net Marging (107,540} 1,587.451
Patronage Capital - beginning of year 34,343,254 32,755,803
Patronage Capital ~ end of year $34,235,714 $34,343.254

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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Statements of Cash Flows

for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net margins
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided
" by operating activities
Depreciation
Charged to expense
Charged to clearing
Capstal credits allocated
Accumulated postrettrement benefits
Net change n current assets and habilities
Receivables
Material and supplies
Other current assets
Deferred charges
Accounts payable
Consumer depostis
Accrued expenses
Consumer advances for construction

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Construction of plant
Salvage recovered from plant
Receipts from investments, net

Net Cash Fiows from Financing Activities
Net decrease i memberships
Additional long-term borrowings
Advance payments
Payments on long-term debt

Net increase (n cash balances
Cash and cash equivalents - begmnning

Cash and cash equivalents - ending

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Interest on long-term debt

2006

($107,540)

3,235,100
325,332
(113,228)

79,892

218,379
1,008,850
30,812
198,648
285,939
263,676
43,343
36,965

5,506,168

(8,123,614)
58,911
76,700

(7,988,003)

(16,930)
5,822,000
(,170,594

(1,916,684}
5,158,980

2,677,145
988,618

$3,663,763

$2,484,607

2005

$1,587.451

3,131,797
395,452
(107,996)

42,126

(141,142)
(1,144,496)
(70,868)
(439,262)
103,411
56,229
236,261

29,656

3,678,619

(7,904,152
14,384
79,489

(7,810,279

(20,545)
5,500,000
89,843

(1,561,912)
4,007 386

(124,274)
(112,892

$988 618

$2,139,041

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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Notes to Financial Statements

Summary of Sigmificant Accounting Policies

Jackson Purchase mamtamns its records 1n accordance with policies prescribed or permitted by the

" Kentucky Public Service Commuission (PSC) and the United States Department of Agriculture, Rural
Utilities Service (RUS), which conform 1n all material respects with generally accepted accounting
principles  The more significant of these polictes are as follows

Elecinie Plant

Electric plant 1s stated at original cost, less contributtons, wiich 15 the cost when first dedicated
to public service Such cost includes applicable supervisory and overhead costs  There was no
interest required to be capnalized on construction for the year

The cost of maintenance and repars, including renewals of minor 1tems of property, 1s charged to
operating expense The cost of replacement of depreciable property unuts, as distinguished from
minor items, 18 charged to electric plant  The cost of units of property replaced or retired, including
cost of removal net of any salvage value, 1s charged to accumulated depreciation

Electric plant consisted of

2006 2005
" Distribution plant $98,386,830 92,371,766
General plant 6,875,796 6,597,684
Total $105,262,626 $98.969,450

Depreciation

Provision has been made for depreciation on the basis of the estimated lives of assets, usmg the
straight-line method Depreciation rates range from 1 44% to 10 0%, with a compostte rate of 3 07%
for distribution plant General plant deprectation rates are as foliows

Structures and improvements 25%

Transportation equipment 10% - 20%

Other general plant 5% - 20%
Estimates

The preparation of financial statements n conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and ltabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabihities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses duning the reporting peniod  Actual results
could differ from those estimates used in the preparation of the financial statements

Continued
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Notes 10 Finangial Statements, continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, confinued
Revenue

Jackson Purchase records revenue as billed to its consumers based on monthly meter- reading

cycles All consumers are required to pay a refundabie deposit, however, it may be waived under
certaan circumstances  Jackson Purchase's sales aré concentrated in a six county area of western
Kentucky There were no consumers whose individual account balance exceeded 10% of
outstanding accounts recervable at December 31, 2006 or 2005 Consumers must pay their bill within
20 days of billing, then are subject to disconnect after another 10 days  Accounts are writien off when
they are deemed to be uncollectible The allowance for uncollectible accounts 1s based on the aging
of receivables :

Cost of Power

Jackson Purchase 1s one of three (3) members of Big Rivers Electric Corporation, Inc (Big Rivers)
Under a wholesale power agreement, Jackson Purchase 1s commutted to purchase its electric power
and energy requirements from Big Rivers until 2023 The rates charged by Big Rivers are subject to
approval of the PSC  The cost of purchased power 1s recorded monthly during the period 1n which
the energy 1s consumed, based upon billings from Big Rivers

Fair Value of Financial knstruments

Financ:al instruments include cash, temporary cash investments and long-term debt  Investments
1n assoctated organizations are not considered a financial mstrument because they represent
nontransferable interest 1n associated organizations

The carrying value of cash and temporary cash investments approximates fair value because of

the short maturity of those instruments The fair value of Jong term debt approximates the fatr
value because of the borrowing policies of Jackson Purchase

Jackson Purchase may, and also does, invest idle funds in NRUCFC commercial paper Investments
in commercial paper are classified as held-to-maturity i accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No 115 Held-to-maturnity securities are presented at amortized cost
the fair value of held-to-maturity securities approximates cost at 2006 and 2005

Income Tax Status

Jackson Purchase ts exempt from federal and state income taxes under provisions of Section
501(c)12) Accordingly, the financial statements include no provision for income taxes

Statement of Cash Flows

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, Jackson Purchase considers temparary investments
having a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivaients

Continued
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Notes {0 Financial Statements, continued

Investments 1m Asseciated Organizations

Jackson Purchase records patronage capital assigned by associated organizations in the year
which such assignments are recerved

The Capital Term Certificates (CTCs) of National Rural Utihiies Cooperative Finance Corporation
(NRUCFC) are recorded at cost The CTCs were purchased from NRUCFC as a condition of
obtarnung long-term financmg  The CTCs bear mterest at 3% and 5% and are scheduled to mature
at varying times from 2020 to 2080

Investments 1n associated organizations consisted of

2006 2005
NRUCFC CTC's £946,546 $947,373
NRUCFC Patronage capiial assigned 40,537 41,636
CoBank, ACB 623,844 613,313
Others 426,952 399,029
Total $2.037.879 $2,00]1.,351

Patronage Capital

Under provisions of the long-term debt agreement, return to patrons of capital contnibuted by them

15 hirmited to amounts which would not allow the total equities and margins to be less than 30% of total
assets, except that distributions may be made to estates of deceased patrons The debt agreement
provides, however, that should such distributions to estates not exceed 25% of net margms for the
next preceding year, Jackson Purchase may distribute the difference between 25% and the payments
made to such estates The equity at December 31, 2006 was 39% of total assets

Patronage capital consisted of

2006 2008
Assigned to date $34,343,254 $32,755,802
Assignable (107,540) 1,587,452
Total $34,235,714 $34,343,254

ELong Term Debt

All assets, except vehicles, are pledged as collateral on the long-term debt to RUS, Federal Financing
Bank (FFB), CoBank, ACB and NRUCFC under a joint mortgage agreement The long term debt 1s
dug 1n guarterly and monthly instaliments of varying amounts through 2039 Jackson Purchase has
loan funds available from RUS 1n the amount of $2,833,000 RUS assess 12 5 basis points to
admimster the FFB loans

Continued
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Notes to Frnancial Statements, continued

4 Long Term Debt, continued

Long Term debt consisted of

: 2006 20035
First mortgage notes due RUS
2% to 5 53% $28,791,529 529,546,188
Advance payment (4,929,856) (6,100,450
23,861,673 23,445,738
First mortgage notes due FFB
4 101%to 5 158% 17,720,424 12,304,721
First mortgage notes due CoBank, ACB
478% t0 6 62% 6,299,598 6,911,143
First mortgage notes due NRUCFC
550% 836,677 880,860
48,718,372 43,542,462
[.£55 current portion 2,000,000 1,815,545
Long term portion $46,718,372 $41,726.917

As of December 31, 2006, the annual current portion of long term debt outstanding for the next
five years are as follows 2007 - $2,000,000, 2008 - 52,100,600, 2609 - $2,000,000, 2010 -
£2,100,000, 2011 - $2,100,000

Short Term Borrowings

At December 31, 2006, Jackson Purchase had a short-term Iine of credit of $5,000,000 available
from NRUCFC There were no borrowings agatnst this hne of credit during the audit period

Penston Plans

All ehigible employees of Jackson Purchase participate 1n the NRECA Reurement and Security
Program, a defined benefit pension plan guahified under section 401 and tax-exempt under sechon
501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code Eligible employees mclude employees hired prior to January
I,2006 Non-ehgible employees are those hured after January 1, 2006 Jackson Purchase makes
annual contributions to the Program equal to the amounts accrued for pension expense Contributions
to this plan were $543,867 for 2006 and $502,758 for 2005 In this multiempioyer plan, which 13
available to all member cooperatives of NRECA, the accumulated benefits and plan assets are not
determined or allocated separately by individual employer

Continued
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Notes to Fimancial Statements, continued

Pension Plans, continued

All eligible umon employees participate 1n the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers
(IBEW) Savings Plan Ehgible employees include employees hired prior to January 1, 2006
Non-eligible employees are those hired after January 1, 2006 Jackson Purchase contributes 10%
of base wages to the plan Jackson Purchase contributions to the plan totaled $157,275 in 2006 and
$150.893 1n 2005

Retirement Savings Plan

Ehgible non-unon employees are ehigible to partictpate i the NRECA. 401(k) Plan Jackson Energy
contributes 4% of annual wages to the plan, which totaled $84,365 for 2006 and $72,720 for 2005

Non-ehigible employees, as defined above, participate 1n the savings plan, with Jackson Purchase
contnbuting 14% for non-union employees and 10% for umon employees

Postrenirement Benefits

Jackson Purchase sponsors a defined benefit plan that provides medical insurance coverage to
retirees  The premiums are paid for 2 maximum of ten years or until age 65, whichever comes first
Postretirement benefits are not funded The study had been updated to January 1, 2006

For measurement purposes, a 8 5% annual rate of merease, decreasing by 0 5% per year until 5 5%
per year, in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits was assumed The discount rate used
1n determining the accumulated postretirernent benefit obhigation was 6 75% and discount rate on
expense was 7 0%

The following 1s a reconciliation of the postretirement benefit obligation
2006 2003
Postretirement Benefit Obligation
Balance, beginning of period $781,235 $739,109

Recognition of components of net peniodic
postretirement benefit ¢ost

Service cost 45,000 52,000
Interest cost 39,000 61,100
Amortization of gains or losses 40,500 40,500
124,500 153,600

Benefits paid to participants {24,290} {111,474
Nct change 100,210 42,126

Balance, end of period

Conunued

10

$881.445

_ $781.235
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued

Postretirement Benefits, continaed

The funded status of the plan was as follows

2006 2005

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation $635,000 $1,005,135
Plan assets at fair value - .

Funded status 635,000 1,005,135
Unrecognized net gain (losses) from

changes in assumptions {209,491 {223.900)

Accrued postretirement benefit cost  $425.509 $781.235
Off Balance Sheet Risk

Jackson Purchase has off balance sheet risk in that they mamtain cash deposits n financial stitutrons
m excess of the amounts msured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) At

December 31, 2006, the financial mstitutions reported deposits n excess of the $100,000 FDIC msured
limit on several of the accounts Deposits and repurchase agreements in excess of the FDIC limits

are 100% secured with collateral from financial institutions

Risk Management

Jackson Energy 1s exposed to varnious forms of losses of assets associated with, but not limuted to, fire,
personal hability, theft, vehicular accidents, errors and omussions, fiduciary responsibility, workers
compensation, etc Each of these areas 1s covered through the purchase of commercial imsurance
Jackson Purchase has adopted and implemented an Emergency Response Plan, that has been filed
with RUS and the Commussion This plan has been tested, and mn the event of a disaster, wili keep the
organzation funchioning

Related Party Transactions

Several of the Directors of Jackson Purchase, its President & CEQO and another employee are on the
Boards of Directors of various associated organizations

Commitments
Jackson Purchase has varnious other agreements outstanding with local contractors Under these
agreements, the contractors will perform certam construction and maintenance work at specified

hourly rates or unit cost, or on an as needed basis The duration of these contracts are one to three
years

Continued
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued

Advertising
Jackson Purchase expenses advertising costs as mcurred
Environmentai Contimgency

Jackson Purchase from time to time s required to work with and handle PCBs, herbicides, automotive
fluids, lubricants and other hazardous materials in the normal course of business  As a result, there 1s
the possibility that environmental conditions may arise which would requure Jackson Purchase to incur
cleanup costs The likelihood of such an event, or the amount of such costs, tf any, cannot be
determined at thus ftme  However, management does not beheve such costs, 1f any, would matenally
affect Jackson Purchase's financial position or 1ts future cash flows

New Accounting Standard

On September 29, 2006, the Financial Accountmg Standards Board (FASB) 1ssued Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans - an amendment of FASB Statements No 87, 88, 106 and
132(R) SFAS No 158 requires an employer that sponsors a defined benefit postretirement plan to
report the current economic status (the overfunded or underfunded status) of the plan n 1ts balance
sheet, to measure the plan assets and plan obligations as of the balance sheet date, and to include
enhanced disclosures about the plan  The Cooperative will be required to adopt the recognition and
disclosure provistons of SFAS No 158 for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2007, and the
measurement date provision for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2008 The Cooperative does
not anticipate adopting the provisions of SFAS No 158 prior to those periods

12
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2900 Veach Road, Suite 2
Owensboro, Kenwcky 42303
s . o ; 270-926-4540
.. Riney, Hancock & Co., PSC o . Rax: 270-926-1494
et Certified Public Accountants & Financial Advisors . . . 0 0. 0000000000
— 313 Southeast First Street
Evansville, Indiana 47713
812-423-0300
Fax: 812-423-6282
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT , _
www.rineyhancock.com
E-mail: info@rineyhancock .com

Board of Directors PIF Norilh American Network
Kenergy corp o P STYERY R peT
Henderson, Kentucky

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Kenergy Corp. (Kenergy) as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related statements of revenue and expenses, changes in
members' equities, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the
responsibility of Kenergy’s management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audifs.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the

United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in

. Governmeni Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,

on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An

audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by

management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Kenergy as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the results of
its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also 1ssued our report dated
March 28, 2007, on our consideration of Kenergy’s internal control over financial reporting and
on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant
agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing
of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not
to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards
and should be read in conjunction with this report in considering the results of our audit.

, Lo v (o ,ASC
Owensboro, Kentucky ‘

March 28, 2007



ASSETS
Utility plant, net
Investments

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

KENERGY CORP.
BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2006 and 2005

2006

§_ 169,533,638

8,681,878

1,515,630

Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful
accounts: 2006, $122,541,; 2005, $158,436

Billed

Unbilled
Materials and supplies
QOther current assets

Total current assets
QOther assets

Total assets |

23,784,626
7,111,344
1,397,405

219,276

34,028,281

17,050

$ 212,260,847

MEMBERS' EQUITIES AND LIABILITIES

Members' equities:

Memberships B 240,185
Patronage capital 48,753,412
Other 3,554,886
52,548,483
Long-term debt 117,705,836
Current liabilities:
Note payabie 5,000,000
Accounts payable 25,658,973
Consumer deposits , 2,496,899
Current maturities of long-term debt 4,222,208
Other current and accrued liabilities 1,748,874
Total current liabilities 39,126,954
Other noncurrent liabilities 2,078,459
Deferred credits 801,115
Total members' equities and liabilities : $ 212,260,847

See Motes o Financial Statements

2

005

§ 163,774,689

8,033,899

1,378,839

21,415,638
7,783,976
1,747,138

233,162

32,558,753

51,797

$ 204,419,138

$ 275,480
51,234,702
3,407,515

54,917,697

113,756,489

1,500,000
23,197,693
2,408,744
3,752,161
1,662,272

32,520,870

2,277,336

946,746

§ 204,415,138




KENERGY CORP.

STATEMENTS OF REVENUE AND EXPENSES

Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Operating revenue

Operating expenses:
Cost of power
Distribution operation
Distribution maintenance
Customer accounts
Consumer service and information
Sales
Administrative and general
Depreciation
Taxes
Other deductions

Operating margin before interest expense
Interest on long-term debt
Interest charged to construction
Other interest expense
Operating margin {loss)
Nonoperating margin:
Investment income
Other income (expense)
Net margin (loss) before operating margin assigned

Operating margin assigned by associated organizations

Net margin (loss)

$

$

See Notes i¢ Financial Staiernents
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006

323,837,577

295,460,224
4,275,040
8,583,298
2,686,135

209,517
102,674
3,245,695
6,227,515
271,795
70,851

321,132,744

2,704,833

5,265,708
(82,651)
176,110

(2,654,334)

1,008,890
12

(1,645,432)
50,996

(1,594,436)

.

§

2005
289,264,858

259,986,490
4,249,548
8,113,669
2,776,613

185,728
113,896
3,036,362
5,752,782
269,762
63,561

284,548,411

4,716,447

4,198,637
(60,091)
143,991

433,910

893,305
(31,286)

1,295,929

194,579

1,490,508




KENERGY CORP.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS' EQUITIES

Years Ended Decernber 31, 2006 and 2005

Balance, December 31, 2004 .
Net refund of membership fees

Net margin

Accumulated other comprehensive income:

Decrease in additional minimum
pension liability

Patronage capital retired
Retired capital credits - gain
Other changes

| ‘Balance, December 31, 2005
Net refund of membership fees
Net margin (loss)

Patronage capital retired
Retired capital credits - gain
Other changes

Balance, December 31, 2006

$

Member- Patronage
ships Capital Other Total

275470 $ 52,310,166 B 2858224 55,443,860
10 : : 10

i 1,490,508 : 1,490,508

i ) 294,929 294,929
) (2,565,972) ] (2,565,972)

i i 218,290 218,290

] i 36,072 36,072
275,480 51,234,702 3,407,515 54,917,697
(35,295) : : (35,295)
. (1,594,436) i (1,594,436)
i (886,854) i (886,854)

i 120,321 120,321

i i 27,050 27,050
240185 $ 48753412 5 3,554,886 52,548,483

See Notes 10 Fmancial Statements
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KENERGY CORP,
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

006 2005

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net margin (loss) $ (1,594,436) $ 1,490,508
Adjustments to reconcile net margin (loss) to net cash

provided by operating activities:

Depreciation charged to operations 6,742,046 6,380,704
Noncash assigned capital credits _ (77,403) (132.844)
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable (2,368,988) (1,794,267)
Decrease (increase) in materials and supplies 349,733 11,345
Decrease (increase) in other current assets 803,838 183,066
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 2,461,280 1,574,250
Increase (decrease) in other current and accrued labilities {90,704) 54,335
Net cash provided by operating activities ' 6,225,366 1,767,097
Cash flows from investing activifies:
Capital expenditures, net {12,643,47T) (11,659,501)
Decrease (increase) in other investments, excluding
assigned capital credits (677,869) 248,525
Net cash used in investing activities (13,321,346) {11,410,976)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Additional memberships, net of refunds 52,860 ) 136,581
Net borrowings on note payable 3,500,000 500,000
Additional long-term debt 9,000,000 10,355,000
Reduction of long-term debt (4,580,606) {4,506,143)
Patronage capital retired (739,483) (2,311,610}
Net cash provided by financing activities 7,232,771 4,173,828
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 136,791 529,949
Cash and cagh equivalents, beginning of year 1,378,839 848,890
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 1,515,630 $ 1,378,839

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid, net of amounts capitalized g 5,288,979 $ 4,117,383

See Notes 10 Financial Statements
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KENERGY CORP.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Folicies

Nature of Business -

Kenergy is a nonprofit electric distribution cooperative association which provides
electric power to approximately 54,100 residential, commercial and industrial customers
located in fourteen western Kentucky counties.

Basis of Accounting

The accounting policies of Kenergy reflect those prescribed by the United States

Department of Agricuiture Rural Utilities Service (RUS) and the Kentucky Public
Service Commission (KPSC), which conform with accouniing principles generally
accepted in the United States of America in all material respects.

Revenues

Revenues are accrued when services are rendered based on rates authorized by the
KPSC.

Utility Plant

Utility plant is stated at original cost, net of contributions, which is the cost when first
dedicated to public service. Kenergy capitalizes supervisory and overhead costs
applicable to construction projects.

Maintenance and repairs of property units and renewals of minor items of property are
charged to maintenance expense accounis. The costs of replacing compleie property
units are charged to utility plant accounts and the original cost of distribution plant
property units retired and cost of removal, net of salvage value, are charged to
accumulated depreciation.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on the basis of the estimated useful lives of assets at straight-
line rates, which for 2006 and 2005, were as follows:

Distribution plant ~ 3.10% to 6.75%
General plant 2.00% to 15.60%



KENERGY CORP.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued

Depreciation, Continued

Kenergy uses the composite method of depreciation for distribution plant and the unit
method of depreciation for general plant.

Investments
As more fully described in Note 3, Kenergy’s investment in a generation and
transmission corporation is recorded at zero. All other investments of Kenergy are stated

at cost, which approximates fair value.

Cash and Cash Eguivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, money market funds, and investments
with an original maturity of three months or less. The carrying amount reported in the

‘balance sheet for cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value.

Materials and Supplies

Materials and supplies inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market using the
average cost method.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statemenis in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Utility Piant

Utility plant at December 31 consists of the following:



KENERGY CORP.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

2. Utility Piant, Continued

2006 2005
Distribution plant $ 194,082,590 $ 184,508,203
General plant 20,634,711 21,685,405
214,717,301 206,193,608
Less accumulated depreciation 48,193,716 45,328,490
166,523,585 160,865,118
Construction in progress 3,010,053 2,909,571

$ 169,533,638 $ 163,774,689

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, was $7,018,256
and $6,630,391, respectively.

Interest capitalized durning 2006 and 2005 related to construction of utifity plant was
$82,651 and $60,091, respectively.

3. Tnvestments

(Generation and Transmission Corporation

As discussed in Note 7, Kenergy purchases electric power from Big Rivers, a generation
and transmission cooperative association. The membership of Big Rivers is comprised of
Kenergy and two other distribution cooperatives.

The following is an audited summary at December 31 of financial information pertaining

to Big Rivers:
2006 2005
(In Thousands)
Balance Sheet Data:
Cuwrent assets $ 118,310 $ 84,372
Noncurrent assets 1,136,079 1,141,608
Total assets 1,254,389 1,225,980
Current hiabilities 34,339 34,053
Noncurrent Habilities 1,437,421 1,443 840
Total liabilities 1,471,760 1,477,893

Equities (deficit)

L%

(21737 (251,913)




KENERGY CORP.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Investments, Confinued

Generation and Transmission Corporation, Continued

2006 2005
Income Statement Data:
Revenues $ 258,588 $ 248,955
Operating margin $ 17,958 $ 11,887
Net margin $ 34,542 $ 26,343

The above summary was obtained from Big Rivers audited financial statements as of and
for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005. Big Rivers experienced significant
operating losses in prior years and has a net equities deficiency of approximately $217
miliion at December 31, 2006, Because the equity of Big Rivers is a deficit at December
31, 2006 and 2005, Kenergy’s investment in Big Rivers is carried at zero in aceordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Investments

The more significant other invesiments are as follows:

Capital Term Certificates (CTC's) of the National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance
Corporation are carried at cost, which approximates market. The investment at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, totaled $2,528,878. The CTC's mature in varying amounts
from 2020 through 2080 and bear interest at 0%, 3% and 5% per annum.

Investment in CoBank, an international cooperative bank, is a required investment which
is carried at cost and totaled $1,464,748 and $1,465,084 at December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Under the terms of this Loan Base Capital Plan, Kenergy’s investment in
CoBank (stock and notified allocated surplus from CoBank) is required to be 10% of
Kenergy’s average loan balance due to CoBank for the past five years accumulated
through equity issued as patronage return.

Kenergy’'s Retirement Trust totaling $1,449,703 and $1,547,870 at December 31, 2006
and 2005, respectively, represents amounts set aside to fund Kenergy’s deferred
compensation agreements (Note 11) and are stated at fair value.

Economic development loans represent interest free loans made to qualifying applicants
to promote rural economic deveiopment. Kenergy borrows monies from RUS (Note 4)
pursuant to the Rural Electrification Act of 1936 and in turn loans these monies to



KENERGY CORP.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Investments, Continued

Other Investments, Continued

qualifying applicants. The loans are secured by letters of credit, thereby eliminating

Kenergy’s exposure to loss. Amounts outstanding at December 31, 2006 and 2003, were
$2,313,388 and $1,583,305, respectively.

Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt at December 31 consists of:

2006 2005
First mortgage notes payable to:
RUS in quarterly and monthly installments of
varying amounts through 2038:
Interest rate term fixed to principle
maturity:
2% notes : 3 4840 % 63,482
5% notes 18,215,209 18,796,897
5.125% notes _ 2,368,648 2,410,412
Laddered interest rate terms of 1-7
years at an average rate of 3.23%
at December 31, 2006 65,733,077 59,000,586
Unapplied note prepayments — 5% (12,463,377) (11,860,815)

73,858,397 68,419,562

CoBank in quarterly and monthly installments of
varying amounts through 2033:
Interest rate term fixed to principle
maturity:
4.19% average rate at
December 31, 2006 24,796,355 15,775,742

Seven day vanable interest rate term:
6.77% at December 31, 2006 6,444 10,549,867

24,802,799 26,325,609




KENERGY CORP.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Eong-Term Debt, Continued

2006 2005

Rural Economic Development Zero-Interest Loan

payable to RUS in monthly installments of

varying amounts through May 2011 2,313,388 1,583,305
Federal Financing Bank in quarterly installments

of varying amounts through December 2037,

with a 90 day fixed interest term of 4.2% 20,953,460 21,180,174
Total long-term debt 121,928,044 117,508,650
Less current maturities 4,222.208 3,752,161

§ 117,705,836 § 113,756,489

Agpregate annual maturities of long-term debt at December 31, 2006, are:

2007 $ 4,222,208
2008 4,068,211
2009 4,185,566
2010 4,295,939
2011 4,396,044
Thereafier 100,760,076

5 _121,028.044

All assets of Kenergy are pledged as collateral on the long-term debt as previously
described. Kenergy has available $19,325,000 in unadvanced loan funds from the

Treasury Department at December 31, 2006.

Short-Term Borrowings

Kenergy has unsecured line of credit agreements with financial institutions permitting
short-term borrowings for general corporate purposes totaling $35,000,000. Rates for
such borrowings are variable. There was $5,000,000 and $1,500,000 outstanding under
these agreements at December 31, 2006 and 2003, respectively. The rate at December 31,

2006 was 7.15%.



KENERGY CORP.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Major Customers

Operating revenue for 2006 and 2005 includes approximately $225.8 million and $189.4
million, respectively, attributable to sales of power to two aluminum smelting customers.
Accounts receivable from these customers totaled $17.3 million and $15.2 million at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Operating revenue also mcludes sales of power to six other large industrial customers
totaling approximately 7.72% and 9.14% of Kenergy's operating revenue for 2006 and
2005, respectively.

Cost of Power

Kenergy presently purchases all of its power and energy requirements from Big Rivers
Electric Corporation (Big Rivers) under wholesale power contracts which expire in 2023
with the exception of the power and energy requirements of its two major customers,
which is supplied by LG&E Energy Marketing, Inc. and other suppliers under power
purchase agreements expinng annually through December 31, 2011. Accounts payable
under such contracts were $9.2 million and $14.4 million, respectively, at December 31,
2006, and $8.9 million and $12.6 million, respectively, at December 31, 2005.

Pension Plans
Kenergy has various pension plans covering its employees.

Noncontribuiory Defined Benefit Plan

Kenergy has a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering former Green River
Electric Corporation (GREC) employees who were members of the plan on January 1,
1987. Employees with an original date of hire on or after January 1, 1987, are not eligible
to join the defined benefit plan. The benefits are based on years of service and the
employee's highest average monthly compensation for three consecutive years of service.

Kenergy amended the defined benefit plan effective January 1, 1987, to offset benefits
accruing after January 1, 1987, by the benefits provided by the defined contribution plan
discussed below. Kenergy has adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 87, "Employer's Accounting for Pensions,” as amended by
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 132, “Employers’ Disclosures about
Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits.”

iz



KENERGY CORP.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Pension Plans, Continued

Noncontnibutory Defined Benefit Plan, Continued

Net pension cost (income) for 2006 and 2005 included the following components:

2006 2005
Service cost $ 57,000 $ 52,000
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 107,000 143,000
Expected return on plan assets (94,000} © (139,000}
Net amortization and deferral 87,000 92,000
Settlement 67,000 437,000
Pension cost (income) $ 224000  § _ 585,000

The following table sets forth the plan's funded status and the amount recognized in

Kenergy’s balance sheet at December 31:

006 005

Accumulated benefit obligation:

Vested § 1,300,000 &5 1344000
Projected benefit obligation $ 1,913,000 § 2,023,000
Plan assets at fair value 1,282,000 1,307,000
Deficiency of plan assets over projected

benefit obligation (631,000} (716,000}
Unrecognized net loss 533,000 705,000
Unrecognized prior service cost - 16,000
Net amount recognized $ (98,0000 % 5,000
Amounts recognized consist of:

Prepaid benefit cost b - $ 5,000

Accrued pension liability (98,000) (42,000)

Intangible asset - 16,000

Accumutated other comprehensive income - 26,000

Net amount recognized $ (98,0000 § 5,000



KENERGY CORP.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Pension Plans, Continued

Noncontributory Defined Benefit Plan. Continued

In determining the actuarial present value of the projected benefit obligation, the
weighted average discount rate used was 5.75% and 5.50% for the periods ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and the rate of increase in future
compensation levels was 4.00% for 2006 and 2005. The expected long-term rate of
return on assets was 7.50% for the periods ended December 31, 2006 and 2005. Plan
assets consist of investments in a guaranteed investment contract and pooled separate
accounts. Employer contributions totaled $121,000 and $293,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, while there were no employee contributions.
Kenergy expects to contribute $445,000 to this pension plan for the vear ending

- December 31, 2007. Benefits paid totaled $5,000 and $47,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Settlements totaled $217,000 and
$1,038,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets for determining net periodic pension
cost for each fiscal year is chosen by Kenergy from a best estimate range determined by
applying anticipated long-term returns and long-term volatility for various asset
categories to the target asset allocation of the plans, as well as taking into account
historical returns.

The general investment objectives are to invest in a diversified portfolio, comprised of
both equity and fixed income investments, which are further diversified among various
asset classes. The diversification is designed to minimize the risk of large losses while
maximizing total return within reasonable and prudent levels of risk. The investment
objectives specify a targeted investment allocation for the pension plans of up to 47.5%
equities, 47.5% bonds and 5% real estate. Objectives do not target a specific return by
asset class. These investment objectives are long-term in nature. As of December 31,
2006, the investment allocation was approximately 47.5% equities, 47.7% bonds, and
4.8% real estate. Applying the year-end 2006 since inception rate of returns for each
investment category to the balances in each category produced an expected rate of return
of approximately 7.75%.

Estimated benefit payments for the years following 2006 are as follows:



KENERGY CORP,
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Pension Plans, Continued

‘Nonconiributory Defined Benefit Plan. Continued

2007 $ 120,000
2008 $ 446,000
2009 $ 2,000
2010 $ 2,000
2011 § 590,600
Years 2012 - 2016 g 1,071,000

Savines and Retirement Plan

Effective January 1, 1987, Kenergy adopted a defined contribution: savings and retirement
plan. This plan'is available to all former GREC employees and all newly hired employees
-of Kenergy on or after July 1, 1999, excluding temporary employees, with six months of
service, who work at least 1,000 hours during each twelve-month period following their
date of employment. Under this plan, Kenergy contributes 6% of each employee’s annual
compensation. In addition, Kenergy will provide matching contributions equal to 50% of
each employee's contribution; however, Kenergy's matching contribution will not exceed
5% of each employee's compensation. Employer confributions under this plan totaled
$569,746 and $551,668 for the vears ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

NRECA Retirement and Security Program

All eligible employees of the former Henderson Union Cooperative Corporation (HUEC)
participate in the NRECA Retirement and Security Program (Program), a defined benefit
pension plan qualified under Section 401 and tax-exempt under Section 501(a} of the
Internal Revenue Code. Kenergy makes annual contributions to the Program equal to the
amounts accrued for pension expense. Non-SERP contributions were $428,727 and
$416,590 for 2006 and 2005, respectively. In this multi-employer plan, which is available
to all member cooperatives of NRECA, the accumulated benefits and plan assets are not
determined or allocated separately by individual employer.

Retirement Savings Plan

The Retirement Savings Plan is available for all eligible former HUEC employees. The
plan allows participants to make contributions by salary reduction, pursuant to Section
401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Kenergy will match the contributions of each
participant, up to 3% of the participant’s base compensation. Kenergy contributed
$85,996 and $906,375 for 2006 and 2005, respectively. Participants vest immediately in
their coniributions and the contributions of Kenergy.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Pension Plans, Continued

Deferred Compensation Plan

The Kenergy Corp. 457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan allows designated senior
management personnel the opportunity to make salary deferral contributions into a
retirement plan once they reach the IRS limit on voluntary contributions into their 401(k)
plan. Plan contributions were $311 and $1,390 for the years ending December 31, 2006
and 2005, respectively.

Deferred Compensation

Included in other investments and other noncurrent labilities is $1,449,703 and
$1,547,870 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, relating to deferred
compensation agreements, The deferred compensation plan was frozen in 1999. Benefits
are being paid out and the obligation is being relieved over a period of ten years through
approximately 2012.

PBostiretirement Benefits

In conjunction with a Special Early Retirement Program, Kenergy is obligated to pay
postretirement benefits.  Six remaining individuals (out of 22) who elected early
retirement December 31, 1999, are provided medical benefits for the lesser of five years
or until age 65, with Kenergy paying for 100% of health care premiums up to a
maximum of $600 per month per retiree. Four remaining individuals (out of 7) who
retired December 31, 2002, in conjunction with a change in policy whereby payment of
health insurance for disabled employees would be discontinued, will be provided medical
benefits for the lessor of five years or until age 65.- The funding policy is to pay the
related premiums as they become due. Accrued postretirement benefit costs at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, were approximately $41,414 and $104,583, respectively,
and are included in other current and accrued liabilities,

No other postretirement benefits are provided to Kenergy employees or directors with the
exception of allowing retirees (non-SERP) to participate in the Kenergy health care
program while paying 100% of their own premiums.

Financial Instruments

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 107, “Disclosures about Fair Value of
Financial Instruments,” requires Kenergy to disciose estimated fair values of its financial
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KENERGY CORP.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Financial Instruments, Continued

instruments. Fair value estimates, methods, and assumptions are set forth below for
Kenergy's financial instruments:

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, other current
assets, accounts payable, and other current liabilities approximate fair value because of
the short-term maturity of those instruments.

In management’s opinion, the carrying value of long-term debt also approximates
fair value.

Kenergy’s financial instruments that are exposed to concenirations of credit risk consist
primarily of cash and trade accounts receivable. Kenergy had cash deposits in a financial
institution in excess of the amount insured by the Federal Depository Insurance
Corporation (FDIC) at December 31, 2006 and 2005. The risk is managed by
maintaining all deposits in high quality institutions. Kenergy routinely assesses the
financial strength of its customers and, as a consequence, believes that its trade accounts
receivable credit risk exposure is limited.

Related Party Transactions

Big Rivers (Note 3) provides billing, safety training, and other services to its three
distribution cooperative members for which it is not reimbursed. Big Rivers reimburses
its members for economic development costs. Through March 2006, Kenergy was also
reimbursed for marketing personnel who provide services for all three of Big Rivers’
members. Such services requested for reimbursement from Big Rivers during the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2003, totaled $215,446 and $231,815, respectively, of
which $57,737 and $50,007, respectively, was included in accounts receivable. These
amounts do not include the cost of computer programming, safety training and. postage
provided but not quantified.

In October 2005, Kenergy received a lump sum payment of $221,000 from Big Rivers for
the lease of office space in a building owned by Kenergy. In 2005, the advanced lump
sum payment of rent was deferred, and in 2006, the lease was recorded as a capital lease.

Income Tax Status

Kenergy is exempt from federal and state income taxes under Section 501(c)(12) of the
Internal Revenue Code and, accordingly, the accompanying financial statements include
no provision for such taxes.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Limitation on Distributions

Without the prior written approval of RUS, Kenergy shall not in any calendar year make
any Distributions (exclusive of any Distributions to the estates of deceased natural
patrons) to its members, stockholders or consumers except as follows:

If, after giving effect to any such Distribution, the Equity of the Borrower shall be greater
than or equal to 30% of its Total Assets; or

If, after giving effect to any such Distribution, the Equity of the Borrower shall be greater
than or equal to 20% of its Total Assets and the aggregate of all Distributions made during
the calendar year when added to such Distribution shall be less than or equal to 25% of
the prior year’s margins.

Provided however, that in no event shall Kenergy make any Distributions 1f there is
unpaid, when due, any installment of principal of (premium, if any) or interest on any of
its payment obligations secured by the Mortgage, if the Borrower 1s otherwise in default
hereunder or if, after giving effect to any such Distribution, the Borrower’s current and
accrued assets would be less than its current and accrued Habilities.

Risk Management

Kenergy is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and
destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.
Kenergy carries commercial insurance for all risks of loss, including workers’
compensation, general liability and property loss mnsurance. As is customary in the utility
industry, Utility Plant is not insured with the exception of substations. Settled claims

resulting from these risks have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage in 2006 or
2005,

Rate Matters
Kenergy received approval on February 19, 2007, from the Kentucky Public Service

Commission to increase rates effective March 1, 2007. The new rates will generate
additional revenue of approximately $3,900,000 annually.
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Board of Directors
- Kenergy Corp.
Henderson, Kentucky

We have andited the financial statements of Kenergy Corp. (Kenergy) as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2006, and have issued our report thereon dated March 28, 2007. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Compiroller General of the United States.

Intemal Control Over Financial Reporiing

In planning and performing our audit, we considered Kenergy's internal control over
financial reporting as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing
our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of Kenergy's internal control over financial reporiing. Accordingly, we do not
express an optnion on the effectiveness of Kenergy's internal control over financial reporting.

A control deficiency exists when the design or operation of a2 control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent or detect misstatements on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a control deficiency,
or combination of control deficiencies, that adversely affects the entity's ability fo imitiate,
authorize, record, process, or report financial data reliably in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles such that there is more than a remote likelihood that a misstatement of the
entity's financial statements that is more than inconsequential will not be prevented or detected by
the entity's internal control.

A material weakness is a significant deficiency, or combination of significant deficiencies,
that results in more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the financial
statements will not be prevented or detected by the entity's internal control.

Qur consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose
described in the first paragraph of this section and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies
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Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, Continued

i internal control that might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses. We did not
identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be
material weaknesses, as defined above,

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Kenergy's financial statements
are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of
laws, regulations, contracts and grants agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct
and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an
opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly,
we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of
noncompliance or other matiers that are required to be reported under Government Auditing
Standards.

We noted certain matters that we have reported to the management of Kenergy in a
separate Jetter dated March 28, 2007.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the audit committee,
management, Board of Directors, and the Rural Utilities Service and supplemental lenders and is
not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

/?waia@mm@ psc

Owensboro, Kentucky
March 28, 2007
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ALAN M. ZUMSTEIN
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT

1032 CHETFORD DRIVE MEMBER:
LEXINGTON, KENTUCKY 40509 AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CPA'S
{839) 264-7147 INDIANA SCCIETY OF CPA’S

_ KENTUCKY SOCIETY OF CPA’S

AICPA DIVISION FOR FIRMS

independent Auditor's Report

to the Board of Directors of
Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation

I have audited the balance sheets of Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation, as

of October 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related statements of income and patronage capital and cash
flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of Meade

County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation's management. My responsibility is to express

an opinion on these financial statements based on my audits.

I conducted my audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards issued by the Comptrolier General of the United States and 7 CFR Part 1773, Policy
on Audits of Rural Utilities Service (RUS) Borrowers. Those standards require that I plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
from material misstatement. An audit includes examining on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. [ believe that my audits provide a reasonable basis
for my opinion.

In my opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation as of October 31,
2006 and 2005, and the results of operations and cash flows for the years then ended, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, I have also issued a report dated December

7, 2006, on my consideration of Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation's internal
conirol over financial reporting and my tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to
describe the scope of my testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and
the resuits of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance
with Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of my audit.

A 2t

Alan M. Zumsiein
December 7. 2006



ALAN M. ZUMSTEIN
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT

1032 CHETFORD DRIVE

MEMBER;:
LEXINGTON, KENTUCKY 40509 AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CPA'S
(859) 264-7147 INDIANA SOCIETY OF CPA'S
. KENTUCKY SOCIETY OF CPA'S
to the Board of Directors of AICPA DIVISION FOR FIRMS

Meade County Rurai Electric Cooperative Corporation

I have audited the financial statements of Meade County Rural Electric Cooperaiive Corporation
as of and for the years ended October 31, 2006 and 2003, and have issued my report thereon
dated December 7, 2006. I conducted my audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.

As part of obtaining reasonabie assurance about whether Meade County Rural Electric
Cooperative Corporation's financial statements are free of material misstatement, 1 performed tests
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grants, nonrcompliance
with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement
amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an
objective of my audit and, accordingly, I do not express such an opinion. The results of my tests
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under
Government Auditing Standards.

Internal Contrel Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing my audit, I considered Meade County Rura] Electric Cooperative
Corporation's internal control over financial reporting in order to determine my auditing
procedures for the purpose of expressing my opinion on the financial statements and not to
provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting. My consideration of the
internal control over financial reporting would not necessarity disclose all matters in the internal
control over financial reporting that might be material weaknesses. A material weakness is a
condition in which the design or operation of one or more of the internal control components does
not reduce to a relatively low level the risk that misstatements caused by exror or fraud in amounts
that would be material in relation to the financial statements being audited may occur and not be
detected within a timely period by employees in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions. I noted no matters involving the internal control over financial reporting and its
operation that I consider to be material weaknesses.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the audit commitiee, management, the
Rural Utilities Service and supplemental lenders, and is not intended to be and should not be used
by anyone other than those specified parties.

/’/w 2

Alan M Zumstein
December 7, 2006



Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation
Balance Sheets, October 31, 2006 and 2005

Assets

Electric Plant, at original cost:
In service
Under construction

Less accumulated depreciation

Investments in Associated Organizations

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, less allowance for
2006 of $201,886 and 2005 of $178,854
Material and supplies, at average cost
Other current assets

Total

Members' Equities and Liabilities

Members' Equities:
Memberships
Patronage capital
Other equities

Long Term Debt
Accumulated Postretirement Benefits

Current Liabilities:
Current portion of long term debt
Accounts payable
Consumer deposits
Accrued expenses

Consumer Advances for Construction

Total

2006

$77.441,864
_1,000337
78,442,201
19,058,500
59,383,701

1,781,292

6,045,926

2,366,189
379,762
361,215

9,153,092

$70,318,085

$115,940
19,942,916
685,701
20,744,557

43,076,326

511,752

2,275,000
1,501,281
634,055
972,071
5,382,407

603,043

$70,318.085

v
o
)
o

|
:

$71,643,765
689,883
72,333,648

17,762,536
54,571,112

1,872,748

5,689,238

2,373,420
272,764
460,427

8,795,849

$65,239,709

$121,800
19,887,770
655,977
20,665,547

38,797,307

2,150,000

435,362

554,211
630,525
4,770,098

581248

_ $65.239,709

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. -
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Statements of Revenue and Patronage Capital

for the years ended October 31, 2006 and 2005

Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses:
Cost of power
Distribution - operations
Distribution - maintenance
Consumer accounts
Consumer service and information

© Administrative and general
Depreciation, excluding $221,348 in 2006 and
$187,782 in 2005 charged to clearing accounts

Taxes
Other deductions

Operating Margins before Interest Charges

Interest Charges:
Long-term debt

Operating Margins after Interest Charges

Patronage Capiial from Associated
Organizations

Nonoperating Margins, principally interest
Net Margins
Patronage Capital - beginning of year

Retirement of patronage capital
Retirements to estates of deceased members

Patronage Capital - end of year

2006

$27.,490,406

15,768,944
1,805,050
2,504,881
1,192,735

226,791
1,245,679

2,451,260
32,695

105,756

25,333,791

2,156,615

1,962,294

194,321

153,345

269,149

616,815

19,887,770

(352,071)

(209,598)

_$19.942.916

2005

$27,214,354

15,722,062
1,728,888
2,177,825
1,178,182

186,678
1,103,022

2,293,413
24,939

87,662

24,502,871

2,711,483

1,746,447

962,036

110,643

170,192

1,242,871
19,237,322

(430,460)

(161,963}

$19.887,770

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of Cash Flows
for the years ended October 31, 2006 and 2005

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net margins
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided
by operating activities:
Depreciation
Charged to expense
Charged to clearing
Capital credits allocated
Accumulated postretirement benefits
Net change in current assets and labilities:
Receivables
Material and supplies
Other current assets
Accounts payable
Consumer deposits
Accrued expenses
Consumer advances for construction

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Construction of plant
Salvage recovered from plant
Receipts from investments, net

Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Net decrease in memberships
Retirement of patronage capital
Increase in other equities
Additional long-term borrowings
Advance payments
Payments on long-term debt

Net increase in cash balances
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning
Cash and cash equivalents - ending

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Interest on long-term debt

2006

$616,815

2,451,260
221,348
(153,345)

86,243

7,231
(106,998)
99,212
65,919

79,844
341,546

21,795
3,730,870

(7,558,172)
72,975

244,801
(7,240,396}

(5,860)

(561,669)
29,724
6,000,000
563,594

(2,159,575)

356,688

5,689,238

_$6,045.926.

$1,995,152

2005

51,242,871

2,293,413
187,125
(110,643)

80,382

177,624
(6,955)
(61,389)
169,292
55,266
6,741
66,119

4,099,846

(4,704,130)
63,570
8,149

(4632411

(6,425)

(592,423)
50,479
4,000,000
(688,728)

(2,027,020)
735,883

203,318

5,485,920

$5.,689.238

$1,678,311

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Meade County maintains its records in accordance with policies prescribed or permitted by the
Kentucky Public Service Commission (PSC) and the United States Department of Agriculture, Rural
Utilities Service (RUS), which conform in all material respects with generally accepted accounting
principles. The more significant of these policies are as follows:

Electric Plant

Electric plant is stated at original cost, less contributions, which is the cost when first dedicated
to public service. Such cost includes applicable supervisory and overhead costs. There was no
interest required to be capitalized on construction for the year.

The cost of maintenance and repairs, including renewals of minor items of property, is charged to
operating expense. The cost of replacement of depreciable property units, as distinguished from
minor items, is charged to electric plant. The cost of units of property replaced or retired,
including cost of removal net of any salvage value, is charged to accumulated depreciation

Electric plant in service consisted of:

2006 2005
Distribution plant $70,709,900 $66,374,752
General plant 6,731,964 5,269.013
Total _ $77.441,864 371,643,765

Depreciation

Provision has been made for depreciation on the basis of the estimated lives of assets, using the
straight-line method. Meade County uses a composite depreciation rate of 3.36% per annum for
distribution plant. General plant depreciation rates are as follows:

Structures and improvements 2.5% - 3%
Transportation equipment 12.5% - 25%
Other general plant 5% - 14.3%

Statement of Cash Flows

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, Meade County considers temporary investments
having a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Continued
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Notes to Financial Statements, confinued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued
Revenue

Meade County records revenue as billed to its consumers based on monthly meter- reading cycles.
Certain consumers are required to pay a refundable deposit. Meade County's sales are concentrated
in a six county area of western Kentucky. There were no consumers whose individual account
balance exceeded 10% of outstanding accounts receivable at October 31, 2006 or 2005. Consumers
must pay their bill within 20 days of billing, then are subject to disconnect after another 10 days.
Accounts are written off when they are deemed to be uncollectible. The allowance for uncollectibie
accounts is based on the aging of receivabies.

Cost of Power

Meade County is one of three (3) members of Big Rivers Electric Corporation, Inc. (Big Rivers).
Under a wholesale power agreement, Meade County is committed to purchase its electric power and
energy requirements from Big Rivers until 2023, The rates charged by Big Rivers are subject to
approval of the PSC. The cost of purchased power is recorded monthly during the period in which
the energy is consumed, based upon billings from Big Rivers.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates used in the preparation of the
financial statements.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Financial instruments include cash, temporary cash investments and long-term debt. Investments
in associated organizations are not considered a financial instrument because they represent
nontransferable interest in associated organizations.

The carrying value of cash and temporary cash investments approximates fair value because of
the short maturity of those instruments. The fair value of long term debt approximates the fair value
because of the borrowing policies of Meade County.

Meade County will also invest idle funds in local banks. These invesiments are classified as held-
to-maturity in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 115, Held-
to-maturity securities are presented at amortized cost. The fair value of held-to-maturity securities
approximates cost at 2006 and 2005.

Continued
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued

Off Balance Sheet Risk

Meade County has off balance sheet risk in that they maintain cash deposits in financial institutions

in excess of the amounts insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC). At

October 31, 2006 and 2005, the financial institutions reported deposits in excess of the $100,000 FDIC
insured limit on several of the accounts.

Advertising

Meade County expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising costs were $66,060 for 2006
and $67,742 for 2003.

Income Tax Status

Meade County is exempt from federal and state income taxes under provisions of Section 501(c)(12).
Accordingly, the financial statements include no provision for income taxes.

Investments in Associated Organizations

Meade County records patronage capital assigned by associated organizations in the year in
which such assignments are received.

The Capital Term Certificates (CTCs) of National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation
(NRUCFC) are recorded at cost. The CTCs were purchased from NRUCFC as a condition of
obtaining long-term financing. The CTCs bear interest at 0%, 3% and 5% and are scheduled to
mature at varying times from 2020 to 2080.

Investments in associated organizations consisted of:

2006 2405
Associated Organizations:
National Rural Utilities Cooperative
Finance Corporation:
Capital Term Certificates 51,099,255 $1,130,329
Patronage capital assigned 209,639 187,924
Other associated crganizations 471,268 435,866
Others 1,130 118,629
Total $1.781.292 _ $1.872.748

Continued
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued

Patronage Capital

Under provisions of the long-term debt agreement, return to patrons of capital contributed by them

1s limited to amounts which would not allow the total equities and margins to be less than 30% of total
assets, except that distributions may be made to estates of deceased patrons. The debt agreement
provides, however, that should such distributions to estates not exceed 25% of net margins for the
next preceding year, Meade County may distribute the difference between 25% and the payments

made 10 such estates. The equity at October 31, 2006 was 30% of total assets.

Patronage capital consisted of:

2006 20035
Assigned to date $26,691,920 $25,657,811
Assignable " 919,919 1,578,190
Unassigned 1,999,503 1,758,527
Retirements to date (9,668,426) (9,106,758}
Total $19,942 916 319,887,770

4.  long Term Debt

All assets, except vehicles, are pledged as collateral on the long-term debt to RUS, Federal
Financing Bank (FFB) and NRUCFC under a joint mortgage agreement. Long term debt

consisted of

2006 2005
First mortgage notes due RUS:
2% $12,384 $24,744
4.10% to 4.875% $19,429,889 $13,645,608
Advance payment (317,034) (880,628)
19,125,239 12,789,724
First mortgage notes due FFB:
2.707% to 6.049% 10,187,197 10,411,293
First mortgage notes due NRU CFC:
7% 56,432 69,711
3.05% to 6.90% fixed rate 5,699,880 4,505,535
3.60% variable rate - 1,422,955
Refinance RUS loans 3.10 to 5.95% 10,279,578 11,748,089
16,038,890 17,746,290
45,351,326 40,947,307
Less current portion 2,275,000 2,150,000
Long term portion $43.,076.,326 $38,797,307

Continued
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued

Long Term Debt

The long term debt payable to RUS, FFB and NRUCFC is due in quarterly and monthly installments
of varying amounts through 2041. Meade County has loan funds available from RUS in the amount
of $17,136,000.

During 2004, Meade County refinanced $14,685,111 of RUS 5% interest loans with the 3.10% - 5.95%
fixed and variable interest rate notes from NRUCFC. These notes are due in ten (10) annual
installments of $1,468,511 each through 2013.

As of October 31, 2006, the annuai current portion of long term debt outstanding for the next five
years are as follows: 2007 - $2,275,000; 2008 - $2,300,000; 2009 --§2,350,000; 2010 - $2,400,000;
2011 - $2,450,000.

Short Term Borrowings

At October 31, 2006, Meade County had a short-term line of credit of $5,000,000 available from
NRUCFC. There were no borrowings against this line of credit during the audit period.

Employee Benefits
Pension Plan.

All eligible employees of Meade County participate in the NRECA Retirement and Security
Program, a defined benefit pension plan qualified under section 401 and tax-exempt under section
501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. Eligible employees include employees hired prior to August
2002. Non-eligibie employees are those hired after August, 2002. Meade County makes annual
contributions to the Program equal to the amounts accrued for pension expense. Contributions to
this plan were $369,393 for 2006 and $338,414 for 2005. In this multiemployer plan, which is
available to all member cooperatives of NRECA, the accumulated benefits and plan assets are not
determined or allocated separately by individual employer.

Retirement Savings Plan

Meade County participates in the NRECA Savings Plan, a multiemployer, defined contribution

master pension plan. Ali employees are eligibie to participate in the Savings plan upon compietion of
one month employment. Participating employees contribute from 1% to 3% of their annual base

salary and Meade County contributes 3%. Non-eligible employees, as defined above, participate in
the savings plan, with Meade County contributing 12% of annual base pay, and the employee
contributing from 1% to 3%. Meade County makes annual contributions to the plan equal to amounts
accrued for pension expense. Contributions are vested immediately. Pension costs for the savings
plan were $144,158 for 2006 and $122,685 for 2005. A portion of this cost is allocated to construction
of electric plant.

Continued
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The funded status of the plan was as foliows:

Notes to Financial Statements, continued

Employee Benefits, continued
Postretirement Benefits

Meade County sponsors a defined benefit plan that provides medical insurance coverage to

retirees. During 1996, Meade County changed its plan from contributing 50% of the projected cost
of coverage to contributing 50% of the cost of a single policy.. For purposes of the liability estimates,
the substantive plan 1s assumed to be the same as the extant written plan. Postretirement benefits

are not funded.

D

00 2005

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation
Plan assets at fair vaiue - -

Funded status 814,499 . 635,000
Unrecognized net gain (losses) from

$814,499 $635,000

changes in assumptions (302,747 (209,491)
Accrued postretirement benefit cost $511,752 $425.509
The following is a reconciliation of the postretirement benefit-obligation:
006 2005
Postretirement Benefit Obligation:
Balance, beginning of period $425,509 $345,127
Recognition of components of net periodic
postretirement benefit cost:
Service cost 43,000 45,000
Interest cost 40,0600 39,000
Ameortization of gains or losses 21,267 20,672
104,267 104,672
Benefits paid to participants (18,024) (24,290}
Net change 86,243 80,382
Balance, end of period $425.509

511,752

For measurement purpeses, a §.5% annual rate of increase, decreasing by 0.5% per year until 5.5%
per year, in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits was assumed. The discount rate used
in determining the accumnulated postretirement benefit obligation was 6.50%.

Continued
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued

Risk Management

Meade County is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction
of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.

Meade County carries comumercial insurance for all risks of loss, including workers' compensation,
general liability and property loss insurance. As is customary in the utility industry, Electric Plant,
except substations, are not insured. Settled claims resulting from these risks have not exceeded
commercial insurance coverage in 2006 or 2003.

Related Party Transactions

Several of the Directors of Meade County, its President & CEO and another employee are on the
Boards of Directors of various associated organizations. During 2006 Meade County paid $41,240
to the son of one of its Directors to pave the parking lot of the District Office.

Commitiments

Meade County has various other agreements outstanding with local contractors. Under these
agreements, the contractors will perform certain construction and maintenance work at
specified hourly rates or unit cost, or on an as needed basis. The duration of these coniracts
are one to three years.

Environmental Contingency

Meade County from time to time is required to work with and handle PCBs, herbicides, automotive
fluids, lubricants and other hazardous materials in the normal course of business. As a result, there is
the possibility that environmental conditions may arise which wouid require Meade County to incur
cleanup costs. The likelihood of such an event, or the amount of such costs, if any, cannot be
determined at this time. However, management does not believe such costs, if any, would materially
affect Meade County's financial position or its future cash flows.
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independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Directors of
Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation

I have audited the balance sheets of Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation, as

of October 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related statements of income and patronage capital and cash
flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of Meade

County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation's management. My responsibility is to express

an opinion on these financial statements based on my audits.

1 conducted my audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, the standards applicable fo financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States and 7 CFR Part 1773, Policy
on Audits of Rural Utilities Service (RUS) Borrowers. Those standards require that I plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
from material misstatement. An audit includes examining on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall {financial statement presentation. I believe that my audits provide a reasonable basis
for my opinion.

In my opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation as of October 31,
2007 and 2006, and the results of operations and cash flows for the years then ended, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, I have also issued a report dated December
12,2007, on my consideration of Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation's internal
control over financial reporting and my tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to
describe the scope of my testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and

the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial
reporting or on compliance, That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance
with Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of my audit.

M 2dr

Alan M., Zumstein
December 12, 2007
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To the Board of Directors of
Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation

I have audited the financial statements of Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation
as of and for the years ended October 31, 2007 and 2006, and have issued my report thereon
dated December 12, 2007. I conducted my audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing my audit, I considered Meade County Rural Electric's internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing my auditing procedures for the purpose of
expressing my opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of Meade County Rural Electric's internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, I do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of Meade County Rural
'Electric's internal control over financial reporting.

A control deficiency exists when the design or operation of a control does not aliow management
empioyees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect
misstatements on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a control deficiency, or combination
of control deficiencies, that adversely affects the entity's ability to initiate, authorize, record,
process, or report financial data reliably in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles such that there is more than a remote likelihood that a misstatement of the entity's
financial statements that is more than inconsequential will not be prevented or detected by the
entity's internal control.

A material weakness is a significant deficiency, or combination of significant deficiencies, that
results in more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the financial statements wil}
not be prevented or detected by the entity's internal control.

My consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose
described in the first paragraph of this section and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies
in internal control that might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses. Idid not identify
any deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that I consider to be material
weaknesses, as defined above.



To the Board of Directors page - 2
Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Meade County Rural Electric's financial
statements are free of material misstatement, I performed tests of ifs compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could
have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts, However,
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of my audit, and
accordingly, I do not express such an opinion. The results of my tests disclosed no instances of
noncompliance or other matters that are required fo be reported under Government Auditing

Standards.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the audit committee, management,
the Rural Utilities Service and supplemental lenders, and is not intended to be and should not be
used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Ao Pt

Alan M. Zumstein
December 12, 2007



Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation
Balance Sheets, October 31, 2007 and 2006

Assets

Electric Plant, at original cost:
In service
Under construction

Less accumulated depreciation

Investments in Associated Organizations

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, less allowance for
2007 of $263,129 and 2006 of $201,886
Material and supplies, at average cost
Other current assets

Total
Members' Equities and [iabilities

Members' Equities:
Memberships
Patronage capital
Other equities
Accumulated other comprehensive income

Long Term Debt
Accumulated Postretirement Benefits

Current Liabilities:
Current portion of long term debt
Accounts payable
Consumer deposits
Accrued expenses

Consumer Advances for Construction

Total

2007

$82,156,759

1,012,182

83,168,941

20,652,300
62,516,641

1,824,950

4,486,435

2,429,613
400,247
349,522

7,665,817
_S72.007408

$111,260
20,331,629
763,063

(298,332)

20,907,620

44,131,478

855,224

2,300,000
1,701,323
633,864
607,135

5,242,322
870,764

$72,007,408

2006

$77,441,864
1,000,337
78,442,201
19,058,500
59,383,701

1,781,292

6,045,926

2,366,189
379,762
361,215

9,153,092

370,318,085

$115,940
19,942,916
685,701

20,744,557
43,076,326
511,752
2,275,000
1,501,281
634,055

972,071
5,382,407

603,043

$70.318,085

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of Revenue and Patronage Capital

for the years en.ded October 31, 2007 and 2006

Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses:
Cost of power
Distribution - operations
Distribution - maintenance
Consumer accounts
Consumer service and information
Administrative and general
Depreciation, exciuding $242,610 in 2007 and
$221,348 in 2006 charged to clearing accounts
Taxes
Other deductions

Operating Margins before Interest Charges

Interest Charges:
Long-term debt

Operating Margins after Interest Charges

Patronage Capital from Associated
Organizations

Nonoperating Margins, principally interest
Net Margins
Patronage Capital - beginning of year

Retirement of patronage capital
Retirements to estates of deceased members

Patronage Capital - end of year

2007

$29,480,109

17,015,983
1,868,291
2,226,819
1,208,174

238,407
1,158,367

2,685,368
33,716

80,983

26,516,108

2,964,001

2,204,295

759,706

157,061

256,623

1,173,390

19,942,916

(601,300)
(183,377)

$20,331,629

2006

527,490,406

15,768,944
1,805,050
2,504,881
1,192,735

226,791
1,245,679

2,451,260
32,695

105,756

25,333,791

2,156,615

1,962,294

194 321

153,345

269,149

616,815

19,887,770

(352,071)

(209,598)
819942916

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of Cash Flows

for the years ended October 31, 2007 and 2006

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net margins
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided
by operating activities:
Depreciation
(Charged to expense
Charged to clearing
Capital credits allocated
Accumulated postretirement benefits
Net change in current assets and liabilities:
Receivables
Material and supplies
Other current assets
Accounts payable
Consumer deposits
Accrued expenses
Consumer advances for construction

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Construction of plant
Salvage recovered from plant
Receipts from investments, net

Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Net decrease in memberships
Retirement of patronage capital
Increase in other equities
Additional long-term borrowings
Advance payments
Payments on long-term debt

Net increase in cash balances
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning

Cash and cash equivalents - ending

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Interest on long-term debt

2007

$1,173,390

2,685,368
242,610
(157,061)

45,140

(63,424)
(20,485)
11,693
200,042
(191)
(364,936)

267,721
4,019,867

(6,157,851)
96,933

113,403
(5,947,515)

(4,680)

(784,677)
77,362
3,000,000
317,034

(2,236,882)
368,157

(1,559,491)

6,045,926

$2,217,264

2006

$616,815

2,451,260
221,348
(153,345)

86,243

7,231

(106,998)
99,212
65,919
79,844
341,546
21,795

3,730,870

(7,558,172)
72,975

244,801
(7,240,396)

(5,860)

(561,669)
29,724
6,000,000
563,594

(2,159,575)
: 3,866,214

356,688

5,689,238

$6,045.926

$1,995,152

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Meade County maintains its records in accordance with policies prescribed or permitted by the
Kentucky Public Service Commission (PSC) and the United States Department of Agriculture, Rural
Utilittes Service (RUS), which conform in all material respects with generally accepted accounting
principles. The more significant of these policies are as follows:

Electric Plant

Electric plant is stated at original cost, less contributions, which is the cost when first dedicated
to public service. Such cost includes applicable supervisory and overhead costs. There was no
interest required to be capitalized on construction for the year.

The cost of maintenance and repairs, including renewals of minor items of property, is charged to
operating expense. The cost of replacement of depreciable property units, as distinguished from
minor items, is charged to electric plant. The cost of units of property replaced or retired,
including cost of removal net of any salvage value, is charged to accumulated depreciation

Electric plant in service consisted of:

2007 2006
Distribution plant $75,403,386 $70,709,900
General plant 6,753,373 6,731,964
Total $82.156,759 377,441,864

Depreciation

Provision has been made for depreciation on the basis of the estimated lives of assets, using the
straight-line method. Meade County uses a composite depreciation rate of 3.36% per annum for
distribution plant. General plant depreciation rates are as follows:

Structures and improvements 2.5% - 3%
Transportation equipment 12.5% - 25%
Other general plant 5% - 14.3%

Cash and Cash Equiavients

Meade County considers all short-term, highly-liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less to be cash equivalents,

Advertising
Meade County expenses advertising costs as incurred.
Continued
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued

Revenue

Meade County records revenue as billed to its consumers based on monthly meter- reading cycies.
Certain consumers are required to pay a refundable deposit. Meade County's sales are concentrated
in a six county area of western Kentucky. There were no consumers whose individual account
balance exceeded 10% of outstanding accounts receivable at October 31, 2007 or 2006. Consumers
must pay their bill within 20 days of billing, then are subject to disconnect after another 10 days.
Accounts are written off when they are deemed to be uncollectibie. The allowance for uncollectible
accounts is based on the aging of receivables.

Cost of Power

Meade County is one of three (3) members of Big Rivers Electric Corporation, Inc. (Big Rivers).
Under a wholesale power agreement, Meade County is committed to purchase its electric power and
‘energy requirements from Big Rivers until 2023. The rates charged by Big Rivers are subject to
approval of the PSC. The cost of purchased power is recorded monthly during the perlod in which
the energy is consumed, based upon billings from Big Rivers.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and Habilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates used in the preparation of the
financial statements.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of cash and temporary cash investments approximates fair value because of the
short maturity of those instruments. The fair value of long term. debt approximates the fair value
because of the borrowing policies of Meade County. Investments in associated organizations are not
considered 2 financial instrument because they represent a nontransferable interest in associated
organizations.

Meade County will also invest idle funds in local banks. These investments are classified as held-
to-maturity in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 115. Held-
to-maturity securities are presented at amortized cost. The fair value of held-to-maturity securities
approximates cost at 2007 and 2006,

Continued



Notes to Financial Statements, continued

Summéry of Significant Accounting Policies, continued
Off Balance Sheet Risk

Meade County has off balance sheet risk in that they maintain cash deposits in financial institations

in excess of the amounts insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC). At

October 31, 2007 and 2006, the financial institutions reported deposits in excess of the $100,000 FDIC
insured limit on several of the accounts.

Income Tax Status

Meade County is exempt from federal and state income taxes under provisions of Section 501(c){(12).
Accordingly, the financial statements include no provision for income taxes.

Risk Management

Meade County is exposed to various forms of losses of assets associated with, but not limited to, fire,
personal liability, theft, vehicular accidents, errors and omissions, fiduciary responsibility,

workers compensation, etc. Each of these areas is covered through the purchase of commercial
insurance.

Investments in Associated Organizations

Meade County records patronage capital assigned by associated organizations in the year in
which such assignments are received.

The Capital Term Certificates (CTCs) of National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation
(NRUCFC) are recorded at cost. The CTCs were purchased from NRUCFC as a condition of
obtaining long-term financing. The CTCs bear interest at 0%, 3% and 5% and are scheduled to
mature at varying times from 2020 to 2080.

Investments in associated organizations consisted of:

2007 2006
Associated Organizations:
NRUCFC, CTC's $1,068,396 $1,099,255
NRUCEFC, patronage capital assigned 230,680 209,639
Other associated organizations 524,744 471,268
Others 1,130 1,130
Total $1,824,950 $1,781,292

Continued
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued

3.  Patronage Capital

Under provisions of the long-term debt agreement, return to patrons of capital contributed by them.

is limited to amounts which would not allow the total equities and margins to be less than 30% of total
assets, except that distributions may be made to estates of deceased patrons. The debt agreement
provides, however, that should such distributions to estates not exceed 25% of net margins for the
next preceding year, Meade County may distribute the difference between 25% and the payments
made to such estates. The equity at October 31, 2007 was 30% of total assets.

Patronage capital consisted of:

2007 2006
Assigned to date $27,293,420 $26,691,920
Assignable £,091,245 919,919
Unassigned 2,400,067 1,999,503
Retirements to date (10,453,103) (9,668,426)
Total $20.331,629 $19,942 916

4.  Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

The changes in accumulated other comprehensive income, which includes the effects of applying
the provisions of SFAS Ne. 158, follows.

— 2007 2006
- Balance, beginning of period - n/a
Adjustment to initially apply SFAS No. 158 (298,332)
RIS
**" Balance, end of period ($298,332)

5.  Short Term Borrowings

At October 31, 2007, Meade County had a short-term line of credit of $5,000,000 available from
NRUCFC, There were no borrowings against this line of credit during the audit period.

6. Long Term Debt
During 2004, Meade County refinanced $14,685,111 of RUS 5% interest loans with the 3.10% - 5.95%
fixed and variable interest rate notes from NRUCFC. These notes are due in ten (10) annual
installments of $1,468,511 each through 2013,
As of October 31, 2007, the annual current portion of long term debt outstanding for the next five

years are as follows: 2008 - $2,300,000; 2009 - $2,350,000; 2010 - $2,400,000; 2011 - $2,450,000;
2012 - §2,500,000.

Continued

10



Notes to Financial Statements, continued

Long Term Debt, continued

All assets, except vehicies, are pledged as collateral on the fong-term debt to RUS, Federal
Financing Bank (FFB) and NRUCFC under a joint mortgage agreement. Long term debt
consisted of:

2007 2006
First morigage notes due RUS: _
4.18 to 5.06% (2.0% to 4.875% in 2006) $22,144 440 $19,442,273
Advance payment - (317,034)
22,144,440 19,125,239
First mortgage notes due FFB:
2.815% to 6.049% (2.707% to 6.049% in 2006) 6,953,204 10,187,197
First mortgage notes due NRU CFC:
7% 36,154 39,432
3.05% to 6.90% fixed rate 5,486,614 5,699,880
Refinance RUS loans 3.10% to 5.95% 8,811,066 10,279,578
14,333,834 16,038,890
46,431,478 45.351,326
.ess current portion 2,300,000 2,275,000
Long term portion $44,131.478 $43,076,326

The long term debt payable to RUS, FFB and NRUCFC is due in quarterly and monthly instaliments
of varying amounts through 2041. Meade County has loan funds available from RUS in the amount
of $14,136,000.

Employee Benefits
Pension Pian

All eligible employees of Meade County participate in the NRECA Retirement and Security
Program, a defined benefit pension plan qualified under section 401 and tax-exempt under section
501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. Eligible employees include employees hired prior to August
2002. Non-eligible employees are those hired after August, 2002. Meade County makes annual
contributions to the Program equal to the amounts accrued for pension expense. Confributions to
this plan were $372,529 for 2007 and $369,393 for 2006. In this multiemployer plan, which is
available to all member cooperatives of NRECA, the accumulated benefits and plan assets are not
determined or allocated separately by individual employer.

Continued
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued

Empioyee Benefits, continued
Retirement Savings Plan

Meade County participates in the NRECA Savings Plan, a multiemployer, defined contribution

master pension plan. All employees are eligible to participate in the Savings plan upon completion

of one month employment. Participating employees contribute from 1% to 3% of their annual base
salary and Meade County contributes 3%. Non-eligible employees, as defined above, participate in
the savings plan, with Meade County contributing 12% of annual base pay, and the employee
contributing from 1% to 3%. Meade County makes annual contributions to the plan equal to amounts
accrued for pension expense. Contributions are vested immediately. Pension costs for the savings
plan were $156,812 for 2007 and $144,158 for 2006. A portion of this cost is allocated to construction
of electric plant.

Postretirement Benefits

Meade County sponsers a defined benefit plan that provides medical insurance coverage to retirees
who meet certain qualifications, During 1996, Meade County changed its plan from contributing 50%
of the projected cost of coverage to contributing 50% of the cost of a single policy.

For measurement purposes, a 8.5% annual rate of increase, decreasing by 0.5% per year unti! 5.5%
per year, in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits was assumed. The discount rate used

in determining the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation was 6.50% for 2007 and 2006.

The funded status of the plan was as follows:

2007 2006
Projected benefit obligation ($855,224) ($814,499)
Plan assets at fair value - -
Funded status ($855,224) ($814,499)

The components of net periodic postretirement benefit costs are as follows:

2007 2006
Net periodic benefit cost $72,198 $104,267
Benefits paid to participants 27,058 18,024

Projected retiree benefit payments are expected to be as follows: 2008 - $25,513; 2009 -
$25,479; 2010 - $27,135; 2011 - $26,709; 2011 - $26,010.

Continued
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued

Empioyee Benefits, continued
Postiretirement Benefits, continued

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued FASB Statement
No. 158, Employers' Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans
("SFAS NO. 158"). Meade County adopted SFAS No. 158 during the year. The incremental
effect of applying SFAS No. 158 on individual line items in the Statement of Financial Position
is as follows:

Before After
Application of Application of
Statement 158  Adjustments Staternent 158
Accumulated postretirement benefits $556,892 $298,332 $855,224
Accumulated other comprehensive
income - (298,332) (298,332)
Total members' equities 21,205,952 (298,332) 20,907,620

Related Party Transactions

Several of the Directors of Meade County, its President & CEO and another employee are on the
Boards of Directors of various associated organizations. During 2006 Meade County paid $41,240
1o the son of one of its Directors to pave the parking lot of the District Office.

Commitments

Meade County has various other agreements outstanding with local contractors. Under these
agreements, the contractors will perform certain construction and maintenance work at specified
hourly rates or unit cost, or on an as needed basis. The duration of these contracts are one to three
years.

Environmental Contingency

Meade County from time to time is required to worlc with and handie PCBs, herbicides, automotive
fluids, lubricants and other hazardous materials in the normal course of business. As a result, there is

~ the possibility that environmental conditions may arise which would require Meade County to incur

cleanup costs. The likelihood of such an event, or the amount of such costs, if any, cannot be
determined at this time. However, management does not believe such costs, if any, would materially
affect Meade County's financial position or its future cash flows.

Rate Matters

Meade County is anticipating an order from the PSC to allow if to increase rates in the amount of

$1,900,000 or 7% of revenues.
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ALAN M. ZUMSTEIN
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT

1032 CHETFORD DRIVE : MEMBER;

LEXINGTON, KENTUCKY 40509 AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CPA’S

(859)264-7147 INDIANA SOCIETY OF CPA'S
KENTUCKY SOCIETY OF CPA'S

AICPA DIVISION FOR FIRMS
Board of Directors

Meade County Rural Electric
Cooperative Corporation
Brandenburg, Kentucky 40108

I have audited the financial statements of Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation
for the year ended October 31, 2003, and have issued my report thereon dated December 14,
2005. I conducted my audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by
the Comptrolier General of the United States, and 7 CFR Part 1773, Policy on Audits of the Rural
Utilities Service (RUS) Borrowers. Those standards require that I plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. '

In planning and performing my audit of the financial statements of Meade County Electric for the
year ended October 31, 2005, I considered its internal control over financial reporting in order
to determine my auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the financial
statements and not to provide assurance on the internal control over financial reporting.

My consideration of the internal control over financial reporting would not necessarily disclose
all matters in the internal control over financial reporting that might be material weaknesses. A
material weakness is a condition in which the design or operation of the specific internal control
components does not reduce to a relatively low level the risk that misstatements in amounts that
would be material in relation to the financial statements being audited may occur and not be
detected within a timely period by employees in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions. I noted no matters involving the internal control over financial reporting that 1
consider to be a material weakness.

7 CFR Part 1773.33 requires comments on specific aspects of the internal control over financial
reporting, compliance with specific RUS loan and security instrument provisions and other
additional matters. 1 have grouped my comments accordingly. In addition to obtaining reason-
able assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatements, at
your request, I performed tests of specific aspects of the internal control over financial
reporting, of compliance with specific RUS loan and security instrument provisions and of
additional matters. The specific aspects of the internal control over financial reporting,
compliance with specific RUS loan and security instrument provisions, and additional matters
tested include, among other things, the accounting procedures and records, materials control,
compliance with specific RUS loan and security instrument provisions set forth in 7 CFR
1773.33(d) 1) related transactions, depreciation rates, a schedule of deferred debits and credits
and a schedule of investments, upon which I express an opinion. In addition, my audit of the
financial statements also included the procedures specified in 7 CFR Part 1773.38-45. My
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objective was not to provide an opinion on these specific aspects of the internal control over
financial reporting, compliance with specific RUS loan and security instrument provisions, or
additional matters, and accordingly, I express no opinion thereon.

No reports, other than my independent auditor's report, and my independent auditor's report on
compliance and on internal control over financial reporting, all dated December 14, 2005, or
summary of recommendations related to my audit have been furnished to management.

My comments on specific aspects of the internal control over financial reporting, compliance with
specific RUS loan and security instrument provisions and other additional matters as required by
7 CFR 1773.33 are presented below.

Comments on Certain Specific Aspects of the Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting

I noted no matters regarding Meade County Eleciric's internal control over financial reporting
and its operation that I consider to be a material weakness as previously defined with respect to:

- The accounting procedures and records;

- the process for accumulating and recording labor, material and overhead costs, and
the distribution of these costs to construction, retirement and maintenance and other
expense accounts; and,

- the materials controls.

Comments on Comphance with Specific RUS Loar and Security Instrument
Provisions

At your request, { have performed the procedures enumerated below with respect 10 compliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations and contracts. The procedures I performed are
summarized as follows:

- Procedures performed with respect to the requirement for a borrower to obtain written
approval of the mortgagee to enter Into any contract for the operation or maintenance of
property, or for the use of mortgaged property by others for the year ended October
31, 2005, of Meade County Electric.

1. Obtained and read a borrower prepared schedule of new written
contracts entered into during the year for the operation or
maintenance of its property, or for the use of its property by
others as defined in 1773.33 (e){1)(i).

2. Reviewed Board of Director minutes to ascertain whether
board-approved written contracts are included in the borrower-
prepared schedule. -
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Comments on Complianee with Specific RUS Loan and Security Instrument
Provisions, continued: '

3. Noted written RUS approval was not obtained by the borrower
for all the contracts listed. Meade County Electric's management
informed me that RUS approval was not required as the contracts
related to operation or maintenance entered into during the
normal course of business.

- Procedure performed with respect to the requirement to submit RUS Form 7 to RUS:

1. Agreed amounts reported in RUS Form 7 to Meade County
Electric's records as of October 31, 2005.

The results of my tests indicate that, with respect to the items tested, Meade County Electric
compiied in all material respects, with the specific RUS loan and security instrument provisions
referred to below. With respect to items not tested, nothing came to my attention that caused me
to believe that Meade County Electric had not complied, in all material respects, with those
provisions. The specific provisions tested, as well as any exceptions noted, include the
requirements that:

- the borrower has obtained written approval of RUS to enter into any contract for
the operation and maintenance of all or any part of property, for the use of mortgaged
property by others as defined in 1773.33 (d}(1)(i); and ,

- the borrower has submitted its RUS Form 7 to RUS and the Form 7, Financial
and Statistical Report, as of October 31, 2005, represented by the borrower as
having been submitted to RUS is in agreement with Meade County Electric's
audited records in all material respects.

Comments on Other Additional Matters

In connection with my audit of the financial statements of Meade County Electric, nothing came
to my attention that caused me to believe that Meade County Electric failed to comply with
respect to:

- The reconciliation of continuing property records to the controlling
general ledger plant accounts addressed at 7 CFR Part 1773.33(c)(1);

- the clearing of the construction accounts and the accrual of depreciation
on completed construction addressed at 7 CFR Part 1773.33(c}2),

~  the retirement of plant addressed at 7 CFR Part 1773.33(c)(3) and (4);
- approval of the sale, lease or transfer of capital assets and disposition of

proceeds for the sale, or lease of plant, material or scrap addressed at 7
CFR Part 1773.33(c)5);
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Comments on Other Additional Matters
- the disclosure of material related party transactions, in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 57, Related Party
Transactions, for the year ended October 31, 2005, in the financial
statements referenced in the first paragraph of thls report addressed at 7
CFR Part 1773.33(%);
- the depreciation rates addressed at 7 CFR 1773.33(g);

- the detailed schedule of deferred debits and deferred credits; and

¥

the detailed schedule of inv_estments, of which there were none.

My audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken
as a whole, The detailed schedule of deferred debits and deferred credits required by 7 CFR
1773.33(h) and provided below is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a
required part of the basic financial statements. This information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in my audit of the basic financial statements and, in my opinion, is fairly stated
in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

The deferred credits are as follows:
Consumer advances for construction $581.248

¥ ok % ® R %

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors, management,
RUS and supplemental lenders and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone

other than these specified parties. However, this report is a matter of public record and its
distribution is not limited.

AL 2 e

Alan M, Zumstein
December 14, 2005
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to the Board of Directors of
Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation

I have audited the financial statements of Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation
for the year ended October 31, 2006, and have issued my report thereon dated December 7,

2006. Iconducted my audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by
the Comptroller General of the United States, and 7 CFR Part 1773, Policy on Audits of the Rural
Utilities Service (RUS) Borrowers. Those standards require that I plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement.

In planning and performing my audit of the financial statements of Meade County for the year
ended October 31, 2006, I considered its internal control over financial reporting in order to
determine my auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the financial
statemnents and not to provide assurance on the internal control over financial reporting.

My consideration of the internal control over financial reporting would not necessarily disclose
all matters in the internal control over financial reporting that might be material weaknesses, A
material weakness is a condition in which the design or operation of the specific internal control
components does not reduce to a relatively low level the risk that misstatements in amounts that
would be material in relation to the financial statements being audited may occur and not be
detected within a timely period by employees in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions. I noted no matters involving the internal control over financial reporting that |
consider to be a material weakness.

7 CFR Part 1773.33 requires comments on specific aspects of the internal control over financial
reporting, compliance with specific RUS loan and security instrument provisions and other
additional matters. I have grouped my comments accordingly. In addition to obtaining reason-
able assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatements, at
your request, I performed tests of specific aspects of the internal contro! over financial
reporting, of compliance with specific RUS loan and security instrument provisions and of
additional matters. The specific aspects of the internal control over financial reporting,
compliance with specific RUS loan and security instrument provisions. and additional matters
tested include, among other things, the accounting procedures and records, materials control,
compliance with specific RUS loan and security instrument provisions set forth in 7 CFR
1773.33{cd)(1) related transactions. depreciation rates, a schedule of deferred debits and credits
and a schedule of investments, upon which I express an opinion. In addition, my audit of the
financial statements also included the procedures specified in 7 CFR Part 1773.38-.45. My
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objective was not to provide an opinion on these specific aspects of the internal control over
financial reporting, compliance with specific RUS loan and security instrument provisions, or
additional matters, and accordingly, I express no opinion thereon.

No reports, other than my independent auditor's report, and my independent auditor's report on
compliance and on internal control over financial reporting, all dated December 7, 2006, or
summary of recommendations reiated to my audit have been furnished to management.

My comments on specific aspects of the internal control over financial reporting, compliance with
specific RUS loan and security instrument provisions and other additional matters as required by
7 CFR 1773.33 are presented below.

Comments on Certain Specific Aspects of the Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting

I noted no matters regarding Meade County's internal control over financial reporting and its
operation that I consider to be a material weakness as previously defined with respect to.

- The accounting procedures and records;

- the process for accumulating and recording labor, material and overhead costs, and
the distribution of these costs to construction, retirement and maintenance and other
expense accounts; and,

- the materials controis.

Comments on Compliance with Specific RUS Loan and Security Instrument
Provisions

At your request, I have performed the procedures enumerated below with respect to compliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations and contracts. The procedures I performed are
summarized as follows:

- Procedures performed with respect to the requirement for a borrower to obtain written
approval of the mortgagee to enter into any contract for the operation or maintenance of
property, or for the use of mortgaged property by others for the year ended October 31,
2006, of Meade County.

1. Obtained and read a borrower prepared schedule of new written
contracts entered into during the year for the operation or
maintenance of its property, or for the use of its property by
others as defined in 1773.33 (e)(1)(1).

2. Reviewed Board of Director minutes to ascertain whether
board-approved written contracts are included in the borrower-
prepared schedule.
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Comments on Compliance witk Specific RUS Loan and Security Instrument
Provisions, continned:

3. Noted written RUS approval was not obtained by the borrower
for all the contracts listed. Meade County's management informed
me that RUS approval was not required as the contracts related to
operation or maintenance entered into during the normal course
of business.

- Procedure performed with respect to the reguirement to submit RUS Form 7 to RUS:

1. Agreed amounts reported in RUS Form 7 to Meade County's
records as of October 31, 2006.

The results of my tests indicate that, with respect to the items tested, Meade County complied in all
material respects, with the specific RUS loan and security instrument provisions referred to below.
With respect to items not tested, nothing came to my attention that caused me to believe that
Meade County had not complied, in all material respects, with those provisions. The specific
provisions tested, as well as any exceptions noted, inciude the requirements that:

- the borrower has obtained written approval of RUS to enter into any contract
for the operation and maintenance of all or any part of property, for the use of
mortgaged property by others as defined in 1773.33 (d)(1)(i); and ,

- the borrower has submitted its RUS Form 7 to RUS and the Form 7, Financial

-~ and Statistical Report, as of October 31, 2006, represented by the borrower as
having been submitted to RUS is in agreement with Meade County's audited
records in all material respects.

Comments on Other Additional Matters

In connection with my audit of the financial statements of Meade County, nothing came to my
attention that caused me to believe that Meade County failed to comply with respect to:

- The reconciliation of continuing property records to the controlling
general ledger plant accounts addressed at 7 CFR Part 1773.33(c)(1);

- the clearing of the construction accounts and the accrual of depreciation
on completed construction addressed at 7 CFR Part 1773.33(c)(2);

- the retirement of plant addressed at 7 CFR Part 1773.33(¢c)3) and (4);
- approval of the sale, lease or transfer of capital assets and disposition of

-proceeds for the sale, or lease of plant, material or scrap addressed at 7
CFR Part 1773.33(c}(5);
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Comments on Other Additional Matters

- the disclosure of material related party transactions, in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 57, Related Party
Transactions, for the year ended October 31, 2006, in the financial
statements referenced in the first paragraph of this report addressed at 7
CFR Part 1773.33(5);

- the depreciation rates addressed at 7 CFR 1773.33(g);
- the detailed schedule of deferred debits and deferred credits; and
- the detailed schedule of investments, of which there were none.

My audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken
as a whole., The detailed schedule of deferred debits and deferred credits required by 7 CFR
1773.33(h) and provided below is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a
required part of the basic financial statements. This information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in my audit of the basic financial statements and, in my opinion, is fairly stated
in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

The deferred credits are as follows:
Consumer advances for construction $603.043

ST

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors, rnaziagement,
RUS and supplemental lenders and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone

other than these specified parties. However, this report is a matter of public record and its
distribution is not limited.

A 2

Alan M. Zumstein
December 7, 2006
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To the Board of Directors of
Meade County Rural Flectric Cooperative Corporation

I have audited the financial statements of Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation
for the year ended October 31, 2007, and have issued my report thereon dated December 12,
2007. 1conducted my audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by
the Comptroller General of the United States, and 7 CFR Part 1773, Policy on Audits of the Rural
Utilities Service (RUS) Borrowers. Those standards require that I plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement.

In planning and performing my audit of the financial statements of Meade County for the year
ended October 31, 2007, I considered its internal control over financial reporting in order to
determine my auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the financial
statements and not to provide assurance on the internal control over financial reporting.

My consideration of the internal control over financial reporting would not necessarily disciose
all matters in the internal control over financial reporting that might be material weaknesses. A
material weakness is a condition in which the design or operation of the specific internal control
components does not reduce to a refatively low level the risk that misstatements in amounts that
would be material in relation to the financial statements being audited may occur and not be
detected within a fimely period by employees in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions. I noted no matters involving the internal control over financial reporting that !
consider to be a material weakness,

7 CFR Part 1773.33 requires comments on specific aspects of the internal control over financial
reporting, compliance with specific RUS loan and security instrument provisions and other
additional matters. T have grouped my comments accordingly. In addition to obtaining reason-
able assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstaterents, at
your request, | performed tests of specific aspects of the internal control over financial
reporting, of compliance with specific RUS loan and security instrument provisions and of
additional matters. ‘The specific aspects of the internal control over financial reporting,
compliance with specific RUS loan and security instrument provisions, and additional matters
tested include, among other things, the accounting procedures and records, materials control,
compliance with specific RUS loan and security instrument provisions set forth in 7 CFR
1773.33(d)(1) related transactions, depreciation rates, a schedule of deferred debits and credits
and a schedule of investments, upon which I express an opinion. In addition, my audit of the
financial statements also included the procedures specified in 7 CFR Part 1773.38-45, My
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objective was not to provide an opinion on these specific aspects of the internal control over
financial reporting, compliance with specific RUS loan and security instrument provisions, or
additional matters, and accordingly, I express no opinion thereon.

No reports, other than my independent auditor's report, and my independent auditor's report on
compliance and on internal control over financial reporting, all dated December 12, 2007, or
summary of recommendations related to my audit have been furnished to management.

My comments on specific aspects of the internal control over financial reporting, compliance with
specific RUS loan and security instrument provisions and other additional matters as required by
7 CFR 1773.33 are presented below.

Comments on Certain Specific Aspects of the Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting

I noted no matters regarding Meade County's internal contrel over financial reporting and its
operation that | consider to be a material weakness as previously defined with respect to:

- The accounting procedures and records;

- the process for accumulating and recording labor, material and overhead costs, and
the distribution of these costs to construction, retirement and maintenance and other
expense accounts; and,

- the materials controls.

Comments on Compliance with Specific RUS Loan and Security Instrument
Provisions

At your request, I have performed the procedures enumerated below with respect to compliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations and contracts. The procedures I performed are
summarized as follows:

- Procedures performed with respect to the requirement for a borrower to obtain written
approval of the mortgagee to enter into any contract for the operation or maintenance of
property, or for the use of mortgaged property by others for the year ended October 31,
2007, of Meade County.

1 Obtained and read a borrower prepared schedule of new written
contracts entered into during the vear for the operation or
maintenance of its property, or for the use of its property by
ofhers as defined in 1773.33 (e)(1)().

2. Reviewed Board of Director minutes to ascertaln whether
board-approved writien contracts are included in the borrower-
prepared schedule.
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Comments on Compliance with Specific RUS Lear and Security Instrument
Provisions, continued:

3. Noted written RUS approval was not obtained by the borrower
for all the contracts listed. Meade County's management informed
me that RUS approval was not required as the contracts related to
operation or maintenance entered into during the normal course
of business.

- Procedure performed with respect to the requirement to submit RUS Form 7 to RUS:

L. Agreed amounts reported in RUS Form 7 to Meade County's
records as of Qctober 31, 2007.

The results of my tests indicate that, with respect to the items tested, Meade County complied in all
material respects, with the specific RUS loan and security instrument provisions referred to below.

With respect to items not tested, nothing came to my attention that caused me to believe that
Meade County had not complied, in all material respects, with those provisions. The specific
provisions tested, as well as any exceptions noted, include the requirements that:

- the borrower has obtained written approval of RUS to enter into any contract
for the operation and maintenance of all or any part of property, for the use of
mortgaged property by others as defined in 1773.33 (d)(1)(1); and,

- the borrower has submitted its RUS Form 7 to RUS and the Form 7, Financial
and Statistical Report, as of October 31, 2007, represented by the borrower as
having been submitted to RUS is in agreement with Meade County's audited
records in all material respects.

Comments on Other Additional Matters

In connection with my audit of the financial statements of Meade County, nothing came to my
attention that caused me io believe that Meade County failed to comply with respect to:

- The reconciliation of continuing property records to the controlling
general ledger plant accounts addressed at 7 CFR Part 1773.33(c)(1);

- the clearing of the construction accounts and the accrual of depreciation
on completed construction addressed at 7 CFR Part 1773.33(c)(2);

- the retirement of plant addressed at 7 CFR Part 1773.33(c)(3) and (4);
- approval of the sale, lease or transfer of capital assets and disposition of

proceeds for the sale, or lease of plant, material or scrap addressed at 7
CFR Part 1773.33(c)(5});
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Comments on Other Additional Matiers

- the disclosure of material related party transactions, in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 57, Related Party
Transactions, for the year ended October 31, 2007, in the financial
statements referenced in the first paragraph of this report addressed at 7
CFR Part 1773.33(f);

- the depreciation rates addressed at 7 CFR 1773.33(g);

- the detailed schedule of deferred debits and deferred credits; and

- the detailed schedule of investments, of which there were none.
However, I recommend corrective action be taken in the following area:

1. Meade County utilizes a system in which it scans all information that is not part of the
software programs provided by Big River Electric Corporation. This includes all
cash receipts tickets, vendor invoices, journal entries, correspondence from
regulatory agencies, and all other paper information that can be scanned. There
was an incidence that caused the scanning software to be hit with a surge and the
information was not able to be retrieved. Upon firther investigation, Meade
County did not have an adequate backup system for storing information and
subsequently retrieving this information in the event of an instance such as this. In
effect, Meade County potentially lost two months worth of data.

I strongly suggest that there should be proper backing up of information, storing
this information off-site and periodic testing of the back-up procedures to ensure
this type of loss of data does not occur in the future.

My audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken
as a whole. The detailed schedule of deferred debits and deferred credits required by 7 CFR
1773.33(h) and provided below is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a
required part of the basic financial statements. This information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in my audit of the basic financial statements and, in my opinion, is fairly stated
in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

The deferred credits are as follows:
Consumer advances for construction $870,764

kod ok ok ok

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors, management,
RUS and supplemental lenders and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone

other than these specified parties. However, this report is a matter of public record and its
distribution is not limited.

VA TR

Alan M. Zumstein
December 12, 2007
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AvLaNn M. ZUMSTEIN
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT

1032 CHETFORD DRIVE MEMBER:
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AICPA DIVISION FOR FIRMS

Board of Directors

Meade County Rural Electric
Cooperative Corporation

Brandenburg, Kentucky 40108

Independent Auditor's Report

I have audited the balance sheets of Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation, as
of October 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related statements income and patronage capital and cash
flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of Meade
County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation's management. My responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements based on my audits.

[ conducted my audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, the standards applicable 1o financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States and 7 CFR Part 1773, Policy
on Audits of Rural Utilities Service (RUS) Borrowers. Those standards require that I plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
from material misstatement. An audit includes examining on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. I believe that my audits provide a reasonable basis for my
opinion.

In my opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation as of October 31,
2005 and 2004, and the results of operations and cash flows for the years then ended, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, I have also issued a report dated December
14, 2005, on my consideration of Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation's internal
control over financial reporting and my tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts and grants. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be read in conjunction with this
report in considering the results of my audit.

Al 2~

Alan M. Zumstein
December 14, 2005
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[ have audited the financial statements of Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation
as of and for the years ended October 31, 2005 and 2004, and have issued my report thereon
dated December 14, 2005, 1 conducted my audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, tssued by the Comptroller General of the United States.

Compliance

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Meade County Rural Electric
Cooperative Corporation's financial statements are free of material misstatement, I performed
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grants,
noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of
financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions
was not an objective of my audit and, accordingly, I do not express such an opinion. The results
of my tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance that are required to be reported under
Government Auditing Standards.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing my audit, I considered Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative
Corporation's internal control over financial reporting in order to determine my auditing
procedures for the purpose of expressing my opinion on the financial statements and not to
provide assurance on the internal control over financial reporting. My consideration of the
internal control over financial reporting would not necessarily disclose all matters in the internal
contro! over financial reporting that might be material weaknesses, A material weakness is a
condition in which the design or operation of one or more of the internal control components
does not reduce to a relatively low level the risk that misstatement in amounts that would be
material in relation to the financial statements being audited may occur and not be detected within
a timely period by employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions. 1
noted no matters involving the internal control over financial reporting and its operation that I
consider to be material weaknesses.

This report is intended for the information of the audit committee, management, the Rural
Utilities Service and supplemental lenders, and is not intended to be and should not be used
by anyone other than thoge specified parties.

I 2t

Alan M. Zumstein
December 14, 2005



Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation
Balance Sheets, October 31, 2005 and 2004

Assets

Electric Plant, at original cost:
In service
Under construction

Less accumulated depreciation

Investments in Associated Organizations

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, less allowance for
2005 of $178,854 and 2004 of $143,9535
Material and supplies, at average cost
Other current assets

Total

Members' Equities and Liabilities

Members' Equities:
Memberships
Patronage capital
Other equities

Long Term Debt
Accumulated Postretirement Benefits

Current Liabilities:
Current portion of long term debt
Accounts payable
Consumer deposits
Accrued expenses

Consumer Advances for Construction

Total

005

$71,643,765

689,883

72,333,648

17,762,536
34,571,112

1,872,748

5,689,238

2,373,420
272,764
460,427

8,795,849

$65,239,709

$121,800
19,887,770
655,977

20,665,547
38,797,307

425,509

2,150,000
1,435,362
554,211
630,525

4,770,098
581,248

$65,239,709

2004

$67,348,128

1,539,244

68,887.372
16,476,282

52,411,090

1,770,254

5,485,920

2,551,044
265,809
399,038

8,701,811

$62,883.155

$128,225
19,237,322
605,498

19,971,045
37,613,055

345,127

2,050,000
1,266,070
498,945
623,784

4,438,799
515,129

$62,883,155

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of Revenue and Patronage Capital

for the years ended October 31, 2005 and 2004

Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses:

Cost of power.

Distribution - operations

Distribution ~ maintenance

Consumer accounts

Consumer service and information

Administrative and general

Depreciation, excluding $187,782 in 2005
and $162,926 in 2004 charged to
clearing accounts

Taxes

Other deductions

Operating Margins before Interest Charges

Interest Charges:
Long-term debt

Operating Margins after Interest Charges

Patronage Capital from Associated
Organizations

Nonoperating Margins, principally interest
Net Margins
Patronage Capital - beginning of year

Retirement of patronage capital
Retirements to estates of deceased members

Patronage Capital - end of year

2005

15,722,062
1,728,888
2,177,825
1,178,182

186,878
1,103,022

2,293,413
24,939

87,662

24,502,871

2,711,483

1,749,447

962,036

110643

170,192

1,242,871

19,237,322

(430,460)

(161,963)

$19.887,770

2004

$25,988,732

14,718,090
1,448,688
2,403,413
1,153,006
197,062
1,099,277

2,153,226
27,674

36,609

23,237,045

2,751,687

1,355,116

1,396,571

112,500

101,669

1,610,740

18,222,686

(430,225)

(165,879)

$19.,237.,322

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of Cash Flows

for the years ended October 31, 2005 and 2004

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net margins
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided
by operating activities:
Depreciation
Charged to expense
Charged to clearing
Capital credits allocated
Accumulated postretirement benefits
Net change in current assets and liabilities:
Receivables
Material and supplies
Other current assets
Accounts payable
Consumer deposits
Accrued expenses
Consumer advances for construction

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Construction of plant
Salvage recovered from plant
Receipts from investments, net

Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Net decrease in memberships
Retirement of patronage capital
Increase in other equities
Additional long-term borrowings
Advance payments
Payments on long-term debt

Net increase in cash balances
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning

Cash and cash equivalents - ending

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:

Interest on long-term debt

2005

$1,242,871

2,293,413

187,125
(110,643)

80,382

177,624
(6,955}
(61,389)
169,292
35,266
6,741

: 66,119
4,099,846

{4,704,130)
63,570
8,149

(4,632,411)

(6,425)

(592,423)
50,479
4,000,000

(688,728)

(2,027,020)
735,883

203,318

5,485,920

55,689,238

$1,678,311

2004

$1,610,740

2,153,226

162,926
(112,500)
(5,864)

(542,660)
(12,911)
114,704

(180,813)

51,653
75,895
39,440

3,353,836

(6,295,475)
48,276

(64,799
(6,311,998)

(7,445)
(596,104)
59,089
5,557,000
(112,843)

(2,015,882)
2,883,815

(74,347)

5,560,267

__$5.485.920

$1,377,728

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes 1o Financial Statements

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Meade County maintains Its records in accordance with policies prescribed or permitted by the
Kentucky Public Service Commission (PSC) and the United States Department of Agriculture, Rural
Utilities Service (RUS), which conform in all material respects with generally accepted accounting
principles. The more significant of these policies are as follows:

Electric Plant

Electric plant is stated at original cost, less contributions, which is the cost when first dedicated
to public service. Such cost includes applicable supervisory and overhead costs. There was no
interest required to be-capitalized on construction for the year.

The cost of maintenance and repairs, including renewals of minor items of property, is charged to
operating expense. The cost of replacement of depreciable property units, as distinguished from
minor items, is charged to electric plant. The cost of units of property replaced or retired,
including cost of removal net of any salvage value, is charged fo accumulated depreciation

The major classifications of electric plant in service consisted of:

2005 2004
Distribution plant $66,374,752 $62,260,762
General plant 5,269,013 5,087,366
Total $71.,643,765 $67.348.128

Depreciation

Provision has been made for depreciation on the basis of the estimated lives of assets, using the
straight-line method. Meade County uses a composite depreciation rate of 3.36% per annum for
distribution plant. General plant depreciation rates are as follows:

Structures and improvements 2.5% - 3%
Transportation equipment 12.5% - 25%
Tools and power equipment 5% - 6.7%
Office furniture and equipment 6% - 14.3%
Laboratory equipment 5%
Communication and other equipment 6%

Statement of Cash Flows

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, Meade County considers temporary investments
having a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Continued

~



Notes to Financial Statements, continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued
Revenue

Meade County records revenue as billed to its consumers based on monthly meter- reading cycles.
Certain consumers are required to pay a refundable deposit. Meade County's sales are concentrated
in & six county area of western Kentucky. There were no consumers whose individual account
balance exceeded 10% of outstanding accounts receivable at October 31, 2005 or 2004. Consumers
must pay their bill within 20 days of billing, then are subject to disconnect after another 10 days.
Accounts are written off when they are deemed to be uncollectible. The allowance for uncoliectible
accounts is based on the aging of receivables.

Cost of Power

Meade County is one of three (3} members of Big Rivers Electric Corporation, Inc. (Big Rivers).
Under a wholesale power agreement, Meade County is committed to purchase s electric power and
energy requirements from Big Rivers until 2023. The rates charged by Big Rivers are subject to
approval of the PSC. The cost of purchased power is recorded monthiy during the period in which
the energy is consumed, based upon billings from Big Rivers.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates used in the preparation of the financial statements.

Fair Value of Financial instruments

Financial instruments inciude cash, temporary cash investments and long-term debt. Investments
in associated organizations are not considered a financial instrument because they represent
nontransferable interest in associated organizations.

The carrying value of cash and temporary cash investments approximates fair value because of
the short maturity of those instruments. It is not practicable to estimate the fair value of long-term
debt.

income Tax Status

Meade County is exempt from federal and state income taxes under provisions of Section 501(c)(12).
Accordingly, the financial statements include no provision for income taxes.

Continued



Notes to Financial Statements, continued

Investments in Associated Organizations

Meade County records patronage capitzal assigned by associated organizations in the vear in
which such assignments are received.

The Capital Term Certificates (CTCs) of National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation
{NRUCFC} are recorded at cost. The CTCs weré purchased from NRUCFC as a condition of
obtaming long-term financing. The CTCs bear interest at 0%, 3% and 5% and are scheduled to
mature at varying times from 2020 to 2080.

Investments in associated organizations consisted of:

2005 2004
Associated Organizations:
National Rural Utilities Cooperative
Finance Corporation:

Capital Term Certificates $1,130,329 $1,023,657
Patronage capital assigned 187,524 175,117
(Other associated orpanizations 435,866 448760
Others 118,629 122,720
Total $1,872,748 - $1,770.254

Patronage Capital

Under provisions of the long-term debt agreement, return to patrons of capital contributed by them

1s limited to amounts which would not allow the total equities and margins to be less than 30% of total
assets, except that distributions may be made to estates of deceased patrons. The debt agreement
provides, however, that should such distributions to estates not exceed 25% of net margins for the
next preceding year, Meade County may distribute the difference between 25% and the payments
made to such estates. The equity at October 31, 2005 was 32% of total assets.

Patronage capital consisted of: :
20035 2004

Assigned to date $25,657,811 $24,574,251
Assignable 1,578,190 1,642,193
Unassigned 1,758,527 1,535,212
Retirements to date (9,106,758) (8,514,334)
Total $19,887,770 $19.237,322

Continued
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued

Long Term Debt

All assets, except vehicles, are pledged as collateral on the long-term debt to RUS, Federal
Financing Bank (FFB) and NRUCFC under a joint mortgage agreement. Long term debt

consisted of:

2003 2004
First mortgage notes due RUS:
2% $24,744 $44,619
4.10% to 4.875% $13,645,608 $9,717,786
Advance payment - (880,628) (181,901}
12,789,724 9,570,504
First mortgage notes.due FFB:
2.707 to 6.049% (2.112 10 6.049% in 2004) 10,411,293 10,640,209
First mortgage notes due NRU CFC:
7% 69,711 85,435
3.05% 10 6.90% fixed rate 4,505,535 4,653,828
3.60% variable rate 1,422,955 1,496,479
Refinance RUS loans 3.10 10 5.95% 11,748,089 13,216,600
17,746,290 19,452,342
40,947,307 39,663,055
Less current portion (2,150,000) (2,050,000)
Long term portion $38,797.3G7 $37.613,055

The long term debt payable to RUS, FFB and NRUCFC is due in quarterly and monthly instaliments

of varying amounts through 2038. Meade County has loan funds available from RUS in the amount
of $6,000,000.

During 2004, Meade County refinanced $14,685,111 of RUS 5% interest loans with the 3.10% - 5.95%
fixed and variable interest rate notes from NRUCFC. These notes are due in ten (10) annuat
installments of $1,468,511 each through 2013,

As of October 31, 2005, the annual current portion of long term debt outstanding for the next five
years are as follows: 2006 $2,150,000; 2007 - $2,200,000;, 2008 - $2,300,000; 20609 - $2,500,000;
2010 - §2,600,000.

Short Term Borrowings

At October 31, 2005, Meade County had a short-term line of credit of $5,000,000 avaiiable from
NRUCFC. There were no borrowings against this line of credit during the audit period.

Continued
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued

Employee Benefits
Pension Plan

All eligible employees of Meade County participate in the NRECA Retirement and Security
Program, a defined benefit pension plan qualified under section 401 and tax-exempt under section
501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. Eligible employees include employees hired prior to August
2002. Non-eligible employees are those hired after August, 2002, Meade County makes annual
contributions to the Program equal to the amounts accrued for pension expense. Contributions to
this plan were $338,414 for 2005 and $326,811 for 2004. In this multiemployer plan, which is
available to all member cooperatives of NRECA, the accumulated benefits and plan assets are not
determined or aliocated separately by individual employer.

Retirement Savings Plan

Meade County participates in the NRECA Savings Plan, a multiemployer, defined contribution
master pension plan. All employees are eligible to participate in the Savings plan upen completion
of one month employment. Participating employees contribute 3% of their annual base salary and
Meade County contributes 3%. Non-eligible employees, as defined above, participate in the savings
plan, with Meade County contributing 4% of annual base pay, and the employee contributing 1%.
Meade County makes annual contributiens to the plan equal to amounts accrued for pension
expense. Contributions are vested immediately. Pension costs for the savings pian were $122,685
and $99,237 for the years ended October 31, 2005 and 2004. A portion of this cost is allocated to
construction of electric plant.

Postretirement Benefits

Meade County sponsors a defined benefit plan that provides medical insurance coverage to

retirees. During 1996, Meade County changed its plan from contributing 50% of the projected cost
of coverage to contributing 50% of the cost of a single policy. For purposes of the liability estimates,
the substantive plan is assumed to be the same as the extant written plan. Postretirement benefits

are not funded.

The funded status of the plan was as follows:

2005 2004
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation $635,000 $575,000
Plan assets at fair value - -
Funded status 635,000 575,000
Unrecognized net gain (losses) from
changes in assumptions (209,491) (229,873}
Accrued postretirement benefit cost $425,509 $345,127

Continued
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued

Employee Benefits, continued
Postretirement Benefits, continued
The following is a reconciliation of the postretirement benefit obligation:

2005 004
Postretirement Benefit Obligation: _
Balance, beginning of period $345,127 $350,991
Recognition of components of net periodic
postretirement benefit cost:

Service cost 45,000 15,000
Interest cost 39,000 37,000
Amortization of gains or losses 20,672 (34,847
104,672 17,153
Benefits paid to participants ' (24,290) (23,017)
Net change 80,382 {5,864)
Balance, end of period $425,509 $345,127

For measurement purposes, a 7% annual rate of increase, decreasing by 0.5% per year until 5.5%
per year, in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits was assumed. The discount rate used
in determining the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation was 7%.

Off Balance Sheet Risk

Meade County has off balance sheet risk in that they maintain cash deposits in financial institutions
in excess of the amounts insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC). At
October 31, 2005, the financial institutions reported deposits in excess of the $100,000 FDIC insured
limit on several of the accounts.

Risk Management

Meade County is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction
of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.

Meade County carries commercial insurance for all risks of loss, including workers' compensation,
general liability and property loss insurance. As is customary in the utility industry, Electric Plant,

except substations, are not insured. Settled claims resuiting from these risks have not exceeded
commercial insurance coverage in 2005 or 2004,

Continued
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Notes to Financial Statements, continued

Related Party Transactions

Several of the Directors of Meade County, its President & CEQ and another employee are on the
Boards of Directors of various associated organizations.

Advertising

Meade County expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising costs were §67,742 for 2005
and $77,926 for 2004,

Committments
Meade County has various other agreements outstanding with local contractors. Under these
agreements, the contractors will perform certain construction and maintenance work at

specified hourly rates or unit cost, or on an as needed basis. The duration of these contracts
are one fo three years.

13
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| BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455 '
February 14, 2008

Item 130) Regarding the “Financial Highlights”, “Cost of Capital” on page 2 of the
2006 Annual Report to Members (Exhibit 41). Assuming the calculation methodology to
be the same for all years, provide the calculations underlying the 7.82% “Cost of Capital”
reported for 2006.

Response) The attached schedule shows the calculations undefiying the 7.82% “Cost
of Capital” reported on page 2 of Big Rivers’ 2006 Annual Report.

Witness) C. William Blackburn

Item 130
Page 1 of |
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-60455
February 14, 2008

Item 131) Regarding the “Environmental Matters” and “significant financial impacts
on the use of fossil fuels for power generation” referenced in the Big Rivers 2005 Annual
Report to Members (Exhibit 41), please provide the current best estimates of costs to Big
Rivers broken down by fiscal year and capital versus operating expense associated with

compliance with:

a. The EPA’s Clean Air Mercury Rule (CAMR);

b. The EPA’s Clean Air Interstate Rule (CAIR);

c. Performance goals of the Clean Water Act Section 316(b);

d. Regulation of carbon dioxide as a pollutant under the Clean Air
Act; and,

e. Any other state or federal rules likely to cause additional cost in

order to meet poliution standards or otherwise comply with those rules,

Response)  a. Over the next five years (2008-2012) the following costs for
CAMR are anticipated:

D Stack monitors for mercury emissions for Wilson,
Coleman, Green, Reid, and HMP&I, Station Two stations (approximately $3.2 million);

2) No operating expenses for CAMR are planned other than
servicing the stack monitors;

3) Over the succeeding years Big Rivers presently has no
other capital costs or operating expenses planned for CAMR. However, Big Rivers will
be monitoring changes in environmental regulations and will modify its environmental

compliance plan accordingly.

b. Over the next five years (2008-2012) the following costs for CAIR
are anticipated:
D Catalyst replacement for the selective catalyst reduction
(SCR) systems at the Wilson and HMP&L Station Two stations (approximately $5.9

million};

[tem 131
Page 1 of 3
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL'S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

2) Operating expenses for periodic regeneration of SCR
catalyst for Wilson and HMP&L Station Two stations (approximately $9.2 million);

3y See the attached for annual variable operating expenses for
CAIR;

4) Boiler tube corrosion protection installed on Coleman
Station units resulting from NO, reduction equipment installed in response to SIP Call
(approximately $6.45 million);

5) Over the succeeding years Big Rivers anticipates SO,
scrubber waste disposal variable costs to increase due to the Green/HMP&L Station Two
on-site special waste landfill to reach its capacity and the waste will have to be hauled
elsewhere (farther away). The financial model includes costs for the expected increase;

6) Over the succeeding years Big Rivers presently has no
other capital costs planned for CAIR. However, Big Rivers will be monitoring changes

in environmental regulations and will modify its environmental compliance plan

accordingly.
C. Over the next five years (2008-2012), no costs for “316(b)” are
anticipated:
, D No capital or operating expenses are anticipated by Big
Rivers for “316(b)”,
2) Over the succeeding years Big Rivers presently has no

other capital costs for operating expenses planned for “316(b)”. However, Big Rivers
will be monitoring changes in environmental regulations and will modify its

environmental compliance plan accordingly.

d. QOver the next five years (2008-2012), no costs for carbon dioxide
(CO,) capture are anticipated:
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION’S
RESPONSE TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL’S INITIAL REQUEST
FOR INFORMATION TO JOINT APPLICANTS
PSC CASE NO. 2007-00455
February 14, 2008

1) No capital or operating expenses are anticipated by Big
Rivers for CO»:

2) Over the succeeding years Big Rivers presently has no
other capital costs or operating expenses planned for CO, regulations. However, Big
Rivers will be monitoring changes in environmental regulations and will modify its

environmental compliance plan accordingly.

e, Over the next five years (2008-2012), no costs for "Ozone
Attainment” or Reglonal Haze are anticipated:
1) No capital or operating expenses are anticipated by Big
Rivers for “Ozone Attainment” or Regional Haze;
2) Over the succeeding years Big Rivers presently has no
other capital costs or operating expenses planned for “Ozone Attainment” or Regional
Haze regulations. However, Big Rivers will be monitoring changes in environmental

regulations and will modify its environmental compliance plan accordingly.

Witness) David A. Spainhoward
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Wilson Station non-fuel variable Q&M

{in nominal doliars)

‘15t half 2nd hatf
Year 2008-modei 2008-model 200%9-model 2010-model 2011-model 2012-model | 2012-model
OTAG-Pet coke| Nor-0OTAG pet coke | OTAG-pet coke] OTAG-pet coke| OTAG-petcoke | OTAG-petecke | OTAG-coal
Net Generation (MWhr) 1,390,062 855,240 2.967 H00 3.331,000 2.108.000 1,648,500 1.648.500
i. Netf Ave MW's
yerage Heat Rate (BTU/kKVWh)
SO2 th/mmBTU inlet
Average Service Hours
Percent SO2 removal
Limestone
TRY jimestone 94,361 57,026 201,407 226,116 211,046 111,804 97,064
Cost per Ton of Reagent $13.85 $13.95 $14.37 $14.80 $15.24 $15.70 $15.70
Cost of Reagent| $1.316,332 $795,45¢ $2,894.220 $3,346,521 $3,216,347 $1,756,805 $1.523,808
Sludge Disposal
Tans 168,737 101,973 360,159 404,345 377,396 200,109 173,730
Caost per Ton 51,32 $1.32 $1.36 $1.40 $1.45 $1.51 $1.51
Cost| $222,733 $134,604 $489,817 $566,083 $547,225 $302,164 $262,333
{Fiy Ash
Tons of Disposal 46,207 27,924 98,626 116,726 103,346 54 798 65,430
Cost per Ton of Disposal $1.32 $1.32 $1.36 $1.40 $1.45 $1.51 $1.51
Cost of Disposal $60,993 $36,860 $134,131 $155 016 $14G,852 $82,745 $98.800
Bottom Ash
Tons of Disposal 11,552 6,981 24,656 27,681 25,837 13,698 16,358
Cost per Ton of Disposal $1.32 $1.32 $1.36 $1.40 §1.45 $41.51 $1.51
Cost of Disposal $15,248 $9.215 $33,533 338,754 $37 463 $20,686 $24,700
Fixation Lime
Tons of Disposal 3,009 0 6,423 7,211 6,730 3,568 3,109
Cost per Ton of Disposal $59.33 $58,33 $61.10 $62.94 $684.83 $86.77 $66.77
Cost of Disposal]  $178,537 30 $392 445 $453.858 $436,332 $238,281 $207,594
Di-Basic Acid
3 Pounds of Reagent 793,239 499 946 1,693,118 1,800,835 1,774,150 040,716 940,716
PE—— Cost per Pound of Reagent $0.58 $0.58 $0.5¢ 30.81 $0.63 $0.65 $0.65
g Cost of Di-Basic Ackd]  $460,078 $289 969 $1,005,712 $1,159,508 31,117,715 $611,466 $611,466
$02 and ash $/Mwhr $1.62 $1.48 $1.67 $1.72 $1.77 $1.83 $1.68
Total fYear] $2253923 $1,266,147 54,949 857 35,719,742 $5,504 533 $3,012,237 $2,728,78G
Sulfur
MWhr per Gals 180.69 180.68 190.868 160.68 120.69 190.69 190.64
Gallons of Sulfur 7,280 4,485 15,559 17,468 16,304 8,645 8 645
Costgallon of Sulfur $1.83 $1.93 $1.98 $2.04 $2.10 $2.17 $2.17
Cost of Sulfur $14,069 $8,656 $30,807 $35.635 $34,238 $18,759 $18,759
Amnonia
NH3 Lbs/ MWhr 1.8337 0.0000 1.8337 1.8337 1.8337 1.8337 1.8337
Tons of Ammonia 1,274 0 2,720 3,054 2.850 1,511 1,511
Cost / Ton of Ammonia $506.00 $506.00 $521.18 $536.82 $552.92 $589.51 $569.51
Cost of Anynonial  $644 886 $O $1,417 763 $1,639,463 $1,576,091 $860,773 $860,773
Lime Hydrate {for SO
TPD 25.00 .00 25.00 25.00 25.00 25.00 25.00
Tons of Lime Hydrate 3,448 0 7,359 38,261 7,711 4,089 4,089
Costiton of Lime Hydrate £122.08 $122.08 $125.72 $129.50 $133.38 $137.38 $137.38
Cost of Lime Hydrate| $420.811 $0 $925 127 $1.,069,852 $1,0628,468 $561.684 $561,684
NOx Sub-Total, $1,079,766 $8,656 $2,373 6497 $2,744,950 $2,638,798 $1,441,216 $1,441 216
Total fYear! $3,333,689 51,274,803 $7,323,555 $8,464,602 $8,143,731 $4,453,453 $4,170,007
Total $/Mwhr $2.40 $1.49 $2.47 $2.54 $2.62 $2.70 $2.53




HMP&L Station non-fuel variable O&M

{(in nominal dolars-net of City)

Year 2008-model 2008-model 2009-model 2010-model 2011-model 2012-model
OTAG-coal Non-OTAG coal OTAG-cozl OTAG-coat QOTAG-coal OTAG-coal
(N~ Seneration (MWhr} 725684 368.505 1,761,389 1,751,387 1,666,323 1,611,275
R Net Avg MW's
Ne: Average Heat Rate (BTU/KWH)
502 IbimmBTU inlet
Average Service Hours
Percent SO2 removal
Lime
TRY lime 18,644 G 282 45,253 44 997 42,811 41,397
Cost per Ton of Reagent 566.72 $66.72 $70.29 $74.49 $87. 86 $98.55
Cost of Reagent] $1,243,940 $619,980 $3,180,860 $3,351,802 $3,761,371 $4,079,641
Sludge Disposal .
Tons 74,707 37,234 181,331 180,302 171,544 165,877
Cost per Ton $2.66 $2.66 $2.88 $3.22 $3.32 $3.32
Cost] $198722 $99.043 $522 232 $588,603 $569,526 $550,711
Fly Ash
Tons of Disposal 24 323 12,123 59,037 58,702 55,851 54 005
Cost per Ton of Disposal $2.68 $2.66 $2.88 $3.32 $3.32 $3.32
Cost of Disposal 364,698 $32,246 $170,026 $194,891 $185 424 $179,298
Botlom Ash
Tons of Disposal £,081 3,031 14,758 14,875 13,963 13,501
Cost per Ton of Disposal $2.66 $2.66 $2.88 $3.32 $3.32 $3.32
Cost of Disposal $16,175 $8,061 $42,507 $48,723 $46,356 $44,825
Fixation Lime
Tons of Disposal 1,584 T80 3,846 3,824 3,638 3,518
Cost per Ton of Disposal $58.25 $58.25 $60.37 $65.30 $67.61 $69.47
1 """""" Cost of Disposal $92,286 $46,000 $232,176 $249 711 $245,586 $244,404
Di-Basic Acid
Pounds of Reagent 0 0 0 G 0 2
Cost per Pound of Reagent $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Cost of Di-Basic Acid 30 30 $0 30 $0 0
802 and ash $/Mwhr $2.23 $2.19 $2.35 $2.54 $2.89 $3.16
Total /Year| $%$1,615832 $805,330 $4 147,801 $4,443,730 $4,808,663 $5,008,878
BREC generation share from Station It 7317% 73.17% 73,76% 73.65% 72.87% 70.95%
Sulfur
MWhr per Gals
Gallons of Sulfur 127 0 308 307 282 283
Cost/ton of Sulfur $286.00 $286,00 $294.58 $303.42 $312.52 $321.11
Cost of Sulfur £36,418 $0 $91,047 $93,247 $91,378 $80,788
Amimonia
NH3 Lbs/ Myhr
Tons of Ammonia 643 0 1,561 1,552 1,476 1,428
Cost / Ton of Ammonia $515.414 $515.41 $530.87 $546.80 $563.20 £578.69
Cost of Ammonial  $331,367 $0 $828 424 $848,442 $831,440 $626,085
iLime Hydrate (for 80}
TeDh
Tons of Lime Hydrate 0 8] 3] 0 0 0
B Cost/ton of Lime Hydrate $0.00 $0.00 $0.C0 $0.00 $0.00 50.00
R Cost of Lime Hydrate $0 $0 30 80 30 30
NOx Sub-Total] $367,786 $0 $918,471 $941,680 $922.819 $916,873
Total /Year] $1,983617 $805,330 $5,067,272 $5,385,418 $5,731,482 $6,015,752
Tota! $/Mwhr $2.73 $2.19 $2.88 $3.07 $3.44 $3.73




Green Station non-fuel variable O&M

{in rominal dollars)

Year 2008-model 2008-model 2009-model 2010-model 2011-model 2012-model
OTAG-Pet coke| Non-OTAG pet coke | OTAG-pet coke;  OTAG-coal OTAG-coal CTAG-coal
aeneration (MWhr) 1.480.128 865,779 3.645.000 3.614.000 3.405.000 3.607,000
. Net Avg MW's
Net Average Heat Rate {BTU/IONR)
$02 IhimmBTU inlet
Average Service Hours
Percent SO2 removal
{Lime
TPY lime 48972 32,388 122,236 116,052 112,167 118,821
Caost per Ton of Reagent $66.72 $66.72 $70.28 $74.48 $87.86 $08.55
Cost of Reagent| §3,334,128 $2.160,908 $8,591,986 $8,868,152 $9,854,970 $11,709 808
Sludge Disposal
Tons 198,559 128,680 485 695 473,041 445 684 472,124
Cost per Ton $2.66 $2.66 $2.88 $3.32 $3.32 $3.32
Cost|  §528,167 $342,314 $1,398,801 $1,570,495 $1,479,672 $1,667,453
Fiy Ash
Tons of Disposal 85,723 55 559 208,687 204,224 192,413 203,828
Cost per Ton of Disposal $2.66 $2.66 $2.88 $3.32 $3.32 $3.32
Cost of Disposal]  $228.023 $147,786 $603,898 $678,023 $638,813 $676,710
Bottom Ash
Tons of Disposal 21,431 13,880 52,422 51,056 48,103 50,857
Cost per Ton of Disposat $2.66 $2.66 $2.58 $3.32 $3.32 $3.32
Cost of Disposal $57,006 $36,046 $150,975 $169,608 $159,703 $169,177
Fixation Lime
- Tons of Disposal 4.549 2,948 11,128 10,838 10,219 10,815
Cost per Ten of Disposal $58.25 $58.25 $60.37 $65.30 $67.61 $67.61
u Cost of Disposal]  $264,951 $171,719 $671,683 $707,606 $690,268 $731,219
Di-Basic Acid
FPounds of Reagent 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cost per Pound of Reagent $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 50.00 $0.00
Cost of Di-Basic Acid 30 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
502 and ash $/Mwhr $2.96 $2.96 $3.13 $3.32 $3.77 $4.12
Total Year| $4,412276 $2,850, 674 $11,417,342 $11,983,782 $12,823,427 $14,854 367
Sulfur
NMWhr per Gals
Gallons of Sulfur
Cost/gallon of Suifur
Cost of Suifur $0 $0 $0 $0 30 $0
|Amemonia
NH3 Lbs/ MWhr
Tons of Ammonia
Cost / Ton of Amenonia
Cost of Ammonia $0 $0 $C $0 50 30
Lime Hydrate {for 50.})
‘ TPD
Tons of Lime Hydrate
Cost/ton of Lime Hydrate
Cost of Lime Hydrate $0 $0 $0 $0 30 $0
NOx Sub-Total 30 $0 50 %0 $0 $0
Total [Year| $4,412,276 $2,859,674 $11,417 342 $11,993,782 $12,823,427 $14,854, 367
Total $iMwhr $2.96 $2.86 $3.13 $3.32 $3.77 $4.12




Coleman Station non-fuel variable Q&M

{in nominat dollars)

Year 2008-model 2008-model 2869-model 2010-model 201 1-model 2012-model
OTAG-coal Non-OTAG coal OTAG-coal OTAG-coal OTAG-coal OTAG-coal
Generation {MWhr) 1,356,812 887,713 3,405,000 3,388,000 3.372.000 3,120,000
Nei Avo MW's
Net Average Heat Rate (BTU/kWh)
802 IimmBTU inlet
Average Service Hours
Percen{ SO2 removal
Limestone
TPY limesione 83.048 54 334 208,408 207 857 206,388 195,248
Cost per Ton of Reagent $17.83 $17.93 $19.72 $21.69 $24.29 $27.20
Cost of Reagent] $1,488.007 $974,204 $4,109,802 34,508,418 $5.013,165 35,310,758
Gypsum sales
Tons 108,663 71,740 275,208 274 479 272,539 257,829
Cost per Ton ($1.25) {$1.25) ($1.25) {$1.25) ($1.29) {$1.25)
Costl  ($137.079) ($89,686) {$344,008) ($343.098) {($340.674) ($322.286)
Fiy Ash
Tons of Disposal 72051 47,140 180,816 180,338 179,063 169,399
Cost per Ton of Disposal $8.59 £8.58 $5.50 $6.69 $5.89 $6.10
Cost of Disposal|  $618,817 $404,935 $994,487 $1,026,123 $1.054,684 $1,033,332
Bottom Ash
Tons of Disposal 18,013 11,785 45 204 456,084 44 766 42 350
Cost per Ton of Disposal $8.59 $8.59 $5.50 $5.69 $5,89 $8.10
Cost of Disposalf  $154,729 $101,234 $248,822 $256,531 $263,671 $258,333
|Off-Spec Gypsum disppsal
‘Tons of Disposal 9,633 6,303 24175 24111 23,940 22,648
Cost per Ton of Disposal $8.59 $8.59 $5.50 $5.69 $5.89 $6.10
e Cost of Disposal $82,748 $54,138 $132,861 $137,190 $141,009 $138,154
Di-Basic Acid
Pounds of Reagent 0 0 O 0 0 0
Cost per Pourd of Reagent $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Cost of Di-Basic Acid $0 $0 50 50 0 bt
802 and ash $/Mwhr $1.63 $1.63 $1.51 $1.64 $1.82 $2.01
Total [Year| $2,208,322 $1,444,825 $5,141,864 $5,5685,163 $6,131,854 $6,418,200
Suifur
MWhr per Gals
Gallons of Sulfur 0 0
Cost/galion of Sulfur $G.00 $0.00
Cost of Sulfur 30 $0 $0 30 50 $0
Ammonia ]
NH3 Lbs/ MWhr
Tons of Ammonia 0 ¢
Cost/ Ton of Ammonia 30.00 $0.00
Cost of Ammonia 0 $0 $0 %0 $0 $0
Lime Hydrate {for SO}
TPD
Tons of Lime Hydrate 0 0
Cost/ton of Lime Hydrate $0.00 $0.60
Cost of Lime Hydrate $0 $0 $0 30 $0 30
- NOx Sub-Total $0 $0 $0 %0 30 %0
Total [Year] $2,208,322 §1,444,825 35,141,864 $5,585,163 $6,131,854 $6,418,290
Total $/Mwhy $1.63 $1.63 $1.51 $1.64 $1.82 $2.01
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